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Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are
prepared under IFRS where the Group’s
interests 0 joint ventures and lunds are
shown as a single Line item on the income
statement and balanice sheet and al{
subsidraries are consolidated at 100%.

Management considers the business
principally on a proportionatly consolidated
basis when setting the strategy, determiming
annual priorities, making mvestment

and financing decisions and reviewing
performance Thws includes the Group's
share of joint ventures and funds

on a ine-by-line basis and excludes
non-controlling interests in the Group's
subsidraries The financial key performance
indicators are also presented on this

bases Refer to the Financial review for

2 discussion of the IFRS results.

We supplemant our IFRS figures with
non-GAAP measures, which management
uses internally I-RS measures are
labelled as such See our supplementary
disclosures which start on page 179 for
reconcilidtions, and the glossary found

at brtishland com/glossary

Underlying Profit

£340m

2018 £380m

IFRS profit/(loss) before tax

£(319)m

2018- £501m

Dividend per share

31.00p

2018 30.08p

IFRS net assets

£8,689m

2018 £9,506m

Carbon intensity
reduction versus 2009

64%

2018: 54%

Bright Lights skills and
employvment programme

393

people supported with work
2018 288

Integrated reporting

We integrate social and environmental
information throughout this Repert in

line with the International integrated
Reporung Framework This reflects

how sustainability is ;tegrated into our
placemaking strategy, governance and
business operations Qur industry-ieading
sustainability strateqy 15 a powerful tool to
delwer tasting value for all our stakeholders.



BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

Who we are

We are a leading UK property company. We create and manage
places that reflect the changing needs of the people who work,
visit or live in and around them.

Wisit britishland.com to learn more about bur business

Our business

Our portfolio is increasingly focused on mixed use places.
Our campus-focused Offices portfolio and Canada Water are located
in central London and our Retail assets are around the country.

Campus-focused London Offices

Our three office-led
campuses are located

in central London. They
are well-connected and
engaging places to work
and spend time, with the
right mix of world class
offices, retail, leisure and
dining, helping our occupiers
attract the best tatent for
their business.

Offices comprise
%

51%

of the portfolio

Learn more about our London
portfolio on pages 12 10 13
and 37 to 38

Canada Water

At Canada Water our
masterplan inciudes office,
retail, residential, letsure
and public spaces to create
an exciting new urban centre
for London.

53

acres

Learn more about the Canada
Water development on pages
14to 15 and 43

Paddington <

11 acre office-led campus
close to Paddington Station

We are delivering a wide
and varied dining offer

with new signings including
L.ards of Poké whose story
we lell on page 12

Regent's Place
13 acre office-led campus in

the West End, close to Euston,
Great Portland Street and Warren
Streel stations

Its proxirrity to the Knowledge
Quarter of acaderic institutions
is increasing the profile of the
area. Read more about our
occupier, Denlsu Aegis Network,
on page 13



Our five-year vision

We have set out a clear strategic plan to build an increasingly mixed
use business. It will comprise three core elements; our London campuses,
a smaller Retail portfolio and a residential business.

Learn more about our long term strategy on page 7

Broadgate
32 acre office-led campus adjacent lo
Liverpaol Street station

On site with three mayor developments

with pre-{ettings to global advertising group
McCann, technology company Mimecast and
ltalian marketpiace Eataly Read more about
this on page 12, 38 and 41

i

A

Canada Water
53 acre development
opportumty in zone 2

Connecting with local
education and famiies
through the Paper Garden
and supporting London s
pacts through the Doetry
School whose story we tell
on page t4

Teesside

Leading regienal retail centre in
the North East

Hatel Chocolat have opened their second

store with British Land at Teesside, with 2
thurd planned at Fort Kinnaird, Edinburgh
Read more about this on page 16

/r

Partfolio breakdewn includes,
Canada Water 7%

Residentiat 1%

Meadowhall
1.5m sq It superregtonal retail centre
with 280 units

Rock Up and Jce Browns were amongst the
businesses that taok space at Meadowhall
following our £60m refurbishment. Read
more about them on pages 14 and 17

Retail

QOur retail places are around
the country and reflect the
changing way people shop.
Increasingly we are focused
on mult-let locations within
or close to urban areas
which best complement an

omni-channel retail strategy.

45%
of the portfolio

Learn more about our
Retail partfolio on pages 3%
to 40




OUR INVESTMENT CASE

Four compelling reasons
to invest in British Land

The scale and quality
of our portfolio

Our 23m sq ft portfolio of high quality

assets ss underpinned by our resilient

balance sheet and financial strength

- fison of assets under management |£12.3bn owneot

- increasingly mixed use at our London campuses and
hugh guality retait nationwide

- Loan o value {LTV] 15 appropriate at 28 1% and cost
of finance 1s low at Z 9%

British Land owned assets

£12.3bn

Learn mere on pages 8to @

Our operational expertise
and customer insight

QOur deep expertise of managing and leasing
our assets, based on our understanding
of the customer, drives incremental value

for Briish Land and our stakeholders

- Investing in our places to deliver more attractive
and engaging environments

- Targeting the right mix of oceupiers to make
our places successful

- Understanding the needs of our custarmers as
they evolve

Visitor surveys completed in the last vear

¢.26.,500

Learn more on pages 101e 11

Our distinctive business
model and clear strategy

We are increasing our focus on mixed

use places and on a five-year view will be
growing our London campuses and building
a residential business while refiming

our Retall business

- Enhancing cur carmpuses ihrough development

- Masterplanning a 53 acre development opportumty
at Canada Water

- Delivering a smaller, more locused Retail business
through asset sales

Residential homes envisaged in our
Canada Water masterplan

3,000

Learn more on pages 18 and 19

A well-positioned
development pipeline
Our developrent pipeline 15 aligned

to our strategy and provides visibility on
future earnings

- 1 6m sq ft of high quality, design-led buidings
focused on our campuses

- Developments deliversng £63m of future rents
addng 4.5p to EPS

- Oe-nsked by pre-letting space to lock in
future income

Commiitted and recently completed
developments pre-fet or under offer

16%

Learn more an pages 22to 23

8ritish Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Another year of good progress

In my final year as Chairman I leave the business

well positioned for the future.

Cur business has continued to make good progress this year
agamnst an uncertain economic and political backdrop We saw the
effect of the particutarly challenging retail envicanment in valuation
declines but delivered a robust earnings performance with good
progress on our strateqy.

Our Office leasing performance has once again been excellent
Across cur London office business, we have leased over 1m sq ft
of space, 1o world class businesses incluting McCann, Facebook
and Milbank. The quality of the buildings we are delivering and
our campus approach are really paying off A broader range of
businesses than ever before are taking space at our campuses,
at attractve remtal levels, and our recently campleted and
comnmitted prpeline of new buildings 1s now 76% pre-let or under
offer, locking 1n significant tuture income for our business This
15 3 resounding endersement of our campus strategy and our
deciston (o cormnmit ta development aver recent years

Our three London campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Centrat and
Regent’s Place represent Brittsh Land at its best Hawving recently

John Gildersleeve, Non-Executwe Charman

2 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

wisited Broadgate with the Board  March, it 1s no exaggeration

10 say that the neighbourhood has been transfermed We are
detivering world class, modern office space alongside some of the
best retail, letsure and restaurants w London, all integrated within
centrat London s targest pedestriamised environment And there's
rmaore to come, during the

year we were delighted to

recewve planning permission “
for 1-2 Broadgate,

which will represent the
cornerstone of the next phase
of Broadgate's iransformation

British Land is taking the
right steps to position its

Storey, our flexible office portfolio for the long term

business, 15 ow operational
across all of our campuses. ,,
It15 additive to our overall

offer and we've been pteased

stk nise lossima nrnnroce
wWHo o G5HG progY -

Dividend per share !

31.00p

2018- 30.08p

Gress
We've signed new types of
businesses as well as existing
occeupiers looking for space in
which to expand, project space
or space on more flexible
terms as their needs change
There 1s no question that demand for mncreased flexbility 15 a
theme that's here to stay in the office marke!. We recognised this
early and responded appropriately, meaning that our offices offer
remains relevant to as many potential occupiers as possible

Last year | wrole that the retal sector was experiencing a penod
of chailenge and rapid change [f anything these chaltenges have
become more pronounced this year Fundamental structural
changes driven primarily by the internet have been compeunded
by short term headwinds including subdued consumer condidence,
cost pressures and changes to business rates In this context, we
remain focused on providing the kind of space modern retailers
need to succeed We know that long term, anly the best quality.
best located and most accessible retait space will continue

to thrive To maximise occupancy and suppart rents, we also

know our retail places need to be located in areas with strang
demographics, aflordable to retailers and the right size lo underpin
good dermand tension for the space.

Again, this 15 something we have been focused on for some time
and we have a clear view of the long term role retail will play within
British Land as a smalter, more focused part of our porttolio. This
year we made further good progress towards that, disposiag of
F646m of retart assets, meaning we have now sold nearly E3bn

in the last five years.



At the same time, the team have rematned focused on the
operational perfermance of cur Retail business We have leased

1 6m sq ft of retail space this year, and dealt well with the impact
of company voluntary arrangements {CVA) and admunistrations.
There is no doubt that the retall market will continue to evolve in
the future and not all of that change will be easy 1 am confident
however that building on the signidicant progress we've already
made, Briush Land is taking the right steps to postiion its portfolio
to succeed over the long term

The NAV discount 1n our share price, which increased after the
EU referendum, persisted across the year This was one of the
tactors we took into account when deciding to exiend the share
buyback by £200m followrng the sale of 5 Broadgate in June We
have now bought back £300m of shares over the last twa years,
ali tinked to sigmificant disposats Gwven our confidence i the
quality of our assets, we believe the ability to reinvest sales
preceeds inig lhai portfolio at a significant discount, through

= ro ryg oo affact oo pez of ran tal

L3y UST & L3E G

- e
UU)H yvu i..'frr!
The robust hinancial performance we have delivered in the year,
the strength of our balance sheet and the future income we have
secured through pre-letting developments mean that the Board
believes 1 1s appropriate o recommend a 3% increase in the
dwidend for 2020,

Everything we do at Brilish Land 15 with a view to the long term
We want t0 create enduring value in a sustainable way Through
our responsible approach to development, we reuse existing
bwiding materials where possible, significantly reducing carbon
ermussions associated with constructon. We also incorporate
ethiciency innovations and wellbeing improvements that cut
occuplers’ energy consumption and suppart the health and
productivity of their teams for years to come We have a strong
rack record of connecting with oyr local communities from an
early stage and mInHTISING any smpacts of construction on our
customers and on people who wark or live locally Nowhere s
this mare evident than at Canada Water. Find out more about
what we are doing on pages 67, 115 and 185,

In March we anngunced that b will step down after the AGM i July,

having served over 10 years on the Board, including the last six

as Chairman. When f look back a3t what our business has achieved
over this ime, | do 50 with a great deal of pride There is ne doubt
we ve faced challenges, and our operating environment and the
way we do business have changed substantially in a range of
different ways Bui | am conhdent that | {eave with British Land
well posiboned, with the right strategy and team te succeed long
term | am delighted that Tim Scare will be succeeding me as
Chatrman, Hawving served an the Board for five years Tim has got
to know our business well, especially during hts ime as Chair of

Creating
Places People
Prefer

At British Land, our purpose Is to manage
outstanding places to deliver positive outcomes
for all our stakeholders on a sustainable basis.

We do this by understanding the evolving needs
of the people and organisations who use our
places every day and the communities who live
in and around them The changing way people
choose to work, shap and live is what shapes
our strategy, enabling us to drive enduring
dernand for cur space and value over the

long term

the Audit Commuitee, and 1s the 1deal candidate to take our business
forward. He will lead a Board which has the rnight mix of talent,
experience and expertise (o deal wath the fast changing and complex
world in which British Land, like all businesses, must operate

Finally, | would like to place on record my thanks to the British
Land team Everyene in our business from Chris. Simon, the
Executive Committee and throughout plays a critical role every
day in delivering the except:onal places and results that drive
sustainable, long term benefit for our customers, sharehelders
and all stakeholders They have been a pleasure to work alongside
and | wish them all well for the future

AN

John Gildersleeve

Non-execulive Chairman

For the Charrman's governance review, see page 72

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 3
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Delwering against
a clear plan

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

BritishLand | Annuat Report and Accounts 2019



Introduction and strategy: building the specialist

in mixed use

This has been another year of good stralegic and aperationst
progress in an uneven market as retail remained challenging, but
the London offices market continued {0 be healthy We have leased
2 7m sq tt across our business - more than any of the last five years,
conttnued to invest mto our carnpuses, progressed developments
on a carefully sk managed basts and further reshaped our Retail
portfolio. This operational outperformance and our robust kinancial
results are due to the fact that we are delivering high quality places
that reflect the evolving needs af our customers

Our long term strategy 1S clear to build an increasingly mixed use
business comprising three core elements - cur Londen campusas,
a smaller Retail portfolio and residential By providing the right
rmux of uses at each of our places, we drive enduring demand

{or our space, support rental growth and create leng term
sustamnable value

Leasing and operational performance

Our leasing perforrance was agam excetlent Across our Londen
business our leasing activity covered 1 1m sq It of space, further
de-risking our developments - which are now 76% pre-let or under
offer - and secunng £48m pa future rental ncome We again let space
to a broad range of occupiers, reflecting the medern Lendon economy
and improving the diversity and quality of our rental income Key
letungs this year inclusded glabat advertising agency McCann, Peel
Hunt, Facebock and law frrm Mitbank and momenturm rermawns good.
we are currently In negotiations on a further 479,000 sq ft

The retall market remained chatlenging. but we continue 1o
outperform footfail and sales benchmarks and our teasing
performance was strong, at 1 ém sq ft Retailers continue to

face the challenge of fundamental structural change, compounded
this year by short term operaponal headwinds As a result, we have
seen further CVAs and administrations from troubled operators
and, alihough faring better than the market overall, we have not
been ¥mmune; the annuabised rental impact frorm CVAs and
adrministrations that have eccurred pver the 1ast two years was
£16.9m, inctuding £D 9m at properties which have subsequently been
sold. We have been focused on rmitigating this for some time. Of the
£10 9m rent on stores subjeck to closure, £6 5m has already been
{et or 1s 11 negotration

Thes year, we combined our Offices and Relall businesses into

one real estate teamn under single leadership, to better align

our operations 1o our strategy and further enhance our customer
service Operational progress this year included the further rotlout
of our flexible workspace business, Starey, at all three campuses
and the taunch of Storey Club at Paddington, providing hegh quatity
meeting and events space to our occupiers We esfablished a
Smart Places team, to work alongside our Data and Insights
function and Commercialisation teams as we think more broadly
about the ways In which we can continue 10 support our occupiers
and understand and respond to their changing needs

We subrmutted our planning application for the Canada Water
masterplan including a detalled application for the first three
buildings 2nd, together with sur partners at Southwark,

are targeting a July planning meeting. Our plans envisage
the development of a new urban centre for London, ncluding
commercial, office and community space as well as around
3,000 new homes, so wilt represent a core part of our plan

tc grow scate in residentral

Capital allocation and investments

We have continued to allocate capstal thoughtfully We soid 5
Broadgate for £500m (our share) in June and £646m of Retarl
assets since April 2018 - gverall ahead of book value. Tius
continues our strong sales track record standalone supersiore
exposure s down from 11% in 2014 10 1% today and overalt Retail
5 now under half of the business, down from 646% in 2010. Looking
ahead. we expect Retail 1o comprise around 30-35% of assets

in five years, so we will continue tc setl assets. However, we are
patient and opportunisiic in our approach and have a clear view of
ihe valse of aur 35381S 5G wii CoNhinue 0 only Mmake sales whieh
deliver value and progress our long term strategy We have used
sales proceeds lo progress developments and remvest in our
own portfolio through a £200m share buyback, meaning we have
bought back £500m of shares in two years. Given the discount
implied by the current share price, we continue to believe that
reinveshing sates proceeds into our portfobio through buying eur
shares represents an effictent use of capital, so we are extending
the buyback by up ta £125m

Outlook

lL.ooking ahead, retail 1s likely 1o remain challenging as structurat
change continues, but there are early signs on parts af our
portiokio, that some of the short term operational headwinds
tmpacting retailers are easing We expect the London market to
remain active, as occupier demand for the highest quakily space
continues to be firm and supply is relatively constrained We are
mindfut of the cngoing Brexit uncertainly, but our business s well
positioned and financiaily sirong We rermain focused on delwering
operaticnally and being thoughtfut and cormnmerciat in what we do
every day while at the same time progressing our long term
strateqic goals.

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive

To read more from Chris, visit britishland cam/CEQblog

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 5



IN CONVERSATION WITH CHRIS GRIGG

Facing the future

The questions our stakeholders are asking...

6

Why are you changing the
shape of your business?

We have outiined a clear long term
plan to ensure our busness best
reftects the changing way people use
space. Increasingly people want tc be
able to combine thewr work and leisure
ume i a single place and that's why
were specialising 1n mixed use

Our London campuses are the obvious
place to stari. Here we are increasing
the mix of uses with a broader retaid,
leisure and dining offer alongside world
class offices, including Storey, our
ftexible offer.

At Broadgate, we are well advanced,
our newest developments include
MGTE SHGES, FEStGuranis 5hd § Ginema.
and our long term plans will create

a 350,000 sq tt cultural hub, driving
foatfall from a wider area, and providing
places for people to sociabise outside
the office

Residental 1s an important and
camplementary part of our approach,
as well as being a fast growing market
n1ts own fight With scope for over
3.000 homes across our portfolio, this
represents a real opportumity for us,
particularty at Canada Water, where

we can develop at scale and curate the
environment to deliver attractive returns
over the long term

At the same time, we thuink the total
amount of physical space retailers
require will be less so we're reducing
our overall exposure to retail, although
it wiil rematn core to our mixed

use proposition

Why have you combined vour
Retail and Offices businesses
under a single leadership?

We announced in January that we
would be combining cur Retail and
Offices businesses under the singte
leadership of Darren Richards

These businesses have always been
nighly complementary, particularly as
we have sought to mncrease the mix of
uses on our campuses For example the
knowledge and experience we have on
the retail side of the business was one
reason we've been able to expand the
mix of uses on the offices side We've
added tugh qualily retail and leisure,
enhancing the appeal of our campuses
and helping us to sign a much broader
range of eccupiers than ever before.

As we progress our strategy to buitd an
tncreasingly mixed use business, there
are impartant benefits to be achieved
in combening the two teams under a
single leadership We can more
efficiently transfer tearnings from one
side of the business to the ather - for
example our use of data and insights,
which 15 retatively more advanced in
retail than in our campus business -
and there are functions that are
comman to both where we can
generate scale effictencies,

Darren. who has a broad spread of
eXperience across our bustness, brings
a fresh perspective that will help align
our approach and accelerate our focus
on mxed use.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

How do you explain your
gender pay gap?

Our gender pay gap 1sn'{ what we'd like
it to be and it s 3 complex issue We are
taking steps to reduce the gap but this
will take time. Dur S April 2019 snapshot
shows that we are moving in the right
direction, with a further reduction of

5 7% 10 our median pay gap

Women are of course paid the same as
their male colleagues for the same job
figwevar thare gre more men in senior
roles and more women in lower pa:wd
roles. We need to address both of these
structural 1Issues As in many sectors, It
15 largely a legacy issue and change wall
take tirne Real estate has historically
been male dominated and. as an
industry. we have not done enough o
encourage women to be part of it But
that's changing, and I'm pleased that
British Land are taking the lead in that

We have 3 very active and successful
Women's Committee, which has
pioneered changes in the way we

work Today we encourage people 1o
work ftexibly in terms of their hours and
ther tocztion; we intraduced shared
parentat leave in 2017; and we provide
mentors and coaching for women
returning to work after having chuldren.

I m pleased we have a number of very
Senior wormen in our organisation, and
now 33% of the Executive Committee
are women We also recegnise that
change must happen outside British
Land as well and that gender balance
15 only par! of the 1ssue we need

to address

I am personally very focused on building
2 more dwerse and wcluswe culture at
British Land and we have set out some
of the things we're daing more widely on
our website and on pages 30 to 31

Read more at brdishland com/
gender-pay-gap and our employee
gender splil can be seen on page 112



RESHAPING OUR PORTFOLIO

Building an increasingly
mixed use business

How our business has changed

Siace 2010 we have shifted the balance of our portiolio towards our
campus-focused London offices business, which now accounts for
31% of our assets. We have invesied sigrufecantly in this business
through acquisition and development. Over recent years, this has
included the redevelopments of 19 Bishepsgate and 1 Finsbury
Avenue at Broadgate and 10-30 Brock Street at Regent’s Place;

as well as the acquisition of Paddington Central, our third London
campus in 2013, where we recently redeveloped 4 Kingdom Street

Through a series of acquisitions we have also assembied a
unigue development opportunity at Canada Water covering

53 acres Here our masterplan envisages a development of our
fourth mixed use campus

At the same tme we have alsc been preactvely reshapng aur
Retail portfolio so that it reflects retailers” focus on the highest
quality and the best located space. Over the last five years we have
sold £2 9bn of retail assets, improving the overall quality of our
pertiotio which s now focused on mulir-let space

Portfolio split by asset type

Qur five-year vision

Locking forward, we are working to buitd an increasingly mixed
use business Thes reflects the changing way people use real
estate, with the boundartes between work and teisure increasingly
blurred We currently have a recently compieted and commistted
development pipeline of 1 &m sq ft across our campuses, which
we continue to enhance with the right mix of uses including retait,
tersure and dining. We will also further expand Storey, which
could become up to 10% of cur Offices portfolio

At Canada Water we have ptans to develop a mixed use urban
centre with a compelling commercial and retak offer alongside a
range of public and leisure spaces and up to 3,000 homes. We have
opporiumties across our portiotio to develop a significant number
of future hormes, so ressdentiat will play an increasingty imnportant
role i the business, petentially comprising up to 0% of our
portfolio on a five-year view

We wilt continue to refine cur Retail portfolic to deliver a smaller,
more focused business, primaridy comprising high quality, well
located muiti-let assets with mixed use potential

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 7



OQUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

The scale and quality of
our portfolio

Over 80% of our assets are located within our campuses or multi-let
retail environments, which cater for a broader mix of uses reflecting
the evolving needs of our occupiers and their customers.

5
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Campus-focused London offices

Qur three affice-led London campusas are lecated (n central
London. They are well-connected and engaging places to
work and spend time, with the right mix of world class offices,
retail, lersure and dining, helping our occupters attract the
best talent for thewr business

£8c3bll

assets under management

46,000

people work across our campuses

Becoming the specialist in
mixed use

Why mixed use?

We recogruse that the way people use real estate s changing and
that the most effective way to drive endunng demand for our space
15 ta evolve our offer in line with those trends Central to this 1s the
blurring of boundaries between work and letsure time Increasingly
people expect to be able to socialise, exercise or be entertained
capvenuently to the office Theywant to work in places which are
pleasant, safe and easily accessible from where they live. These
factors underpin people’s decisions around which companies they
work for, the places they shop and spend tune. It helps bustnesses
attract and retain talent and supports their productwity and effectveness.



Canada Water

At Canada Water our masterplan envisages office, retail,
residential, leisure and public spaces to create an exciting
new urban centre for London

83 acre

development opportunity

3,000

new homes, including
affordable housing

How are we delivering it?

Ayear ago, we oythined Lhe future shape of Britrsh Land,
comprising three core, complementary elements as part of
an increasingly mixed use business.

- Campus-focused London offices: with a blend of core and
flexible space, including the further build out of Storey,
integrated alongside a world class retait and leisure offering

- Asmaller, more focused Retail portfolio: high quality. welt
(ocated assels focused on a smaller number of on average
larger, multi-let places, especially those with mixed use potential

- Residential, principaily Build to Rent: 3,000 homes at Canada
Water wilth further eppartuniies within our portfalio

Retail

Qur retail centres are around the country and reflect the
changing way people shop Increasingly we are focused on
multi-tet locations within or close to urban areas which best
complement an omar-channel retarl strategy

24 .5bn

assets under management

61%

of the population falls within
the catchment of our portfolio

How does it deliver value?

A successtul rmixed use strategy delivers long term sustainabte
value by drving rental growth, maintaining cccupancy and
increasing the value of our assels By aligning our business to
the evolving needs of our customers, and the people who use
our places, we drive endurnng demand fer pur space, enabling
us {o grow rents and add resiience to our future Income
streams The nature of our campuses and multi-let spaces
means that we control not just the buildings, but the spaces
between thern As such, invesiment we make into the broader
enviranment has a positive smpact on the value of our assets for
the long term We also have more Hexibility to re-allocate uses
within our places over ure to better reftect the needs of our
customers as they change, and therefore to ensure that we make
the best use of our buildings over the lang term.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

° Our operational expertise
and customer insight

Our expertise in managing and leasing our assets, based
on our understanding of the customer, drives incremental
value for British Land and our stakeholders.

Asset management

As our business becomes more
operaticnal, managing our space well Is
a key advantage We have the benefit of
our 1n-house property management team
whao focus exclusively on British Land
properties. This year we moved the team
inte aur head office, to foster cross-team
collaboration and delwer efficiencies

Leasing

Delwering the right mix of occupiers
at our London campuses and at our
multt-let retad spaces i1s an important
part of making our places successful

Insight

We engage with businesses and people
who visit and work 1n and around our
places to understand what they want
from real estate. We use research -
and data o understand when and how
our occuplers and customers use our
spaces. This helps us allocate the right
mix of space and ensures our occupiers
utilise their space more effictently We
collect data on which brands and

Based on our understanding of the
cusiomer, we are envesting in our assets
to deliver more attractive and engaqing
places. This includes a high quality public
realm, a wide-rangeng programme of
events and activities and bestin class
customer services

Our leasing teams are speciabists i their
fields but draw upon expertise across the
business. Our network of contacts on the
retail side 1s helping us build a diverse
retail and diming offer at aur campuses,
and we have sigmificantly strengthened
our marketing expertise, better enabling
us la showcase space, particularly when
i+ developrment

services people engage with and which
they would bike to see more of.

This research and data generates
insights which support our asset
management and leasing decisions, for
example, shaping the way we allocate
space between a range of uses as well
as the occupiers we target.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Fhis year, we established a Smart
Places team, to deliver placemaking
at a digital level We are equipping
our buitdings with the functienality

to measure how space 1s used o
enhance efficiency and are developing
the capabiities to automatically
personalise the working environment

Storey, our flexible workspace business,
15 enabling us to serve new customer
segments This includes providing praject
space to our existing customers as well
as srmalter scale businesses. The shorter
nature of Storey leases means we benefit
more guickiy from rental growth than we
otherwise wauld,

Qver the longer term view, this
understanding provides valuable insight
into which of our assets are performing
well, so we can make more informed
investment and divestment decisions to
allocate capital efficiently as we align our
portfolio to benelit from long term trends
to drive value for our stakeholders.



At Paddington Central we have invested nearly £100m

inte the transformation of the campus, ncluding the
development of 4 Kingdom Street and a sigmficant upgrade
to the public realm We have successfully launched Storey
at 4 Kingdom Street, including Storey Club which provides
the highest quality meeting and events space lor campus
occuplers. We have added 10 new retaders, significantty
changing the look and feel of the campus These range from
Fiykeck, a kick-boxing inspired exercise studio, to Vagabond
Wines. 3 wine bar. and the Grand Duchess, our second
floating restaurant

This year we have leased more than 1m sq ft in offices,
inctuding good progress on our campus developments which
are now 76% et or under offer At Broadgate we (et 739,000
sq It of space in the year to a range of occupiers, including
glebal advertising agency McCann, law firm Milbank and
Product Madness, an online gaming platform. This was in
addition to financial occupiers such as TP ICAP and Peet Hunt,
who have made long term commitments wath us

At Canada Water, we have been engaging with the local
cemmunity for many years through a range al inibiatives,
building up a clear picture of local needs [n addition, we have
undertaken a detailed modetling exercise 1o project the (ikely
needs of the community as our developments pragress and
this 1s helping to shape our olfer in terms of the amount of
retail, lersure and community space requived and how we
position and market this space to the right markets and
customners This model builds on the expertise we have
developed across our campuses and retail centres, leveraging
our knowledge of the mddual sectors but also developing
our understanding of the interdependencies and benefits of
armx ol uses

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 11



London
campuses

A wider mix of uses,
to reflect changing
London lifestyles

Our three office-led mixed
use campuses are located
in some of London’s best
connected and most vibrant
neighbourhoods.

Across Brosdgate, Paddingten Central and Regent's Place
we manage more than 50 acres of central London, providing
vibrant and diverse places with excellent connectivity and
world class public space.

Cur campuses are a unique competitive advantage for us,
here we control nat just the buildings but the spaces
hetween them ally
reflect the evolving needs of modern, London lifestyles.
Today's businesses are focused on operating in buildings
and locations which enabte them te attract and retain the
best talent. Environments and connectivty are key benefits
our campuses deliver, each providing access to at least four
underground lines and Breadgate and Paddington Centrat
have Crossrail stations tmmediately adjacent

15 in dehver afyrnnrmants that

Increasingty our customers are focused on flexibility. Within
our buitdings and across our campuses we offer a broad
range of space in terms of size, type and level of service

in June 2017 we launched Storey, our flexible office brand,
catering to smaller ‘scale up’ businesses of around 45
peaple and providing additional space (g existing occupiers
on maore Hexible terms to facilitate expansian or house
project teams. Storey has quickly become an important
part of our campus offer, enabling us to attract a broader
range of businesses to our places.

Reflecting growing demand for buildings which

promote health and productivity, our developments

and refurbishments incorporate weltbeing principtes by
design. These include a focus on active design, air quality
and spaces where people can socialise and enjoy time
outside the office

We recognise that businesses need to use space efficiently,
combuning personal and collaborative workspace, so our
designs thoughtfully balance this mix of demands. We also
look beyond our campuses, we invest in local communities
and our events and activities bring people tagether and
enliven our space for everyone who uses it.
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“Opening a place in London where people can buy, eat
and learnis a very important and exciting milestone
for us. Being able to bring cur model into a place that
is 50 significant stimutates us to create in London a
wonderful multi-functional experience.”

Luca Baffigo, CEQ, Eataly

“Paddington has heen a great place to grow our
business! From a food truck, we upgraded to a smail
kiosk and now we have opened our flagship store here,
ali within two years. Footfali is high and we think the
area has great potential - that long term vision is
incredibly important to us. it’s been a steep learning
curve, but we've felt very supported by British Land
and the Paddington team and we're really excited that
they're part of our journey.”

Marty Sykes and Yom Greenhill, Co-Founders
of Lords of Poké

"It was important for us to find a workplace partner
that can help our organisation to scale, rather than
just another office provider, who would work with
us to bring our vision to life. The Storey team continue
to play an important part in helping cur organisation
be successful.”

Billy D'Arcy, CEQ, BAlI Communications




British Land has really
transformed Regent's
Place in the eight years
that we’ve been there

114

Similarly, our business
has evolved significantly
in that fime, and will
continue to do so. As
such, it's great to work
with a partner that
understands our needs
and is developing a
collaborative space for
our people and clients
that will also help us
work more efficiently ina
thriving London location.

998 Richard Sexton,
Director of Change
Management Office,
Dentsu Aegis Network
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Canada
Water

A new urban
centre for London

At Canada Water we are
masterplanning a Sm sq ft
mixed use scheme across
53 acres of central London.

The site s located between London Bridge and Canary
Wharf on the Jubilee line and has access to the London
Overground making it 1s easily accessible to Canary Wharf,
the West £nd, Shoreditch and South West London. It will
also benefit signsficantly from the opeming of Crossrail,
which will reduce pressure on the Jubileg ine between
Canary Wharf and Bond Street.

Here, aur ambition is to create a sustanable, new urban
centre for London, that supports the existing cammunity
and attracts new pecple to the area ta deliver a real sense

R SR S S e Y TR P R R
Gt REYITOOUTGOoU ¥vE Hove CUNul T SX@ravcly Wi, Ol ad
people and communily groups and their views have helped
to shape our plans

Our partner, the London Borough of Southwark, has the

opportunity to co-invest in each phase an an indwvidual basis,

closely aligning our interests

Wellness and sustainability are at the centre of our plans
Smartly designed buiidings will be set argund water and
green public spaces, together creating a vibrant destination
where peapte can live, work and be entertained throughout
the day and into the evening Our design draws on the
herrtage of the focal area to provide a mix of space including
retail, office and lersure with capacity for ¢.3.000 homes
across a range of tenures and affordabitity.

Residential will play a key role in the regeneration of
Canada Water and wil be an increasingly rmportant part
of our business as we seek to focus on mixed use places
Owning and mianaging people’s homes comes with a real
responsibility which will be at the forefrant of our approach
as we build this business.

B8CanadaWaterMasterplan

canadawatermasterplan.com
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“We appreciate the interest and respect British Land
have for what we do. They have a long term vision and
we're part of that, it's like we've been brought into the
subsoil and it's wonderful to be part of the cenversation
around how this place comes together.”

Jane Riddiferd, Co-Founder, Global Generatign

"Canada Water is a great place for us to work - the
tocation is perfect for our students and tutors who
are delighted with our new home. We've tound this
incredible space, and have realty benefitted from
British Land’s knowledge of the area and interaction
with the lecal community. We have lots of exciting
plans and look forward to growing with the
develapment and reaching more people who live here.”

Sally Carruthers, Executve Director, The Poetry School

“Delivering our masterplan is a hugely complicated and
long term project. It will absolutely transform the local
area, so we have a real responsibility to engage closely
with local residents. We've done that at every stage
and we're thrilled with the level of local support our
plans are generating.”

Emma Cariaga, Head of Operations at Canada Waler,
British Land



The area is changing and
the masterplan builds on
that momentum...

66

What we look for is great
space, high footfull and

o catchment we think
would engage with

Pissa 1889. British Land
tmnediately understood
what we were trying

to achieve here and

have a really strong
understanding of how
retuil is evolving and the
role we can play within
that. The area has seen so
many changes in terms of
the environment and the
demographics and the
masterplan really reflects
where it’s heading.

99 Dan Southwetl,
Founder and CEO,
Pizza 1889
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Retail

Convenient and
engaging places
supporting a modern
approach to retail

In a rapidly-changing
market, only the best quality
space in the right locations
will succeed.

QOur Retail portfolio s focused on places which support
maedern retailers with an omni-channel strategy to drive
demand for our space.

In an evolving market, physical store networks remain
important ta successful retaiters, but their rale 1s changing
Increasingly, the true value of physical stores 1s as a
showreom or logestics network to support fulfitment of an
online sale

targer, regional centres best suppart the shewrooming
function They tend to oifer a broad range of tessure and
entertanment actwities, altraching customers from a wide
catchment for a whole day. and generating high footfall
This enables people to touch and try things on, boosting
sales even if they subsequently make the purchase online.

A physical network can support fulilmant in several ways.
Well-connected stores, or those with the capacity to hold
stock, can support a ‘ship from store’ approach, mimiraising
delivery tmes for consurners who increasingly expect
purchases to arrive tmmediately. Centres with parking
widely available, or which are located near transport
mterchanges, are also ideal for click and cotlect Our data
shows that click and collect customers are highly valuable,
spending on average nearly twice as much as a nen-click
and coltect customer.

Looking forward, we are focusing our portfolio on assets
which benefit from these charactenstics, but we recognise
that the averall guantity of space that retailers require will
reduce, with only the best quality space in the right locations
being viable long term Therefore on a five-year view,

we will be reducing our exposure to retaul such that it
camprises ¢.30-35% of our total portfolio, down from 45%
today We have already made subslantal progress, with
£2.9bn of assel sales over the last five years,

Hoawever, our focus on mixed use places means that

retail will remain an integral part of our offer. Our campus
developments and our plans at Canada Water incorporate a
signfficant retail allecation as we seek to create places that
reflect today's lifestyles
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“We epened our first centre at one of British Land's
shopping centres in 2014, when there was a much
more limited leisure offering in shopping centres. But
British Land were very forward thinking, they saw the
way retail was evolving and it was a great success for
both of us. We've since opened two more with British
Land. Meadowhall has high footfall, a strong catchment,
an excellent accupier line up and a wide range of
facilities, so it was an ideal destination tor us, and the
support we received from British Land both pre and
post opening has been fantastic.”

Heidi Duckworth, Executive Chairman, Rock Up

“To soar in today's ¢crowded market, your brand must
stand out, connecting emotionally with consumers and
oftering them something special. It can be chatlenging
ta da that if you're an ontine-only business. Opening
stores was a step-change for Hotet Chocolat, enabling
us to not only diversify into things we couldn’t have
done before but also to create a real sense of chocolate
theatre, adding an immersive experience that allowed
us to interact with guests.”

Peter Harris, Co-Founder and Development Director,
Hotel Chocolat which has a store at Meadowhall and
Teesside, and comung soon to Fort Kinnard, Edinburgh

“"We wark with a (ot of landlords, but two things set
British Land apart. First, they reatly understand the
customer. They know who and how people shop across
the estate and that's a real advantage. Second, they
understand that creating a great environment and
getting the service right is absolutely key. We're really
excited about opening at Meadowhall, It will bring us
closer to our customers and their feedback is what
really hetps develop the brand.”

Mike Rich, Head of Retail, Skopes



We openecd a physical
store because that’s what
our customers wanted

114

One of the main reasons
we opened a physical
store was that our
customers started asking
Sfor it. Meadowhall could
guarantee high footfall,
so it ticked a lot of boxes
Sor us. British Land

are a forward thinking
landlord who understood
aur passion for creating
something different.

The wider business is
flourishing - sales are up
20%, that’s not all down
to Meadowhall, but the
store has given us extra
credibility and really
raised our profile in the
press and social media,
so we'll definitely be
opening more.

99 Darren Abbott
Director, Joe Browns
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION
Our distinctive
business model

Our business model is designed to deliver positive long term
outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Qur inputs: what makes our model work

Relationships Operational expertise Our finance
Our customers and partners Qur expert people Appropriate leverage for current
The communities wha live and work Culture of callaboration enabling and future plans
1 and around our assets effective working across teams Dwverse, ethcient and flexible inances
2 of sour
Cur suppliers and conltractars Data and anatysis tools prowiding from arang urees
insight into customer needs Partnerships which mitigate risks,

add expertise and help linance projects

Activities: what we do

Investing and
developing
Creating development
appoertunities in our portfolio

Identifying new opportunties

Allocating capital to delwver
growth and returns

Managing
our space
Enhancing the mix of uses
and accupiers at our places to
creale dwerse neighbourhoods

Placemaking

Connecling to laocal communities

Design-ted places in tune
with modern lifestyles

World class property management

Enhancing and enlivening our space
to create a positive experience

Smart and sustanable buitdings
reflecting what matters to
our accupiers and the
people who use
our places

Our outputs: what we deliver

Customers Communities Employees Partners Shareholders
High quality inclusive places Supportive and Participation Sustainable and
emvironments which create inclusive culture in high guality respensible long
which hetp our opporturuties and where people can projects, benefitting term income and
customers succeed make a posilive feel supported and from our scale value creation
tocal contribution empowered 1o and expertise
develop their skills
and experience
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...and clear focus

We invest in long term themes to create vibrant
mixed use places for our stakeholders.

Customer Orientation — Responding to changing lifestyles

Our business is focused on cur customers who are the
arganisations which have taken space at our assets We also
consider carefully the needs of the people who work, shop at or
visi our places and the communtities who live in the surrounding
neighbourhoods We have developed & deep understanding of

how people use our space wiich informs our approach to
managing our assets and guides our investment aclivity, This
means we are always focused an the customer and deliver
places that are successful and sustainabie long term

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Wellbeing — Create places that promote health, improve productivily and

increase enjoyment

Right Places — Creating great environments

Our insight into the custamer helps usidentily places which can
succeed long term. This underping our focus an our London
campuses, where we can manage the envronment to deliver 2
groader miIX of Uses enabung pevpie o combing iher work and
leisure time, reflecting modern London Lifestyles We apply the

same principles to our retail spaces, which are around the
ceuntry i places that are easily accessible fram strong
catchment areas Our 53 acre scheme at Canada Water,
whiiich witl be mixed use from the stari, 1$ (e besiiusiransn
of this approach

Aligned to our sustainabitity pillar: Community — Make a positive contribution lacally and behave so our places are

considered part of thewr lacal community

Capital Efficiency — Thoughtful use of capital

We are thoughtful in our approach to capstai allocation and
carefully evaluate investrnent opportunities to suppart income
and returns for our shareholders. We have created opportunities
for gevelopment within our portfolio, which typically deliver
stronger returns, atthough with inherently mgher risk,

We balance this against acquisition opportunities we see in the
market and investing 1n our own portiolio by buying back shares.
Al the same time, we monitor gur leverage in the context of
wider decssions made by the business

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Futureproofing — Protect and enhance assel value through enviranmental stewardship,
inctuding energy generation and efficiency, materials innovation and fteod risk reduction

Expert People - Changing the way we work

Gur peopie strategy focuses an creating a team which can
delwer Places People Prefer. We do this by attracting and
retaiming people with a broad range of skills and expenence and
a diversity of backgrounds We recognise that to keep peaple
engaged (1 our business, we must invest i their development

and In creating a working environment that supports welibemng
and inclusion We also recognise the imgartance of investing in
tomorrow s worklorce for our customers, suppliers and tocal
partners We take action on this through Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programime

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Skilts and opportunity - Develop skills and opportumties to hetp local people and

businesses grow

Delaik an our achievements and progress can be found within the KPI review on pages 20 to 21
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OUR STRATEGY

Delivering on our strategy

Focus area Achievements Priorities for the year ahead
Customer Continued investrent in technology driven - Develop our Smart Places product and roll gut
Orientation innovations and insights across the Dffices portfolio
- Smart Places tearn established and strategic vision - Launch Storey Club and standalone Storey offer
to deliver digitat placemaking set out .
Diaital olatf turing sales dats ralled - Continue to manage the integration of British Land
- Dwgital platiorm captuning sales dats rolled out to Properly Management with British Land
¢ 1,000 retail occupiers providing further insight inlo
the custarmner and the performance of our assets - Leverage our dala and insights {o devetop
. . our office gffer
Strengthened our operational expertise
- Storey now operational across 141,000 sg ft, providing
flexible space for existing occupiers and attracting new
0CCUPIers to OUr campuses
Right Refine and refocus our Retail business - Continued Retail sales, progressing our
Places - £646m sales of non-core or solus assets strategic plan to deliver a smaller, more focused
Retant business
Progress developments, focusing on \
London campuses - Continued investment 1n campus development
- 1 Finsbhury Avenue completed and continued goad - Achieve planning at Canada Water and
leasing progress across develapment pipeline, now commence development
76% pre-let ar under affer - Progress apportunily at Norton Folgate
- Achieved planning on 1-2 Broadgate
. . - Commence refurtishment of Royal Victoria Place,
Progress residential business Tunbndge Wells
- Planning application submitted at Canada Water with
potential for 3,000 homes in our masterplan
Capital Recycle capital to improve returns - Continue to take capital allocation decisions based
Efficiency - £500m sale [our share] of 5 Broadgate on relative value
- £359m residential sales and £446m retai sales - Matain apprapriate leverage
- £200m extensian to share buyback compieted
~ £125m further extension to buyback announced
- Repayment of £223m of debt w1 the Broadgate JV
releasing buildings for potential development
Maintain appropriate leverage
- LTV remains low at 28.1%
- Flexible hnance £1.4bn new debt finance arranged
Expert Encourage cross-team collaboration - Integrate gur asset management and leasing leams
People and shared learnings 10 act as a3 single bustness across Retail and Offices

- Qfifice and Retad asset management and leasing
restructured under single leadership

Enhance diversity across the business

- Top 10 performer in Hampton Alexander Review

- Successful year acrass our networks

Embed new corporate values
- Value-focused events and activities through the year

- Reduce our gender pay gap

- Launch of EnaBLe, our disability network

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long term value

Total accounting return is our overall measure of performance It is the dvidend paid plus the change

in EPRA NAV per share
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Performance

Risk indicators

Customer satisfaction

We extensively survey our customers and cther users of our places to assess aur performance

and dentify opportunities fer improvement

Out of 10

Total property returns

We have underperformed the IPD benchmark

this year by 550bps, reflecling the continued strength
of industnals where we have np exposure.

Loan to value (LTV] - proportionalty
consolidated

We manage aur LTV threugh the property cycle
such that our financial position would remain robust
in the event of a sigmficant fall in property vatues

Employee engagement score
75% employee engagement score, $% higher
thar the United Kingdom benchrark *

* Cullure AMP 2618

Speculative development commitment

Developrnent supports value and future incorne growth,

bul adds risk We keep our committed develepment
exposure at less than 15% of our investment portfolio,
with a maximum of 8% developed specutatively.

% of standing investments

Weighted average interest rate -
praportionaiiy conselidated

Qur low cost of finance at 2.9% has contributed
to reducing our interest cost, supporting our
tinanceal performance

Buring the year we formally combined our British
Land and Bniish Land Property Management
businesses nto our Yark House head office so the
2019 employee engagement scare relates to the
combined business, while historic figures relate io
8riish Land only For 2019, empfoyee engagement
at Brikish Land was 78%

Consurmer canlidence

Employment forecasts
tor relevant sectors

Marke! letiing nsk
[vacancies, expines,
speculative development]

Property capstal return
and ERV growth forecasts

Totat development exposure

Progress of developments
agawnst plan

Speculative development
exposue

Financiat covenant
headroom

Period untit refinancing
15 required

Percentage of debt with
interest rate hedging

Execution of debt financings

Unplanned execubive
departures

This year our TAR was [3 3% comprising a
dividend increase of 3 0% to 31 pence per share
offset by a fall in EPRA NAV aof 6.4% to 905 pence
per share.

Links to remuneration:

Leng-Term incentive Plan

Annual Incentive Award

Forecast GDP

The rmargin belween
property yields and long
term borrowing costs

Property capial growth
and ERV growth forecasts

Read more on pages 100 to 103
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

o A well positioned

development pipeline

Our significant development pipeline positions
us well to capitalise on future market opportunities
in a thoughtful and risk managed way.

1061“ Sq ft

Committed and recently
completed developments

Delivering

£63m

Future rent

16%

Pre-let or under offer

Completed

1 Finsbury Avenue

Office-led refurbishment al our
Broadgate campus prowiding a mux

of space including a cinema, cafés

and flexible workspace alongside
conventional office space The buliding
is 58% let or under offer with technelogy
companies Mimecast and Product
Madness among those taking space

287,000 sq fit

PC Q12019

Commuitted

1 Triton Sguare
Othice led development
at Regent's Place, fully
pre-let to Dentsu Aegis
Network, an existing
occupier on the
campus At 310,000 sq
fi this was the largest
West End pre-let in
more than 20 years.

366,000 sq ft

PC Q4 2020

135 Bishopsgate

Otfice-led development at our
Broadgate campus. The building is
920% pre-let or under offer with fulure
occupiers including ltalian marketplace
Eataly, globai advertising agency
McCann and interdealer broker

TP ICAP.

335,000 sq ft

PC Q32017
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100 Liverpool St

QOffice-led development adjacent

to Liverpool Street station with

90,000 sq {t of retall and leisure space
56% pre-tet or under offer to accupiers
including hnancoial services firms
SMBC Europe and Peel Hunt and

taw firm Mitbank

521,000 sq ft

"C Q12020



Near term
pipeline

1-2 Broadgate

Oftice-led development on our
Broadgate campus which «ncludes
153.000 aq ¢ of retad connecting
Finsbury Avenue Square with retail
at 100 Liverpool Street and the

Broadgate Circle to create a 350,000

sq ft retail, lersure and dining hub.

Neorton Folgate

Gifice-led redevelopment in
Shoredich, integrating 258,000 sq
ft of olfice space alongside retail
and residentral 10 create a mixed
use space that draws on the
hustoric fabric of the area

335,000 sq ft

5 Kingdom Street

Office-led development at the western
end of Paddington Central, with 80.000
sq ft of space avallable lor & broader
mix of uses including retarl, diring and
events space

429,000 sq ft

Medium term pipeline

Canada Water, Phase 1a

Three buildings delivering a mux of
oftice, retall, leisure and residential with
265 homes planned across a range of
tenures and attordabtity

576,000 sq ft

Sustainable development

We understand that, as a developer, we have a real responsibility to manage our
environmental and secial impacts In many ¢ases, our first decisions are around
how rmuch of the existing structure we can retain, which reduces our embedted
carbon emissions. We always focus on rinitmising disruption for our custemers
and local community and we work with partners to creale a lasting positive
legacy, opentng up opportunities for local schoolchitdren, students, jobseekers

and businesses

For more information an our approach see case studies on 1 Triton Square page 47,
300 Liverpoolt Streel page 115 and 1 Finsbury Avenue page 185

Queen’s Award for Enterprise

This was our third year holding the Queen’s Award for Enterprise,
the UK's highest business accotade, recognising our economc,
social and environmental achievements on our developments and

across our managed portiolio

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 23



UNIQUE MARKET INSIGHTS

Understanding our markets

Our insight into our customers underpins our understanding
of the key trends driving our markets.

Economic uncertainty/

Brexit

The UK economic environment

has been uncertain since the EU
referendum in 2016. When the terms
of exit are agreed, we wiil enter a new
chapter in gur relationship with the
EU and key trading partners to which
it will take time to adapt

To date, the economy has proved
more resilient than many expected,
with unemplaoyment rematning low,
particutarly 10 London. Businesses
have continued lo take space - an
important sign of confidence, and
overseas mnvestors have continued
to acquire London real estate

In financiai services, the shift of
personnel 1o Eurcpe has been much
tecs than expercted and in | pndon
the technology sector 1s thriving with
investrment of £4 5bn,' more than
France and Germany cembined

Leading glohal cities for
office investment 2018 (8bn)

24

Cyclical and structural
challenges in retail

There have been profound structural
changes I1n the way we shop, with the
growth of antine sales, which now
represent nearly 20% of the total and
we estimate that could grow to 40%
This challenge, coupled with cyclical
pressures, including rising costs and
an uncertan economic outlook, has
put pressure on retailers to adjust
their operating models Many have
not adapted quickly enough, resulting
in a series of high profile fatlures

Some retaiters are adapting
successiully and many new, primarily-
online operators also recognise the
key role that physical can play in an
omni-channel approach

Hawever, the overall volume oi retail
space required will Likely decrease, as
retalers focus therr physical networks
on high quality, differentated space
that complements their customers’
broader needs

Internet sales as a percentage
of total retail sales (%)
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Technology as a disruptor
and enabler

Technology 1s driving reat change

in the way we use real estate
Businesses can track the way
workspace 1S used (o make more
informed decisions abeut their
requirements. We have the ability
to personalise light and temperature
or ta make it respond to the climate
outside People can work remotetly,
s0 they no longer need to be in the
office, and prefer to work more
collaboratively when they are there.

Technology has already revolutionised
the way we shop and profoundiy
changed the way retailers tnteract with
their custamers Retallers increasingly
monitor footfall, website clicks within
2 store catchment and social medsa to

identify which sites work best as they
refine their physical footprint.

Technology presents a real opportunity
across the sector for operators who
can leverage is potential

Real estate tech global
financing history



Growth of flexible
worlispace

Demand for flexible and co-working
space 15 ncreasng driven by the
growth of small and medium sized
businesses which now employ more

than 50% of the workiorce ? Typically,

these occupiers cannot make large
or long term commmutments, creating
a clear market for smaller floor
ptates on more flexsble terms, with
the benefit of pooled facilities like
meeting roams, Kitchens and gyms

Large occupiel s aksy see a role for
more flaxible space to accommodate

project teams or temporary overfiow,

with 41% of large occupiers atso
expected to use flextble office space
within three years 3

Flexibie ofiice space represents just
4% of total renial stock, but is the
{astest growing component of olfice
take up.

Flexible office take up. Central
London (% of total)

The war for talent

in London

London offers a unique cluster of
skilled labour across technology,
finance, media, creative industries
and the law as well as access to
capital and cross-sector regulation
This co-tocation of some of the most
important inputs for new bussnesses
has underpinned London’'s success
as a teading global cuy

Today 1t 1s the knowledge economy,
specitically technology, which is driving
that success, so sccess Lo alent s key
Businesses from banking to fashion are
competing for people with the same
skill sets Al the same tme, employees
increasingly value the opportunity to
five, work and socialise In a way that
suits them se emplovers must dn

more to attract the best people

This means the quatity of the
environment, the vibrancy of the
public realm and the mix of amenities
are increasingly what set businesses
apart as a place to work

UK Unemployment rates
{aged 16 vears and over)
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Focus on wellbeing

and sustainability

Increasingly, people are choosing to
work, shop or spend time in places
which have a positive impact on their
wellbeing. Peopte want space to work
collaboratwvely, to socialise and to
incorporate exercise snto their day
This has implications far the sort of
facities employers need to prowvide
and the sort of envirenments retailers
need to offer to drive footfall. as &
resuit, the ability to control the area
around a burlding s a2 key advantage

Persenalising the environment is one
of the newest ways teo differentiate
space Gwing people more control
over light and temperalure and
optimusing air quality promotes
wellbeing and enhances aroductaty.

s

At the sarme tme, employees want
to werk i buidings with strong
enviranmental credentials, and to
work for businesses that take thewr
ernwvironmental responsibilities
seriously

Top reasons for green building
in the UK (%)

[\*]



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Shaping our thinking

We engage with a wide range of stakeholders to inform our
thinking. It takes a diversity of perspectives to deliver outstanding

places and positive outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Key issues

Why we engage

How we engage

Customers

The way people work, shop
and tive 1s changng and their
expectations for places where
they spend time and the
standard of services they
receive are Increasing

Understanding the
businesses and the people
who use our space heips us
provide places which meet
8 wider range of needs,
driving long term demand
for our space

We undertake c.26,500 visitor
surveys each year. We have
built a digstat platform that
enables data sharing with
our retail occupters and

we leverage social media

to keep our customers
intormed across the business

Communities

Soctal chatlenges around
equalty, health, skills,
in-work poverty, affordable
housing and secial cohesion,
as well as enviranmental
cancerns and local 1ssues

We thrive when our
communities prosper
Understanding our
carnmunities helps us
create successful, inclusive
places that contnbute to
the prosperity of ine wider
neighbourhood and are
attractive to customers

Qur Local Charter guides
how we engage with local
people and partners to
make a posdive difference
It1s integrated inta all our
placemaking plans and
activitres, incluging
community consultation
and partnership projecis

Employees

Attracting and retaining talent
N a competitive market

To understand how we
can best provide a
supportive workplace
with career opportunities
that enrich experience,
develop skill sets and
pramate welibeing

We encourage open and
constructive discussions
throughout the business;
employees can feed back in
the annual company survey,
at regutar town hall meetnngs
or through a range of
employee networks

Partners

Promoeting our ethical and
corporate governance
standards across joint venture
pariners and supplers
Engaging with debt investors,
enabling them to better
understand our business

To help us leverage the range
of expertise across existing
and potential suppliers, joint
venlure partners ang debt
providers to support us In
delivering outstanding places

As an expert partner, we
believe that aligning interests
creates greater mutual
beneftt We have shared our
strategy and expectations

at supplier conferences and
assign key contacts to build
close working relationships

Shareholders

Delivering income and capital
graowth over the {ong term

in the context of breader
market uncertainty

We have 3 clear responsibifity
to engage with shareholders
as the owners of our business
and their views are an
important driver of

our stratagy

We olfer key shareholders

the opportunily 1o meet

with management on &
ane-to-one basis and engage
more breadly through investor
events. A range of informatien
from financiat performance to
blogs from our CEQ s also
available on aur website
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We respond to these stakeholder issues through our strategy

Through our strategy we also
help address global challenges

Customer Orientation
Responding ta changing

Wellbeing

Create places that

lifestyles promote health, improve
productivity and increase
enjoyment

Right Places Community

Creating great Make a positive

environments contribution locally

and behave so our
places are considered
part of their tocal
community

Capital Efficiency
Thoughtful use of capital

Futureproofing

Protect and enhance
asset value through
environmental
stewardship, including
energy generation and
efficiency, materials
innovation and flood risk
reduction

Expert People
Changing the way we work

For more inforrmation on our
corporate sirategy see page 19

Skills and
opportunity

Develop skills and
opportunities to help
tocal people and
businesses grow

For more information on
our sustainability strategy
see pages 2810 29

Our sustainability focus areas
support the UN s Sustainable
Uevelopment Goats {(S0Gs).

Learn more on pages 28 to 29

We are committed to adopting the
recarnmendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures and have established

a Steering Commuttee to progress
towards TCFD alignment

Learn rmore on pages 42 to 64

Non-financial

reporting statement

Qur non-financial reporting inctudes
environmental matters, employees,
human rights, social matters and
anti-bribery and corruplion.

See our statement an page 44
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OUR 2020 SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

Our 2020

sustainability strategy

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
economic and environmental trends to create value for our

stakeholders and the business.

British Land has been a signatory to the UN Global Compact
since 2009 and our sustainability focus areas support several
of the UN Sustainable Development Goals IS0Gs), as outlined
here Goal 17, on Parinerships, underpms all our activties.

Next year wil be the tinal reporting date for our 2020 targets.
We have made excellent progress against many, while facing
challenges with others More information can be found in our
Sustainability Accounts and on our website

We are currently engaging with people across our business,
key stakeholders and external experts to develop our post 2020
sustainability strategy, which we wiil taunch next year

Our performance on sustainability indices
We use industry-recognised indices to track our
sustainadility perfarmance

Global Reat Estate Sustainability
Benchmark 2018: Green Star

CDP 2018: MSCI ESG Leaders Index*
A- score 2018: AAA ratimg

FTSE4Gaod tndex 2018: DJS! Worid 2018
Top 96™ percentile Top 92" percentile

* MSCI disclaimer available o1
britishland cormvsustamabiay/performance/benchmarks
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Our focus areas

Wellbeing Community

Supporting UN Sustainable Development Goals

2019 progress on 2020 targets includes

= Deoveloped aur air quauty = 92% progress onour Locsl
framework, engaged with Charter at our places {2020
stakeholders on pedestrianisation target: 100%). investing
opportunities and partnered £1 8m to make a lasting
with City Air Tech to pilot an positive difference to our
air purifying green wall {2020 local commumbies.
target pilot three interventions - 17% employee skills-based
to improve ai gualityk. volunteers.' up fram 16% in

- Published ‘BDesign for Life’ 2018 {2020 target. 20%)." as
research on the potential we partner with CASS Business
economic benehis of School ta develop and support
placemaking for wellbeing, skilled volunteers, maxumising
parlnering with WPl Econarmics societal impact.

[2020 target achieved earlyl. ~ 81% employee voluntesring

- Submitied evidence for WELL (2020 target 90%) * Although we
certification at 100 Lverpool continue to offer colleagues up
Street, where we are targeting to four days paid time off work
Gold, working with our suppliers for volunteering each year, we
to design for wellbeing and recognise that greater value is
productivity [2020 target created through skills-based
deliver WELL certrhied officel. votunteering, sc this 1s where

we are increasingly focusing

1. ¥olunteering figures currenily exclude our property management team, lormerly
Broadgate Eslates Lid, winch was brought in-house this year



For more sustainability perfermance data, including progress on our 2020
tacgets and EPRA indicators, see pages 195 te 197 of this Report

Far our full sustainability perfarmance data, see our Sustamabildy Accounts

2019. briishland com/data

To find out where we report on tha key areas of the Non-Financial Reporting

Oirective, see page 44

Futureproofing

Skills and opportunity

ngr .
i0% avcrage s
embodied carbon emissiens
versus concept design on our
major developments {2020
target- 15% reduction] This
builds on a decade of work on
embodied carbon, commissioning
and publishing studies and
partnering with our supply chain
to wnprove performance.

- 44% reduction in tanglord energy
intensity across our portfolio
versus our 200% baseline, through
aur efficiency programme, working
with property teams and partners
{2020 target 55% reduction,
index scored.

- 96% of electrnicity purchased from
renewable sources (2020 target
100%] and instaltation of the UK's
largest shopping centre solar array
at Meadowhall.

0D asmnle mrimmaabaad s
G euie SR tel i

through Bright Lights, cur skllls and
employment programme, bringing
the total 10 1,232 since 20146,
working with suppliers, customers
and local partners {2020 1arget
1,7001 Building on the success

of Starting Out in Retail pre-
employmenti course, we launched
Starting Out 1n Buslding Services
and pilated Retrain in Retail

Since the launch last year we

have signed up 34/64 strategic
suppliers to our new Supplier Code
of Conduct (2020 target 100%). and
overalt 774 suppliers are signed up

2.4% of aur prionbised suppliers’
UK workiorce are apprentices
12020 target- 3%I). With
unemployment at a record low,
changes lo education funding ang
other external factors, aur focus 1s
increasingly on upskilling peopte
and supporting peopte who face
barrers to employment into work.

Partnershins
for the goals

Through cur award-winning partnership
with the Natwnal Literacy Trust, we have
hosted fun literacy events for over 40,000
children ane given o € than 120,080 lree

books since 2012, changing lives

Hear from some of our

partners, as we work tngether
Research shows that ch|ldren who
enjoy reading, read more and go on
to have better apportunities in life.
British Land takes us to the heart of
many communities that we want to
reach. Qur coltaboration is the
largest and longest partnership
between a business and charity to
impraove literacy in the UK, The results
show how businesses can transform
educational cutcomes.”

Jonathan Douglas of the Natronal
Literacy Trust

“The Recruitment & Skills Centre
at Fort Kinnaird contributes to
Edinburgh’s economic strategy,
supporting jobseekers into jobs and
reducing in-work poverty by helping
peopte progress in their careers.
When the public and private sectors

share common goals and work together,

we can achieve so much.”

Rhana McLinden of Capitat City
Partnership, Edinburgh
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EXPERT PECPLE

Changing how we work
to deliver our strategy

Our culture is evolving in line with our increasing focus on mixed use.

As we progress this straiegy, we are focused on the needs of the
businesses, people and communities whao teve, work and visit our
places. Qur warkforce 15 made up of people who understand and
represent customers’ needs and perspectives and refteci this n

their daly work to create Places People Prefer.

Our values {below) define our ways of working at British Land and
connect us every day to our visian, purpase and strategy.

We have identified four key themes of workplace culture which
support our business strategy, to becorne more inclusive, more
flexible, more creative and mare responsible

Bring your whole self
- Feel iree to be ourselves and
help others teel the same

- Bring all our passion
and energy to what we do

- Be open and inclusive

Listen and understand

- Take the time to bsten
and feed back

- Listen with respect
and without judgement

- Base our actions on what
we tearn

Be smarter together
- Bring together the
reght team
- Own our responsibilities

- Support each other
to succeed

Build for the future

- Anticipate needs and
lead with courage

- Grow our expertise and
learn from our experience

- Be accountable for
the legacy we leave

Read more about our iaclusve cullure and
diversity at britishland com/finclusive-culture
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More inclusive

Al Briish Land we celebrate inclusivity as part of our corporate
culture Many imtiatives are led by groups of employees Above all
our workplace 1s a place where employees can be themselves,

Cur CEO Chris Srigg is at the forefront of this change and

for the fourth consecutive year was ranked in the top 30 of

Ally Executives by OUTstanding and the Financial Times. He

is supporied by Darren Richards, our Head of Real Estate and
Executive Commuttee member, who heads aur Inclusive Culture
Steering Committee A Carporate Social Respensibility Commuttze
of the Board which has recently been established, chaiced by
Non-Executive Birector Alistair Hughes, also has oversight of the
development of our culiure

We have well-estabiished networks and forums which are led
by employees both at work and outside the olfice. These have
continued to thrive, hosting a total of 29 events this year

We recognise our role in supporting the weltlbeing and mental
health of sur employees, Our Wellbeing Commiltee has trained 47
employees as Mental Health First Auders. The team have created a
Wellbeing Roam to provide people with a calm cetreat which can
be used by employees during the working day

in February we hosted an event for our occuprers at 201 Bishopsgate
alongside Lord Holmes to launch a Wemen's netwaork for the building

We rernam 1n the top 10 best performers in the Hampton Alexander
review with over 33% wormnen [the recommended amount! mn the
combined Executive Commutiee and Direct Reports. We are in the
Top 50 Social Motulity Employer index up from position 85 and are
just outside the tap 100 for the Stonewall UK Equality index.

We continue to recognise that it will be a lang and steady path to
reduce our gender pay gap and we remain focused nn this with aur
Executive team who have 3 joint management objective to reduce
the gap progressively. Qur gender pay gap is discussed in the
conversation wath Chris Grigg on page é and more mformation can
be found at britshland.com/gender-pay-gap, Qur gender split can
be found on page 112,

Building a more inclusive workforce for the future, our summer
internship programme recrunts from a varety of backgrounds, and
for the sixth consecutive year, we have supported the Pathways

to Property programrne. Across our pertfolio, over 356,000 people
benehtted from our skills, employment and educationat initiatives
In the year,



More flexible

Like our customers, many of our employees wish to work more
lexibly, to better balance their persanal and professional ives
To accormmodate this, we ensure that all employees have the
technology to work ftexibly and are pleased that 15% do soona
farmat basis

Te keep our people engaged in their work, we invest 1n training
and development, enabbing them to work across different projects,
develaping new skilt sets and building their experience. This year
we Invested more than £500,000 to train and develop our peaple

We work with Cambndge University to run a Leadership in

Real Estate programme. 75 of gur staff have benefitted from
this programme since st was launched sn 2014, Aligned with
cultural changes across the business, we have delivered the
‘Performance through People” programme in partnership with
Ashridge Executive Education to support British Land managers
in their rote and we oifer a range of onltne resources to help

Investing in tomorrow s workforce (s a key prionty for British Land,
our customers and partners, and this means we continuously need
to evolve the way we work to accommodate the needs of people at
different stages of therr lives This includes reviews of our policies
and benefits, as well as the way we recruit, hire and train

More creaidve

We recogruse the inportance of collaborative working practices
to enhance creative 1deas and thinking Across cur portfolic,

we create places that encourage innovation through collaboration
and connection and we lake the same approach with our

own workspace

The renavation of our head office in 2015 better integrated

the different teams within our business and provided more
collaboratve anace This year, we went further, introducing 25'le
working sc people get to work with different tearms on a regular
basis and, 1n addition, can werk in shared space a{ our assels,
praviding & real insight tnto the customer experience We believe
this environment encaurages peeple to be mare entrepreneurial
in thesr thinking.

More responsible

We recogrise that as an owner and manager of space we have

a real responsibility to the pecple whe occupy, visit or Live in

and around it. In May 2018 we sold the thurd party portiolic of
Broadgate Estales, our property management business which now
focuses exclusively on our own portfolio. This year, we integrated
this business wathin British Land and it now sits within our head
office This reflects the important role that customer services
plays in our business as we progress our strategic focus on mixed
use places.

We encourage ali our people to suppart tocal communities
through volunteering and are pleased that 81% of the British Land
team was involved volunteering this year, including rales as charity
trustees and school governors. Since 2017, 48 employees have
signed up to the Step on Board programmea, an external service
that supports employees to volunteer as non-executive directors

Qur Quarterly in Conversation’ [QIC] group of seriar managers 15 a forum which facititates discussion across teams, generating new
wdeas and enabling our teams to learn trom each other s experience |t meets quarterly with the CEQ and /for 3 member of the Board,
prowding a two-way dizlogue that keeps pecple at every level of the business better informed
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Focused on our strategy

£12.3bn

Portfolio valuation

6.4 years

Weighted average lease length to first break

(0.9)% 97.29%!

Total property return Occupancy rate

(1.6)% (4.8)%

ERV movement Valuation movement

1 Where occupiers have entered CVA or adimimistrabion but are sull lable for rates,
these are treated as oeccupied. if units expected Lo becorne vacant are treated as
vacant, then the accupancy rate would reduce from 97 2% to 96 9%

Market backdrop

Macro-economic context

The backdrop through the year was dorminated by the ongoing Brexit
process The UK recorded only moderate GDP growth and the rate
of growth slowed m the final quarter Business confidence remained
fragile and declined overall, with companies slowing investment
decisions in the context of & possible no deal scenana. Consurmer
sentiment remained subdued, atbeit stable A number of forecasters
including the Bank of England have reduced their growth projections
for the coming year with the outlook mixed. Unemployment remained
tow at under 4%, the towest level since 1975 and real wage growth
strengthened as levels of employment continued at record highs.

London market

The London wwestment market remained good, with £16bn of
transactions in 2018, stghtly down on 2017, but more than any
other major city gicbalty. Overseas buyers, who accounted for
more than 80% of deals remained active, although the make up

of buyers continued to evolve with demand from China and Hong
Kong easing, but demand from Seuth Korea, Australia and the
Middle East growing There was however a notable pause in the
early part of 2019 as Brexit uncertainty increased and the theme of
polarisation in investment demand continued as actiity focused on
high guality, well-let or trophy assets, with less prirne properties
pricing below expeciations and at generally wider yields

The sccupational market continued to show resilience with
above average lake up. Serviced offices were the largest single
campenent of demand accounting for 17%, with banking and
finance representing t6%. Vacancy is in line with the 10 vear
average and year-on-year, incentives were largely unchanged,
wilh prime rents moderately up in both the West End and the City
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Pricing has continued to potarise, with weil designed, new or
refurtished space achieving a significant premium. This 1s
evidenced by the fact that ¢ 45% of all space under construction for
detivery in 2019 1s already pre-let. Supply has remained relatively
constrained and some 30% of space previously expected to be
delivered 1n 2020 (s not yet under construction, suggesung
development starts continue to be pushed back

Annual hause price growth remained relatively subdued at 0 7% in
March 2019 and was weakest in London and the South East, wich
reported declining prices The market for prime and super prime
continues to be challenging, with demand from overseas buyers
reduced partly due to pohitical uncertainty in the UK and globally,
as well as changes to rules on capital gains tax on property
disposals for overseas investors.

Retail market

Retarl investrnent markets were weak reflecting continuad
negative sentiment around the lang term role of physical retail
However, there 1s robust demand for well-let indwidual assets with
strong occupational characteristics or alternative use potential,
trvestment volumes for muli-let assets have besn low and thase
that have transacted have often been at significant discounts to
book value Towards the end of the financral year however, it
became apparent that for certain types of multi-let assets,
valuatiens reached a point where return profites were attracting
interest from a deeper poot of investors

The accupsianal market remained challenging as more retaders
have entered CVA or administration, resulting tn store closures
All retailers are workeng 10 optimise their store networks to have
the right footprint to succeed in an omni-channel environment
They are focused on the eptimal number of stares they need and
how much they are witling to pay for them and key to this Is the
quality and connechivity ot the locations As a resull, we have seen
polansation trends accelerate with the best quality, best located
retal assets, in the strongest demographic locations which are
right sized and aftordable to retailers continuing to perform
relatively well whereas secondary locations, or those which

are too big to reflect tocal demand, have struggled

Despite these challenges, many retaiters continve to perform well
and successful new entrants continue to emerge - as has always
been the case However, whilst the key Christmas trading perind
was generally stronger than expected, the market is set to remain
challenging cverall Since the end of cur financial year we have
seen a high profile CVA from Debenhams

Campus-focused London offices

At our London campuses, we create and manage some of the best
connected, most accessible space in London, all located in vibrant
and exciting neighbourhoods. They provide world class, modern
and sustainable offrces alongside public spaces with all the mix

of amenities peopte expect of a madern workplace. These unigue
campus benefits are the result of specific investment over many
years and represent a ctear attraction lo businesses seeking to
fure and retain the best people.



People and businesses are working more flexibly, and thewr needs
change over time, drving demand for guality otfice space an more
flexible terms This 1s what Storey, our Hextble workspace offer
provides. It 1s operational across all three of our campuses and s
an integral pant of cur offening It s differentiated frorm other flexible
office offerings in atlowing occupiers to personalise tugh quality
office space thraugh their own branding whitst benefitting from
shared amenities in the building and all the benefits our carmpuses
offer The average size of our Storey customers is 45 employees, and
with an average tease tength of around two years it complements
our core office offer while attracting a new market segment to
British Land relatively new, fast-growing ‘scale up businesses,
and specific standalone dwisians of larger companies.

Retall will continue to play an increasingly promunent role within
our campuses, notably at Broadgate, where our development
pipeline will detwer an additional 395,000 sq ft of non-office space,
focused on retail, leisure and dirving space This wall predormunantly
be at ground Hoor, so although the total allocation wilk be just 12%,
it akes a highly wisible contnibution to the campus, and has been
instrumentat in helping us stgn @ more diverse range of occuprer.

A smaller, more focused Retail portfolio

Structural change in retail 1s fundarnental and ongomg Recogmismg
this, we have been refining our Retait portfolio for sevecal years and
have made good progress with £2 9bn of asset sales since 2014

We have a clear view of the rote retart will play in our business tong
ecin. We will focus o0 a338is wihichn are b5t pisced o suppart ine
changing role of physicat retail and enable retaiters to succeed in
anincreasingly omni-channel world They wilt be high quality, weil
connected multi-let centres accessible to catchment areas with
attractive dernographics They will have strong market positions, be
affordable to retailers, appropriately sized to reflect thewr local market
and have the patential te become increasingly rmixed use over ime

Looking forward, we aim to reduce our Retaill business to 30-35%
of the total, based on current valuations over the next five years
This implies further asset sales into a market which 1s currently
mare challenging and is likely to remain so in the shori term

{n this context, we will remain patient and opportumistc i our
approach and only progress disposals at the nght price, which
deliver clear value and progress our long term sirategy

Residential, principally Build to Rent

Build to Rent ressdential 15 complementary to our exisiing expertise
and additive to our rmixed use strategy The market 15 underpinned by
socund fundamentals, with housing generatly undersupplied relative to
demand and ability to buy constrained, making renting an aitractive
option for a growing number of people Added to this, ownership 1s
relatively fragmented, creating an opportunity for professionally-
managed, quality space especiaily in London and the Seuth East

Mare details on the portiolio, property performance, ndividual
developments and assets soid and acquired during the year can be
found in the detailed supplementary tables on pages 186 to 194

Storey

Storey. our flexible workspace offer, launched 1n June 20t7.
it 1s a deliberately differentiated concept, providing quality
workspace on a short term basis Occupiers have the abiity
to brand the space themselves whilst benefitting trom the
shared facilities in the bulkdings and the amenities across
the wider campus. It has become integral fo our campus
offering, helping us aitract new businesses, typically from
the lechnology or creative sectors, as well as providing
overflow or project space for occupters on our core space

Two years n, ¢ +s operational across 141,000 sq {t and
gur plans wl more thar doutic this to include standatone

buddings as well as space of aur campuses

Progress on our strategy

Strategae Indiative S-year
prinl:ﬂ! bufiness mi{ _ Prograss -
Campus-  55-60% - Progressing devetopment on our
focused campuses and de-rnisking through

Gf which
London Storey ¢ 5% pre-tets with 76% of our recently
Offices yea® completed and commutted

developments now et or under offer
to a broad range of cccupiers

- Creating options with 2 7m sg {t
of planaing consents achieved

- Storey operational across
141,000 sq ft on all three
campuses with further 161,000 sq
ft Wenblied [incl. standalone locations)

- Srart Places team established

with a clear strategy to delver digital

placemaking across our places
Reforused 30-35% - £446m of assets sobd since Apnit
Retail 2018, marginally above bock value

including a mix of selus, letsure and

multi-let assets
Residential ¢ 10% - Further good progress at Clarges
principally Mayfair, with 23 units cornpleted in
Build to the year, bringing totai completed
Rent units to 25, a further twe exchanged

and three under offer

- Canada Water planning application
submited including 3,000 homes

- Further opportunities across
our portfolic
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Business review

(1.6)%

ERV movement

£239m

Acquisitions

Lettings and renewals

+0.4%

Portfolio performance
Total

2.7m sq ft

Vatuation ERY Yield progerty

Valuation movement growth shift return

At 31 March 20%9 £m “% % bps %
Offices 6,308 11 1.4 +2 49

Retal 8,577 (11 1) {3 8] +37 (6 &

Residential 128 (4 4} na na (18]
Canada Water 303 {08 na na 3.1

Total 12,316 14 8) {14] +19 0%

The portiolio value was down 4 8% overall, with Retail valuations
down 11.1% Offices were 1.1% ahead, driven by developments
which were up 11.3% The Offices portfolio saw positive ERV
arnwth balanced acrose the City and Weet End with welde
broadly flat In Retail, investor sentiment remarned negatve
with CVAs and administrations putting further pressure on rents,
driving yield expansion and ERV decline These difficullies were
most pronounced in department stores and smaller multi-let
centres In areas with weaker dermographics

Offices performed in ling with the London Dffice benchmark
although underperformed All Offices by 100bps due to the sirength
of regional offices within the index Retail underperforrmed the
Retail benchmark, which saw vatues down overall Multi-let centres
inweaker demographic lecations which were disproportionately
inpacted by CVAs underperformed overall compared to the
benchmark which includes long let assels which were typically
less impacted. As a result and reflecting the continued strength of
industrials where we have no exposure, the portfolio underperformed
the IPD alt property total return index by 550 bps aver the penod

(19

£1.5bn

Disposals

Lettings and renewals ahead of ERV

Capital activity

Canada

Offices Retail Residential Water Tatat
From 1 April 2018 £m £m £m m tm
Purchases 129 110 - - 239
Sales' {560} (646} [359] - 11,505l
Development
Spend 212 a1 n 21 275
Capital Spend 20 33 - - 53
Net Investment 1139) (472)  (348) 21 {938}
Gross Investment 861 820 370 21 2,072

On a progortionally consalidated basis including the Group s share of ol
ventures and funds

v Isg &

Curre‘r':l year for £45m Inc C;L;;;;alle of 1'25 Sal;{ébh}y's supersteres whs'c'rr
exchanged post year end for £194m includes Clarges residential sales of
£35%m, of which £253en exchanged prior to FY19 and completed in the year
and €£18m exchanged post year end

We have completed or exchanged on €1 5bn of asset disposals

since 1 Aprii 2018, bringing the total gross value of our investment

actmity since 1 April 2018 to £2 1bn. In Retail, we made sales of

E446m, comprising a mix of non-core multi-tet centres and

standalone retail or leisure assets Overall, sales were marginally

ahead of book value, with mulli-let centres generally transaciing
at a discount, and solus assets, particularly those with good
alternative use potential, generally achieving a premium to book
value We acquired Royal Victoria Place in Tunbridge Wells at

the start of the year for £92m; the centre offers good mixed use

potential and is well located m London’s commuter belt

We love being part of the Storey community. Before moving into our space in Appold Street we were part

of a co-waorking office, but with our team growing, we were at the stage where we had to get something of our
own. We needed something flexible, but representative, and we definitely found exactly the right fit. Storey
has been absolutely brilliant not only in helping us find the ideal office, but also in making sure everything
runs smoothly for our team every day. The Storey team are a delisht to work with, and I'm excited to see

how the community grows in the future.

” Chris McCultough, CEOQ & Co-Founder, Rotageek
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In Offices. the mast sigmificant transaction in the period was the
sale of 5 Broasdgate for £1bn lour share £500ml in line with baok
value Overall, this development generated a total property return
of 18% per annum for British Land.

At Clarges, our prime residential-led devetapment in Mayfair,

we completed on the sale of 23 uats in the year for £335m,
bringing total completed units to 25 with receipts totalling £359m
Wae have exchanged en two further unis, bringing completed and
exchanged sales to £383mwith seven units rematning, of which
theee are under offer Clarges has been a highly successiuf
scheme far us, having delivered total profits of £200m to date
with £34m sales to go, excluding those already under offer

Data and insights

We are continuing to {everage cur insight into our places, which
15 grounded 10 the dats we collect across the portfolio on the
people who work at, visit and live around our centres and
campuses This data shows how users interact with our spaces,
for example how they choose to spend their ttme and monaey,
which brands they engage with and what they think of our
faciliies and serwices Our understanding s informing
development strategy at our campuses and providing valuable
evidence it leasing discussions 1n an environment where brands
are very focused on taking the right physical space

This year, we rolied out a new data and analytics platform, whereby
nearly 1,000 retailers, representing two-thirds of our porifolio
contribute sales data in exchange for reports and benchmarking,
providing gur occupiers with a real insight into their customer base
and helping us budd a clear picture of which occupiers and centres
are perferming well. Over tme, this information guides our asset
management and gur investment actevity, helping us aliocate
capital efficiently

At Canada Water, we have used insight to project the tikely needs
of the community as the scheme progresses and this s shaping
the amount of retal, leisure and communtity space in our plans
This rnodelling builds on the expertise we have developed across
our campuses and retall centres by factoring n the benefits of a
mux of uses for ptacemaking.

Sustainability

Susiainzbilety 1s integral to hew we manage our business.

Qur activities have a real impact an the environment, our
customers and local communities and we recognise our
responsibility to manage thase impacts This year we published
‘Design for Life’ research guantfyng the potent:al economec
benefits and indwidual boost of putting wellbeing at the heart

of urban design, which is core ta creating Places People Prefer
Sustainabibity is integrated into the standard teols we use across
our business, frem our Sustainabitity Brief for Developments,
naw in its 15" year, to our Local Charter, which sets out five ways
we make a lasting positve diference to our local communities
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

A1 180 Liverpool Street, our iargest on-site development around
half of the onginal structure and foundations were retained,
saving 7,200 tonnes of embodied carbon, with a further 4,100
tonnes set to be saved through carbon-efficient design and the
use of low-carbon matenals We have worked hard 1o mimimase
the impact of this development for customers, for exarnple by
using an off-site consolidation centre ta combine deliveries.

we achieved a2 20% reduction in trucks coming to the site

We alsc worked closely with London transport pariners to
ensure that transport connections were unaffected and with
local shops and businesses who lost no trading days

Acrass aur Broadgate developments, we are warking in
partnership with our man contractor, Sir Robert McAlpine, to
create a positive local legacy. Over 3,300 people have benefitted
trom our Broadgate construction team s community actwities
over the last two years, including lecal schoolchildren, jobseekers
and peopte affected by homelessness. Over 60 apprentices

ang trainees have developed their skills through our Broadgate
construction actimty over the same pertod. We are also ensuring
that our projects directly benefit local businesces For example,
58% of construction spend at 100 Liverpool Street so tar {{53%mi
has baen spent in the City and neighbouring boroughs.

At our managed assets, we conhinue to support peaple into work
through Bright Lights, our skills and employment pregrameme. At Fort
Kinnaird, Edinburgh, the Recruttrment & Skills Centre celebrated tis
fifth anniversary this year Winner of the Estates Gazette Collaborators
Award 2018, our mnovative coligooraiion (vowves counciis in 851
Lothian, City of Edinburgh and Midlothian and partners such as the
Cagpital City Partnership, Department of Work and Pensions and Skills
QOevelopment Scotland. Since opening, the Centre has trained 2,663
peoole and helped 3,985 people into work, supporting around 160
employers each year, including our customers This improves
apportunities far people in surrounding neighbourhoods and creates
the skiied workforce that our customers value

14

We just wanted to serve really good wine and

fish - British Land gave us an opportunity to do
something really special, and people seem to really
enjoy that. We get a lot of positive feedback on the
area, particularly from people who remember it
decades ago and they're amased by how much

it's come together with the canal at its heart,

and it's getting better and better.

’, Harry Lobek, Director, London Shelt Co
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Our strong sustainability performance 1s reflected in our rankings
on external ESG indices, including a green star rating for the
minth consecutive year in the Global Real Estate Sustainability
Beachmark [GRESBI, COP A- score {2017 Bl and inclusion in the
FISE4Goed and Dow Jones Sustainability Indices 2018, This year,
while we maintained our strong absolute performance in GRESS,
our retative ranking reduced to 4-stars We have established a
Steering Commitiee to progress meeting the recormmendations
of the Taskiorce on Climate-related Financiat Oisclosures and
conunue to reduce carbon and energy intensity across the
portfotio, this year achieving 64% and 44% reductions, respectively,
aganst our 2009 baseline.



Campus-focused London Offices

Operational and financial highlights

- Portfolio vatue up 1.1%, with the City up 1 9%
and West End up 0 7%

- Yields fiat in the City, with moderate expansion
in the West End +3bps

- ERVY growth of 1.4% across the portfolio

- Actwity generating bke-for-like income growth
of 4 9%

- Leasing activity covering 1.1m sq ft, adding
£21m to future rents

Campus operational review

80% of our Qffices are located on our three centrat London
campuses, gach benehiting from excellent Iranspsrt connectivity
and vibrant local neighbourhcods which are an important part of
thewr appeal Across these spaces we have made good progress
on our strategy to expand the mix of uses, which in the context
of our campuses means an enhanced lersure, dining and

entertainment offering

Broadgate

More than half our leasing activity ths year has been at Broadgate,
where we made 739,000 sq ft of ieltings and renewals and agreed
rent reviews on a further 152,000 sq ft of space, overall 6 5% ahead
af ERV The most significant included McCann, one of the world's
leading advertising agencies and TP ICAP, the global interdealer
broker who signed far 127,000 sq ft and 123,000 sq ft respectively
at 135 Bishopsgate, both for a3 19 year term

Al 100 Liverpool Street, Mitbanik, a leading internatianat law firm,
has commutted to over 70,000 sq It and despite the uncertain
pelitical backdrop, financial services firm Peel Bunt has signed for
40,000 sg ft We have made good progress leasing an the retail
side, with space tet or under offer 1o Watches of Swiizerland, Gant,
Kiehis and Neem Organics alongside several high quality grab and
go operaiors These are typically smaller lettings, ranging from

300 to 6,000 sq ft, but are located on the station concourse or at
lower ground floor leve!, where the rent achieved can be more than
double that on the office space lon a per sq ft basish.

At 1 Finsbury Avenue, which has reached practical completion,

we are building & premium food offering, with space let or under
offer to Bar Douro, a Portuguese restaurant specialising in small
plates and independent, high quality grab and go brands Nyokee
and Yolk These join Everyman, the boutique cinema operator

who signed for a three-screen cinema covering 11,000 sq ft earhier
n the year These letlings demonstrate sigrmficant progress o
creale a destination centre for food, retail and cutture at Broadgate,
enhancing the appeat of our campus to prospective occupiers,
particularly those fram non-tradional sectors including
technology. The most recent examgple 1s Product Madness, an
online gaming ptatform who are taking 31,000 sq {t at 1 Finsbury
Avenue on a ten year term Earlier in the year, technology company
Mimecast committed to an additional 34,000 sq ft bringing thetr
totai occupation to 113,000 sq ft

Under offer on a further 28,00C sq ft and in
negotiations on a further 479,000 sq ft

Investment lettings and renewsals signed 1.2%
ahead of ERV adding £3m to future rents

317,060 sq ft rent reviews agreed 7.1% ahead
of passing rent adding £0.9m to rents

Qccupancy increased slightly to 97.7%; Regent's
Place and Paddington Central virtually full

5 Broadgate sold at book value [our share £500m)
generating an 18% pa total property return

Elsewhere on the campus, we let 37,000 sq it to commadities
broker Marex at 155 Bishopsgate and nearly 40,000 sq it at
Sroadgaie Tower, whare both Lguitnel and TradeTech eFpanded
their space We also completed 25,100 sq ft of short term lettings
to tech and professional service businesses at 2&3 Finsbury
Avenue including CheckReciptent, Pog, and Tech Natien This
strong progress across the campus demonstrates London’s
enduring appeal as a place to da business, despite Braxit,

L B T N I R . LA
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gains on our development properties and benefiting from
ERV growth of 1 2%.

Paddington Central

We have continued tc make good progress evelving our retant

and diming offer at Paddingtan Ceniral. This year, we have let
space to Vagabonds Wene and a second canal-boat restaurant,
further entivening the canal-side as well as Pure, and Department
aof Coffee and Social Affairs at 2 Kingdom Street and Pall Mall
Barbers in Sheldon Sguare Total lettings/renewals at the campus
covered 41,000 sq ¢, includwng 20,000 sq ft of lettings through
Storey with rent reviews on 78,000 sq ft of space agreed more
than 10% ahead of passing rent Occupancy acress the campus

15 97 2%.

There 1s real momentum building acrass the newghbourhood,

with leasing interest from a range of sectors reflecting significant
investment and regeneration ahead of Crossrail opening The campus
saw a valuation uplft of 1 9%, benefitting from yield tightening of

1 bp and ERV growth of 0.9%

Regent’s Place

At Regent’s Place, where occupancy 1s 98.7% our leasing actity
covered 258,000 sq ft Our largest singie letting was to Facebook
who are taking 175,000 sq ft on 0 year lease at 10 Brock Street in
the space to be vacaled by Debenhams This takes thew occupancy
at the building to 290,000 sq t and is a strong endorserment of the
campus We have also let 12,600 sq it to Hays at 20 Triten Street
and agreed 34,000 sq ft of rent reviews, 9 1% ahead of passing
rent This aclivity supporied ERV growth of 2.2% offsetting mitd
yield expansion of 3 bps to deliver an overall valuatron uplidt

of 1.4%
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

We are planming 3 re-brand of the campus, which we expect

to launch in the summer and are progressing plans tora
programme of public realm improvements, which wilt enhance
existing connections with Regent s Park, the residential areas to
the north and the Knowledge Quarter These will introduce more
green space and support a more dwerse range of uses,
experiences and activities throughout the year.

Increasing the mix of uses

Non-office teaswg at our campuses totalled 68.000 sq it w the
year, primarily comprising retail, leisure and diming, with the
targest single letting to Everyman cinema at 1 Finsbury Avenue

We have alse focused on malang smart use of public or shared
spaces through events and actwities which enliven our space as
well as successful commercial events which generate income
This year, our campuses hosted 44 major marketing actwities
as well a5 a range of seasonal events to mark national occasions
such as International Women's Day, Mental Health Awareness
Week and London Pride We were recogrised by REVO for brand
experiences including Eon’s 'Shot of Summer” and a3 Bardeaux
Butterily Bar, both at Broadgate Qur Adidas experience held
last summer at Norton Folgate comprising sport, music and
‘instagramable” moments generated around £30,600 rent for

a 10-day event.

Storey: our flexible workspace brand
We launched Storey nearly two years ago It is a deliberately
differentiated flexib ;

the opportumty to brand the space themselves whitst benefithing
from shared facilities in the building and the advantages our
campuses provide This year, Storey opened at 2 and 4 Kingdom
Street {Paddington Centratl, and 3 Finsbury Avenue (Broadgatel
as well as at York House, W1 in our standalone portfohio. s now
operational across 141,000 sq ft and 1s 90% let or under offer.

e e gt
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Part of the business rationale was the increasingly complementary
nature of core and mare Hexible space, so we are pleased that 35%
of Storey occupiers by rent are existing custormners of British Land
it has also been instrumental in butding cur exposure (o the
growing technology and creative sectors, which account for

¢.60% of space let; recent examples include Tryzens a prowder

of e-commerce solutians and AppDynarucs, an application
performance analytics cormnpany, wha both signed in the year

Starey continues Lo achieve attractive premiums to ERY of around
30% on total leased space with an average lease tength of
23 months, and average occuprer headcount of 45 people

(19

We love the progressive approach to design, the
open space and amenities, and crucially, access to
SJuture talent. We think we've found the perfect place
Jor Mimecast to grow and continue fo succeed

in London.

,’ Neil Murray, Chief Technolegy Dfficer, Mimecast
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Looking forward, the Starey pipeline 15 161,000 sq ft which includes
‘Storey Club’ at 4 Kingdom Street, a new concept providing ad hoc
workspace, additronal meeting rooms, private diming venues and
event and workshop spaces for Storey occupiers. We have earmarked
more than 60.000 sq {10 standalone space at Wells St Fit2rovis
and Qrsman Road i Haggerston lexchanged in the year]|

Smart Places

This year, cur Smari Places team have lad out a long term plan to
deliver digital placemaking across our Gffice campuses This s an
example of haw we are evalving our offer to enhance the expenence
for our accupiers, differentiatsng our space to drive long terrn
dermand and deliver rental growth. Our Smart strategy focuses

on three core areas

- Tech hardware. ensuring we are putting in place the nght
malerials and equipment 1n our buitdings for the long term -
efficient mechanical and electricat matenials which are
internet-connected, and can send and receive insiructions
according to an open-source British Land standard for data

- Building a data envirenment bringing together data frorn across
our spaces and oiher sgurces o derve msight, improve Usage
of space and enable budding contral

- User experience gevelomng platfarms that aliow users ta
engage seamlessly with their space, helping them to be
healthier, productive and more engaged in their environment

At our head office at York House we have successfully tnalled
hardware which measures space utifisation and are working with
third parties to generate insights from the data we have collected
We have standardised a Smart Buildings design guide which we
are using across all new developments and have started to engage
with accupiers to support them in making the most of our advanced
affice developments, constantly improving our understanding of
what our occupiers want and how we will achieve this



Smaller, more focused Retail

Retail operational and financial highlights

- Total portfolio value down 11.1%, led by smaller
mulli-let schemes which were dispraportionately
affected by CVAs and administrations

- Yield expansion of 37 bps overall
- ERVs down 3.8%

- Robust teasing actvity with lettings/renewals
covering 1 6m sq ft, marginally ahead of ERV, strong
retention rate on renewals of 78%

- Further 1.8m sq ft of rent reviews agreed 2.3% ahead
of passing rent

- High occupancy maintained at 97%

Perdormanve review

Leasing

in a challenging aperating environment. our focus this year has
been on the day to day bustness of leasing and managing our
space Overall, leasing volumes have been ahead of historic levels
at 1 6mi sq ft, with the number of tang term deals in line with
sverage, but & egher member of short
signed this year, demonsirating the way we are evolving our offer
to meet the needs of our occupiers whitst retaining flexibility in our
eslate to respond to new retallers and concepts

b eem ar dormssararts lathinss

i Short ierm or lemporary stings

We have had a successlul year at Meadowhall, with 22 leng term
deats with new lettings to Skopes, Rock Up and Lacoste, and
upsizings from North Face and Fat Face Meadowhall has

seen nine consecutive months of year on year footfall growth,
demonsirating #ts strang and growing appeal, post our £40m
refurbishment Building on this, we are on site with a new
chitdren s playground and have an upgrade to the Jasis dining
quarter planned lor the current year. We are piloting changes

in the way we use retail space, ncluding Meadowhall Sesstons, a
sertes cf evening classes and a regular artisan market showcasing
the best in Yorkshure produce whrch both launched in the year

Across the portfolio, we have continued to welcome new formats
with Goldsmith's the jewelters opening their first out of town store
al Fort Kinnaird and Empire cinemas launching their first new café
and cinema concept at SouthGate, Bath We have re-geared leases
with major tenants on a portfolio basis, including Boots at three
schemes totalling 44,000 sq ft at 12 4% ahead of ERV and Argos at
six schemes totalting £1.080 sq 1t broadly i {ine with ERV We also
agreed a partfolio deal with Mew Look covering 11 leases

Annualised rentat irmpact of CVAs and
administrations over the last two years of £16 9m,
£0.9m at assets subsequently sold, £5.1m at stores
where rents have reduced and £10.9m s at stares
subject to closure of which £6.5m has already been
let or in negotiation

Like for ike income growth excluding the impact of
CVAs and admunistrations of 0 8%

Foatfall down 0 9%, 230 bps ahead of benchmark,
total sales down U 5%, 160 bps ahead of benchmark

£6446m non-core assets exchanged since April 2018

CYAs and administrations

Across our portfolio, we are addressing the impact of CVAs and
admmistrations The annualised impact of CVAs and adrmimnistrations
over the last two years s £16 9m £0 9m at assets subsequently
sold, £5 1m at stores where rents have reduced and £10.9m s at
stores subject to closure of which £6.5m has already been let or
in negotiation Thus has disproportionately impacted our smaller
mulit-let centres especially those in weaker demographic locations,
and are generally assets that do not have a long term role within
our portfolio Post period end, Debenhams aiso appbed for a CVA,
pricr to which we had re-{et their head otfhice space te Facebook,
and had managed down our retail exposure with the sale of a
standatone store :n Clapham Qur exposure to Debenhams now
comprises four standalone and five stares in multi-let centres

(19

Broadgate gave us a chance. They trusted in a
new business because they believed in us and the
concept. We have a home now — a base so that we
can serve our food and delicious coffee every day.
It's the kind of spot we were hoping for and
dreaming of.

998 Nick Philpot, Founder, Yotk
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Operational performance

Footfall was down 0.9% in the year, but we have continued to
outperform the benchmark {230 bps ahead) dernonstrating that
despite changes i the way people shop, our centres are shil
retatvely well placed Total sales, which take 0 account our
asset management initiatives, were down 0.5% outperforming the
benchrmark by 160 bps, aithough same store sales, which strips
out these impravements showed decline of 1.5% but was 160 bps
ahead of the benchmark. Both metrics showed an improvement
over the year, and encouragingly, turned positive in the last quarter
of the inancial year. These figures only capture instore sales and
exclude online sates where the physical store plays a key role,
including shipping direct from store, an approach mare retailers
are adopting, as well as click and collect and online purchases first
browsed in store

This year eight of our commerc@hisation events were recognised at
the REVO awards with three winners including best Pop Up Shop
for our Uricorn Meadow at Meadowhall, best Mall Transtormabion
again al Meadowhall, recagmsing the change that our refurbishment
has delivered and best Commercial Event for our Ultra-Violet

Bar at SouthGate, Bath, markung our parinecsiup with the

Bath Gin Company

Capital activity

We have a clear strategy to refine our Retail portfolio to deliver a
smaller, more focused business, comprising assets that support
the changing role of physical retail, are right sized for their local
markets and have the potential to become ncreasingly mixed use,

In ine with that, we have made asset sales totalling Eé46m since

1 Apnl 2018, comprising smaller, multi-let retall centres, non-core
leisure assets and standalone retail assets Qverall sales were 2%
ahead of book value, but mutti-let retad has generally sold at or
below book. while standalone retall and {eisure has generally sold
at or above book The most signthicant transaction was the disposal
of 12 of our Sainsbury’s superstores for £193 Sm [our sharel,
maodestly ahead of book value. which exchanged post period end.
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This brings total retad disposals over the last five years to £2 9bn
comprising the following core categories

€m % %

suld since  tatal portfolic  tatat portfalio

Asset class Aprit2016  March 2014 March 2019

Department stores £682m 5% 1%

Superstares {standalone} £1,203m 11% 1%!

Leisure £19%m 3% 2%
Non-core mutti-let retard £790m
Total €£2,870m

! Pra-lerma for past year end exchanged sate of 12 Sainsbury's supersiores

We have a clear view of the value of our assets, and have set out
the indicative shape of our business in fwe years, when we expect
retail will comprise 30-39% of the portfolio, based an current
valuations We have the financial capacity to progress aur
developments without necessiating asset sates, enabling us to
be patient and opporturustic in our aparoach, so we benefit from
pockets of demand for particular assat types as and when they
arise We will maintain this approach going forward and only make
disposals which deliver vaiue or significantly progress our long
term strategy. We have a strong track record of delivering on aur
strategic goals having reduced aur standalone supersiore
exposure from 11% 1n 2014 to 1% today with just six standalone
stores remaining.

Retaii wilt remain an important part of our business long term,
38 we witl contiiue 1o rvest it those assels which sugpait the
changing role of physical retall and have the patental ta became
mixed use. We have a clear set of criteria v terms of size and !
location, the environment, mix of operators and services that we
use to evaluate our assets and these factors underpinned our
purchase of Royal Victoria Place in Tunbridge Wells for £91 8m at
the start of the year. Here, we have commitied to a refurtishment
covering around two-thirds of the centre and have plans for a
redevelopment of the remaming third of the space; longer term,
we see poteniiat to significantly expand the mix ¢f uses.

66

PureGym are delighted

to have finally secured
representation on Fort
Kinnaird. It’s proved to be

a great decision and was
actually our strongest ever
new site apening since the
business began 10 years and
238 gyms ago!

99 Duncan Costin, Property Directar,
PureGym



Development

ERY

Current Costto Lletfunder

Sqit Vatue comalete ERY offer

At 31 March 2019 000 £m im £m £m
Recently completed 287 153 " 82 47
Committed 1,330 T4 252 530 43 2

Near term 864 156 £04 3%.4 -
Meditm term 2443
Canada Water Phase 1! 1,917

On a proportionally consoiidated basis including the Group s share of joint
venlures and funds lexcepl area which 15 shown at 100%l)

I Total site area1s 5m 5q i Phase 1 consisis of Phase 1a, 1b, Ic Detailed planming
submitted for Phase la {576,000 sq ftl, outline planning subrrutted for lotal Phase 1

Portfolio

Oevelopments are a key element of our investment case as a
fundamental driver of sustainable value and growth for the long
term In the current market we see imited opportunities to make
accretive acquisitions, so the capacity to develop 1s an important
competitive advantage Critical to our approach s the Rexibility
and oplionality we have created. with the majority of space in

our development pipeline either income producing or held at

{ow cost, sa we have attracive oplions we can progress as and
when appropriate,

We actively manage ocur development nisk and pre-letting our space
15 an imporlant part of that approach, Reflecting our continued
sucressful leasing actwity. 76% of our recently completed and

commiited developments are pre-let or under offer and speculative
exposure remains low at 2.3% of portfolio gross asset vaiue
Including eur near term pipeline, this will be 7 4%, below our
internal risk threshold for speculative development of 8%

Construction cost forecasts continue o suggest that the rate of
growth has mederated from the tevel in recent years. However,
there is a risk that the Brewt outcome increases materials costs
and reduces labour supply i future years, potentially increasing
cost inflation above the expected 2-4% per annum To mitigate thus
risk, 93% of the costs on pur commutted development programme
have been fixed

Campus developments: further enhancing the mix

of uses

Development has been an wnportant driver of value over the year
Our successful leasing activity has supported the rental tone at our
Broadgate campus while the benefit of our 4 Kingdom Street
development [completed 1 2018l continues to support rental
growth at Paddington Central

Completed developments

1 Finshury Avenue [287 000 sq ftl at Broadgate has reached
practical cempietion, and we are 58% let or under offer by ERV
following 168,000 sq f of teasing activity Signings included
Mimecast, Everyman and Product Madness and with four F&B
operators exchanged or under offer. tn additron, we are allocating
72,000 sq it 1o Storey, leaving just 46,000 sq ft available to let

19

Our emplovee base is
approximately two thirds
under 30. People looking for
work will not only look for

a job now — they will look

at the environment they're
working in and the location
of the butlding as part of
their overall decision making
process. They are less likely
to choose an employer if they
don't like what they see.

99 stephen Guy,
Chief Integration Dfficer

and Chief of Staff,
McCann Worldwide
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Committed developments

Our commitied development pipeline covers 1.3m sq ft fexcluding

1 Finshury Avenue), At 1 Tritan Square [Regent’s Place] which is our
largest whaolly-owned developrment covering 364,000 sq ft, the office
space is fully pre-let lo Denisu Aegis Network on a 20 year lease.

Al Broadgate, we are on stte with two developments together
delivering 856,000 sq ft. 100 Liverpool Street {521,000 sq ft) topped
out in the penod, the facade has now been mstalled up to level 10
and fit out of the interiors started in April 1t wall be one of Europe s
smartest office buldings, with a single digital spine connecting
systerms within the building to persenalise elements of the warkmg
envirgnment including temperature and light as well as manitor
the use of space. We are aiming for 2 WiredScore platinum

rating for internet connectwity and infrastructure and a Well Gold
certification for wellbeing. Sustainabiity has been integral to the
design and delivery of this building: by retaining as much of the
existing structure as possible we have saved 7,200 tonnes of
embadied carbon and are on track to save a further 4,100 tonnes
through carbon-efficient design and use of low-carbon materiaks
More than half of the construction spend has been invested in the
City and neighbouring boroughs, ensuring tocal people henefit
from our development. Following lettings to Peel Hunt and Milbank
this year, who join Surmitorno Mitsui Banking Cerporation Europe,
the building 1s now 56% let or under offer by ERV. At 135 Bishopsgate
(335,000 sq ftl. we are 0% let or under ofter, with signings to
McCann and TP ICAP this year, in addition ta Eataly, the italian

marketnlare which & talonn £4£ 00N o it nn the a
E

Across both huildings, we are seeing good mterest inthe
rematning space

nd finnr

Near term pipeline

We have increased our near term pipeline to 866,000 sq ft with the
addition of 1-2 Broadgate where we achieved planning permission
during the year. This 531.000 sq ft scheme inctudes 153,000 sqg ft
of retail, leisure and diming space, connecting Finsbury Avenue
Square wath retail at 100 Liverpool Street and the Broadgate Circle,
creating a 350,000 sq fi retail, laisure and dining hub

Al Norton Folgate [previously Blassom Street] we have consent
for a 335,000 sq ft scheme comprising 257,000 sq ft of office
space alongside retall and residental space, to create a mixed
use development which 1s 1 keeping with the hustoric fabric ol
the area Cur plans envisage a mix of floarplates, {0 appeal 1o
small and growing businesses as well 3s more established
organisations, particutarty in the technology and creative sectors
and we are already seeing good interest in the space
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Medium term Pipeline

Our medium term prpeline includes three office-led schemes
covering more than 1m sg ft 1n total. These buildings progress
our rmixed use campus vision and suppert future Income growth.

The most significant scheme 15 2-3 Finsbury Avenue at Broadgate
Covering 563,000 sq ft, the scherne adds 374,000 sq ft to the
exisling space which generates an income through short term,
more flexibte lettings, with 50,500 sq ft allocated to Storey. We have
also launched 3 1,700 sq ft events space at 3 Finshury Avenue
which regularly hosts thought-teadership events, as well as yoga,
pilales and meditation sessions.

At 5 Kingdom Street, Paddington Central, we have submitted a
revised planning application which would increase our consented
scheme from 240,000 sq ft to 429,000 sq ft. The scheme includes
the opportunity to develop a former Crossrail works site which
reverts to British Land on completion of Crossrait, providing 80,000
sg ft of community, retail, teisure and cultural facililies, reflecting
feedback from focus groups and residents who we consulted on
tow this space could best be used. At the Gateway, we have
consent for a 105,000 sg ft oremium hotel.

Retail development: enhancing and repositioning
our portfolio for the future

In line with our disciplined approach to capital allocation, we
consistently review our capital spending plans in the current
environment we would expecl the overall leve! ot capn:ai spend

(eI n:[dil PUI
we maintain a range of apportunities across our portiollo which
preserve our optionality but would only comrmut where market
conditiens and long term prospects are suppartive

Committed developments

At Orake Circus, Plymouth, we are on site with a 108,000 sq ft
leisure extension which will add a 12-screen cinema and 14
restaurants The scherme s 67% let and under offer and we
expect 1o reach practical completion in auturmn 2019,

Medium term pipeline

Our mediurn term pipeline 1s focused on mixed use opportunities
At Baling Broadway, which will benefit from Crossrail, we are
working up plans for a 292,000 sq ft scheme, and at Eden Walk,
Kingston {jointly owned with USS] our consented mixed use
development plans include 380 new homes, alongside shops,
restaurants end 35,000 sq [t of flexible office space At Meadowhall,
we have consent for a 333,000 sq ft leisure extension but are
undertaking a review of our plans which is expected to conclude
towards the end of the year We have further apportumbies ai New
George Street in Plymouth, adjacent to our Drake Circus regional
retail centre which cover 43,000 sq ft in each case, our focus will
be on enhancing the mix of uses to best reflect the local market.

Read more about our development pipeline on pages 22 and 23




Canada Water: 53 acre masterplan for a new urban centre

in Central London

Highlights
- 5m sq ft mixed use development scheme

- Master development agreerment signed with
Southwark Ceuncil in May 2018

- Planning application including detailed planning
submisston on the first three buildings and outling
planning for the whole scheme submitted May 2018

- Net valuation movement down 0 8% to £303m;
increase n gross valuation offset by costs incurred
i connection with planning

Al Canada Water, we are workung with the London Borough of
Southwark to deliver a 5m sq ft mixed use scheme, including 3,000
new hames alongside 3 mix of cammercial, retail and community
epare The qite 1s Incated between Londen Brdge and Canary
Wharf on the Jubilee Line wath access to the Lendon Overground,
making 1t easily accessible from Canary Wharf, the West End,
Shoreditch and South West Londan [t will also be an indirect
beneficiary of Crossrai, which will sigruficantly reduce pressure
on the Jubilee line between Canary Wharf and Bond Street

It covers 53 acres wcluding the dock area, providing 48 acres

of developae tand

We started engaging on aur masterplan proposals 1n 2014 and
since then have held over 120 public consultabons and local
ouireach events These have attracted over 5,000 indwiduals who
have inputied at every stage and provided 12,000 comments on

our plans, enabling us {o shape a design that seeks to meet local
needs and aspirations Tagether with Seuthwark Council, we have
also developed a Socisl Regeneration Charter which captures locat
residents’ priorities for the benefits of the development, and ideas
for how these can be delvered.

tn May 2018 we signed the Master Development Agreement with
Southwark Council This set out the terms of 3 new headlease
consolidating our holdings inte a single 500-year headlease with
Southwark Council as the Lessor. This structure effectively aligns
the ownership of these assets, with British Land owning 80% and
Southwark Council owning the remaining 20% Southwark Council
can participate in the development of the individual plots, up to

a maximum of 20% and returns will be pro-rated accordingly

Thus headlease becornes etfective on fullilment of several conditions,
maost importantly achieving outline planning consent fer the whale
masterplan and detailed planning consent for the first three
buildings which was also submitted in May 20718

Since submsssion of our application, we have worked constructively
wiih Southwark Councit through the comptexities of the ptanning
process and we are targeting a July planning meeting

The frst three buildings total ¢ 574,000 sq ft and will prowide

265 homes of which araund 35% will be aftordable Building Al

will provide both residential and workspace and building A2 will

be focused an workspace and a new leisure cenlre, with bath
provding 2 emall amount of retail at ground floor K1 the third
building will be whoily residential.

Potential funding structures will be explored when we have greater
visiorlity on tirmuing, ahead of which we are already seeing interest
In the space from a range of sectors and discussions are underway
on several bulldings. In the reantime, the Printworks has become
an established live music venue. freguently hasling crowds of up 1o

5,000. Ticket sales and visitors are now over 80,000 from 23 shows
through the winter/spring season.

The net valuation maovement for Canada Water over the year
shawed a marginal decrease, reflecting an increase In gross value
to £303m attributable to progress on planming and design offset by
tosts incurred in masterplanning the scheme
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Coming to the Paper Garden
means Lo me... conmmunity.

A mice way to come together with
others who have a similar mindset.
A greart collaboration of me,
others, and nature. I get to try out
nesw things, like free writing and
cooking. It is part of myself,

to come closer to our planet and
unleash my inner self. Coming

to the Paper Garden means
everything to me, everything I do.

99 Andras, friend of the Paper Garden
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Non-financial reporting disclosure

Reporing requirement ey palices include Where inforenanion ¢an be found 1n ihrs report on pur trapatt and risks Page
Environmental matters - Sustainability Policy’ - Shaging our thinking 26
- Sustainabitity Bref for Developments! - Our 2020 sustanability strategy 28
- Greenhouse gas reporting 45
- Managing nisk in delivering our strategy 54
- Task force on climate-retated hnancial 52
disclosures
- Sustamnability performance measures 193
Employees - Code of Conduct? - Changing how we work to deliver our strategy 34
- Health and Safety Pohicy? - Managing nsk in delivering our strategy S4
Human rights - Code of Conduct? - Managing risk in delivering our sirategy 54
- Modern Slavery Act Statement!
Social matters - Sustawnability Policy’ - Our 2020 sustainability strategy 28
- Code of Conduct® - Managing risk in delivering our strategy 54
- Local Charter!
- Sustainatibity Brief for Devetopments!
- Health and Salety Policy?
Anti-bribery and - Anti-Fraud Policy?
corruption - Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy?
- Whistleblowing'
Business model - Our distinct business model 18
Non-financial KPls - Delivertng on our strategy 20
- Bur 2020 sustainabiiity strategy 28

I. Available on pNlishiand.com/policies
2. Employee version available through our internal Employee Handbook Supplier version avallabie on bntishland com/policies

Supply chain

We ask suppliers to werk in a way we believe 15 best practice to achieve sur social, enviconmental and ethical standards. The effectveness of
our policies in this area can be seen in our sustainability performance measures on pages 195 to 197 We set out our supplier obligabions in
areas such as health and safety, human nghts, fair working conditions, ante-bribery and coreuption, communtity engagement, apprenticeships
and envirenmental management in our Supplier Code of Conduct

Human rights

Our respect for human rights i1s embedded 1n how we do business We are a signatory to the UN Glabal Compact which supports a
core set of values, including human rights, and have made appropriate disclosures in respect of the Modern Slavery Act. We are also

a member of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing across the canstruction industry. For our performance
on aspects including fair wages and diversity, see pages 196 and 197.

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are commitled to the highest legal and ethical standards in every aspect of our business. It 1s our policy te conduct business in a
fair, honest and open way, withoul the use of bribery or corrupt practices to obtain an unfair advantage. We prowide clear guidance for
suppliers and employees, incluting policies on anti-bribery and corruption, anti-fraud and our code of conduct All ernployees recewve
traiming on these issues apprapriate to their roles and responsibilittes,
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Greenhouse gas reporting

Emissions intensity

Carbon intensity across our portfolio hayg reduced by 64%

versus our 2009 baseling, achieving our 2020 reduction targe!
early, through the National Grig decarborsation and our own
efficiency improvements, We also continge to work towards

100% of electriciy from renewable sources as an RE10Q partner
Despite changes to our Retad and Offices portfolios and mcreased
reporting across our Residential portfelio, 96% of our power was
procured from certified renewable sources

in 2019, we undertook energy efficiency projects including
optimising bulding management systems, replacing light fittings
with LEDs and mstaliing lighting sensors These are expecied to
result in annual energy use savings of £1.2m

Absolute emissions

As shown in the Absclute Scope 1 and 2 epnissions table below,
total Scope 1 emissions increased by a net 29% reflecting the
wnelusion of gas combustion across our residential portfolio for the
fegt fima However our Retail and Ofhces partfolies reduced
cembustion af fuel by 13% this year, largely due to changes in our

Scope 1 and 2 emissions intensity' (Tonnes CO_e)
Year ended 31 Macch

partfolic Scope 2 location based emissions decreased by 26%,
largely due to National Grid decarbomisation and changes in our
portfollo Scope 2 market based emissions decreased by 22%,
targely due to reduced electricity use and our commitment to
renewables, including the installation of solar PV at Meadowhalt

Absolute emissions Scope 1 and 2:

2019 038 2069

Retail - enclosed: per m?
Retail — open air: per parking space

Total managed portfolio: per £m gross rental and related income?

0.044 0055 018
0.043 0.056 0174
0.049 0062 0106
50.22 9803 -

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions and associated energy use

Tonnes COe MWh
Year ended 31 March 2019 518 2009 2019 2018
Scope 1 Combustion of fuel:
Managed portfolio gas use and fuel use in British Land owned vehicies 8,833 6,901 5.196 42,946 32813
Scope 1 Operation of facilities: Managed portfolio refrigerant loss frem
atr conditiorung 123 66 - - -
Scope 2 Purchase of electricity, heat, steam and Locaton-based 20,188 27301 41186 74550  80.868
cooling for our own use: Managed portfolio electricity
use for common parts and shared services Market-based 1,457 1,875 - - -
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions [location-based} and associated
energy use 29,144 34,268 46,342 117,497 113,681
Proportion that is UK-based 100% 100% - 100% 100%
Absolute Scope 3 emissions — managed portfolio (Tonnes CO,e)
Year ended 31 March 2019 2018
Landlord purchased energy: occupier gas and electricily consumption, upstream impacts of all purchased
energy fincluding the fuels of on-site vehicies) 35,999 46,888
Landlord purchased water: upstream impacis 225 219
Waste management: downstream simpacts 409 437

1 We have reported on all ervssion sources required under the Compames Act 2006 [Strategic Report and Directors’ Reports] Regutatrions 2013 and the
Cempamnes [Directors Report] and Limided Liabiity Parlnerstups [Energy and Carbon Report] Regutations 2018 { the 2018 Regulations’). These sources fall
within our consolidated hinancial statements and relate to head olfice activikies and controlled ermissions from our managed pertfolio Scepe 1and 2 emissions
cover 73% of eur mulli-lelt managed portfolio by value We have used purchased energy consumption 6ata, the GHG Prolocel Corperate Accounting and
Reparting Standard irevised edition] and emission factors Irom the UK Government s GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2018

na

Gross Rental Income (GRY frorn the managed portlalic campnises Group GRI of £482m 12018 E44Tmi. plus 100% nf the GRI qenerated by yoint ventures and

unds of £27tm (2018 Lds8m), Less GRIgenerated assets outside the managed portfolia of £173m (2018 £235m)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial performance
for the year was robust

Simaon Carter, Chiel Financiat Officer
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Year ended 3t March 2018 2019
Undertying earnings per share! 37.4p 34.9p
Underlying Profit™? £380m £340m
IFRS profit [toss) before tax £501Tm  £1319)m
Dividend per share 30 08p 31.00p
Total accounting return'? +8 9% 13.3)%
EPRA net assel value per share'? 967p 905p
HFRS net assels £9.506m €8,689m
LTy a3 28 4% 28.1%
Weighted average \nteres! rate’ 2 8% 2.9%

See Glossary on website for definwns

See Tabte B within supplementary disclosure for reconciliations to
IFRS metrics

See Note 2 withun financial slatarments for cateulation

See Note 17 withen financial statements for calcutation and recencitsalion Lo
IFRS melrics

On 2 proportionally conselidated basis including the Group s share of poini
ventures and funds

~

oW

w

Overview

Financial performance for the year has been robust in the context of
significant sales over the laslt 2 years, an especially challenging retail
environment and an unpredictable UK macroeconomuc backdrop
Underiying earnings per share {EPS) are down 6 7% at 34 9p, while
Underlying Profit 1s down 10 5% at £340m, primarily reflecting one
off surrender premia of £2ZUm recewed in the prior year.

Seting aside the one-off surrender premia, Underlying £PS1s
marginally down 1% wath strong bke-for-like rental growth in Offices
and the benefits of share buyback maostly offsetting the impact of
sales and CVAs and administrations amongst retailers. Nei sales
activily tc date 1s expected to reduce EPS next year by 2 4p with
proceeds to be depteyed into aur developrment programme

The existing comrritted programmme s expected to detiver 4 Sp

EPS accretien once fully let and 15 slready 76% pre-iet or under
offer - equivalent to £48m pa of future rental iIncome secured

Valuatons have reduced by é 8% on a proportionally consohidated
basis although this was partially offset by the smpact of the £200m
shares bought back i the peniad resulting in an overall EPRA net
asset value [NAV] per share decline of 4.4%

Since April 2018, we have compteted £2 1hn of gross capital
actnaty This includes £1.1bn sales of incorne producing assets,
primarily our 50% wnterest in 5 Broadgate for £0 Sbn, which sold
at book value, representing a net initial yreld of 4% In addition, we
made Relail sales totalling £0 6bn, 2% ahead of book value, at an
average yield of 5 7% We exchanged or completed on £359m of
residential sates, £253m which exchanged prior to this financiat
year and £ 18m exchanged post year end

We remarn thoughtfut about the use of proceeds from disposals.

As well as continuing ta mvest inta eur development pipeline, we
extended the share buyback prograrmme by £280m following the
sale of 5 Broadgate, which was comgleted in the year, at an average
price of 5%4p per share adding 10p to NAV. Given the current share
price discount, we continue to believe that reinvesting i our portfolio
through aur own shares represents an effective use of capial so,
following further recent retail sates, we are extending the buyback
by up to a further £125m.

Qur financial position remains strong LTV has decreased by

a further 30bps during the period to 28 1% despite the valuation
fall. The reduction was dniven by net sales reducing LTV by 33Cbps,
partially offset by the share buyback and investmentinto the
devetopment programme. Qur weighted average nterest rate
remains low at 2.9% We have been active in debt markets, with

£1 4bn of new financing arranged

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under IFRS where
the Group's interests in joint ventures and funds are shown as a
single ine item on the income statement snd balance sheet and
all subsidiaries are consobdated at 100%

Management caonsiders the buswess principally on a
proportionally consotsdated bases when setting the strategy,
determining annual pnionties. making investment and financing
decisions and reviewing performance This includes the Group's
share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-une basis and
excludes non-controlling interests in the Group's subsidiaries,
The financial key perfermance mdicators are also presented on
this basis

A summary income statement and surnimary balance sheet which
reconcile the Group income stalement to British Land's interesis
on a proporticnally consolidated basis are included in Table A
within the supplementary disclosures.

Management monitors Underlying Profit as this more accurately
reflects the underlying recurring perfarmance of our core property
rental actwity, as opposed ta IFRS metrics which include the
non-cash valuation movernent on the property portiolio It s based
on the Best Practices Recommendations of the European Public
Real Estate Asseciation [EPRA] which are widely used alternate
metrics to their IFRS equivatents

Management alse rmonitors EPRA NAV as this pravides a
transparent and cansistent basis to enable comparison belween
European property companies Linked 1o this, the use of Tatal
Accounting Return allows management to manitor return te
shareholders based on movements in a consistently applied
metric, being EPRA NAV, and dividends paid.

Loan to value [proportionally consclidated| 1s alse monitored

by management as a key measure of the level of debt employed
by the Group to mee! its strategic objectives, along with a
measurement of sk [t also allows comparison to other property
companies who strmarly monitor and report this measure
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Income statement

1. Underlying Profit

Underlying Profit 1s the measure that 1s used internally ta assess
income perfarmance This is presented below on a proportionally
consolidated basis. No company adjustments have beesn made in
the current or prior peried and therefore this Is the same as the
ore-tax EPRA earnings measure which includes a number of
adjustments to the IFRS reported profit or loss before tax.

2018 2019
Secuon Em Em
Gross rental income 613 576
Propertly operaling expenses, {37 f44)
Net rental income 1.2 576 532
Net fees and ather income 15 10
Admunistrative expenses 13 (83] 81)
Net financing costs 14 (128} 1121
Undertying Profit 380 340
Non-controiling wterests in
Underlying Profit T4 12
EPRA adjustments' 107 16711
IFRS profit/(loss] before tax 2 50i 319)
Undertying EPS 1.1 37 4p 349
IFRS basic EPS 2 i87p {30.0)p
Dwidend per share 3 30 68p 31.00p

¥ EPRA adjustments consisl of investment and deveiopment property
revaluations, gainsflosses on investment and trading properly disposals,
changes in the fair value of hinancial nstruments and associated close oul
costs. These items are preseated in the ‘capital and other” column of the
consolidated income staterment

1.1 Underlying EPS

Underlying EPS is 34 9p, a decline of 5.7% en the prior year

This reflects Underlying Profit decline of 10.5%, partially offset by
the impact of share buyback completed in the year which added
1.2p in the period.

1.2 Net rental income

The £44m decrease in net rental income is primarily 2 result of the
one-off surrender premia recewved in the pror year and the impact
of net divestment over the last two years The impact of CVAs and

administrations has been more than olfset by like-for-like growth.
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Net sales of income productng assets over the last two years was
over £2bn. This has reduced net rents by £21m in the year, including
£14m from the sale of § Broadgate i June 2018, and £3m from

the sale of The Leadenhall Building in May 2017 As well as funding
the £500m of share buybacks we have compteted over the tast

18 months, proceeds from these sales are being reinvested in the
development pipeline, which 1s expected to deliver £63m in rents

in future years and is already 76% pre-let or under offer (E48m]

Occuprer CVAs and adrmunistratigns in the Retait portiolio have
reduced net rents by £E14m n the year. Excluding this umpact,
like-for-like rental growth across the portfolio s 2 4%, or £15m This
has been driven by & 9% growth within Cffices, resulting from strong
leasing actwvity across gur campuses, particutarly at 4 Kingdom
Street Retail like-for-like growth is up margmally at 0 8%.

1.3 Administrative expenses

Admirustrative expenses have marginally decreased this year as

a result of lower varable pay. The Group's operating cost ratio has
increased by 180 bps to 18 7% [2017/18 16 9% as a result of lower
rentat income following sales activity

1.4 Net financing costs

Financing actvty undertaken over the last two years has reduced
cosis by £5m in the year, more than offsetting the impact of
increases in market inlerest rates Finanaing aclwity includes

the amendrment and extension of our largest syndicaled RCF at
£735m, with 12 banks, at an initial margin of 90 bps and matunty
of hive years, as well as the repayment af £223m [£111en our share]
of secured Broadgate bonds This reteased 1-2 Broadgate and

2-3 Finsbury Avenue from the secuntisation, providing greater
fiexibility and optionality over these buildings as we continue to
progress our wsion for Breadgate

The reduction in finance costs as a result of proceeds from net
divestment has been partially affset by development spend and
share buybacks.

We have a risk managed approach to interest rates on debt
AL 31 March 2019, on a spot basis, the interest rate on 87% of
our debt is hedged. On average, we are 63% hedged over the
next five years, based on current commilments



2. IFRS profit or loss before tax

The main difference between iFRS profit or loss before tax and
Underlying Profitis that IFRS includes the valuation movement
on investment and development properties, fair value movements
on financial mstruments and capital hinancing costs in addition,
the Group's rwestments in joint ventures and funds are equity
accounted in the IFRS income statement but are included on

a proportiohally censotidated basis within Underlying Profif.

The IFRS loss befere tax for the year was £319m, compared with
a profit betgre tax for the prior penod of £501m This refiects the
change (n valuation movement on the Group’s properiies which
was £834m less than the prior period, and the capital and other
Income resutt from joint ventures and funds being £115m less
than the prior period, both driven principally by outward yeld shift
of 37 bps and ERV decline in the Retail pertfolio In addition, the
result on disposal of iInvestmen( properties and investmenis was
£36m lower than the prior period These items were partially offset
by E78m of additional trading praperty sale grofits, as a result of
the completion of a number of Clarges unuds in ihe penod, slong
with 3 £117m decrease in capital hnancing charges.

IFRS basic £PS was (30 0lp per share, compared to 48.7p per
share in the prior year, driven principally by the decline wn property
valuatians The basic weighted average number of shares inissue
during the period was 971m {2017/18 1.013m).

3. Dividends

As prewiously announced, we have increased the doidend by 3.0%
for the year to 31 March 2019 bringing the full year dividend to

31 March 2019 1¢ 31.0p The dvidend pay-out ratic is 89% for the
period [2017/18; 80%) Briish Lang will recommend te shareholders
a hinal didend payment for the year ended 31 March 2019 of 7 75p.
Subject to approval by shareholders, payment will be made an

2 August 2019 1o shareholders on the register ai close of business
on 28 June 2019 The tinat dividend will censist of two components
a Preperty income Distnibution of 3 875 pence and a Mon-Property
Income Distribution of 3.875 pence No SCRIP alternative wil

be offered.

Balance sheet

2018 2019

Secuan £m £m

Properties at valuation 13,716 12,316
Other non-current assets 185 151
13.90 12,467
Other net ¢urrent bablilies 1368) (297)
Adjusted net debt 6 {3.973] (a,521)
Other non-current hiabilities - -
EPRA net assels 9,560 8,649
EPRA NAV per share 4 967p 905p
Non-contrailing interests 254 21
Other EPRA adjustments’ (308) 1172)
IFRS net agsets 5 9,506 8,689

Proporuonally consolidated basis

1 EPRAnel assels exclude the mark-10-market on denvalives and refated
debt adjustments, the mark-to-market on the convertible bonds as well as
deferred laxaton on property and denvalive revaluations They inctude the
{rading properties at valuation frather than lower of cost and net realisable value}
and are adjusted for ihe diluive iImpact of share options No dilution adyusiment s
made for the £350m zero coupon convertible bong matunng in 2020 Details of the
EPRA adustments are included in Table B wathin the supplementary disclosures

4. EPRA net asset value per share

The 6 4% decrease in EPRA NAV per share reflects 2 valuation
decrease of 4.8% acrass the pertfolio. Valuation gains in the Office
portiolio of 1 1% have been more than offset by an 11 1% fail in
Retail values as a result of weakeniag investment sentiment and
a challenging cccupational market

Difice vatuations were up 1 1% driven by strong leasing at our
developments which were up 10 8%, including 133 Bishopsgate
where values are up 33%, with ERV arowth of 1 4% across the
standing investments and relatively stable yields Thes reflects
specific asset lettings we've completed and the resulting
washaver effect.

Valuations in Retall are down 11 1%, with autward yield shift of

37 bps and ERV decline of 3.8%, reflecting the impact of CVAs and
admunistrations on both the investment and occupational markets,
particularly at our smaller retail assets outside the South-East and
department stores However, the performance within the pertfolio
has been varied, and we continue to see ERV growth at high
quality, we!l positioned assets with good supply/demand tension.
lnvestment demand remains {or long term, secure ncome assets

White financing activity has decreased NAV by 7p, it wall deliver
cost savings and the overall impact 15 NPV neutral ftincludes the
repayment of higher coupon debt including a portion of secured
Broadgate bonds and termination of the associaled interest rate
swaps Completion of the £200m share buyback programme
during the year has contnibuted 10p to EPRA NAV

5. IFRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2019 were £8.689m, a decrease of
£817m from 31 March 2018. This was primarily due to IFRS loss
before tax of £319m, along with £298rm of dividends paid andg
£204m of share purchases under the share buyback programme
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Cash flow, net debt and financing
6. Adjusted net debt!

Adjusted aet debt 15 a proportionally consolidated measure. it represents

the Group net debt as disclosed 1n Nole 14 to the hnanaat statemenis

and the Group's share of joint venture and funds’ net debt excluding the
rmark-to-markel on denvatives, related debt adjustments and non-controtling
nterests A reconchiation between the Group net debt and adjusted net debl
15 included in Table A wathin the supplementary disclosures

Net sales reduced deft by £970m in the year. Comnpleted sales
included 5 Broadgate for £500m (BL sharel and, in tine with our
strateoy of focusing on et let geeete 57 standalong aecets Intalhing
£367m {BL share) and three retail parks [Cheltenham Gallagher,
Leeds Westside and Bath Weston [Lock}] We have completed

purchases of £233m including Royal Victoria Place in Tunbridge Wells.

We spent £223m on developments and a further E44m on capital
expenditure related {o asset management on the standing portfolio
The value of recently completed and committed developmenis is
£867m, with £263rm costs to come Speculative development exposure
is 2 3% ol the portfolto. There are 844,000 sqg ft of developments tn our
near term pipeline with anticipated cost of £404m

7. Financing
Group Praportionally consclidated

2018 20%9 2018 2019

Net debt / adjusted

net debt’ £3,046m £2,765m €3973m €£3,521m
Principat amount of

gross debt £3.007m £2,881m [£4.260m £3,895m
Loan to value 22 1% 22.2% 28 4% 28.1%
Weighted average

Interest rate 2.0% 2.2% 28% 2.9%
Interest cover 53 4.9 40 a8

Weighted average

matunty of drawn debt 8.1years 7.3years 8.4years 8.1years

I Group data as presenied  note 17 of the financial statements The
proportionalty consolidated figures snclude the Group's share of jomnt
venture and funds’ net debt and exclude the mark-to-market on
derivalives and related debt adjustiments and non-controtling interests
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Over the year, we completed £1.ébn of financiag activity, including
£1 4bn of new inancing arranged

This includes the amendment and extension of sur largest
syndicated RCF at £735m, with 12 banks, at an tniial margtn of

90 bps and matunity of five years We also arranged new bi-lateral
RCFs totalting £140m for S years Each of these faciities may be
extended by a further twa years 3t our request and on the retevant
bank’s approval

We issued £231m new US Private Placement notes to four
investors tor 7-10 years laverage of 8.2 vearsl, at blended pricing
of 3 month Libor +124bps.

We are pleased with this ongoing support from all the lenders,
which provides liquidity and flexibte hnance from dverse sources

We also repard £223m {£111m our share) of secured Broadgate
bonds, releasing 1-2 Broadgate and 2-3 Finsbury Avenue from the
securitisation, providing greater flexibdity and optionality over these
buitdings as we continue to progress our wsion for Broadgate.

Ai 31 March 2019, our proportionally consolidated LTV was 28 1%,
down 30 bps from 28.4% at 31 March 2018 due to net disposals,
offset by share buybacks, development spend and the vaiuation
decline Thus positions us well to enable investment into our
devetopment pipeline Note 17 of the financial statements sets aut
the calcutation of the Group and proportionally consolidated LTV

Our liability and debt management actwity has enabled us to keep
our weighted average mterest rate low at 2 9%, despite the impact
of net divestment and increase in market rates Qur inferest cover
has reduced tc 3 8 imes as a resull of praportienately lower
Underlying Profits

Our weighted average debt maturity 1s largely unchanged at
B.1 years.

At 31 March 2019, British Land had £1 8bn of committed unsecured
revalving bank faciities, £1 5bn undrawn Based on our current
commitments, these facibities and debt matunties, we have no
requirement lo refinance until late 2022

The current uncertain environment reinforces the importance
of a strong balance sheel and we have capacity lo progress
opportunilies when the time s right

Lrvip.

Simon Carter
Chief Financial Officer



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

Financial strength and
balanced approach

To deliver our property strategy, we focus on having an appropriate

balance of debt and equity funding.

Leverage

We manage our use of debt and equdy finance to balance the
benefits of leverage agasmnst the risks, including magnification

of property returns. A loan to value ratio [ LTV} measures cur
leverage, pnmarily on a proportionally consolidated basis
mcluding our share of jont ventures and funds and excluding
non-controlling interests At 31 March 2019, our proportoonally
consohdated LTV was 28.1% and the Group measure was 22 2%
Qur LTV 1s monitored 10 the context of wider decisions made by
the business. We manage our LTV through the property cycle
such that our financial position would remain robust in the event
oi a signiiicant fau 1n property vaiues This means we do not
adjust our approach to leverage based only on changes in
praperty market yields Consequently, our LTV may be higher

in the {ow point 1n the cycle and will irend downwards as market
yields tughten

Debt finance

The scale of our business combingd with the quality of our assels
and rentat income means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt providers to arrange finance on attractive terms
Good access to the capital and dely markets 1s a competitive
advantage, allowing us to take advantage of opportunities

when they anise The Group's appreach to debt inancing for
British Land s to raise funds predominantly on an unsecured
basis wath our standard financial covenants [set out on page 53}
This prowides flexibiity and {ow operational cost Our jomnt ventures
and funds which choose 1o have external debt are each financed
in ‘ring-fenced structures without recourse to British Land for
repayment and are secured on their relevant assets Presented
on the foilowing page are the five guiding principles that govern
the way we structure and manage debt

Monitering and contrelling our debt

We monitor our debt reguirement by focusing princepally on
current and projected borrowing levets, available facilities,

debt maiurity and interest rate exposure We underiake
sensitvity analysis o assess the impact of proposed transactions,
movernents in interest rates and changes in property values

on key balance sheet, tiquidity and profitability ratios We also
consider the risks of a reduction in the avarlabilty of finance,
including a temporary disruption of the debt markets. Based on
our curreni commitments and avaikable facitiies, the Group has
no requirement to refinance until {ate 2022. British Land's
commeited bank facibities tatal £1 8bn, of which €1 5bn was
undrawn at 3t March 2019

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt,
considering the sensitiity of underlying earnings to movements
in market rates of :nterest over a hve-year pertod The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt over that period and the longer
term Our debt hnance 15 raised at both fixed and vanabie rates.
Derivatives [primarily interest rate swaps and capsl are used lo
achieve the desired interest rate prohile across proportionally
consobidated net debt At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 87% of cur debt {spot], and an 63% of our projected debt on
average over the nexi five years, with a decreasing profile gver
that penod. Accordingty we have a higher degree of ceriainly on
nterest costs i the shart term and achieve market rate finance in
the medium to longer term The use of denwvatives is managed by
2 Derwatives Comrmuttee. The interest rate management of jaint
veniures and funds is considered separately by each entity’s beard,
takeng into account appropaate factors for s business

Counterparties

We moniter the credd standing of our counterparties to minimise
risk exposure i placing cash deposits and arranging denvatives
Regular rewiews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Foreign currency

Our policy Is to have no material unhedged net assets or Liabiliies
denominated n foreign currencies. When attractive terms are
available, the Group may choose to borrow In currencies other
than Sterling, and will fully hedge the foreign currency exposure
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FINANCIAL PGLICIES AND PRINCIPLES CONTINUED

Our five guiding principles

1

Diversify our sources of finance

We monitor finance markets and seek to access different sources of inance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable to meet the needs of our business and, where appropriate, those of our joint ventures and funds, The scale and
quatity of our business enables us to access a broad range of unsecured and secured. recourse and aon-recourse debt We
develop and maintain long term relationships with banks and debt investars. We aim to avowd rebiance on particular sources of
funds and borrow from a targe number of tenders from different sectors i the market across a range of geographical areas,
with aver 25 debt providers in bank facditres and private placements alone We work to ensure that debt prawders understand
our business, adopting a transparent approach to provide sufficient disclosures to enable them to evaluate their exposure
within the overall context of the Group These factors increase our attractweness to debt providers, and in the last five years
we have arranged £4.7bn [British Land share £4.2bn} of new finance 1n unsecured and secured bank loan facilies, Sterling
bonds, US Prwate Placements and convertible bonds. in addition we have extsling long dated debentures and securitisation
ponds. A European Mediym Term Note prograrnme 15 maintained te enable us to access Sterbing/Euro unsecured bond
markets when it is apprapriate for our business.

£3.9bn

total drawn debt [proporuionally consobdated)

Phase maturity of debt portfolio

The maturity profile of our debt 1s managed with a spread of repayment dates, currently between one and 19 years, reducing
our rehinancing risk in respect of Lirmiag and markel conditions As a resutt of our linancing activily, we are ahead of our
preferred refinancing date hanzon of not less than two years. In accordance with our usual practice, we expect to refinance
facilities ahead of their maturities.

8.1 years

average drawn debt matunty [proportionally consolidated]

i

Mainiain tquidily
in addiion 1o our drawn debt, we aim always to have a good level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving bank facilities
These facilities provide financial iquidity, reduce the need ta hold resources in cash and deposits, and minimise costs arising

from the difference between barrowing and deposit rates, while reducing credit exposure

We arrange these revobang credit facilities in excess of our committed and expected requirements to ensure we have
adequate financing availability to support business requirements and new opportunities.

£1.5bn

undrawn revolving credi facilities

Maintain ftexibility

Our faciities are structured to provide vatuable flexibility for investment aclivity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or asset management mitiatives. Our unsecured revolving credit facilittes prowide full operational flexibility
of drawing and repayment fand cancellation if we require} at short notice without additonal cost These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generalty have maturilies of five years Alongside this, aur secured term debt
iy debentures has good asset security substitutian rights, where we have the abidity to mave assets in and out of the
security pool.

£1.8bn

total revolving credit facitities

52

Maintain strong metrics

We use both debt and equity inancing We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our linancial position would
rematn robust in the event of a sigrsficant fall in property vatues and we do not adjust cur approach to leverage based on
changes in property market yields. We manage our interest rate profile separately from cur debt, selting appropriate ranges
of hedged debt over a five-year period and the kenger term.

We maintained our strong senior unsecured credit rating ['A’) and long term IDR credit rating | A-'}.

28.1% A 3.8x

LTV [proportionally consolidated] senior unscecured credit rating interest cover [proportonally
cansobdated}
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Group borrowings

Unsecured financing for the Group includes bilateral and
syndicated reveolving bank facdities [with inittal terms usually
of five years, often extendablel, US Private Placements with
maturiies v to 2028, the Sterling unsecured bond maluring
tn 2029, and the convertible bond maturing 1n 2020

Secured debt for the Group lexcluding debt 1n Hercules Unit Trust
which #s cavered under "Borrowngs i our joint ventures and
funds’} ts prowded by debentures with matunities up to 2635.

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

There are two knancial covenanis which apply across all of the
Group's unsecured debt These covenants, which have been
cansistently agreed with all unsecured lenders since 2003, are:

- Net Borrowings not ta exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assets

There are no tncormne or inlerest caver covenants on any of the
unsecured cebt of the Group.

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subject to any
security, stood at £6 ¢ bsliion as at 31 March 2019

Although secured assets are excluded {rom Unencumbered Assets
for the covenant calculations, unsecured tenders benefit fram the

el Aol :

sufpius eaiug of these a558ls 365,2 the relglad debl and the free
cash flow trom them. During the year ended 31 March 2019, these
assets generated £16 mullion of surplus cash after payment of
interest In addition, while investments 1n joint ventures do not
form part of Unencumbered Assets, gur share of free cash flows

generated by these ventures Is regularly passed up to the Group

Unsecured financial covenants

01s W 07 218 2019
%

At 3 March % % % %

Net barrowings to

adjusted capial

and reserves a8 34 29 29 29
Net unsecured

borrowings to

unencumbered

assets 28 29 26 23 21

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse 1o Briish Land 1s provided by
debentures with long matunities and bmited amortisation

These are secured agamnst a combined pool of assets with
cormmon covenants, the vatue of the assets is required to cover
the amount of the debentures by a mimmum of 1.5 tirmes and net
rental Incorne must cover the interesi at least once We use aur
rights under the debentures to actively manage the assets in the
security poot, 1 line with these cover ratios We continue to focus
on unsecured finance at a Group level

Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

Externat debt for our joint ventures and funds has been arranged
through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, according
to the requirements of the business af each venture.

Hercutes Unit Trust has term loan factbities maturing in 2020 and
2022 arranged for its business and secured on property portfelios,
without recaurse to British Land. These loans include LTV ratio
with maxsmum levels of 65%| and income based covenants

The securitisations of Broadgate £1 300m], Meadowhall

[£613myj and the Sainsbury's Superstores portfalia [(£196m,

have weighted average maturities of 11 Jyears. 8 6 years and

5.0 years respectively. The key financial covenant applicable

is to meel interest and scheduled amortisation [equivalent to

1 imes cover), there are no LTV covenanis These securitisations
have quarterly amortisation with the balance outstanding

rased by expected final maturity, thus mitigating refinancing risk

There 1s no obligation on Briish Land to remedy any breach
of these covenants in the debt arrangement of joint ventures
and funds

o
w
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MANAGING RISK [N DELIVERING QUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management
is integral to our objective of
delivering sustainable long

term value

British Land core strengths

- Increasing focus on mixed use places as we evoive our
business to reflect the changing way people use space

- High quatity commercial portfohio focused on London
campuses and multi-let retail centres around the UK
and building a Residential business

- Long term strategy positroning the business to beneht
from long term trends

- Customer focused approach ta respond ta changing lfestyles

- [hverse and high guality occupter base

- High accupancy

- Well balanced and risk managed development pipeline

- Execution of asset management and development activty

- Ability {0 source and execute attracuve investment deals

- cfiicient capral struciure with good access 1o capial and
debdl markets

- Strong sustainability performance

Qur risk management framework

For British Land, elfective risk management 1s 2 cornerstone

of our strategy and tegral {0 the achievernent of our objective

of delivering sustamnable fong term value We maintain a
comprehensive risk management process which serves to identify,
assess and respond to the range of financial and non-financaal
risks facing our business, including those risks that coutd threalen
solvency and bguidity, as well as to identify emerging risks.

Our approach i1s not iniended to eliminate risk entirety, but tnstead
to ranage our risk exposures across the business, whilst at the
same tme making the most of our opporturnities

Our integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with
a complementary bottom up operational process outlined (n the
diagram on the nght

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management

with a particular focus on determining the nature and extent of
exposure o the principal risks the business is willing to take In
achieving ks strategic objectives The amount of risk 1s assessed in
the coniext of the core strengths of our business {as summarised
abovel and the external erwironment in which we aoperate - this 1s
our risk appetite. It s integral both to our consideration of strategy
and to our medium term platning process.
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The Audit Comrmuitiee takes responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness af risk management and internal control systems
on behall of the Board, and advises the Board on the princigal
risks facing the business including those that would threaten
its solvency or liquidity.

The Executive Directars are respansible for delivering the
Cornpany's strategy. as set by the Board, and managing nsk
Our nisk management frarnework categorises our risks into
external, strategic and aperational risks The Risk Committee
fcompristng the Executive Commuttes and senior management
across the business and chaired by the Chief Financial Officerl s
responsible for managing the principal risks in each category in
ocder to achieve cur performance goals.

Whilst ulimate responsibility fer oversight of risk management
rests wih the Board, the effective day-to-day management of risk
15 embedded within our operational business units and forms an
integral part of how we wark. This bottern up approach allows
potential risks ta be wentiied at an early stage and escalated

as appropriate, with mitigations put in ptace to manage such
risks. Each business unil maintains 3 comprehensive risk
register Changes to the register are reviewed quarterly by the
Risk Commuitlee, with significant and emerging risks escalated

to the Audit Commuittee

Ta read mote about the Board and Audit Comruttee’s nisk
oversight, see pages 77, 78 and 84.

Top down Bottom up
Strategic risk Operational risk
management management

BOARD / AUDIT COMMITTEE

Review external envirgriment //\
Assess effectiveness of rsk

Robusl assessment ol pringipal nsks
g management systems

Sel nsk appebie and parameters _
- Report on principat risks

Deterrmne strategic action points and uncertamties

RESK COMMITTEE/ EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

/\\

Consider completeness
of wentified risks and adegquacy of
rrutigating aclions

identfy principal nsks

Orrect delivery of strategic actions 0
Line with nisk appeyte

Manitar key nsk indicators )
Consider aggregation
of nsk exposures atross the business

BUSINESS UNITS
Execute strategic actions Report current ar:d emerging risks

Identify, evaluate and mitigate
cperavonal risks recorded i risk
register

Repart on key nsk ndiwcators



OQur risk appetite

Principal Change in risk
iernal nsks Key risk indicaiors (inciuding turrent thresholds) appeine in the year
Investment - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals in Line wath capitat allocation plan (overseen by o
strategy tnvestment Comrmuttes)
- Annual IRR proress which forecasts prospectve returns of each asset
- Percentage ol pertfolio in non-core sectors
Development - Total development exposure <15% of vestrnent partfolio by vatue &y
sirategy - Speculative development expasure <8% of investment portfolio by value
= Progress an execution of key development progects against plan L
Capital - Manage our leverage such that LTV should not exceed a mawrnum level if markelt yields were to rise N
structure to previous peaks
- Financial covenant headreom
Finance - Period untl refinancing 1s required of not less than two years RS
strategy - Percentage of debt with interest rate hedging {spot and over next five years|
Parnls ~ Hlantar P
Pzeple Hapl PR
- Employee engagement
Income - Market letting risk including vacancies, upceming expiries, and breaks and speculative development T

sustainability _ weighted average unexpired lease tecm

- Concentration of exposure to individual custemers or seciors

Key
Change in risk appetite from last vear
T Increase <> Nochange

Our risk appetite is reviewed annually as part of the strategy review
process and approved by the Board. This evaluation guides the
aclions we take in executing our strategy We have identified a
sulte of Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) and defined specific tolerances
for each [summarised abovel These are reviewed quarterly by
the Risk Commuttee, ta ensure that the activities of the business
rematn withimn our risk appetite and that cur risk exposure (s

well matched to changes in our business and our markets

These include the most signidicani Judgements affecting our

risk exposure, tncluding our investment and development
strategy, the level of occupalional and development exposure,
and our financial leverage

Whilst our appetite for rnisk will vary over time and during the
course of the property cycle, in general we maimtamn a balanced
approach ta risk The Board considers our overall risk appelite in
the year s broadly unchanged from last year Having over the last
few years lowered our financial risk we are now prepared to accept
an increase in our nisk relating to the more operational nature of
properly, reflecting market trends and our strategy as we butld an
increasingly mixed use business

Given the backdrop of economic and politicat challenges, we
have actively managed our incremental risk exposure by

- maintaining a bmited exposure to speculative development
coupled with our successiul pre-lething strategy

- continuing to take a thoughtfui approach to capital allocanon,
demonstrated by sellng £1.5bn of mature and off-strategy
assets, reinvesting parity in our share buyback pregramme,
selective acquisitions and profkitable development, whilst
reducing our LTV further to 28 1%, despite vatuation falls

maintaining substantial hinancial headrgom with £1 8bn of
commitied unsecured revelwing bank facitities, of which £1.5bn
15 undrawn. Based on our current commitments, these facilites
and debt maturities, we have ne requirement to refinance

unti late 2022

[}
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING QGUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our risk focus

The general risk environment in which the Group operates has
heightened over the course of the year, which is largely due to the
continued level of uncertainty associated with the fulure impact
of the UK's eatl fram the EU, the significant detenoration in the
UK retait market and weaker imvestment markets.

tnevitably the risk of a disruptive or ‘'no deat’ Brexit has toomed
large and remains an actively managed risk, supported by a
dedicated risk checklist While it is not possible o predict fully
the impact Brexit will have an our business and aur markets,

the Board 1s continuing to momitor external events and s taking
appropnate action tg prepare for short term risks to ensure our
business is hoth resitient and responsive in the short term, and
well positioned for the long term. Gur primary areas of focus have
been to mitigate risks, where practical, m our construction supply
chata, i our aperatanal day-to-day properly management and
our ¢risis management plans, and we remain slert to potential
uncertanties caused by Brexit which could adversely impact
investment, capital, financial, occuprer and labour markets.

Ayring the year, the Risk Commuttes has facused on some
key operational risk areas across the business including:

- angoing GOPR programme to manage personal
data appropriatefy

- retater tenant nsk and managing our expasure ta customers,
or secters in a more challenging market backdrop

- enhancing our cnisis management strategy including
a simuiation exercise undertaken by senior management

- health, safety and environmental risk management
Our Health and Safety management systern was re-certified
under 8BS OHSAS 18001

- detaited review of the covenant strength of current and potential
canstruction contracters to mutigate ous future exposure

- climate change including establishing a Steering Cemmittee
to progress towards TCFD alignment

- payment operations and key iinancial cantrols

- procurement policy and new supplier onboarding process.
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Qur principal nisks and assessment

Qur risk managemenl framework 1s structured around the
princepal risks facing British Land  The Board confirms that a
rabust assessment of the principal risks facing the Company,
inctuding those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or hiquidity, was carried out duning the year.

Whilst we consider there has been no matenal change to the
nalure of the Group's principal nisks, not surprisingly, several
risks are elevated as a result of the challenging external
enviconment, with the increased (evel of politicat uncertainty
associated with the UK's departure from the EU, alongside the
continued challenging trading conditions in retail (as shown
by the nisk heat map opposite].

The risks considered to be elevated since the year end due to
continuing Brexit uncertainty are both the econamuc and politicat
and requlatory cuticok In addiien, we consider the principal risks
af occupier demand and investor demand to be elevated since the
year end due to the continued challenging trading conditions in
retail with several recent high prefile CVAs and adrrimistrations
This could impact our ability to execute our investment strategy
and present an mcreased risk to income sustainability

The principal risks are summarnised opposite {and detailed on
pages 58 to 61), including an assessment of the potential impact
and likelthood and how the risks have changed in the year,
together with how they retate to our strategic priontes.



Our risk assessment

Principal nsk

Related
sirategic prionly

Chanrge

External risks

Ecoramic outiook

Poliical and regutalory

autlook

Commercial property
invesior demand

Occupier demand
and tenant default

Avaiiability and cost

of finance

Catastrophic
business event

Internal risks - stralegic

tnvestmeni siralegy

Development siraiegy

Capital structure

Firance sirategy

internal risks - operaticnat

People

income sustamnability

Other Group risks

[n addition ta our principat risks, there are also a number of
other risks that are largely operational in nature and are
managed centrally with appropriate processes and mitigation

plans sn place

TITI13 |- $‘$|e‘e e

—e|$

Likelihood

Risk heat map

Impact

<

Note The abave iilusirates principal nsks which by thew nature are those which
have the potential to sigrificantly impact the Group s strategic obyectves, financial
position or reputation  The heat map highlights net nsk, after taking account of
principal mitigations.

Key

Strategic prioriies Change year on vear
Customer Orientation <> No change
Right Places T Increase
Capuat Efficiency J, Oecrease

Expert People

These risks comprise:
- Operating model including cebiance on third parties

- Culture
- tnformation systems and cyber security
Effective control enviranment

i

Fraud and corruption

Compliance and legal framework

Supply chain management
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Economic outlaok

The UK economic climate and future
rmovements in interest rates presentrisks
and opportunities in property and tisancing
markets and the busi es of our ¢ 5

- The Risk Committee reviews the economic
environment In which we operate quarterly (o assess
whether any changes o the economic outlook pusldy

which can impact both the delivery of our
strategy and our financial performance.

are ment of the risk appetite of the business,

- Key indicators including forecast GOP growth,
employmanl rales, busingss and consumer
conlidence, interest rates and inflaton/deftauon are
considered, as well as centrat bank guadance and
govarnment palicy updates

- Woe stress test aur business plan against a downlurn
10 2conomic autiook {a ensure aur financiat poswion 1s
sutliciently Eexble and resiient

- Our resiltent business moded focuses on a high
quality parifolio and secure income streams and
tobust finances

The UK econormic position has weakened
during the year, largely due to the uncertainty
associaled with Brexil together with the weaker
global economy

inftation and interest rates remain relatively
siable However, markats remain sensilive

to exlernal shocks, particularly associated

witi Brexidt.

Against this employment is at its fughest

tevel since 1975 and real wage growth

has strengthened

We are mundful of the ongong political and
economi¢ uncertanties, but our focus remains
on conirolling what we can within gur business
Lacking ahead our business 15 well positioned.
financially strong and we have & clear

\ong term strategy

/‘\ -

'

]

Political and regutatory outlook

Significant political events and regulatory
changes, including the decision ta leave the
EU, bring risks principally in three areas:

-~ reluctance of investars and businesses
to make inwvestment and occupational
densions whilst the outcome
remains uncertain

- on determination of the outcome. the
inpact on the case for nvestment i the
UK, and on specific polictes and regulation
witroduced, particularly those which directly
impacl real estate or our cuslamers

- the patential for a change of leadership,
polilvcal direction, ar an early
general election

- Whilst we are not able to wnfluence the aulcome of
significant polilsicat events, we do take the uncertainty
related to such evenis and the range of possibte
autcomes into account whan making strategic
thvestment and hnancing decisons

- Intemally we review and monitor proposals and
emerging poley and legistation to ensure thal we
take the necessary steps to ensure comphance if
applicable. Additionally, we engage public affairs
cansultants to ensure that we are properly briefed
on the potentrat policy and regulatery imphicatians
of politicat events We also monior public trust
in DUsSInEss

- Where appropnate, we act with other industry
participants and representalive badies ko ¢ontnbute to
policy and regutatory debate We manser and respond
to social and political reputational chalienges relevant
to the industry and apply cur own ewdence-based
research o engage i thaught leadershup discussions.,
such as wath Design for Life

The political environment remains unstable and
the risk of a disruptive or no deal Breut has
toomed targe. alengside the possibility of 3
qeneral election Thus heightens both the
econormit and polithical risk outiock
- Furthermare the global geopolifical and

trade ervironments remain uncertain
- Whilsi st is not possible to predict fuily the
trnpact Brexit will have on aur busyness and our
markets, we have prepared a Srexit checklist
to identfy and manage the key risks to different
areas of our business and have considered
vartous Brexit scenanos as part of our hive-year
forecasts

Commercial property investor demand

Reduction in investor demand for UK real
estate may resultin falls in asset vatuations
and could arise from variations in:

~ the health of the UK economy

- the allracliveness of investment in the UK

- availlability of hinance

- relalive altractiveness of other assel classes.

- The Risk Commuttee reviews the property market
quarteriy to assess whether any changes to the
markel outtagk present fisks and opportunities which
should ba reflected in the execution of our strategy
and our capitat allocation plan The Commillee
considers indicators such as margin between
property yields and borrewing costs and property
capital growth lorecasts, which are considered
atongside the Commitles members knowtedge
and experience of market aciwty and trends.

- We focus on prime assets and sectars which we
believe will be less susceplible aver the medium term
to a reduction in occupeer and wvestor demand

- Strong refationships with agents and direct investars
active in the market,

- We stress test our business plan for the effect of 3
change in property yields

investment markets have siowed more recently

with fewer transacbions, partuctdarly in retai,

refteching macro-economic uncertainty and

chatlenges in the retail accupabional market

- The London affice investrnent market has
remaned robust, conimung to beneht from
demand from overseas investors

- The theme ol polansation has continued wath
actwily locused on high quality, well-let assels
with strong occupalional charactenstics or
alternative use pofental

- London office yields have remained broadly
stable throughout the year, however we
have seen yield expansion in retail reflecting
weakening investor sentiment, with weaker
locations the most affected.

- Notwithstanding this market backdrop we have

continuad to be attive and have successlully

sold £1 5bn of assets,

_%

Key
Change year on vear
€3> No change

T Increase

\1, Gecrease
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Occupier demand and tenant default

Underiying income, rental growth and capital
performance could be adversely affected by
weakemny cccupier demand and occupier
failures resuiting from variations in the
health of the UK econamy and corresponding
weakening of consumer confidence, business
activity and investment,

Changing consumer and business pracuices
micluding the growth of internat ratailing,
flexibte working practices and demand for
energy efficient buildings, new technotogies,
new tegislation and alternative lacaliocns may
result in earber than anticipated obsolescence
of our buildings d evolving occupier and
regulalory reguiremants are nct met

- The Risk Commitlee reviews indicalars of accupier
demand quarterly incfuding consurner confrdence
surveys and employment and ERV growin forecasts,
alongstde the Committee members knowledge
and expertence of occupier plans, frading
perlormanca and teasing actvity n guiding
execulion of our sirategy

~ We have a lugh quality, diversilied occupier base
and monitor concentration of exposure to indevidual
occupters of sectors We perform rigorous occupler
covenant checks ahead of approving deals and
on an ongomg basts 50 that we can be proactive
1N Managing expasure {0 weaker 0CCUPIETS

- Through our Key (ccupier Account programme,
we work together with cur customers {a find ways.
to best meel therr evolving requirements

= Qur sustamability strategy unks action on customer
heaith and wellbeing, energy efficiency, comnmunity
and suslainabie design 1o gur business siralegy Gur
social and enwronmental targets help us comply with
new legislalion and respond to custemer demands,
tfor example, we expec! il our office developmenis
to achieve a BREEAM Excellent rating

T

Lendon offices are continuing to show resdience
with above average take up Retail has been
weak wiith retadsrs facing bath econormic and
structural challenges As such, we have seen
further retaders gnter CVAS or adeenstration,
rasulting ia store closures and rent reductions
In light of these market dynamics, prme
London rents have been stable both in the West
End and Caty, howevar relail has experienced
rental value declines

Across our markels, we are seeing polansation
of oecupter dernand continuing wath accupiers
focusing on the best quality assels

In this contexl, we are focused on delwering
high quatily space wath the right mix of uses:
we have let or renewed 2 7m sq 1t of space
acrass the portlolic, and occupancy rematns
hugh at 7%

Availability and cost of finance

Reduced avaitability of finance may adversely
impact akility ta refinance debt and/or drive
up cost. These factors may aiso resultin
weaker invastor demand for real estate.

Requtation and capital costs of lenders may
increase cast of finance

- Markel borrowing rales and real estate debt
availability are monitored by the Risk Commattee
quarterly and rewiewed regularly i order to guide
our hnancing aclians in executing our sirategy

- We monitor our projected LTV and our debl
requirernents using several internally generated
TEpGTs 90WEEd oF BOrrovemy tevels Jeot maturiy,
available facilliies and interest rate exposure

- We maintain good leng term relationships with
our key financing pariners.

- The scale and quabity of our business enables us lo
access 3 diverse range of sources of hnance with a
spread of repayment dates. We aum always to have
a good level of undrawn, commutted, unsecured
revolving faciliies Lo ensure we have adeguale
financing availabibily to support business
requirements and opportumties

- We work with indusisy bothes and other retevant
organisations to participate in debale an emerging
inance regulaltons where gur interesis and thase of
our industry are aflected

Ongoing and increased uncerlandy about
Brext and the impacts of the macro econpmic
and political environment are affecting market
sentimenl, and operaticns of sgme lenders
Debt continues to be available for the right
transactions, strong sponsor and quality of
Lenders appelite varies n different debt
markets There s &8 mare ¢autious and reduced
appetite lor retait

Interest margins/spreads have increased in
the marke! recently in some sectors, although
overall debt cost sbll relatively low
Development linance 15 difficutt to obtain for
projects without pre-lels

Buring the year we have coniinued Lo be acive
in debt markets, with £1.4bn of new finance
arranged across a vanety of sources

Catastrophic business event

An external event such as 2 civil emergency,
inctuting 5 targe-scale terrarist attack,
cyber cime, extreme weather occurrence,
environmentat disaster or power shortage
could severety disTupt global markets
lincluding property and financel and cause
significant damage and disruplion ta British
Land’s portfelio and operations,

- We mainlain a cormprehansive ¢nsts response plan
across all business units as well as 3 head office
business continuity plan

- The Risk Committee monitors the Home Office
terrorsm threat level and we have access 1o security
threat infermation services

- Asset emergency procedures are regularly reviewed,
and scenano tested Physical securily measures are
i place at properties and developmenl sites

- Our Sustainabitity Commitiee cantinues to momior
emwronmental nisks and we have established a TCFO
Steering Comimiltee {0 review our management
processes lor chirnate-related nisks and opportunibies
Asset nisk assessmenis are carried oul to assess a
range ol risks inciuding secunty, llood, environmental
and heaith and salety

- We have implemenied corporate cyber secunty
sysiems which are supplemented by incident
management, disaster recovery and business
continuity plans, atl of which are regularly reviewed
{o be able to respond to changes n the threat
landscape and orgamsational requirements

- We also have appropreate insurance wn place across
the porifolio

The evaluation of the Likely impact of this nisk
has nol changed nolably stnce the pnor year
The Home DHlice threatl tevel {from internationai
Llerransm remains Severe’

The wider use and enhancement of digital
technology across the Group increases the
risks associated with Inlormation and Cyber
secunty, with an increasing fisk from legacy
system wutnerab:lities, social eagineering and
phishing Duning the year, we have conlinued
to enhance our technical security position

as well as prowide employee awareness
training on Information Securily and Data
Privacy principles

We have carnied oul a crisis simulation
exercise and enhanced our procedures
where sppropriate
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PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Risks and impacts

How we manitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Investment strategy

in order to meet our strategic objectives,

wa aim to invest in and exit from the nght

properties at the right time.

Underperformance could result from

changes in market sentiment as weil as

inappropriate determination and execution of

aur property i strategy, including:

- seclor selection and weighling

- liming of invesiment and divestment
decisions

- exposure to developments

- asset, tenant, region concentration

- co-mnvestment arrangements

3

Qur invesimenl stralegy is determined {o be
conssstent with our target risk appstite and 1s based
an the evatualion of the exiernat environment
Progress against the strategy and continuing
alignment with our nsk appelite ss discussed al
each Risk Commuttee with relerence to the property
markets and the external ecanomic environment
The Board carnes oul an annual review of the
overall corporate stralegy mcluding the current

and prospetive asset portfolio allocation

ndividual invesiment decisions are subject to
robust nsk evaluation overseen by our Investment
Cammutteg mcluding consideration of returns relative
to nisk adjusted hurdle rates

Review of prospective performance of individual
assets and their business plans

We foster collaborative relationstups with pur
co-vestors and enter mio ownership agreemenls
which balance the inlerests of the parties.

/I\

Wae have continued 1o allocate capital thaughtfully
11 light of the cuerent market condilions

Since 1 Aprit 2018, we have sold 5 Broadgate
tar £500m and successfully executed E646m of
retad sales - overall marginally ahead of book
value. Ovecalt we were a net divestar of £0.9b0
of assets

The retail markel faces structural chatienges
and we have conlinued to refine our Retail
pertiolio to deliver a smalter, more focuseg
business, with tatal sales of £2 %bn over the last
five years.

We remain thoughiful about the use of proceeds
from disposals, and are continuing to mvest mto
our develepment pipeline and have extended
our share buyback programme

Qur portfolio values were down 4 8%, led by
Retail where values were dawn 11 1% whereas
Oilces valueswereup 1 1%

Development strategy

Development provides an oppartunity for
autperfarmance but usually brings with «t
elevated risk.

This is reftected in our decision-making
process around which schemes to develop,
the timing of the development, as well as the
execution of these projects.

Development sirategy addresses several
development risks that could adversely

smpact underlymg noss
performance including:

- development leiting exposure

- tonstruchon liming and casts Imcludlng
censtruction cost inflation)

- major conlracior fadure
- adverse planning judgernents

We manage gur levels of totat and speculative
development expasure as a proparton of the
investment portfolio value wathin a {arget range taking
ilo account assaciated risks and ihe impact on key
financial metnes Thus 1s monitered quarterly by the
Risk Commuliee along with progress of developmants
against plan

Priar io committing to a development, 2 detailed
appraisalis undertaken This inctudes consideratian
of returns relative Lo risk adjustad hurdle rates and
is oversean by our Investment Commitiee

Pre-lets are used to reduce develapment lettng risk
where considered sppropnate

Campetitive tendering of construchion contracts and,
where appropriate, fixed price conlracts entered into
Detaled selection and close monitoring of
conlractors mcluding covenant reviews

Experenced development management team
closely momitors design, construction and overall
delivery process.

Earty engagement and strong relationships with
planming authorities

We actively engage with the communibies in which we
operate, as delailed in our Local Charter, to ensure
that our development activities consider the interesis
of all siakeholders

We manage enviwenmental and social nisks across
our development supply chain by engaging wath our
suppliers, including through our Supplier Code of
Conduct, Sustainability Brief for Developments and
Health and Safety Policy

Development is an important part of our
business and has delivered some of our
strongest returns, tutis inherently hagher
risk, particularly when pursued on a
speculative basis We lrmat our development
exposure to 15% of the tolal invesiment
portfolio by value, with a maximum of 8%

10 be developed sgeculatively

We aciwvely manage our development risk and
pre-lething our space s an important part of
[har approach

We have successlully pre-let or under offer
on 76% of our completed and comrmitted
developments and speculalve exposure
remains low at 2 3% of portfolio gross asset
value Also, 93% of Ihe costs on our commutted
development programme have been fixed

Key

Change vear on year
<> No change

T increase

J Decrease
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Risks and impacts

How we moniter and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Capital structure - leverage

Our capital structure recognises the need
for balance between performance, risk
and flexibility.
- leverage magnifies property returns,
both postuve and negative
- anincrease In leverage increases the
risk of a breach of covenants on borrowing
faalittes and may ncrease finance costs

- We manage our use of debl and equity finance to
batance the benefits of leverage aganst the risks

- Wve gim 1o manage our woan 10 vaiue [LTV] through
the property cycle such that our financial posttion
waould reman robust In the event of a sigrificant fall
in property values This means we do not adjust our
appraach to leverage based on changes i property
market yields

- We manage our mvestment actvity, the size and
tirming of which can be uneven, as well as our
development commuitments to ensure that our
LTV level remains appropriate

- We leverage our equity and achieve benefits ol scale

whie spreading risk through joint ventures and funds

which are tymcally parlly hinanced by debl without
recourse to Brtish Land

«

- We rnanage our use of debl and equity fimance
to balance the benelils ol leverage against the
risks, iIncivaing magmfication of property
valuation movements

- Qur knancial position remains strong, our
propostionatly consolidated LTV has been
reduced by a further 30bps during the year
to 28.1%, despite the valuatton fall

- This financial streagth provides us wath the
capacity i0 progress opportumties including
our development pipeling whilst retaining
sigruficant headroorn to our covenants

Finance strategy

Finance strategy addresses risks both to
cantinuing solvency and profits generated.

Failure to manage relinancing requirements
may result In a shortage of funds to sustain the
aperations of the hiisiness ar repay faciines as
they lall due

Frve key principles guide our hinancing, employed

logether 1o manage the nsks in this area diverssly

our sources of hinance, phase maturity of debt

portiolio, mamintain kgurdity, mamtain flexibilty,

and mainiain stroag metnds

We monitar lne period unul financing +s required,

whithis a key determinant of financing activity

Debt and camial market condiions are reviewed

regularly to «dently hnancing opportunities that

meet our business requirements

Financial covenant headroom 1s evaluated regutarty

and in conjunclion vath transactions

- We are commitled lo maintaining and enhancing
retaiionsmps with our kéy fAsAcing partiers

- We are mindful of relevant emerging regulation

which has the potential 1o impact the way thal we

knance the business

&>

- The scate of our business, quality of our 3ssets
and rental income enable us to access 3 broad
range of debt finance on altractive terms
Curing the year we have completed E1 4bn
of new hinancing

- vvefiave Li 8bn uf comimiited unsecured.
revoiving bank facitities, of which £1 S5bnis
uadrawn Based on curcent cornmulments,
these facilities and debt maturtties, we have
no requirement 1o rafinance the busmess untl
Late 2022

People

A number of critical business precesses and
decisions lie in the hands of a few people,

Failure to recruit, develop and retain statf
and Directors with the night skills and
experience may result in significant
underperformance or impact the
elfectiveness ot pperations and decision
makitg, in turn impacting business
perfarmance.

Qur HR strategy is designed to menimuse fisk through

- informed and skilled recruitment processes

- talent performance management and succession
planmng for key rales

- highly compehitive compensaton and benefits
- peopte development and tramning

The risk 1s reasured through empioyee engagernent
surveys, employee turnover and retention metrics. We

rpniter this through the aumber of unplanned exaculive

departures in addition to conducting exil interviews

We engage with our employees and supplers to make
clear our reguirements in managing key risks including

health and salety, Iraud and bribery and other social and

environriental nsks, as detailed in our policies and
cedes of conduct

o

- Expert People 1s one of the faur care focus
areas of our strategy and a key factor in our
performance We continue to empower our
peopte to make the most of their potentral
through iraining and devetopment and are
focused aa building a suppaortive and snclusive
culture for our people

- Duning the year, we have made several
important changes 1o encourage ¢rass-12am
collaboration and shared learings We have
cambined our Retail and Offices businesses
under the single leadership of Darren Richards
and we have also miegrated the property
management business wathin the wider
business at a single office site

Income sustainability

We are mindful of mamntaining sustainable
income streams which underpin 2 stable and
growing dividend and provide the platform
from which to grow the business.

We consider sustainability of our income

streams in:

- execution of investment sirategy and capital
recycling notably iming of reinvestiment of
sale praceeds

- nature and siructure of {easing actwity

- nature and lming of asset management
and development actwvily

- We undertake comprehensive profit and cash How
forecasting incorporating scenang analysis to moded
the tmpact of proposed transactions.

- We lake 3 proaciive asset management approach lo
maintain a strong occupier bine-up. We monitor our
market {etling exposure includng vacancies.,
upcoming expiies and breaks and speculative
development as well as our weighted average
unexpired lease term

- We have a high quality and diversified occupier base
and maniter concentration of exposure to individual
accupeers or seclors

- We are proaclive in addressing key lease breaks
ang expiries 10 minimuse periods of vacancy

- We actively engage with the communities in which
we pperale, 25 detaled 1n gur Local Charler, to
ensure we provide places Lthat meet the needs of all
relevani siakeholders

/I\

- We are mindiul of the challenges facing the
retail market which has seen severat more
operaiors apply for CVA or adminssiralion. We
corthinue lo actively monior our expesure to
occupiers at risk of delaull and adrmnistration
and are seleciwe sboul the sectors and
operatars we larget

- We also recognise that in delivering our
nvestment strategy and selling some of our
mature assets, we have had to be canscious
of the impacl on our ncome (n the short Lerm

- However, our income sireams are underpinned
by prime assets and a high quality, diverse
occupier base wath high occupancy Lookng
forward our development pipeline sllers
signulicant potential ko generate fulure income
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFOD}

Climate change is one of the
most pressing challenges our
world faces today

The Board recognises the systemic threat posed by climate change

and the need for urgent mitigating action We have a track record
of improving environmental performance and were one of the first
real estate companies to intraduce stretching carbon reduction
targets that go beyond the demands of the Science Based Targets
inutiative for Scope 1 and 2 emissions. For mare infermation, see
our 2019 Sustawnability Accounts at brinshland.com/data.

Our focus on mihigating climate risks and leveraging climate
opportunities has protecied vatue, reduced accupational casts
and enhanced our revenue. The TCFD recommendations provide
an excellent framework for us te continue this journey

To progress towards TCFD atignment, in March 2019
we established a TCFD Steering Commuitee, spansored by our
Chief Financal Otlicer, Simaon Carter. This Commuttee wall,

- undertake tong term scenario analysis of the impact of cimate
change on our business

- recommend adjustinents (o our strategic and nsk managemen!
processes o further mtegrate climate change 1ssues into our
day-lo-day operations

- tdentity metncs that translate climate change issues Into
financial exposure

The TCFO Steering Committee reports to the Risk and
Sustainabiity Commuttees, both of which meet quarterly Uitimate
oversight 1s at Board level, with our new Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee playing a role from May 2019 Any
resulting disclosure requires approval by the Audit Commuitee

Board > 8oard of Directors
A A
[ d Audit Committee Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
-Committee
A - A
Executive > . . - ;
and v Risk Committee Sustainability Committee
Management
- A - A
TCFD Steering Committee
g Members include representatives from across the business. Asset managament, Development, Finance,
Investment, Procurement, Property management, Risk management, Strategy and Sustainablity
Governance

Board oversight of climate-related risks
and opportunities

Our Board Director responsible for cimate-related i1ssues 1s
Stmon Carter, Chiet Financiat Officer. Simon chairs or atiends
our Risk and Sustainability Commitiees, ensuring continuty
and accountability.

The Board s updated on climate-related issues at least annually
and has ultimate oversight of risk management. Sigmficant and
ermerging nsks are escalated to the Audit Cammuitee and climate
risk is tracked as part of our Catastrophic Business Event risk
category (see page 59).
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Management’s role in assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities

The Board delegates responsibility for analysing

- climate-retated risks to the Risk Commitee, which consists
of the Executive Commuitee and leaders from business units,
including procurement and property management, Each
business unit mamtains a comprehensive risk register, which
15 reviewed guarlerly by the Risk Committee. Climate risks
are identified through a process wmvolving trend analysis and
stakehelder engagement. Identified risks are incorporated
into our risk framework and managed by the appropriate
business areas

- chmate-related opportunities to the Sustamnab:lity
Committee, which will report to our new Corporate Sucst
Responsibility Committee




Strategy

Impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on our business
We consider clirnate-related 1ssugs within the tima harizans used in our corgorate sirategy.

Shorl lerm

Mgdum rerm Long lerm

Less than 12 months

1to 5 years Over 5 years

Te date, we have focused on climate-related nisks and opportunities for short and medum term hornizons This work will be expanded to
consider long term honizons through our new TCFO Steering Committee

Examples of climate-related risks

Extreme weather

Short term risks

Higher Hoad risks could increase wnsurance costs. This could, in turn, increase service charge costs
for customers.

Inability to sell or rent property assets at book value, due to flood risk

Impact on corporate strategy

Flogd risk assessments undertaken for aur current portfolio.

100% of high-risk assets have flood management plans

Impact on financial planning

Flood risk 1s effectively priced ento our valuations

Flood risk iaciored into our process for acquesiiona and developments

Energy regulation

Mediurn term risks

Lease renewals subject to Mimmum Energy Efficiency Standard {MEES] campliance and sll leased
properties subject to MEES frem April 2023, with few exemplions

impact on corporate strategy

Through our futureproaling programme we manitor the 5% of our portfolic with F or G Energy
Performance Cerbificate |EPC] ratings lby floor area). Property Managers will 1ake action on F and
G rated assets by 1 Aprit 2023

impact on financial planning

MEES non-compliance wauld pose a risk of revenue loss and a patental liabitity from
non-compliance penalties

Energy prices

Medium term risks

Energy cost votatutity

tmpact on carporate strategy

Through our efficiency programme, we reduce aur energy consumption profile and uttimately our
exgosure to price fluctuations

impact on financial planning

Financial madelling inctudes the expected occupancy of assets and their associated energy costs.
Procurement manages the financiat risk of volatile energy prices

Exampies of climate-related opportunities

Resource efficiency

Short term opportunity

Energy savings from the UK Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme [ESOS).

Impact on corporate strategy

As part of camplying with ES0S, we have identified intiatives representing £6.4m of capex investment
that would save £3 7m annually.

impact on financial planning

The business cases for these capex investments are considered as part of our overarching
financial process

Energy sources

Short term cpportunity

Revenue generated from solar PV installations on our assets

Impact on corporate strategy

Installation of solar PV at 10 assets, generating 1,131 MWh in 2018/19

Impact on financial planning

The cost savings and revenue from exporting to the grid are factered into our financial planning

Products and services

Medium term opportunity

Earning a rental premmum from high efhiciency buildings with a Design for Performance approach

Impact on corporate strategy

Qur Sustainability Brief for Developments sets out our requirernent for detailed energy modelling early
in the design stage to inform design and set operational performance benchmarks

Impact on financial planning

Rental ncome for high efficiency and low efficiency assets would be factored into our revenue
forecasts in the medium term, as this woutd afiect their marketabiily.

The resitience of our strategy
British Land undertook an initiat analysis of medium term portiolio risks in 2017 We will carry out TCFD-aligned scenario analysis in 2020,
including a scenano where global watming 1s imited to 2°C or lower
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES {TCFD} CONTINUED

Risk management

Climate-related risks are dentified and assessed using our
risk management frarmework, set out on page 54 of this Report,
We consider chirnale change within ‘External nisks Catastrophic
business event’, which 1s a principal risk to our business We
deftne principat nisks as those with a substantve financial or
strateglc (mpact on the business, lgh tikelihood of occurrence
and medium/high poteatial impact on our performance. Our
integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with

a complementary bottom up operahicnal process.

Identifying and assessing climate-related risks
As part of our tog down strategic view, our risk heat mapping
process allows us to determine the relative significance of
princtpal risks. As a factor within a principal risk category,
climate change (s monitored by the Risk Committee.

Qur risk register tracks-

I} Description of the risk identtication!

u} Impact-Uketthood rating (evaluation enabling prioritisation}
niMitigants Imitigation]

wiRisk owner [mamtoring|-

As part of our bottom up operational process, we maintain Asset
Plans which include provisions for identifying climate-related risks
and opportunities, such as flood risk assessments and audits to
dentify energy saving opportunities Jur Sustainability Brief {or
Acquisitions sels out aur environmental criterta for acquiring

a new property, including energy efficiency and flood risk
categonies Our Susianability Brief for Developrnents sets out

our enviranmental criteria for new constructions and renovations,
including reguirernents for energy efliciency, fload risk, materials
choice and embodwed carbon reductions.,

Managing climate-related risks

Qur pracess for mitigating. accepting and controlling principat
risks, Inctuding clirnate-refated risks, 15 set out on page 54 of
this Report.

We prionitise principal risks through our corporate risk register

and risk heat rap. The impact-likelihood rating, which is evaluated

during risk identficatien, 1s our primnary metnic for priontising
risks. As & factor within a principal nsk category, climate change
risks are logged in our corporate risk register and reviewed
quarterly by the Risk Committee, which comprises the Executive
Commiitee and sener managerment The Board 1s uitimately
responstble for and determines the nature and extent of principal
risks i 1s willing to take to achieve its stralegic gbjectives.
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Metrics and targets

Through our TCFD Steering Committee work, we will quantfy our
total cimate-related financial exposure

Below are the climate-related metrics and targets agamst which
we currently regort

Climate-related risks

2019 018
MEES EPCs rated F or G (% by floor area} 5% 5%
Extreme Portfolio at tugh risk of Hlood 3% 3%

weather  {% by valuel

High flood risk assets with tlood 100%  100%
management plans (% by valuel

Climate-related opportunities
2019 2018

Resource Scope 1 and 2 carbon intensity 64% 5%
efficiency reduction versus 2009 (2020 target:
55% reduction, ndex scored}

Landlord energy intensity 44% 40%
reduction versus 2009

{2020 target 55% reduction,

index scored)

Energy Electricity purchased 96% 97%
sources  from renewable sources
12020 target 100%)]

Dn stte renewable energy 1101 782
generation [IMWh} MWh  MWh
Products  Portfolio with green building 18% 18%
and ratngs (% by floor area)
services  Developments outperforming 25% 26%

Building Regulations for carbon
efficiency (% better on average)




Viability
statement

Assessment of prospects

The Groug's annual corporate planming process includes the
completion of a strategic review, reassessing the Group's risk
appetite and updating the Group's forecasts

The Group s strategy provides the focus for our annual prionties
and 1s farmatly reviewed annually This process s led by the Chuef
Executive through the Executive Committee and includes the actve
engagement of the Board Part of the Board's role 1s ta consider
whether the strategy takes appropriate account of the Group's
principat risks The latest updates to the strategic plan and
Group's nisk appetite were approved by the Board in February

and March 2019, respectively.

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group's forecasts. These
cover a five-year period and consist of a forecast which includes
commutted transactions only. and a forecast which alse includes
non-committed transactions the Board expects the Group to make
i Lline with the Group’s strategy. A five-year torecast 1s considered
ta be the optimal balance between the Group's tong term business
nadel to create Places People Prefer and the tact that nroperty
investment 15 a iong ferm business [with weighted average iease
lengths and debt maturkies in excess of five years), offset by the
progressively unretiable nature of forecasiing in later years,
particularly given the historically cyclical nature of the UK

property industry

Assessment of viability

For the reasons outlined above, the period over which the
Directors consider 14 feasible and appropriate to report an the
Group s viability 1s the five-year period to 31 March 2024

The assumptions underpinring these torecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised to explore the
resifience of the Group to the potentiat imipact of the Group's
significant risks, or a combinatian of those risks

The principal rigks table on pages 58 to 41 surmmmarises

those matters that coutd prevent the Group from delivering on

its strategy. A number of these principal risks, because of their
nature or potential impact, could also threaten the Group's ability
to continue i business in its current farm o they were to occur.

The Directors paid particular attention to the nisk of a downturn
in economic outlook which could impact property fundamentals,
inctuding mvestor and occupier demand which woudd have 2
negative impact on valuations, cash flows and a reduction in the
avaitability of hinance The remaining principal risks, whilst having
an impact on the Group’s business model, are net considered by
the Directors to have a reasenable Likelihood of impacting the
Group's wability aver the five-year peried to 31 March 2024.

The sensitiities performed were designed to be severe but
plaustble: and retate to a single "downiurn scenario” before
mitgating actions

- downturn 1a economic outlook, key assumptians including
occupancy, void periods, rental growth and yields were
sensitised in the ‘downturn scenario’ ko reflect reasonably likely
levels zssociated with an ecanomic downturn, Including

- areduction in occupier dernand reflected by an ERV decline,
occupancy dectine, increased voud penicds and additionat
wmpact of retail CVAs or admunistrations

- areduction i invesiment property demand to the level seen in
the last severe downturn in 2008/2009, with outward yield shuft
to 8% netimtial yreld.

- Restricted availability of finance: based an the Group’s current
commitments and avaitable facilities there 1s no requirement
to refinance until {ate 2022, In the normal course of business,
hinancing 1s arranged 1n advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confsdence that additional
or replacement debt factlities will be putin place In the
‘downturn scenano’, the following sensitivity of this
assumption was conducted

O DU D S Cow tosom ranpe A
- areduction in the d\aa:{abl'{ily of hinance, for tac years ol the

five-year assessment in tander with the Group s
refinancing date

The outcome of the ‘downturn scenano’ was that the Group's
cavenant headroom based on existing debt (i e the level by which
investment property values woutd have to fatl before a financial

Yhrmasl neroes) dosrsanas frams tha rurrant TLOL th ot e
N EESE ri wrrs rirw was ;s i LT G Lif, OFF M

lowast level, 13%, indicating covenants on existing facilities would
not be breached

R L I

In the "downturn scenario’, mitigating actions would be required to
enable the Group to meet its future babilities, including through
assel sates, which would allow the Group to continue to meet its
liabitities over the assessment period

Viability statement

Having considered the forecast cash tiows and covenant
compliance and the impact of the sensitivities en comnation

in the ‘downturn scenario’, the Directors confirem that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will e able lo continue 1n
operation and meet its biabilities as they fall due over the peniod to
31 March 2024.

Going concern
The Directors alse considered it appropriate Lo prepare the

financial staternents on the going concern basis, as explaned n
the Governance review

To read more information on going concern, go Lo page 78.

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
and signed onits behalf by

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive
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1 Triton Square

Excellent environmental stewardship

Large-scale development carries a broad responsibility and we are careful to manage the impact of our
projects on the enviconment At 1 Triton Square we warked closely wath our design tearn and contracior to retain
much of the original buitding. Smart matenal reuse and sustainability innovations mean that the buritding wil
praduce 33% less carbon in construction and gperation than best practice new tuidd equivalents - a reduction
©f 35,600 tonnes of COe This saving 15 greater than the building s operational erissians aver the next 20 years
and it exceeds the ambitious carbon reduction targets required to meet the UK's commutment {o the Pans
Climate Agreement High efficiency equipment, law-carbon matenials and a circular approach to waste are alt
part of our BREEAM Dutstanding sustainability ptans for the buitding



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Driving success

Our Board develops strategy and leads British Land

to achieve long term success.

John Gildersleeve, Non-Executive Chairman®

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2008 and as Charman
i January 2013

Skills and experience

Johin 15 deputy chairman of TalkTatk Telecom Group PLC He was formerly
chawrman of Carphone Warehouse Group, New Look Retail Group, EMI

Group and Gallaher Group, a non-executive directer of Dixons Carphone pic,

Lioyds T58 Bank PLC. vodafone Group and Pick n Pay Stores {South Africa),
depuly chairman of Spire Heatthcare, and an executive director of Tesco pic

John will be stepping down as Charrman and from the Board at the end of
the 2019 AGM

Lynn Gladden, Non-Executive Director © R
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in March 2019
SKills and experience

Lynn ts recognised as an authority 1n work:ng at the interface of advanced
technology and indusiry Her critical thinking and analyiical skitls bring a
unique dimension 10 the Board.

She 1s Shell Professor of Chemnical Engineering al the University of
Cambndge and Executive Chair of the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Councd She is also a lellow of the Royal Socety and Royal
Academy of Engineerng.
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Chris Grigg, Chief Executive

Appointed to the Board in January 2009

Skitls and experience

Chris has more than 30 years’ experience in real estate and linancial
services industries, (n a range of leadershup roles He brings a strong
track record of driving growth, delivering strategic plans and a wealth oi
experience in corporate finance to the Board

Untsl November 2008, Chris was chiel executive of Barclays Commercial
Bank, having joined Barclays in 2005 Prior to that. Chns spent over 20 years
al Goldman Sachs

Chris 15 a non-executive director of BAE Systems plc where he also sits
on the Corporate Responsitbildy Comirutiee He s a board member of the
European Public Real Estate Association and a member of the Cancer
Research UK Corporate Board.

Alastair Hughes, Non-Executive Director » ©

Appamnted as a Non-Execuive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience

Alastair has proven experience of growing real estate campanies and is

a fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Alastair is a non-executve director of Schroders Real Estate Investment
Trust Limited and Tritax Big Box REIT, with over 25 years of expertence in
real estale markets He is a former director of Jones Lang LaSalle Inc [JLL]
having served as managmg director of JLL in the UK, as chief executive for
Europe. Middle East and Africa and then as regional CEQ for Asia Pacific



Simon Carter, Chief Financial Officer

Agpointed ta the Board in May 2018

Skills znd experience

Simon has exiensive experience of finance and the real estate

sector He josned British Land from Logicor, Lhe owner and aperater ol
Eurppean logistics real estale, where he had served as chiel financial
officer since January 2017

Prior to joining Logicor, fram 2015 to 2017 Siman was finance director at
Quintain Estales & Development Ple Siman previously spent over 10 years
with 8ritish Land, working in a vareely of inancal and strategec reles ang
was a member of our Executive Commuttee from 2012 until tus departure
in January 2015 Simon also previously worked for UBS in fixed sncome
angd qualified as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen

Nicholas Macpherson, Non-Executive Director 4
Appaointed as a Non-Executive Director in December 2014
Skitls and experience

Nicholas has directed organisations through bolh fiscal and strategic
change management and brings this vital expertise to the Board

He is chairman of C Hoare & Co and a director of The Scottish American
Investment Company PLC Nicholas was the Permaneni Secretary lo the
Treasury far over 10 years from 2005 1o March 2016, tsading the department
through the inancial cnists and the subsequent penod of banking reform

He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles prior 1o his
appointment gs Permanent Secretary Nichalas trained as an econarnist
and has worked at the CB1 and Peat Manwick Consulting

William Jacksen, Senior Independent Diractor ¥ &

Appointed as 2 Non-Executve Director in Aprit 2011 and Senior independent
D recien i July 2017

Skills and experience

Witlam's experience spans business operations and financiat planning
He 1s Managing Partner of Bridgepoint, one of Europe s leading private
equity groups, which he has led since 2001, Witham has served on a wide
range of UK and international hoards during his career andg has extensive
property expertence

Preben Prebensen, Nan-Executive Director ®
Appomted as a Non-Execuuve Director in September 2017
Skills and experience

Preben has 30 years’ experience :n driving long term growth for Briish
banking businesses

He has been chiel executive of Close Brothers Group plc since 2009 Preben
was lormerly chief investment officer at Catlin Group Limited and chied
executive of Wellinglon Undarwriting pic Prior 1o that he held a number of
senior positions at JP Margan
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BOARD OF DIRECTCRS CONTINUED

Tim Score - Non-Executive Director ® N
Appainted as a Non-Executive Director in March 2014
Skills and experience

Tum has signiicant experience in the ramadly evoiving global technology
landscape and brings years of engagement both with malure economies
and emerging markets lo the Board

He s a aon-executive dicector ol Pearson ple and HM Treasury and sits on
the board ol trustees of the Royal National Theatre Tim was tarmerly cheel
financeal officer of ARM Holdings PLC and held senwor hinancial positions at
Rebus Group Limited, William Baird plc, LucasVaniy ple andg BTR plc From
2005 to 2014, he was a non-executive director of Natonal Express Graup
PLC, including ttme as nterim chairman and six years as sentor
ndependent director

Tim has been appointed (o succeed John Gildersigeve as Chairman from
the end af the 2019 AGM

Rebecea Worthington, Nen-Executive Director #
Appointed as a Non-Executive Direclor in January 2018.
Skills and experience

Rebecca has exlenswe bsted property seclor experience and brings key
cemmercial acumen Lo the Board

She was formerly group chief aperating officer thaving prewiously been
group chief hinance officer) of Countryside Properties PLC and spent

15 years al Quintain Estates and Development PLC, first as finance direcior
and {atterly as deputy chiel executive Rebecca was also a non-executive
director and chair of the audit committee at Hansteen Hotdings plc untl

20 March 2018, and a non-executive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc
to September 2015 She qualilied as a chartered accountant with
Pricewalerhouse Coapers LLP.
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Laura Wade-Gery, Non-Executive Director ®
Appoinled as a Nan-Executive Director in May 2015
Skilts and experience

Laura has deep knowledge of digitat transformation and customer
experience and brings her expenence leading business change
management 10 the Board

She 15 a non-executive director of John Lewis Partnershig plc ang NHS
Impravernent Previously. Laura was executive director Mutti Channel at
Marks and Spencer Group plc, served in 2 number of seniar positians at
Tesca PLC including chief executive olficer of Tesco.corn and was a
non-gxecutive dwector of Triuty Marror ple

Brona McKeown, General Counsel and Company Secretary
Apponted as General Counset and Cornpany Secrelary in January 2018
Sills and experience

Belore joining British Land, Brona was General Counse! and Company
Secretary of The Co-operative Bank ple for four years as part of the
res{ruciuring executive teamn. Immediately prior {o thatl she was interim
General Counsel and Secretary at the Coventry Building Society Untl
Oclober 2011, Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate dmision
of Barclays Bank pic. having jomned Barclays 1 $998 Brona tramed and
spent a number of years at a large City law frm



Directors’ core areas of expertise’ Board attendance

Scheduled Ad hac
Duiraclor meelings meelings Total
John Gildersleeve' 777 2/2 919
Alastair Hughes 747 343 15/18
Charles Maudsley? 7/7 2/2 9/9
Chris Grigg 147 3/3 10/18
Laura Wade-Gery* 747 213 9/i0
Lynn Gladden 7 3/3 10118
Nicholas Macpherson® U7 213 /10
Preben Prebensen® 7 213 /10
Rebecca Worthington 77 3/3 10/10
Simon Carter?? 616 272 8/8
Tirn Reberts? 77 212 9/9
Tim Score'¢ 747 /2 8/9
Wilhiam Jackson® 5/7 3/3 9/10

Board Committee membership key
1. Due te their conflicts of interest, Tum Score and John Gildersleeve were not

A Audit Commiites member nviled to zltend one ad hoc Board meeting, the sole business of which was
Chairman succession

iy s Son Lg ST o T N vy I . . o g -

© Coipoiaie Social Responsibiity Comimaitee memper Z Que to ther conficts ol 1nterest, Chanes Maudsiey, Tive Raberis and

o Simon Carter were not invited lo allend one ag hoc Board meeling, the sole
Nomsnation Committee member business of which was the reorgarisation of Executive Direcior positions

® 3 Simon Carter did not start employment untit 21 May 2018 and therefore did
Remuneration Committee member not attend one meeting that ook place before he joined

. 4 LauraWade-Gery, Michotas Macphersan, Preben Prebensen and Tim Score
o Chairman of a Board Committee 2ach missed one ad hot meeting thal was called at short notice In each case,

the Direciors who were unable lo altend had been separately briefed on the
22 A1 urs

one meeling in January 2019 This was scheduled some time after the 2019
Board dates had been seltled as a response Lo the Board evaluation feedback
that here was a large gap between the November and March meetings
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CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Welcome to the Governance
and Remuneration sections

1 am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2019,

The Board's responsiality for leading the Company and overseeing
the governance of the Group conlinues to be supported by a robust
structure which atlows for canstructive debate and chatlenge by its
members This approach enables the Oirectors to make effective
dectsians, at the right ttme and based on the right informatian.

As | mention in my statement on pages 2 and 3, our level

of thoughtful activity and the resilience of our strategy set British
Land apart We take this thoughtfuiness and consideration

inte gur governance structure and this year a review of our
governance policies has been carried cut. This resultad in
revisions to a number of our policies including our matters
reserved to the Board, various Committee terms of reference
and delegaled authorities.

Governance underpins the way in which the business of the Group
is managed, our behaviour and our corporate culture. This year,
we are reporting against the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
fthe ‘Code’} available at frc.org uk | am pleased to report that the
Board has continued to apply good governance and considers that
the Company has comptied with the provisions of the Code
throughout the year.

We have also been making preparations for compliance with the
2018 UK Corparate Governance Code. Our commitment ta
engaging with our stakeholders means that we already have (n
place several methods ol engaging with vanous stakeholder
groups. To help with reviewing this engagement we have recently
constituted a Beard level Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee to assist the Board in-

- understanding the views of key stakenatders fincluding our
employees) of the Company

- understanding the Company’s impact on community
and eavironment
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- ensuring that the Board i1s aware of the pracesses and
mechanisms used By the Company to engage with key
stakehalders

- ensunng that those processes and mechanisms are fit for
purpese and assist in contributing o the wider society

The foltowing Corporate Governance Report, including the reports
of the Audit, Nominaton and Remuneration Committees, outlines
how the Company has applied the Code’s principtes and provisions

Board changes

The Board has continued to evolve during the year Simon Carter
(ained wt May 2018 as Chief Financial Othicer and Tun Roberts and
Charies Maudsley stepped down from the Board on 31 March 2019.
Chartes Maudsley left British Land on that date but Tim Roberts
remains an employee until 31 July 2019,

| wauld (ke to thank both Tim and Charles for their commutment
to British Land Tim joined Bnitish Land in 1997 and was appointed
to the Board in 2004, since when he has been the Head of Gffices
Chartes joined Britsh Land 1n 2010 and has been on the Board
since that tune, most recently as the Head of Retail, Leisure

and Residential

{n addition, T will step down as Chairman and as a Directar at
the end of the 2019 AGM with Tim Score having been appointed
to succeed me as Chairman at that ime.

With the exception of Trm, Charles and |, all Directors in role at
31 March 2019 witl stand for re-election at the 2019 AGM

This year we carried out an internal evaluation of the Board.
Details of the process undertaken and a summary of the outcomes
are set aut on page 77. However, | am pleased to report here

that the review concluded thai your Board, its Commuttees and

its indidual members continue te operate effectively and with due
ditigence. It zlso confirmed that good progress has been made on
the recommendations of tast year's externatly facuitated
evaluation. The facus for the cormung year will be

- centinuing devetopment of the Board's understanding of culture
and values;

- continuing the development of succession plans; and

- refiming agendas and tirmings to enhance discussion and debale
around unportant issues

This year's AGM witl agamn provide an apportunity for atl
sharehelders to hear more about aur performance during the year
aad to ask questons aof the Board | look forward to welcaming yau
on 19 July 2019

A

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chawrman



BOARD ACTIVITY IN 2019

Our core focus areas

The Board meets regularly with people from across the British Land
business and interacts with a range of advisers including corporate
brokers and valuers. Board discussions have covered a wide range
of topics with a significant amount of time spent on the following
strategic topics:

Strategic topic Areas on which the Board has focused during the year

Customer Orientation - Decisicn to focus cur business on three core elements. our London campuses, a smaller
Retail portiolio and Resrdential which would see campuses increase to 55-60% of the porticlio,
with Retail reducing to 30-35% and Residential increasing io 10% on a five year view

- Sroget Piaces team establshed to fotus on deliverng technotogy-enatled places end the
personalisation of the working environment
- Conuinued roll out of Storey, now operational across 141,000 sq ft at cur campuses
Right Places - Gigned our Master Bevelopment Agreement and submrtted our planming application at
Canada Water

- Progressing our vision for Broadgate including sbtaining planming perrmussion for the
redevelopment of 1-Z Broadgate

- Overseeing our Retait disposal strategy

Capital Efficiency - Sate of 5 Broadgate for £1bn (BL share £500m)

- Use of proceeds sptit between a £200m extension to our share buyback programme and
reinvestment in development

- Recommendation of 31.00p per share in dwidends representing a 3% year-on-year increase
- Repayment of £223m of debt in the Broadgate JV releasing buldings for potential development
- Maintenance of approprate leverage at 28%

Expert People - Combining our Offices and Retall businesses under the leadership of Darren Richards as Head
of Real Estate
- Appointment to the Executive Committee* of Emma Cariaga, Head of Operations at Canada
Water and Dawvid Lockyer, Head of Broadgate
- Combination of Briish Land and our properly managemen business within a single office site,
enabling coltaboration and maxirnising the efficrency of our operations

- Roll out of agile werking, enabling our peaple to work more fexibly

Establishment of a Board level Corporate Sotal Responsibulity Committee with effect from
Aprd 2019

- Consideration of our approach to sustainability for beyond 2020

Sustainability

‘

DOwersity and inclusion across our business

* Detasls of the members of gur Executive Commutlee ¢an be lound en gur website at briishand com/execulive-committee
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GOVERMANCE AT AGLANCE

A strategic enabler

Our governance structure ensures that the right people have access
to the right information. Delegated authorities throughout our
organisation enable effective decision making at appropriate levels.

Board > ‘ Board of Directors J
Corporate Social —— -
. . i Nomination Remuneration
Audit Cammittee Rgospcn_smthfy Committee Committee
mmittee
(Execuﬁve > Chief Executive J
1
Executive Committee Investment Committee Risk Committee
rM g ] > 1 T 1
anagement . .
Community Investment . Sustainability
L Committee Health and Safety Committee Committee

* With effect from | April 2019

Board gender split as at 2019 AGM versus 2018 AGM
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Average board member age over a three-year period



GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governance is an integral
part of the way we deliver

our strategy

Leadership

The Board

As at 31 March 2019 the Board comprised the Charrman, eight
independent Non-Executive Directors and four Executive Directors
Biographies of the Directars as at the date of publicaton are set
out on pages &8 to 70 and include details of the skills and
experience each brings o the Board. By the conclusion of the
2019 AGM, the Board will have reduced 1n size to comprise the
Chairman, seven ndependent Non-Executive Directors and two
Executive Directors

Qur ngorous and transparent orocedures for appoinuing new
Directors are led by the Nomination Commitiee Nen-Executive
Directors are appointed for specified terms and all continuing
Directors offer themselves for elechion or re-eiection by
shareholders at the AGM each year prowided the Board, on

the recommendation of the Nom:nation Committee, deems 1t
appropriate that they do so

The compositian of the Board 1s fundamental to its success

in providing strong and effective leadership The Nomination
Committes is responsible for reviewing the composation of the
Board and its Commuttees and assessing whether the balance of
skills, expertence, knowledge and diversity s appropriate to enable
themn to operate effectively

We continue to have a sirong rmix of expenienced individuals

ori the Board. The majority are independent Non-Execulive
Directors who are not onty able to offer an external perspective
on the business, but also constructively challenge the Executive
Dwectors, particularly when developing the Company s strategy
The Non-Executive Directors scrutinise the performance of
management 1n meeling their agreed goals and objectives, and
mantter the reporting of that performance

The hugh calibre of debate and the participation of alt Directors,
Executwe and Non-Executive, in its meetings allows the Board to
vtilise the experience and skills of the indmvidual Derectors to therr
maximum potential and make decisions that are in the best
interests of the Company.

Rote of the Board

The Beoard has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approval, inctudhng its core responsibilities of setung the Group's
strategic direction, overseeing the delivery ol the agreed strategy.
managing risk and establishing the culture, values and standards
of the Group as a whole. Matiers below the financiai limit set by
the Board are delegated either to the Investment Commuttee (for
property and hinancing 1ssuest comprising the Executive Directors,
Head of Strategy & Investment, Head of Real Estate and Head of
Development or to an approvals committee of any two of the

Executive Directors and General Counsel and Company Secretary
with all decisions taken reported to the next Beard meeting.

The Board culture 15 ene of openness and canstructive debate
The Directors are able to votce therr opinions in a relaxed and
respectiul environment, allowing coherent discussion When
running Board meetings, the Chairman maintains a collaborative
atmosphere and ensures that all Directars have the opporturuty
to contribute to the debate The Chairman also arranges informal
meetings and events throughout the year to help build constructive
relationships between Board members and the senior
management team

The Chaiwrman meeis with indiedual Dwectors cutside fermat
Board meetings to allow for open, two-way discussion about the
effectiveness of the Board, ts Commutiees and its members The
Chairman is therefore able to remain mendful of the views of the
individual Directors,

Division of responsibilities

There 1s a clear written dwision of responsibiities between the
Chairman lwho 1s responsible for the leadership and effectiveness
of the Board| and the Chief Executive {who 1s responsible for
ranaging the Company's business|

The Board has delegated authonty lor the day-to-day management
of the business {o the Chief Executive

The Executive Oirectors are involved in, of aware of, alt major
activiies and are therefore extremely well placed to ensure that
any decisions align with the Group's agreed stralegy

The Executive Directors make decisions wathin predefined
parameters delegated by the Board, although any proposat

may still be taken to the fuil Board for consideration and approval
where this 1s considered appropriate, even if it falls within

those parameters.

Three standing Comnuttees have been operating throughout

the year the Audit, Normunation and Remuneration Commuttees,
to which ceriain powers have been delegated Membership of
each of these Commutless 1s compnised solely of independent
Nan-Executive Direclors The reports of these three standing
Commuitees are set out on pages 80 to 109 The Corporate

Social Responsibility Cornmittee had its first meeting 1n May 2019,

Management Cornmittees have also been established te make
recommendations an mattars delegated to them by the Boarg,
its standing Commuttees or the Executive Directors.

Thes governance structure [set out on the previcus pagel ensures
that the Board s able to focus on strategic proposals, major
transactions angd governance matters which affect the long term
success of the business
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Strategy days

The Board hetd its annual offsite strategy event during February
2019. The strategy days are structured to provide the Directors,
and the Non-Executive Directors in particular, with an opportunity
to focus on the development of, and chalienge io, the Group's
corporate strategy.

The Executive Directars, senior execulives and external guests
delwvered a number of presentations to attendees providing
in-depth anatysis on aspects of the business and the external
environrment. The days were carefully steuctured to achieve a
balance between presentations, debate and discussion.

Areas focused on at the 2019 strategy days inctuded corporate
strategy, Canada Water, technology, the flexible workspace market
and the burd to rent market.

Board meetings

Regular Board and Committee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they allocate sufficient time
to discharge their duties eflectively. Occasionally, Board meetings
may be held at short notice when Board-level decisions of 2
time-critical nature need to be made or for exceptional business

The Board agenda is set by the Chairman, in conjunction wath

the Chtef Executive and General Counsel and Cormnpany Secretary
Each scheduted meeting includes a management report delivered
by the Chief Executive and regular updates on the actwities of
vanaus standing a2nd management commuttees Miscussions also
take place on strategic proposals. major acquisitions, disposals,
deveiopments and legal and governance matters.

Care s taken to ensure that information 1s circutated in good

time belore Board and Committee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearty and with the appropriate level of detad to enable
the Board to discharge its duties. All papers are circulated one
week prior lo meetings and clearly marked as being For Decision’,
‘For Infarmation’ or "Far Discussien’ To enhance the delwery of
Board and Commuttee papers the Board uses a Board portal and
tablets which provide a secure and efficient process for meeting
pack distribution Under the direction of the Chairman, the General
Counsel and Company Secrelary facilitates etfective information
flows between the Board and its Committees, and between senior
management and MNon-Executive Directors.

In March 2019 the Board held its meeling at the recently
redeveloped 3 Broadgate 10 the City of London. The meeting was
followed by a site visit te the 100 Liverpool Street development
which had recently had its topping out ceremony

Effectiveness

Board induction

On appotintment, all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
receive a comprehensive induction. Each new Oirector is invited to
rmeet the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
Secretariat to discuss their induction in detai, foliowang which the
pregramme is lailored specilically lo their requirements and
adapted to reflect their existing knowledge and expenence.

Each induction programme would ordinarily include.

- meetings with the Charrman, Executive Directors,
Committee Chairmen, external auditer or remuneration
consultants [as appropnate)
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- information on the corporate strategy, the investment strategy,
the financial position and tax matters fincluding details of the
Company's REIT status)

- anaverview of the property portfolio provided by members of
the seniofr management team

- wisits to key assets

- detads of Board and Commitiee precedures and Directors’
responsibilities

- detads on the tnvestor celations programme
- inforration on the Company’s approach to sustainability

All induction documnents are made available on our secure
electronic Board portal and are therefare available to Directors
both dunng and after their Induchion.

Training and development

The Chairman and Generat Counsel and Company Secretary
agree what Board-wide training or development may be
appropriate. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board
considered papers and presentations on legal and regulatory
developments including the 2618 UK Carporate Governance
Code and The Reporting of Payment Practices and Performance
Regulations, SMART technotogy, the macre-economic environment
and specihc 1ssues refating to Brext, sustainatbity-related
developments and bnefings on the views of stakeholders and
the external environment

Directors are alse entitied to seek independent advice i relation to
the performance of their duties at the Company’s expense, subject
to hawing first notified the Chairman or the General Counsel and
Company Secretary.

Commitment

Non-Executive Directars’ leiters of appointment set out the time
commitments expected from them. Following consideration. the
Nommation Comrmitiee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Directars continue te devote suffictent ime to discharging their
duties to the requuired high standard

British Land’s policy is to allow Executive Oirectors to take one
non-executive directorshup at another FTSE company, subject to
Board apgroval. External appaitments of the Executive Directors
are disclosed in their biographies. Any fees earned by the
Executive Directors are disctosed on page 106 within the
Remuneration Report.

Conflicts of interest

The Direclors are required to avoid a sitpation in which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or indirect conflict with the interests of
the Company. The Board has established a procedure whereby
the Directers are required to notify the Chairman and the General
Counsel and Company Secrelary of all potential new outside
interests and actual or perceived confiicts of interest that may
affect them in their roles as Directors of British Land. All potentiat
conilicts of intereslt are authorised by the Board and the register of
Directors’ interests is reviewed by the full Board at least annually.

The Board aise reviews the Drectors’ Interests Policy on an annual
basis Followng the last review in Novermnber 2018, the Board
concluded that the policy continued to operate effectively.



Re-etection

The Board has reviewed the Nomenation Coernmitiee’s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Director remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circurmstances which are iikely to affeci, or could appesr o affect,
that judgement As a result, the Board as a whole considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors is independent and 15 of the
stature and has the required experience to perform hus or her role
as anndependent Director The resuits of the Board evaluation
also confirm the Board's belief that each Non-Executive Directar
standing for re-election at the 2019 AGM remains commuited to
thetr role wethun British Land and continues to perform effectwvety

Board evatuation

The eflectiveness of the Board and its Commitiees s reviewed
annually, with an independent, externally faciitated review being
conducted at least once every three years The next external review
well ben 2021,

In 2019, an internal evaluation of the Board and its Committees
was conducted by the General Counsel and Company Secretary
by Circulating QUesHoNares, seexng quaniitative ana qualilalive
feedback and reporting the outcomes to the Board In addstion

ta the formal evatuatton, the Charrman met each Non-Executive
Owector indwiduatly during the year to discuss their contribution
to the Board The Senror independent Director led the appraisal
of the Chairman’s performance by the Non-Executive Directors,
with the views of the Exscutive Threctars alen hena taken

into consieration

The Chairman and Chief Executve presenied their appraisats

of the performance of the Chief Executive and other Executive
Directors respectively These apprawsals were taken into account
when considering the perfarmance of the Board as a whole as
well as in relation to annuat and long term incentive awards

The evaluation of the Board and its Commuttees concluded that
the Board and #ts Commuttees continued to operate effectively
with a high standard of performance throughout the year.

The focus for the coming year will be

- continuing devetopment of the Board's understanding of culture
and vaiues

- continuing the development of succession plans

- rehning agendas and timings {o enhance discussion and debate
around impeortant Issues

Acecountability

Financiat and business reparting

The Board 1s responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
confirms in the Directors responsthility statement set out on

page 113 that it believes that the Annual Report, taken as a whole,
1s fair, balanced and understandable, and prowides the information
necessary to assess Bntish Land's positton, performance,
business model and strategy. The basis on whrch the Company
creates and preserves value aver the lang term is described in

the Strategic Report

The Audit Committee reviewed the procedure undertaken to
enable the Board to grovide the fair, batanced and understandable
confirmation te shareholders, Meetings were held between the
Group Financial Coniroller, Head of Investor Relations and other
sernor employees to review and document the key considerations
undertaken and a detailed report was then presented to the

Audit Commuiitee.

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent and nature of the nisks it s
prepared to take in order to achieve the Company s strategic
objectives, The Board has responsibtlity for the Company's
overall approach to risk management and internal cantrol which
includes ensuring the design and implementation of appropriate
risk managerment and internal control systems Oversight of the
effectiveness of these systems s delegated to the Audit Commuttee
which undertakes regular reviews to ensure that the Group 15
identifying, considenng and as far as practicable mitigating the
risks for the business

The Board confirms that a robust assessment of the principat
msks fating the Compary, wnciuding thase that would threarer vs
business model, tuture pertormance, solvency or liquidity, was

carried gut during the year

8ritish Land s approach to risk, ncluding the roles of the Board
and the Audit Commuttee n setling risk appetite and monmitoring
risk exposure, 1s detailed in the Managing risk in delivering gur
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As well as complying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC ‘Guidance on risk
management, internal control and related financial and business
reporiing’ and the Company's internai control framework operates
in line with the recommendations set out 1n the internationatly
recognised COSG internal Control Integrated Framework

The Company 5 comritted to conducting its business in an
ethical manner, with integrity and in line with alk relevant laws
and regutations. The Group has adopted 8 number of policies
and procedures inciuding policies and training on anti-bribery
and corruption and fraud awareness, infarmation security and
GDPR All employees are made aware of the Group's policies
through the Employee Handbook and regular bulleting and also
recewe traiming appropriate to thewr roles and responssbilities

The Audit Commuttee reviews the effectiveness of the Group's
systemn of internal control annually, including the systems of
control for matenal joint ventures ang funds The Group's internal
control system 1s built on the following fundamental principles,
and s subject to review by internal audit

- a defined schedule of matters reserved for approval by ihe Board

- adetailed autherisation process no material commmitments are
entered into without therough review and approval by an
authorised person

- ftermal docurmentation of all sigreficant transactions

-~ a robust system of business and financial planning including
cash {lows and profitability forecasting, with scenario analysis
performed on major corporate, property and financing proposals

- arobust process for property invesiment appraisals

- manitoring of key outcomes, particularly expenditure and
performance of significant investments, against budget
and forecast
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clearly defined pelicies and review of actual performance against
policies

- benchmarking of property performance against external
sources such as the Investment Property Databank

- key contrals testing
- acomprehensive property and carporate msurance programime
-~ a formal whistleblowing policy

During the course of 1ts review for the year ended 31 March 2019,
and ta the date of this Report, the Audit Commuttee has not
identified, nar been adwsed of, a failing or weakness which it has
determined to be sigmficant.

Going concern and viability statements

Durning the year the Board assessed the approprateness of using
the ‘going concern’ basis of accounting i the financial statements
The assessment considered future cash flows and debt faciiies

lto assess the liquidity risk of the Company] and the avatability of
finance (to assess the solvency nisk] The assessment covered the
12-month penod required by the ‘going concern’ basis af accounting

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prospects ol the Group over a five-year penod. which 15 deemed
appropniate for the iabiity statement in preparing the viability
statement the Board considered the principat risks set out an
pages 58 to 61 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
forecasts, all of which are considered to have a reasonable
iketifiood of impacing the watiity of the Company Fuil details of
this assessment are set out on page 69

Following these assessments the Directors believe that the Group
15 well placed to manage its financing and other business risks
satisfactorily and have a reasonable expectation that the Cormpany
and the Group have adequate ressurces to continue i operation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report. They
therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basks
of accounting in preparing the financial statements

The Board also considers that the Company and the Group will be
able to continue in operahion and meel its Liabilihies as they fail due
over the period enching 31 March 2024

Taxation

Qur principles of good governance extend tg our responsible
approach to tax. Our lax strategy {'Our Approach to Tax'), available
on aur website britishtand.com/governance, is appraved by the
Board and 1510 line with the Group’s long term values, culture
and strategy.

Remuneration
The Oirectors’ Remuneration Report is set out on pages 88 to 109.

In accordance with the Code, the Remuneration Committee i1s
recommending a new Remuneration Policy for approval at the
2019 AGM_ The recommended Remuneration Policy is set out
on pages 92 to 96.

Relations with stakeholders

The Board ts commutted to maintaining open channels of
cammunication with all of the Company's stakeholders. An
important part of this is prowviding a clear exptanation of the
Company s strategy and objectives, and ensuring thai feedback
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15 acknowledged, considered and, where appropriate, acted upon.
Stakeholder feedback 15 essential to the success af aur business,
so we ensure the Chairman, Senior Independent Qirector and
Executive Directors are available to address any concerns our
stakeholders may wish (o raise.

British Land aims to be informative and accessibie to all
shareholders. Announcements relating to the Group's financial
results and key events are provided in a imely manner and are
easity accessible via our website and scoal media The Group
website also prowdes detailed information on cur assats, as well
as case studies llustrating our strategy, including our
sustainability activities.

Briish Land has a dedicated Investor Relations team which1s
available to respond 10 any questions ar CONCETNS IBVes{Ors May
have on an ad hoc basis.

All stakeholders are able to contact the Company directly via the
contacts page on our website britishland.com/contacts

To read more on our key stakeholders, the issues that matter
to thern and how we engage with them, go to page 26.

Annual General Meeting

Direclors attend the AGM, which pravides retail shareholders in
particular with an opporiunity to hear directly from the Board on
the Company’s performance over the past year, its strategy and the
objectives for the year ahead The AGM also provides shareholders

ssath the oppertunity 1o 2ek queshions,
~ <FF FSW SR qEesnTi
The 2018 AGM was attended by approximately 110 shareholders

All resolutions were voted on by way of a poll and passed by the
required majority. The results of the AGM voting are announced lo
the London Stock Exchange as soon as practicable foltowing the
AGM and atso made available on the Company’s website.

Retail shareholders

Qur ‘Shareholders Centre’ on our website brinshland comy/
shareholders-centre includes information on the AGM, dividends,
shareholder communication, how 10 Contacl our registear, Equiniu,
and other useful resources for shareholders

Institutional investars

Institutconal investors and analysts recewve regular
communications from the Company, including details of investor
relations events {see the chart to the righll, one-to-one and group
meetings with Executive Directors, and tours of our major assets.
This year, our investor relations activity included analyst and
Investor events comprising presentations and tours of Broadgate
and Canada Water, and a CFQ investor dinper, In total, the Chief
Executive, Chuef Financial Cfficer and Investor Relations team met
with representatives from 215 institutions during the year ended
31 March 2019 We periodically commission an independent
investar perception study, which provides feedback on our strategy,
highlights matenal concerns from key investors and is presented
to the Board

The Executive team 15 commutted to ensuring that shareholder
views, both positive and negative, are relayed back to the Board
The Chiet Executive provides a written report at each scheduled
8oard meeting which includes direct market feedback an
actinty duning the period and commentary en any meetings
with major shareholders



Key mvestor relations activities
during the year
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Fuil year results presentation - Investor property conference, London

- Private client investor roadshow, Landon

Full year results roadshow, London

irvestor roadshow, Frankfurt ~ Investor roadshow, Pans

]
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Analyst & nwvestor presentation & tour,
Broadgate

- Investor property conference, Netheriands

June @

- Anatyst & investor presentation
& tour Canadas Water

)

- AGM
- Prwvaie chient mvesicor

breakfast, London AGM
- US roadshow

- Investar property conference,
New York

-
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- Industry dinner
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Half year resulls
Half year results roadshow, London

et ‘9
a \_/

g

Lenders and bondholders

The Board recognises the contribution made by our
lenders and bandholders Through our Treasury team, the
Group maintains an apen d:atogue with our debt prowiders
which helps the Board undersiand their investment
appetite and critera.

o
o
m u‘“\“\\\\\\\
o
Al 7
SN

Community

British Land recognises that the peaple who live in and
around our assets are essenttal to creating Places People
Prefer, and therefore 1o the success of our husiness
Investing in these communities s an impoertant part of
our approach, and our ‘Local Charter’ details how we
build trust by making posittve contributions tocally Qur
‘Tommunity Funding Guidelines’ set out how we allacate
tunding, with a particutar focus on inthiatives close to our
assets that provide opportunities to local people through
education, emgployment and trairung Both documents can
be found on ocur website at britishland.com/policies

Our approach to social and envirenmental reporting 1s set
out on pages 28 10 29.

Feb @

- Investor roadshow, Edinburgh

2

lavestor property conference, London
Investor dinner, London

- Investor roadshow,
Frankfurt & Zurich

- Inwvestor property
canference, Miami

- Investor property
conference, London

)
]
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and
integrity of the financial
reporting and valuation

process

—_——

i am pieaséd to present the report of the Audit Comimittee
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

in Line with the focus on improved governance and clear,

relevant and concise reporting, this repart of the Audit Committee
highlights the main rssues which arose during the year and

how they were addressed

Role and responsibilities
The principal responsibrities of the Committee are:

Financial reporting - Monitoring the integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and any formal announcements relating to
financial performance, and considering signtficant financial
reporting issyes, judgements and estimates

External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external
augitor, assessing elfectiveness and making recornmendations
to the Board on the appointment of, and the policy for non-audit
services provided by, the externat auditar

Internal Audit - Monitaring and reviewing reports on the work
pertormed by the internal avditor and reviewing effectiveness,
including its plans and resourcing

Risk management and internal controls - Reviewing the system
of internal control and risk management

investment and development property valuations - Consdering

the valualion process and outcerne and the effectiveness of the
Company’s valuers
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Key areas of focus

Ultimately, the Comrnitiee conbinues to play a key role in
overseeng the integnity of the Group’s financial statements,
including assessing whether the Annuai Report is fair, balanced
and understandable, as welf as ensuring that a sound system
aof risk management and internal centrol 1s in place.

During the year, the Commuttee has reviewed the process for
identdication and mitigation of key business risks, chaltenging
management actions where appropniate The Commuttee has

also reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting treatment of
significant transachions, including asset acguisitions and disposals,
atong with scrutinising the valuation of the Group s property assets
as well as the effectivenegss of the valuers

The Commuttee continued to monitor the implementation of the
new valuer policy which was approved in 2017 As at 31 March 2019
55% of the portfolio was under new instruction with a lurther 17%
dug ta be retenderad the lollnunng year The Commettee conbinuas
to appreciate the professionalism of all its vatuers during the
tender process

Committee composition and governance

There have been no changes to the membership of the Committee
during the year to 31 March 201? The Cemmittee continues to

be composed solely of independent Non-Executive Directors with
sulficient financial expenence, comrmercial acumen and sector
knowledge to fulfif thewr responsibiliies Members’ attendance at
Committee meetings is set out in the following table:

Date of josning
Director Pasinon the Committee  Atiendange

Tim Score Chairman 20 Mar 2014 3/3

Alastair Hughes Member 1 Jan 2018 3/3
Nicholas Macphersan Mamber 1 Apr 2017 3/3
Rebecca Worthington Member ) Jan 2018 3/3

The Board 1s satished that the Commmittee as a whole has
compelence relevant to the real estate sector For the purposes of
the UK Corporate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed to
rmeet the specific requirement of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience.

With effect from the conclusion of the 2019 AGM, Rebecca will
succeed me as Chairman of the Commuttee as | begin my role as
Chairman of the Group.



Members of the senior management team, includtng the Chiet
Financiat Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary,
Group Financial Controlier, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of both external and internal auditors are invited
to attend each Commuttee mesting. In addition, the Chairman of
the Board, Chief Executive Officer, Head of Investor Relations,
Head of Planning and Anatysis and other key employees are
wwvited to attend part, or all, of specific Commuttee meebings.

The Committee meets prvatety with both external and internal
audiiors after each scheduled meeting and continues lo be
eapshied that netiher 1S being unduly influenced by managament
As Commuitee Chairman, | additionaily hold regular meetings
with the Chief Executive Gificer, Chief Financial Officer and other
members of management to obtain a good understanding of key
tssues affecting the Group and am thereby able io identily those
matters which require meaningful discussion at Commuttee
meetings | also meel the external audit partner, internal audd
partner and represenialives irom each of the valuers privately o
discuss any matters they wish {0 raise or concerns they may have

Committee effectiveness

The Committee assessed its own effectiveness during the

year through an internat questionnaire The Commuttee

reviews its terms of reference on an annual basis and these
have been updated to reflect the requirements of the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Cade The current terms of reference
were effective from 1 Aprit 2019 and are availabie on gur website
at bntishland com/commitiees

The information below sets out in detait the activity undertaken
by the Comauttee during the year ended 31 March 201% 1 hope
that you find 1t useful in understanding our work

i Oé"‘j'"

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Financial reporting

The Committee continues to review the content and tone of the
preliminary results press release, Annual Repert and hatf year
results at the request of the Board Drafts of the Anaual Repoert
are reviewed by the Commuittee Chawrman and the Committee as
a whole prior to formal consideration by the Board, with sufficent
time provided for feedback

The Committee reviewed the key messaging included m the Annual
Report and half year results, paying parficular attention to those
matters considered to be important to the Group by virtue of their
size, compiexity, evel of judgement required and polential impact
an the financial statements and wider business model. Any issues
which were deemed tc be significant were debated openly by the
Committee members and other attendees, including management,
external and internal auditors.

The Camenittap hag eaticfipd ¢tealf that the contrele nuar tha

accuracy and consistency of the informatien presented in the
Annual Report are robust The Committee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
provided stakeholders with the necessary information to assess
the Group's position, performance, business model and strategy

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 81



REPCRT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

The sigrificant 1ssues considered by the Committee n relation to the financial statements during the year ended 31 March 2019, and the acuons
taken to address these 1ssues, are set out in the following table:

Significant issues considered

How these issues were addressed

Going The approprateness of greparing  The Comrmittee reviewed management s analysis supporting the going concern

concern the Group hinancial statements basts of preparation. This included consideration of forecast cash flows, avalability

statement on a going concern bass of commutied debt facilities and expected covenant headroom. The Committee also
recewed a repact fram the external auditor an the resulls of the lesting undertaken
on management’s analysis.
As a resuft of the assessment undertaken, the Committee satisfied itself that the
going cancern basts of preparation remaned appropriate.
The going concern statement 15 set out on page 78

Yiability Wheiher the assessment The Committee considered whether management’s assessment adequately reflected the

statement undertaken by management Group s nisk appetite and prinaipal risks as disclosed on pages 58 to 61, whether the
regarding the Group’s lang term  period covered by the statement was reasonable given the strategy of the Group and the
viability appropriately reflects the  environment in which it operates: and whether the assumptions and sensitivilies dentified,
prospects of the Group and covers  and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios in the context of solvency or
an appropriate period of tme liqutdity The Commitee also considered a report from the external auditor

The Coemerittes concurred wath management's assessment and recommended the
wiability statement to the Board

The viability statement, together with further details on the assessment undertaken, 1s sel
oul on page 65.

Accounting The accounting treatment of The Commuttee reviewed management papers on key judgernents, including those for

for significant significant property acquisitions, sigruficant transactions, as well as the external auditor’s findings on these matters

4 . ar iemmsals fimanrinn an P

transactions 950053l fnanting and lessing particular, the Commuttee considered the accounting treatment of the share buyback
transactions is a recurring risk
for the Group with non-standarg  Programme. the sale of 5 Broadgale and the treatment of [easing transactions within the

P Landan Difices portfolio
accounting entries required,
and in some cases management  The external auditor confirmed that management’s judgements in relation to these
judgement applied transactions were appropriate and reasonable and the Committee agreed with this
conclusion.

REIT status Maintenance of the Group s REIT  The Commmuttee reviewed the Companry's compliance with the REIT tests Management
slatys through campliance with presented detaits of the methedelogy and results of thewr process for REIT tesbing, with
cerlain conditions has a significant  any change in long term trends, and the level of headroom, tughlighted The Commuttee
smpact on the Group's resutls also considered the externat auditor's review of the REIT tests performed by management.

The Commutee concluded that the Company's REIT status had been maintamned in
the year

Valuation of Thevaluation of investmentand  The external vatuers presented therr reports to the Committee prior to the half year and

property development properties conducted full year resulls, providing an overview of the UK property market and summarising the

portfolio by external valuers is inherenlly performance of the Group’s assets Significant judgements were also highlighted.
subjectve 3s 1t 1s undertaken on The Comvitee analysed the reports and reviewed the valuation ouicomes, challenging
the basis of assumptians made by
assumplions made where thought fit In particular, with the implementation of the second
the valuers which may not prove
{0 be accurate stage of the new valuef appointment policy, the Commttlee paid specific attention to those
' assets which were subject to a new valuation instruction during the year.
The outcomme of the valuation s The Caommuiter was satisfied with the valuation process and the effectiveness of the
significant to the Group in terms X The € ttee at d the ret 1 valuation disclosu b
of investment decisions, results Company’s valuers. The Commuttee also approved the relevant valuation disclosures to be
. included 1n the Annual Report.
and remuneration

Revenue For certain transactions, The Commuttee and the external auditor separately considered the appropriateness

recognition judgement 1s applied by of the accounting treatment applied by management in retation to revenue recognition

management as (¢ whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial year.

in particular, the Committee considered the treatment of the sate of third parly property
management rights to Savills and the timing of contingent consideration and costs.

The Committee considered the scope of the accounting standard and agreed with the
reasonableness ol judgements made

82  BritishLand | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



External Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) was appeinted as the Group s
external auditor tor the 2015 Annuat Report following a formal
competitive tender The Commuttee will consider the need for a
compelitive tender for the role af external auditor every five years
and, 1 accordance with legislation and its own terms of reterence,
will ensure that a competitive tender takes place at least every

10 years. The Group's audit engagemaent partner 1s John Waters,
who has been in role since PwC's appaintment, and as required by
the appiwcable legisiation this Annual Report and Accounts will be
his final year as audit engagement partner | would like to thank
Jahn for tus hard work and ditigence over the last five years and.
following a rigorous selection process, welcome Sandra Dowiing
as PwC's new appointrment as audit engagement partner

The Cornmittee has also considered the rationale for a competitive
lender foilowing PwC’s hifth year of appointment as external
auditar |n our view, given the knowledge, the robustness of
challenge and the continuing effectiveness of PwC in their roie

as external auditor, the Commuttee betieve i ts in the best interests
of shareholders far PwC tu reman as external auddor for the
following financiat year The Comruttee will continue to review thus
annually ahead of the requirement for a competitive tender within
10 years as defined by legislation

There are no contractual obligations in place which would restrict
the Committee’s selection of a different auditor

s dor meproeoinn the relatin
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with the axternal auditor and for considering their terms of
engagement, remuneration, effectiveness, independence and
continued aobjectvity The Commutee annually reviews the audit
requirements of the Group, for the business and in the context of
the external environment, placing great importance on ensuring
a agh quality, effective external audit process

Fees and non-audit services

The Cormnmittee discussed the audil fee for the 2019 Annual Report
with the external auditor and approved the proposed fee on behalf
of the Board

In additton, the Group has adopted a policy for the provision of
non-audit services by the external auditor The policy helps to
safeguard the external audior’'s mdependence and abjectivity The
policy allows the external auditor Lo provide the following nan-audi
servicey to British Land where they are considered to be the most
appropriate provider

- audit related services including formal reporting relating to
borrowings, shareholder and other circulars and work in respect
of acquisdions and disposals In some circumstances, the
external audior is required to carry out the work because of
their oHice In other circumstances, selection wouid depend
on which firm was best suited to provide the services required

- sustainability assurance PwC currently provides an assurance
cpinion to the Company over selected sustainability data. This
appointment 1s reviewed annually

in addition, the foliowing protocols apply to non-audi fees.

- total nen-audit fees are iimited to 70% of the audit fees in
any one year Additionally, the ratio of audit to non-audit fees
1s calculated in line with the methodology set out in the
2014 EU Regulations

- LCommittes approval 15 required where there might be questions
as to whether the external auditer has a conflict of interest

- the Audit Commuttee Chawrman ts required to approve i advanca
each additional project o incremental fee between £25.000 and
£100,000, and Commuttee approval 1s required for any additional
projects over £100,000

Ouring the year the engagement relating to sustainability
assurance was approved by the Audit Cammettee Chasrman on the
basis that PwC were best piaced to provide the service and that it
created no conflict of interest with their role as external auditor

Totat fees for non-audil services amounted to £0 1m, which
represents 23% of the total Group audit fees payable for the year
ended 3t March 2019 Details of all fees charged by the externat
auditor during the year are set out on page 122

The Commuttee is satishied that the Company has complied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market Investigation [Mandatory Use of Competiive Processes and
Audit Committer Responsibiliies] Order 2014, published by the
Competition and Markets Authonty on 24 September 2014

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evaluation of the external audiior's
performance was undertaken by way of a questionnare completed
by key stakeholders across the Graup. including senior members
of the Financa team The review took into account the quatity of
planning, delivery and execution of the audit lincluding the audit

of subsidiary compantes], the techrical competence and strategic
knowledge of the audit team and the effectiveness of reporting
and communication between the audsit tearmn and management.

PwC also provide the Commuttee with an annuat report on its
independence, objectivity and compliance with statutory, regutatory
and ethicat standards. For the year ended 31 March 2019, as lor
the prior year, the externat auditor confirmed that if continued to
maintain approprate internal safeguards to ensure its
indepengence and objectivity

The Commuttee concluded that the quality of the external auditor s
work, and the knowledge and competence of the audit tearn, had
been maintamed at an appropriate standard during the year

The Committee therefore recommended to the Beard that a
resotution to reappoint PwC as external auditor of the Eornpany
be put to shareholders at the 2019 AGM
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REPORT OF THE AUGIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Internal Audit

The role of (nternal Audit 15 to act as an independent and objective
assurance function, designed to iImprove the effectiveness of the
governance, rsk management and internal controls framewark
in mitigating the key risks of British Land Ernst & Young LLP [EY]
continue io provide internal audit services to British Land and
attended atl Committee meetings to present their sudit iindings
and the status of management actions

Duemng the year, the Commuttee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan, including consderation af the plan's augnment
to the principal nsks of the Group and its joint venlures Internal
audits compleied during the year included those 1n refation to
cybersecurity, GDPR programme design effecuveness, health and
safety and enwronmental governance, tax and cnsis management.
Overall, no signthicant control 1ssues were entified although
several process and control improvements were proposed, with
foliow up audits scheduled where necessary

Etfectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the internal avditor included
consweration of the internat Audit charter which delines EY's

role and resgonsibilities, review af the quality of the audit work
undertaken and the skils and competence of the audit teams.

The Commuttee concluded that EY continued to discharge its duties
as internal auditor effectively and shoutd continue 10 the rote for
the year commencing 1 April 2019.

Risk management and internal controls

The Board has delegated responstbihity for overseeing the
effecuveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems to the Commuttee. The Committee has oversight of

the activibies of the executive Risk Committee, receving minutes
of ali Risk Committee meetings and discussing any significant
matters raised.

At the full and half year, the Commuttee reviewed the Group's
principal nisks including consideration of how risk exposures
have changed during the period and any emerging risks in the
Company s risk register. Both externat and internal nisks are
reviewed and their effect on the Company s strategic aims
considered The Committee considered the Group's risk appetite,
concluding that it remains set at an appropriate level to achieve
the Group's strategic goals without taking undue risk. The Board
accepted the Committee's recommendation for the Group's nisk
appetite, ensuring that It was set at an appropriate level ta achieve
strategic goals without talung undue risk

The Comnuttee also reviewed the status of key nisk indicators
throughout the year against the risk appetite set, focusing on any

which were oulside optimal ranges. The Cormmuttee gave particular

attention 10 the risks relating to tenant credit risk exposure as well
as continuing and mcreasing political uncertanty around the UK's
decision to leave the EU.
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Half yearty, in canjunclion with the internal auditor, management
reports to the Commuttee on the effectiveness of internal controls,
highlighting control 1ssues idenhified through the excephions
reporling process Risk areas identified are considered for
incorporation in the internat Audit plari and the iindings of internat
audits are taken into account when Wenbifying and evatuating
risks within the busthess Key abservations and management
actions are reported to, and debated by, the Committee For the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Committee has not identihied,

nor been advised of, a failing or weakness which it has deemed

to be significant.

At the reguest of the Remuneration Committee, the Commuttee
considers annually the level of risk taken by management

and whether this affects the performance of the Company The
Remuneration Commuttee takes this confirmation inte account
when determining iIncentive awards granted to the Executive
Directors and senior management. Taking into account reports
recewed an internal key controls and nisk management, and the
results of the internal audit reviews, the Commiittee concluded
that for the year ended 31 March 2019 there was no evidence of
excessive N5k taking by management which ought o be taken
nto account by the Remuneration Comrmuitiee when determining
incentive awards

The Group's whistieblowing arrangements which enable all staif,
inctuding temparary and agency stalf, suppliers and occupters to
report any suspected wrongdoing remamed unchanged during
the year These arrangemenis, which are moniiored by the
Generat Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the
Cornrittee annually, include an independent and conhdential
whistieblowing service prowided by a third party. The Commuitiee
recewed a suenmary of all whistleblawing reports recewved
during the year and concluded that each had been deatt

with appropniately

The Commutiee also reviewed the Group's tax strategy which sets
out the Group's approach (o risk management and governance in
relation to UK taxation, its attitude towacds tax planning, the level
of risk the Group 15 prepared to accept i relabon to tax and

its relationship with HM Revenue & Customns. The resulting
document {'Qur Approach to Tax'} was approved by the

Board and 1s avaitable on the Company s website
(brinishland.com/governancel.

Additional information on the Company’s internal controls systems
15 set cut in the Managing risk in delivening our strategy section
on pages 94 10 57



Investment and development property valuations

The external valuation of British Land’s preperty portfolio 1s a key
deterrminant of the Group's balance sheet, its performance and the
rermuneration af the Executve Directors and senor management.
The Cormmutiee |5 cormmmitied to the rigorous monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the vatuation
process iself The Group’s valuers are now CBRE, Kmght Frank,
Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL) and Cushman & Wakeheld

The Commuttee rewrews the effectiveness of the externat valuers
bi-annually, focusing on 3 quantitative anatysis of capital values,
yteld benchmarking, availability of corparable market ewdence
and majer autliers {o subseclor mavements, with an annual
qualitative review of the level of service received from each valuer.

The valuers attend Committee meetings at which the full and half
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reporis which
include details of the valuation process, market conditions and
any signthicant judgements made. The external audttor reviews
the valuattons and valuation process, having had full access to
the valuers to determine that due process had been foltowed

and approgriats .nformahon used. before separaiely reparting «ts

findings to the Comamuttee The valuation process is also subject
to regutar review by Internal Audit

8riush Land has {ixed fee arrangerents in place with the valuers
n relation to the valuation of wholly-owned assets, 1n line with

the recommendatiens of the Carsberg Committee Report.
.'"..a. .=F theushiay an cortiicates af QDDL‘ K n!-\z Er-u-l.

JLL and Cushman & Wakefield can be found an 0ur websute
at briishland com/reports

Fecus for the coming year

During the year ending 31 March 2020 the Committee wiil
cantinue to focys on the processes by which the Board identifies,
3s55e55e5, Monitars, manages and mitigates nisk, particularly n
light of the chaltenging conditions within the retait sectar. The
Committee will also continue to monitor key risk areas for the
business, particularly those scheduled lor review by Inteenal Audit
inciuding, but not imuted to, non-development related supplier nsk
management and financial IT systern upgrades. The Coemmittee
will have particular interest in the new reporting requirements
arising from the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and will
descnbe in the 2020 Annual Report how they have been met
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THE REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee leads
the process for Board

appointments

Welcome to the report of the Nemination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2019,

Role and responsibilities
The Commuttee’s principal responsibilities remaen

- rewewing the structure, size and composition {including the
skills, knowledge and expernience and diversityl of the Board
and its Commuttees and recommending changes to the Board

- considering succession planning for Directors and other
senior execulives

- reviewing the independence and time commitment
requirements of Non-Executive Directors

- making recommendat:ons as to the Directors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM

Full details of the Commutiee s rote and responsibilities are
set oul in Ks terms of reference available on our website at
britishland.comfcommuttees.

Commniittee composition and governance

The Committee has three members William Jackson and

Timn Score, both independent Non-Executive Directars, while |
conhinue to Chair the Committee, 1 refer you to the page opposite
for Wiliam Jackson's report on the process for appoining my
successor as Chairrnan, i which 1 took no part.

Detaits of the Commuttee’s membership and attendance at
meetings 1s set out in the following table and the table on page 87

Oate of Commutes

Orector Position appointraent Attendance
John Gildersleeve Chairman 1 Jan 2013 171
Witham Jackson Member 11 Apr 201 11
Tirm Scare Member 1 Apr 2017 171
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Diversity

The Commutiee, the Board of Directors and Bnuish Land as a
whole continue to pay full regard to the henelits of diversity,
including gender diversity, both when searching for candidates
tor Baard appointments and when the Company 1s searching for
candidates for other appotntments

The Commuttee’s Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy aspires

for women to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020, as
well as hawving regard to other aspects of dwersity when making
recruitrnent decisions at both Board and sentor management level.

British Land currently has three temate Board members: Lynn
Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Worthington, all of whom
are Non-Execulive Directors Faltowrng Tim Reberts angd Charles
Maudsley stepping down from the Board, this represents 27%
femate Board membership [2018- 25%) Following my departure
after the 2019 AGM. our target of 30% will have been achieved.

Ttie Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy also sets oul British
Land’'s cormnmitment to strengthen the gender batance on British

tand s leadershig and senior Management teams ruriher
infarmation on dwversity within British Land is avadable on our
website briishtand com/inclusive-culture

We recently published aur gender pay gap report. The report
is avalable on our website bnitishland.com/gender-pay-gap
and summarised an page %0

Board membership

The Commuttee regularly rewiews the structure, size and composition
of the Board in order to ensure it 1s made up of the night people with
the requisite skills and experience, including diversity of thought and
approach, who can provide strong and effectve leadership to the
business and support detivery of the Company's strategy.

Successton planning

The Commuttee s responsible far reviewing the succession plans for
the Board, including the Chief Executive. The succession plans for

the Executive Directors are prepared on immedtate, medirm and tong
term bases white those for Non-Executive Directars reftect the need
to refresh the Board regularly Such plans take account of the lenure
of indmdual members. The Comrmittee’s review of Executive Director
successon plans includes consideration of the process for tatent
development within the organisation to create a pipeline to the Board.

The Chief Executive, with the support of the HR Director, is responsible
for developing succession plans for executives and senior management
which are presented to and considered by the Committee

A number of 1ssues that would normally be dealt with by the
Committee were discussed at full Board meetings, 5o as to qwe
the Board the benafit of heanng the presentatiens and discussion
first hand. The succession plans for Executive Directors and senior
managers were presented and discussed with the full Board in
May 2018, Similarly, the changes to the numbers of Executive
Directors on the Beard were discussed in January with the Board
[excluding the potentially conilicted Executive Directors].



Appointment of new Chairman

In bight of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, | led an
expanded Nomenation Commuttee which met three times to
consider the succession plan for the role of Chairman The
expanded Comnsmittee included all Non-Executive Directors
with the exception of John Gildersieeve and Tirn Score {who
had expressed interest 1 the rolel.

This Committea was assisted by Luke Meynell of Russetl
Reynolds Associates, who produced a list of 10 externat
gotential candidates, of whom five were women and two

were from ethnic minorities, who were capable of futfilbng the
tob description, met the personal charactenistics required and
were interested 1n the posiion of a FTSE 100 Chawrman All
were ranked according to the ewidence they displayed of
having met the critena required in the categories of Board/
listed company experience, property exposure, stylefcultural
it and capacity

The Committee considered the menits of an internal candidate
3s opposed o an external candidate taking into account

the profile and tenure of expenence on the Board. Given the
calibre of the internal candidate, the Comnuttee unanimously
agreed that the best :nterests of the Company would be
served by appointing Tim Score to succeed John Gildersleeve.

Director Posiien Attendance
William Jackson Chairman 3/3
Alastair Hughes Member 3/3
Nick Macpherson Member 3/3
Laura Wade-Gery! Member 2/3
Lynn Gladden Member 3/3
Preben Prebensen Member 3/3
Rebecca Worthingten Member 33

1 Laura Wade-Gery was unabte to attend one Commutiee meeting that
was calted on short notice and wheeh was immediately foliowed by
& Board meeting
William Jackson
Senior Independent Direclor
Other than the prowision of recruitment censultancy
services Russell Reynalds Associates has no connection
with Briish Land

Independence and re-election

Prior to recommending the re-appointment of any Non-Executive
Director to the Board, the Committee assesses their continued
independerice, the ime comrmitment reguired and whether the
re-appointment woutd be 1n the best interests of the Company
Detailed consideration s given to each Non-Executive Director’s
contribution 1o the Board and its Commuttees, together wath the
overall balance of knowledge, skills, experience and diwersity,

Fotlowing 1ts review, the Commitiee 15 of the opinion that each
Non-Executive Drector continues to demonstrate cemmutment
to hus or her role as 2 member of the Board and its Committees,
discharges his or her dutias effectively and that each makes a
valuahle rontribution to the leadership of the Company for the
benefit of atl stakeholders Accordingly, the Committee
recommended to the Board that resotutigns to re-elect each
Non-Executive Director be proposed as appropriate to the AGM
alongside the resolutions to re-elect the Executwve Cirectors

Therefore, in accordance with the Code, each of the Directors in
role al the date of thys Annuai Report. wath the exceplion of mysetl,
will ofter themnselves for re-eiection Biographies far each Directar
can be found on pages 68 to 70

Committee effectiveness

The Committee assessed Its own effectiveness during the year

as part of the internal Board evaluation and reviews its terms of
reference on an annual basis These have been updated to reflect
the requirements of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code. The
cufrrent terms of reference were effective from 1 Aprd 2019 and are
avallabte on our website at bntishland.com/comemittees.

Focus for the coming year

Having overseen significant changes o membership of the Board
and leadershup team over the tast 12 months, the Commuittee
intends to focus its attention for the coming year on continuing
the progress on the gender balance of the leadership team

and reviewing the succession plans for the Board and sentor
management, including improving gender and ethaic diverssty.

7

John Gildersteeve
Non-Executive Chairman
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives
with our strategy

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, { am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2019 which
mneludes gur new Bemuneration Policy 2nd the Company's Annuial
Report on Remuneration Qur Directors’ Remuneration Policy was
last approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM and as a result is
being presented to shareholders far approval again at the 2019 AGM

The Annual Report on Remuneration which describes how the
Comrrattee implements the Remuneration Policy 1s set out on
pages 97 to 109 and s subject to an adwisory vole at s year's
AGM The current policy 1s avallable in the 2014 Annual Report on
our website at briishland com/committees

Over the last year the Briush Land Remuneration Commuttee has
reviewed the current Policy in detail to ensure that iti1s working
effectively, 1s aligned to both shareholders’ and other key
stakehalders’ interests and contintses to operate in bine with the
long term business strategy, the culture and values. We have also
reviewed the Policy in light of the UK Corporate Gavernance Code’'s
latest requirements including the five additional tests of simplicsty,
clarity, risk, predictatulity and proportionality

The new Rermuneration Policy 1 subject to a binding vote at thus
year's AGM and | hope to continue 1o have your support for the
Company's remuneration arrangements
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Committee Membership
Lynn Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery, Preben Prebensen and | were
members of the Remuneration Comrmitiee throughout the year.

Board changes

There have been a number of Board changes thes year Simon
Carter joined as Chief Financial Officer on 21 May 2018. Tim
Roberts and Charles Maudsley stood down from the Board on
31 March 2019 Charles left British Land en that day and Tim
Roberts rematns an empioyee untit bis scheduted leaving date in
July 2019.

Timn and Charles were bath eligible for an annual bonus for the
2018/2019 Bnancial year, subject to performance of a combination
of guantitative and strategic objectives Both were considered
‘goad leavers’ and, as such, their outstanding executive share plan
awards will be pro-rated and treated in line with the good leaver
provisions for the respective plan rules. Full details are provided
on page 105

Remuneration in respect of the year ended

31 March 2019

As noted by the Company Chairman, the business has coniinued
to make good stralegic and operationat progress over the year
against an uncertain econormic and political backdrop Financial
performance was robust, the Company’s hnanciat position is
strong and it took impertant sieps for long term value creation
However, performance in the year 1o 31 March 2019 measured
by Total Property Return for properly invesiments 15 expetted o
underperform against the benchmark MSCI Investment Property
Databank {IPD} indices which will be published at the end of May
2019 This underperformance agamst IPO reflects the mix of
assels owned by SBntish Land, which have perfermed well against
direct comparators but have underpecformed relalively against
other parts of the property market included in the IPD
penchmarks. The Board recognises this short term relative under
performance, but believes that the Company has the right mix of
assels to putperform in the longer term. Reflecting this kely
under performance against IPD, payouts from the annual ncentive
plan are expected to fall from last year's level to be circa 36% of
the maximum for the Execuiive Directors.

For the LTIP, we measure performance against targets for Total
Property Return, Total Accounting Return and Total Shareholder
Return over three years relative to the originat benchmarks. We
are also forecasting an underperformance against the median of
the benchmarks over this period for the reasons stated gbove and
as a result expect the LTIP maturing this June to lapse in full. This
is the last year of awards under the Matching Share Plan which
measures both Rent Roll Grawth and Total Shareholder Return
and we expect half of these awards to vest in June this year.



The Remuyneration Committee and the Board believe that these
outcomes demonstrate the Company's remuneration policy 15
working well, In recent vears Annual Bonus ang LTIP vesting
have increased during peniods of relative cutperformance and
decreased when our asset base has underperformed.

New Remuneration Policy

During the {ast year the Committee conducted an extensive review
of the current Policy and concluded that it 1s generally warking
well as demonstrated above. We are therefore not proposing
substantizi changes to our policy. However, we are recommending
3 small number of amendments to both simpbly and ensure the
Poticy continues te be compliant both with best practice and the
Company’s current objectives The Cormnmuttes recegnised that the
recent n¢entive pay-out levels have been well betow the histonical
averages These lower pay-out levels reflect the impact of weaker
shareholder returns in the sector which have been the result of
market uncertainty since the EU referendum and more
challenging retail markets This important and strong connection
belween performance and reward is (wlly undersiood by the Suaid
and execytives.

The amendments to the Policy and how we witt apply it, set cut i
detadl below, are intended to strengthen further the link between
pay and performance at British Land, alignment to sharehalders
and simphify s operation They will slso provide greater clarity to
execulives on [he [argers the Board wishes them (o achieve, and
reflect changes recommended under the revised UK Carporate
Governance Code.

| would note that in recommending an updated Policy and how
we Intend {o operate It o shareholders we are not proposing to
in¢rease remuneration guaatum, ather than through the annual
review of salary levels in the context of increases in line with the
waorkiorce.

The key changes to the Policy and how that Policy will be operated
are as foliows:

- Any salary increases granted will continue to be normally no
higher than the average for the wider employee population.

- The maximum penston contribution for new Executive Director
appointments will be at the level for the wider employee
population under the new Policy

- Under the new Policy there s no change to the opportumty
under lhe Annual Incentive Plan or the Long-Term Incentive
Plan (150% of salary ang 300% of satary respectively] The
measures we intend to use also remain largely unchanged as
these are key performance indicators of how British Land's
strategy is delivered

We are proposing to simplify the Annual incentive Plan and
introduce more specific targets. 70% of the bonus will continue
to be measured on guantitative measures with the remainder
based on strategic measures Currently, we award up to 10%
tor indimidual performance in the year and this 15 therefore being
consolidated within these twe sets of measures The increased
tocus on strategic measures reflects the desire o more directly
focus and incentivise management on the actions required to
deliver the long tecmn relative outperformance measured by

the LTIP

- Inaddition, the Commuttee has noted that the hinancial
performance range over which the Annual incentive Plan is
currently operated 1S very narrow, which means that under the
current Policy small movements across targeted performance
integers can result in putsized tmpacts on: bonus awards, bath
up and down The Commuttee 15 proposing to widen the target
range for the Annual Incentive Plan at both the top and bottomn
end and tn cammon with many other coampanies set the
threshold marginaily below the Budget/Index performance for
the year We also intend to reduce the amount earned at the
threshold from & quarter to zero Taken together, these changes
are mntended to be no more favourable in terms of their financiat
impact on executives Target bonus witl continue to be set at no
higher than half of the maximum

- Totai Property Return [TPR], Total Accounting Return [TAR] and
Total Shareholder Return (TSR] wilt continue to be used as the
LTIP performance metrics We are however increasing the
weighting on TSR from 20% to 40% with a corresponding
dacrease in the weightrng or TAR This reflects the Board < wish
1o tocus the Executive team on narrowing {over the long term]
the discount 1o NAY al which shares in British Land trade,
something the Board 1s focused on and reftects the feedback we
have had frem many sharehalders who view this as a prionty

We are also sigrificantly simplifying the LTIP to remove the
oppertunity for executives to exchange Performance Share
awards before they are granted, for market-priced Share
Optians lon a 1 for 4 ratio basis) i future This follows the
change 1n 2016 of removing Matching Share awards and will
teave British Land with anly the Performance Share award
elerment inthe Long Term Incentive Plan.

- In order to provide & more robust and simple method of
assessing performance under each of the LTIP metrics,
performance wiil be measured relative to a rore tailored
markel benchmark Matching the benchrnark will resuttin
threshold vesting of 20% [unchanged] of each part of the award,
with the stretch ifor full vesting] set at an absolute level of
outperformance of the rnarket benchmark The market
benchmark will, where possible, be talored to Bribsh Land's
asset base and size i order to provide a more robust yardstick
to assess performance
- TPRwill continue o be assessed agaimnst a sector weighted

MSCIIPD Index but it will be simplfied by removing the
additional stretch ¢reated when the benchmark grows by
more than 10% pa.

- TAR and TSR will be assessed against market capitalisation
weighted indices rather than a median ranked company's
performance This means that the largest REITs, which are
mare directly comparable to Briush Land, will have a greater
weighting than the smaller ones in the future

The Committee feels that these targeis will be simpler, fatrer and
more aligned to shareholders and other stakeholders
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

tn Line with the provisions in the new Code, under the new Policy
the Remuneration Commuttee will be able to overnde formulaic
incentve outcomes

- Recovery provisions have been toughened in the new Policy so
that bonus and LTIP paymenls can be recovered in the event of
corporate failure or reputational damage kin addition o gross
riusconduct, missiatement of financial siaternents and error in
calculating the pay-outs). These will now apply for 3 years from
the date that perfermance is calculated

— In Une with the new Code, shareholding gurdetines will apply
to Executive Oirectors fotlowing the cessation of employment
for 2 years We have developed these so that they meetl investor
expectations and have provided the Hexibitity in the Policy
for themn to be adapted between Policy reviews by the
Committee tn continue to meet those expectations over time.
The guideline whilst employed will remain at 225% for the
CEO0 and be increased from 150% to 200% of salary for ather
Executwve Directors.

Remuneration in respect of the year commencing

1 April 2019

Salary and Fees

The Commuttee has discussed and reviewed the Company's
annual salary review framework for all employees. it has also
revipwed the salanes of the Exscutive Directors and roncluded that
Chris Grigg's salary will be increased by 2% and Simon Carter s

by 3.1% which is below the average increase for the wider
employee population

tn March, the Company announced that the Charrman would step
down on 19 July 2019, The Comrmittee set the new Chairman’s
annual fee at £10,000 less than the current Chairman’s at £375,000
as he comes into his new role

The Executive Direclors also reviewed the fees payable to the
Non-Executive Directors and concluded the basic fee should be
increased froem £62,500 to £64.000. The new Corporate Socral
Responsibility Chair would receive a fee of £14,000 and the
member £5,000 and the Nomination Committee member fee
would be increased from £4.000 (¢ £5,000

Annual incentives

For the comung year, 70% of the annual incentve wall continue to be
measured on quanblative measures with the remaining 30% based
on strategic measures Further information 1s provided on page 97

Long Term Incentives

The Commiltee intends to grant long term incentive awards during
this caming year at 250% of salary, the same level as last year
Details of the grants, including perforrnance conditions are set out
on page 98. The grants will be detayed until after the AGM sa that,
if appraved, the new Policy will apply ta these grants
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CEOQ Pension

The Committee has accepted the Chief Executive Officer's decision
to reduce his penstan allowance by 5% of salary annually ta bring it
in line with the employee contributien rate over the next 4 years.
The Committee nates that the CEQ’s existing scheme is a
contractual right agreed on his appointment 1n 2008 and thanks
hum for votunteering to respond to broader shareholder concern
over executive pension contributions.

Below Board-level incentives

In ine with the 2018 UK Cerporate Governance Code, the
Comimittee’s remit will atso include approving the pay
arrangements for the employees below the main Board who sil
on the Executive Committee. The Remuneration Commutiee will
continue to have oversight of the Group’s remuneration policy
for the wider employee poputation

Gender Pay Gap

The latest gender pay gap for the 5 Aprit 2019 snapshot shows a
further reduction in the median pay gap of 5.7% to 34.9% from 40 6%
for British Land. Broadgate Estates. a subsidiary company shows an
increase in the medran from 31.3% to 37 7% due to the sate of the
third party business and the transter of 3 significant number of
employees ta Savlls last year More inferenation can be found at
britishland.com/gender-pay-gap

Recommendation

British Land continues to strive to apply best practice inits
remuneration pelictes and (o isten carefully to shareholder
feedback. We therelore hope to see your suppert for aur approach
1o rernuneration by vating for the Remuneration Pelicy and the
Directors’ Remuneration Repart at the 2019 AGM.

Yours sincerely

Witliam Jackson
Chatrman of the Remuneration Commitiee



Overview of

Remuneration Policy

Our Rermuneration Policy 1$ aligned with the long term business strategy. the culture and the vatues of the Company. The Remuneration
Policy outlined on pages 92 to 96 will, subject to shareholder approval, take effect from 19 July 2019 The bar charts below illusirate the
levels of remureration receivable by the Executive Directars in the first year of operation of the proposed Remuneration Policy for varying

levels of performance

[ilustration of application of Remuneration Policy

Chief Executive

Chief Financial Officer

i Calculated using la) salanes for the year ending 31 March 2020, {b} beneixt values for the year endng 3% March 2019: and (cl penston palicy as applicable for the year

enming 31 Marcn 202601 e 0% of salay for the CEQ and 15% of satary ror tha OF

Executive Directors

Fixed remuneration

The components of fixed remuneration are intended to provide a
base package a1 a ieve! that wilt attract high-calipre individuals,
with the appropriate degree of expertise and expenence to carry
out their rotes to the high standards we require Executive
Directors salaries are set taking into account the scope and
responsitilities of the role and the level of remuneration paid at
compantes of broadly simular size, and, in agditton te salary, the
fixed remuneration package includes the provision of benefits, a
pension or penston aliowance and the opparturuty to take part in
ali-employee share schemes

Annual Incentive

The Annual Incentive torms part of the vaniable praportion of an
Executive Director’s remuneration package The level of Annual
Incentive award receved i1s direcily binked 10 quantitative and
strategic measures which are set annually A proportion of each
Executive Director s Annual Incentive award Is useg to purchase
shares that must be held for three years, providing longer term
alignment with shareholders

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The LTIP is the second element of variable remuneration

The propartion of an LTEP award that 1s aclually released to an
Executive Director1s dependent on British Land s performance
against specihed performance Measures over 3 [ree-year periog

LTIP award consists of perfermance shares
with performance measures attached

Performance is
measured over
three years

v

The number of performance shares vesting
is dependent on the degree to which the
performance measures have been met

A two-year holding period applies to

Magnitude of Annual incentive award is
dependent on performance against
Annual Incentive measures aver gne year

v v

One third {net of tax} is
used to purchase shares,
which must be held
for three years lAnnual
Incentive Shares)

Two thirds is paid
as cash on award

LTIP awards following vesting

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Fees paid to the Company Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
are set taking into account fees pad at companies of broadly
similar size with the aim of attracting indmiduals with the
appropriate degree of expertise and experience to work with and
chatlenge the Executive Directors
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Fixed remuneration

Operation

|

Maximum apportunity

l Perfarmance conditions

Basic salary
To aliract, motivate and retain latented Exgcutive Directars,

The level of basic salary is sel laking snto account (he scope and
responsibitities of the role and the tevel of remuneration paid at
compantes of breadly similar size.

Basic salanes are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Cemmitiee,
with increasas usually taking effect on 1 April for the subsequent year
Employment canditions and salary increases throughout the Group
are laken into account when basic salaries are reviewed

Changes in the scope of an Executive Director s role may result n a
review of salary

The raxmum level of basic s5alary will not be
greater than the current saiary as increased,
typically i bne waih the markel and generat
salary increases throughout the Group

If an individual 15 appointed at a lower salary,
for example, to reflect inexperience as a listed
company Director, larger increases may be
awarded over luture years as they prove

thewr capabiiy

Nol applicable

Car allowance, benefits and ali-employee share schemes

To prowide & car allowance and set of benelits which sugport the Executive Director and encourages parlicipation in the all-employee share schemes

A car atlowance is paid o Executive Ohrectors in lieu of the provision
of a company <ar
Executve Directors are eligible to receive other taxable and
non-tasable benefits, that may inctude
- private medical insurance {covening the Director and famly]
- life assurance cover
- permanent health insurance
- access lo independent actuanial, bnancial and tegal advice

when necessary
- gym mermbership, subsidised by the Company
- annual medical checks
- relevant professional subscription fees
- other benefits on subsianualty the sarme basis as other employees
Executive Directors are eligible to participate in Britssh Land s Share
incenlive Plan [SiF], Sharesave Scheme and any olher fulure pians
on the same basis as other eligible employees
The Company provides Directors and Officers’ Liabibity Insurance

and may provide an indernmity to the lullest extent permtied by the
Companies Act

The maximum car allawance 1s £20,000
per anpum.

The maximum cost of other taxable and
non-taxable benefds permitted under the Policy
15 the amount required Lo continue providing
benelits at a stmular level year-on-year

The maxmum opportunities under the SIP,
Sharesave Scheme and any subsequent plans
are set by the rules of the schemes and may be
determned by statutory limits

Not applicable

Pension or pension allowance

Te prowide an apprepriaie level of pensian in retirement for Executive Directors

Executive Direclors may receive pension benelits through a
defined conlribution scheme or cash allowance in lieu of pension
coniributions or defined benefit scheme {for Direclors who joined
the scheme before it was closed to new members in 20041

Cash allowances in tieu of pension tontributions would typically be
paid at the same level of salary as Company contrbutions under
the delined contribution arrangement

Accrual rates for Direclors receving benehts through the delined
berefit scherne are determined by the rules of the scheme and are
dependent on the age at which the Director joined the Company
Benefus up to the bmit perrnitied by the tax legistation are provided
in a registered plan Benefits over that imit are currently provided
in an employer financed relirement benefil scheme ([EFRAS)
EFRBS participants are currently offered a choice annually as to
whether they wish to accrue benefitsin the EFRBS or to recene a
cash payment in ey,

Employer pension conlributions to Executive
Directors under the defined contnbution
arrangemenrd and cash alfewances n bieu of
pension are made al a fixed percentage of salary,
between 15% and J0%

Under the defined benefil scheme the target
penelit 15 the pension that can be provided by the
31 March 2012 liietime allowance {£1 Bml, uplifted
by RPI from 31 March 2014

The maximum accrual rate for a delined benehit
scheme member 15 that which witt give the 1argel
benelit at age 40, subject to the accrual rate betng
no grealer than one thirueth and no less than one
sixtieth of salary

Fulure appoiniments will not recewve a
contnibulion greatet than the majority of the
warkiorce |currently 15% of salary] and. unless
already within the dehined benelit scheme, wall not
be able lo participate in it

Not applicable
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Variable remuneration

Qperatian

Maximum opportunity I Perfarmance conditions

Annual Incentive
To reward performance against quantiative and strategic o

Anaual Incentive awards may be granted lo Executwe
Directors each year with the level of award rellecting
quantitative and sirategic aims of the Company
Objectives are sel by the Board and measures set

by ine Remuneration Sommitlee

Awards are granted following the financial year end,
when actual perfgrmance over thal year 5 measured.

A pertion of the Annual Incentive Award 15 paid in cash
and the remaining porsion [net of 1axd 1s used 4o purchase
British Land shares on behalf of the Executive Director
{Annual Incentive Shares)

For the Annual Incentive Award lor the year commencing
1 April 20192, one third of any Award witl be required (o
be used to purchase Annual lncentive Shares

Annual Incentive Shares musi be held for three years
from the date of grant of the Anrual Incentive award
before they may be transferred or sold, regardiess of
whether or not the indwidual remains an employee of
Briish Land throughout this perod. Executive Direclors
are entitled to the dvidends paid in respec! of the Annual
Incentive Shares during the hotding perrad

The Annual 'ncertve 2ward (cash and shares) may be
clawed back during the three-year period following
determmnanon of the award in certam circumstances
These are sel out on page 96

bjectives that are set annualty,
The maximum level The ohjectives are set by the man Board and the measures by the
of Annual Incentive Remuneraiton Commuttee normally at the beginming of the financial
which may be granted | year over which performance will be assessed and following the
1s equivalent to 150% end of the financial year when perflarmance can be determined
of pasic salary The Cammutiee has the distrelion (G adjust the ouliurn (o ensure
it reflects underlying perfermance

Mo more than 25% of any part of the award will be earned for
threshold performance Up to half of the maximum potentiatl award
15 payable for target performance that s n hine with exgectations

Ii the stretch target 1s met the maximum potentiat award will

be earned

No further perlormance condilions are attached to the Annual
Incentive Shares during the holding penod.

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP}

To link the level of reward ta Comparny performance against specified long ierm measures, promoling and rewarding aclivities that support our strategy

and create susiawnable long term value for shareholders
TP 2w =y beg gty by the
Remuneration Commitlee to Executive hrectors Awards
may consist of performance shares [conditisnat nights to
receive shares)

LTIP awards typically vest after three years The
number of performance shares vesting 1s dependent

on the degree to which performance conditions
attached to the LTIP have been met over this three-year
performance petiod The Committee has the discretion
10 adjusi the oulturn 10 ensure It reliects ungerbying
performance A payment equivalent lo the dwvidends
accrued on vesting pertormance shares 15 paid at Lhe
point of vesting in shares or cash

!

On vesting, sulficient performance shares may be sold to
cover any Uiability to income lax and National Insurance
contributions and related costs of sate The remaining
perfarmance shares must be held jor two years {ollawing
vesting before they are permitted to be translerred ar
sold. regardiess of whether or not the individual remamns
an employee of British Land throughout 1his penod

LTIP awards may be forleted and/or clawed back from
the date of grant untit three years alter the determination
of the vesting level of an award i certain circumstances
These are sat out on page %6 I 1lis discovered that an
LTIP award was granied or vested on the basts of
mater:ally missiated accounts or pther data the
Commuttee may require same of all of the perfermance
shares to be larfeited or clawed back during the five-year
perod following the grant date

The 2 The L TP 5 2 sendibens have bean ¢he -]

|using the share price performance that 1s aligned with British Land s strategy

al the ume of award - total property return |TPR] performance 15 assessed relative to an
multiplied by the M50 benchmark, weighted in sector returns al the properly level

number of shares) of

an LTIP award which - tolal accounting return [TAR] is assessed relative 1o a market

may be granted s capitalisation weighled index of the companies within the FTSE 350
equivalent to 300% properly comparues thal use EPRA accounting

of basic salary - iolal sharehotder return [TSR) 1s assessed against both the FTSE
100 and a comparator graup conssuing of the compames within the
FTSE 350 property companies that use EPRA accounting, hoth on
market capitalisation wesghied bases

The relative waighting of the perlormance conditions may be

varied by the Cormnmittee 1o ensure the LTIP besl suppons

Briish Land's sirategy and to meet investor preferences The
Comyruttee currently intends to apply the performance conditions
with the foilowing weighuings 40% of the award will be linked to the
TPR condition, 20% will be inked 10 the TAR condition and 40% wilt
be linked to the TSR conditon split equally between the FTSE and
real eslate benchmarks

TPR performance 15 currently assessed agamnst the MSC| IPO UK
Annuat Property Index The Commiitee may amend the comparator
groups of companies during the performance penad il there is a
corperate event atfectng any member of the group and may
amend Lthe MSC1 benchmark o a dillerent benchmark 1s geemed
mare appropriate

Perforrmance conditions are challenging, requining significant
outperformance for 100% of the LTIP award to vest 20% of the
award will vest1f the minimum performance threshold 15 achieved,
performance below the muinimum threshold for & perfarmance
condition will result sn the LTIP award i respect af that condition
lapsing Pre-defined levels of siretch performance in excess of the
benchmark must be achieved against each performance measure
far the entire award to vest These are | 00% pa for TPR, 2 00% pa {ar
TAR. 3 00% pa lor Real Estate TSR and 5 00% pa for FISE 100 TSR
over the thrae-year period.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINU

ED

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Operatian

{ Maximum gppartunity

‘ Pecformance conditions

Chairman’s fee

To attract and retain an indvidual with the appropriate degree of experhtise and experience.

The Chairman s annual fee is set by the Remuneration Commitiee
and reviewed annually, The {evel of the Chairman’s annual fee

15 ek iaking mio account fees pard at companies of broadly
simdar size

Typically increases, if required, will be
in bne with market

Not applicable

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

To attract and retain Non-Executive Directors with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience

Remuneration of the Non-Executive Qirectors s a matter

for the Executive Directors and Chairman, and fees are reviewed
annually. Mon-Executive Directors recewve an annual fee plus
addiionat lees 1f they are members of 2 Comrmttee, or if they
hold the posuion of Senior Independent Director, Chairman

of a Committee, perform additional rotes or have a greater

time commitment

The Campany's Pelicy 15 1o delver a total fee at a level in line with
simlar positions

The Chairman and members fees for the new CSR Committee
will apply for the full year from 1 April 2019.

The maximum aggregate amount of basic fees
payable (o alt Non-Executwe Tirectors shaii not
axceed the limst set i the Company’s Articles of
Association, which s currently £900,000

Not applicable

Other arrangements for the Chairman and the Non-Execut
To support the Oirectors in the fulfilment of their duties

The Company may resmburse expenses reasohably inCurred by
the Chawman and the Non-Executive Directors in fulfdment of
the Lompany s business. togelher walh any taxes thereen

The Company prowdes the Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors with Direclors” and Officers’ Liability Insurance and

ive Directors

The maximum reimbursement s expenses
reasonably incurred. together with any taxes theraon

The maximum value of the Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance and the Company s indemmty is
the tost at the relevant ime.

Not applicable

may provide an indemnuly io the fullest extent permutiad by the
Companies Act.

Notes to the Remuneration Policy table

Remuneration Policy for other employees
Salary reviews across the Group are carried out on the same basis

as salary reviews for the Executive Directors, consideration is given

to the individual’s role, duties, expenience and performance, along
with consideration of typicai salary levels of employees in ssimilar
roles in comparable companies, where the data is available
Ermployees are entiied to laxable and non-taxable benefits, with
executives being entitted to substantially the same benefits as the
Execunive Directors.

Executives may be granted Long-Term incenive Plan and/or
Restricted Share awards.

Employees joiring the Campany after 2006 are eligible to take part
In a defined contnbution pension arrangement. The Company’s
alli-employee share schemes [the Share Incentive Plan and the
Sharesave Scheme} are also open to eligible employees

Pre-existing obligations and commitments

it 1s a provision of this Policy that the Company ¢an hongur all
pre-existing obligations and commitments that were entered into
priorto this 2019 Remuneraucn Policy tsking stfect The terms of
those pre-existing obligations and commitments may ditter from
the terms of the Remuneration Policy and may include (without
Urnstation) obligations and commiments under service contracis,
long term incentive schemes (including previous Long-Tecm
Incentive Plans), pension and benehit plans.
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Considerations when setting Remuneration Policy
In drawing up the Remuneration Policy, the Commitiee took into
account views expressed by shareholders during meetings and
commuricated to the Company The Company engaged with its
shareholders via consuliabon meelings with investor bodies, and
by wniting to its largest shareholders, offering each a meeling te
discuss remuneration proposals.

Each year the Remuneration Cammuttee takes into account the
pay and employment conditions of employees 10 the Group, noting
the general increase 1n satary proposed for aitl employees and
levels of incentive payments and performance, before setting the
remuneration of the Executive Directors. The Commuittee did not
consull with the Cornpany’s employees when drawing up the
Directors’ Rernuneration Policy



Approach to recruitment remuneration

Executive Directors

Basic salary 15 set at a (evel appropriate to recrust a suitable
candrdate, taking into account external market competitiveness
and internal equity. The level of basic satary may mnitally be

posiioned below the mid-market of the chosen comparater group,

with the intention of increasing it to around the mud-market of the
comparator group after an imitial penod of satisfactory service.

Indnadasis will be abie o receve a contribution to a pernsion plan,
ar cash in tiew thereof, and the Company contribution will not be
greater than the majority of the workforce [currently 15% of sataryl

Where a recruit is lorferting incentive awards granied by fus or her
existing employer, compensation 1n the form of a restricted share
plan [RSP] award or otherwise may be made fin accordance with
Listing Rule 9 4 21, the maximum vatue of whsch wilt be that which
the Cormmuttee, 1n ity reasonable opinion, consrders to be equal to
the value of remuneration forfetted

Vesting of the shares granted and the value of any dividends
will be subject to the Director compteting a minimum period of
quabifying service, so the award will not be released until this
conditron has been satished The vesting of the award may be
subject to additional performance measures bemng met over the
same period The Committee will determine the most retevant
measures to use al the tme of award, bearing i mind the
respons:bitities of the indwidual being appomted and the
Company s strateqgic prioreties at the ime

The Company's Policy s ta give notice periods of no longer than
12 months

Chairman and Naon-Executive Directors

On recrustment, the Chairman wilt be offered an annuat fee in
accordance with the Policy. The level of the annual fee may imtially
be positioned below the mid-market level, with the intention of
increasmyg it 1o arcund the med-market level of the comparator
group after an inttal perod of satisfactory service Non-Executive
Birectors will be offered Non-Executive Directors’ fees n
accordance with the Poticy

Appointment of internal candidates

if an existing employee of the Group is appointed as an Executive
Birector, Chairman ar Non-Executive Direclor, any oblgatian or
comrmiment enlered into with that tndividual prier to his or her
apponiment can be honoured in accordance with the terms of
those cbligations or commutments, even where they differ from
the terms af the Policy

Policy on loss of office

Executive Directors

The Executive Direciors’ service conltracts can be lawfully
terminated by either party giving 12 months’ notice, or by the
Company making a lump sum payment in leu of notice [PILON)
equal to the Executive Uirector s base salary for the notice penod
Additionatly, when the Company makes a PILON, it may either pay
a lump sum equal to the value of any benefits for the notice penod
or continue o provide benefits until the notice period expires ar
the Executive Director starts new employment lwhichever 15 the
earlier), These lawful termination mechanisms do not prevent

the Company, in appropriate circumstances, from terminating

an Executive Director's employment in breach of hus or her
service contract and seeking to apply mitigation i determining
the damages payable Where this 1s achievable in negotiation with
the gutgoing (irector, settlernent arrangements are structured
so that the tlerrinabion payment is paid in instalments and the
instalments are reduced by an amount equal lo any earmings
recewed from the outgoing Director’s new emplaoyment,
consultancy or other pawd work,

For departing Executive Directors and Executive Directors

that have left Briush Land the Committee may agree to

cash commutation of pension benefits under the dekined

benefit scheme including EFRBS benefitst and other pension
grrangements entered into prioe lo the adootion of the 2019
Remuneration Pelicy Any commutation would take tnto accaunt
valuations provided by independent aciuaral advisers so as to be
undertaken on a basis considered by the Comimitiee to be cost
neutral to the Company

The circumsiances of the loss of office dictate whether the
indmwidualis treated as a good {eaver or otherwise, in accordance
with the Company's Policy The Remuneration Commutiee uses its
discreticn to form a view taking into account the circumstances
Good leavers typically receive pro-rata Annual incentive and long
term incentive awards, subject to performance measurement,
and other leavers forfert thewr entrilements Inthe event of 3
change of conitrol the rules of the share plans generally provide
for acceterated vesting of awards, subject {where applicable] to
ume apportionment and achievement of performance targets.
The Chief Executive's contract pre-dates 27 June 7012 but does
not contaun cantractual provisions that could impact on the amount
of any payment for loss of office and which fall outside the Policy.
Detaits of the Executive Directors’ service contracts and notice
periods are given in the table betow-

Length of service Date of service Normal notice permd to

Director: contraci contract be given by ether party
Chris Grigg 12 months 19 12.08 12 months
Simon Carter 12 months  18.0118 12 months
Charles Maudsley 12 months 03 11.09 12 months
Tim Roberis 12 months 14 1108 12 months
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The letters of appaintment of Non-Executive Directors are
subject to renewal on a triennial basis. In accordance with the

UK Corporate Governance Code, ali Directors stand for election
or re-etection by the Company's sharehalders on an annual basis,
The Directors’ senvice contracts and letters of appointment are
available for inspection during normal business hours at the
Company’'s registered office and at the Annual General Mesting.
The unexpired terms of the Chairman s and Non-Executive
Urrectors’ letters of appomiment are shawn betow:

Unexpired term

Date of current of appointment at

Birector: appointment 31 March 2019
John Gildersleeve {Chairman! 01/01/201% 33 months
Lynn Gladden 22/03/2018 28 months
Alastair Hughes 01/01/2018 21 months
Wilblam Jackson 11047217 12 months
Nick Macpherson 19/12/2016 % months

Preben Prebensen 01/09/2017 17 months
Tim Scare 23/03/2017 12 months’
Laura Wade-Gery 13/05/2018 28 months
Rebecca Waorthington 01/01/2018 21 months

1 Tum Score s appointment as Chairman does not take elfect untid the end ol the
AGM bemng held on 19 July 2019

Although the Chairman's and Non-Execulive Qirectors
appointments are for fixed terms, their appomtments may be
terminated immediatety wathout notice «f they are not reappointed
by shareholders or «f they are removed from the Board under the
Company's Articles of Association or f they resign and do not offer
themseives for re~election In addition, their appointments may be
terrrinaied by aitier the mdmdudt o ihe Campany gwing thrae
months’ written notice of termination (or, for the current
Chawrman, six months’ written notice of termination). Despite
these terms of appointment, neither the Chairman nor the
Non-Executive Directors are entitied to any compensation [other
than accrued and unpaid fees and expenses for the period up to
the terminationt for loss of office save that the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors may be entitled, in certain limited
circumstances, such as corporate transaclions, to receive payment
i Lieu of their nottce period where the Company has terminated
their appointment with immedrate effect

Policy on sharcholdings of Executive Directors

The Company has a peticy that Executive Oirectors witl be required
ta buitd and retain 3 level of shareholding in the Company The
application of tus will be contained from time to time in the Annual
Report on Remuneraton and 1s currently 225% of salary for the
CEOQ and 200% of salary for other Executive Directors
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Malus and Clawback

In relation to both Annual incentwe Plan and LTIP awards under
this Policy, matus and clawback provisions will apply in the
following circumstances:

- discovery of a material misstaternent resulting 1n an adjusiment
in the audtted accounts of the Group

- the assessment of any performance condition was based on
error, or inaccurate or musteading nformation

- the discovery that any information used to determine cash
or share awards was based on error, of naccurate or
misleading information

- achion or conduct of a participant which amounts to fraud
or gross rrusconduct

- corporate fadure

- events or the behaviour of a participant have led to the censure
of a Group company by a regulatery authonty or have had a
significant detnimental impact on the reputation of the Group.

Discretion

The Commiltee has discretion in several areas of Policy as set out
in this Report The Remuneration Commuttee may also exercise
operational and administrative discretions under relevant plan
rules approved by shareholders as set outn those rules In
addition, the Committee has discretion to amend the Policy wath
regard to ymunor oF adromistrative matters where it would be, n
the opinion of the Commuttee, disproportionate to seek or await
shareholder approval

In addion, the Comrmuittee retans the discretion to overnde the
formulaic autcomes of incentive schemes The purpose of this
discretion is to ensure that the incentive scheme outcomes are
consistent with overaill Company gerformance and the lung lerm
experience of shareholders



How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during

the year commencing
1 April 2019

The following pages set out how the Committee intends to apply
the Remuneration Policy during the coming year, subject to the
new Policy being approved by shareholders at the 2019 AGM.

Executive Directors’ remuneration Pension and benefits

Basic salaries Chris Grigg has volunteered (o reduce the pension contribution he
recewes from the Company over the corming years As such, for the
year commencing 1 April 2019 his contnibution has been reduced to
30% of satary and this wilt continue to be reduced by 5% of satary per

Basic salanes for qur current Directors have been set at the
followtng levels for the year commmencing 1 Aprit 2119

. Basic satary arnumuntil s at 15% of salary in Lne wath the currentworklores
recian - - c = - - N TN
Chrs Grigg 873,396 level]. Simon Carter will continue to receve a 15% of sa lary pension

contribution Benelits wall continue ta be prowvided in line with the
Ssmon Carter 500,800

policy and include a car allowance, private medical insurance and
substd:sed gym memnbership

Annual incentive awards

The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Oirectors remains at 150% of salary. The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been selected to reflect a range of quantitative and strategic goals that support the Company s key strategic objectves,

The performance measures and weghtings far the year commencing 1 April 20172 will be as follows

Propartion of Annual
Encentive as a percentage

Measure of maximum opportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return retative to IPD [sector weighted)
0% payout for 25bp below {PD nising te 100% payout for 125bp outperformance of IPD 30%
Prolit growth relative to budget
0% payout for 1% below budget nising to 1060% payout for 4% outperformance of budget 0%
Development profit relative to budget
0% payout for 1% below budget rising to 100% payout for 4% outperformance of budget 10%
Strategic measures 30%
Customer Orientation
Right Places

Capital Efficiency
Expert People

The delailed targets that the Committee has agreed are considered o be commercially sensitive and as such the specific targets for the
guarniitative measures for the coming year witt be disclosed in the 2020 Remuneration Repart In assessing how the Executive Directors
performed during the year commencing T April 2019, the Commuttee will take inte account ther performance against atl of the measures
and make an assessmenlt in the round to ensure that perforrmance warrants the tevel of award deterrmuned by the able above

As disclosed previously. the Cornmittee agreed that tor Annual Incentive awards, the sectar weighted IPD March Annual Universe benchmark
{which includes sales, acquisitions and developments and so takes nto account aclive asset management as well as @ more representative
peer group) would be most suitable. However, due to tring of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company s actuat
perfarmance against IPD metrics 15 untikely to be known when the 2020 Annual Report 15 approved by the Board The 2020 Remuneration
Report wall therefore include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Incentive awards for that financial year. with the actual awards based
on the final IPD March Annuat Universe Dala, set out in the {otlowing Annuat Report [for the year ending 31 March 2021}

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 97



DiRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Long term incentive awards

An LTIP awgard of 250% of salary will be granted to Executive Directors during the year commencing 1 Apnil 2019

The performance measures that apply to this LTiP award will be as follows

Measure Link to strategy Measured reiative to Weighting
Total Property Return (TPR) The TPR measure is designed to ink TPR performance will be assessed  40%
The change n capnal value, less reward to strong performance at the against the performance of an IPD

any capital expenditure incurred, gross property level sector weighted benchmark

plus netincome TPR s expressed a5

a percentage of capital employed over

the LTIP performance period and is

calculated by IPD.

Total Accounting Return [TAR) The TAR measure i1s designed 1o link TAR will be measured relatve toa 20%
The growth in British Land’s EPRA reward lo performance at the net property market capitalisation weighted index

NAV per share plus dividends per share  level that takes account of geaning and our of the FTSE 350 property companies

paid over the LTIP performance period.  distnibubions to shareholders that use EPRA accounting

Total Sharehotder Return TSR] The TSR measure ts desgned to Half of the TSR measure will 40%
The growth in vaiue of a British Land directly correlate reward with the be measured relatwe to the

shareholding over the LTIP performance return delivered to shareholders
period, assuming dividends are reinvested
to purchase additional shares.

performance of the FTSE 100

and the other half wilt be measured
relative to 2 market capitalisation
weighted index of the FTSE 350
property companies that use

EPRA accounting.

Performance against the LTIP measures will be assessed over a period of three years if perfermance against 3 measure 1s equal ta
the index, 20% of the proportion attached to that measure will vest and if performance s below index the proportion attached to that
measure will iapse 100% of the proportion of each element of award attached to each measure will vest if Bnitish Land’s performance
15 at 3 stretch level. Those stretch levels are TPR 1.00% pa, TAR 2.00% pa, TSR [Real Estate) 3.00% pa and TSR IFTSE 100 500% p a
There wall be siraght-ine vesiing between index and stretch performance for each measure.

The Commuttee retams the discretion to override the formulaic outcomes of incentive schemes The purpose of this discretion 1s to
ensure that the incentive scheme outcomes are consistent with overall Company performance and the experience of shareholders

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

Fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are positoned around the mid-market wath the aim of attracting individuals
with the appropriate degree of expertise and experieace. The fee structure set out below incorporates a 2 4% increase to the annual fee
for the Non-Executive Direclors for the year commencing 1 Aprit 2019 Upon appointment as Chairman of the Company at the 2019 AGM,

Tirn Score witl receve £375.000 p.a.

Chairman's annual fee £375.000
Nan-Executive Director's annuat fee £64,000
Senior Independent Direclor’s annual fee £10,000
Audit or Remuneration Cammuttee Chairman’s annual fee £20,000
Audit or Remuneration Commitiee member's annuat fee £8,000
CSR Commuttee Chairman s annual fee £14,000
Nomination or CSR Commuittee member’s annual fee £5,000

1 For the new Chairman from 19 July 2019 The current Chairman s fee remains at £385.000
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How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2019

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors’
Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
the remuneration received by each of the Directors.

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The foltowing tables detad all elements of remuneration recewable by British Land’'s Executive Directors in respect of the year ended
31 March 2019 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2018

Qther dems in Pension or
the nature of pension Annual Lang term

Salaryfiees  Taxable benelits remuneration all nce ives' incentives Total
e 2019 2019 2019 209 2019 2019
Executive Directors. L0600 €080 €000 £000 €000 €000 £Q00
Chns Grigg 857 21 15 300 460 324 1,977
Simon Carter (from May 2018} 421 18 599 53 238 - 1,329
Charles Maudsiey 455 21 12 48 251 158 §64
Tirn Reberts 457 21 12 98 251 154 9291

1 2019 Annuat Incentive outcomes are subject to the publication of final IPD results
w8 0 mis w8 2018 20t8 w18
Chris Grigg 840 2 15 294 792 316 2,279
Charles Maudsley 446 22 12 &7 406 148 1,101
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 89 416 157 1,145

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxabie benefits include car allowance [between £14,495 and £16,880], private medical insurance and subsidised gym
membership The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the figures included above are the grossed up
values.

Other items in the nature of remuneration: include life assurance, permanent health insurance, annual med:ical check-ups, professional
subscriptions, the value of shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any notionat gain on exercise for Sharesave
options that matured during the year. As disclosed last year, to replace deferred payments forfeited on josining Briish Land. Simon Carter
was condiionaily awarded £675,000 of shares {84,196 shares] which have to be held for ai least a year, with a value of £592.684

Pensions: Chris Grigg and Charles Maudstey de not participate in any British Land pension plan Instead they recewve cash allowances, in
lieu of pension Tim Roberts 1s a member of the British L_and Defined Benefit Pension Scherme. Simon Carter 1s a member of the Defined
Contribution Scheme and utifises his Annual Pensicn Allowance of £10,000 per anaum, the remaining amount of his pensien 15 paid o lum
in cash, for hirn to make his own arrangements for retirement. Simon Carter 15 also a deferred member of the British Land Defined Benefit
Pension Scheme The table below detads the defined benefit pensions accrued at 31 March 2019

Defined benefit

pension accrued al Normai

31 March 2019 retirement

Executive Director €000 age
Tim Roberts 98 60
Simon Carter 37 &0

i The accrued pension 1s based on service 1o the year end

There are no additional beneiits that will become recewable by a Director in the event that a Director reures early
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Annual Incentives FY19

The level of Annual Incentive award (s determined by the Commuttee based on Bnitish Land's performance and Executive Qirectors’
performance against quantitative and strategic targets during the year For the year ended 31 Mareh 2019 the Committee’s assessment
and outcomes are set out below. This year, part of the individual element has been allocated across some of the strategic objectives and
al{ etements have been scored separately Quantitauve measures are a direct assessment of the Cornpany s tinancial performance and in
the very long term husiness we operate are a reflection of many of the decisions taken in priar years. The delvery of strategic objectives
positions the tuture performance of the business so payouts under this part of the Annual Incentive Plan will net necessarily correlate with
payouts under the quantitative measures in any year.

Guantitative measure

Weighting

Range of periormance betweesn 25% and 100%

50% pay-ou
{performance
n line with
expeciations)

5%
payaut

100% payout Ina
ncreased pay-out

atove s maximurn

pay-oul pant

Final Finat
outcoms outcome
1% of max} [% of salaryi

Performanta achievaé against
target range

Total property
relurns vs (PD

2% P

0% 0%

Target range of maiching
sector weighted index to
outperforming it by 1%.

TPR of -1%, underperforming
agamnst the estimated
threshold of weighled 1PD
ingex by 1 9%

Profit

28%

176% 17.464%

Target range of matching
the budget target to
cutperfarming it by 3.5%.
Prohit actuevement of £340m

Weghting

70%

Sub-toat

PIL78% 17 66%!

t Simon Carter recewes
15 23% of satary far thws
element [pro-rala of 122 5%

Note The above chart is a forecast of the 2019 TPR outcames which will depend on performance against IPD figures that will only became
avalabie atter the publication of this report and as such, represent an estimate of the final figures

Final Funal
Performance Sutcome utcome
Strategic objective Measure Weighting  acheved {% of max) {% of salary}
CHRIS GRIGG
Individual Delver Corporate 3% Corporate Scorecard delwered 39
objectve Scorecard ° °
Right Places Planning approval [ Planning approval at Canada 7%
at Canada Waler Water on track i
Customer Simplily British Brand hiecarchy developed and
erientation Land s brand 5% pmplemented 4%
hierarchy
Capial Efficiency  Deliver Capdtal Overall Capital Plan delvered
Plan
Selt Broadgate 10% |Broadgate Estates third party 8% 24%  36.00%
Eslales Thurd business sold successhuily
Parly Business
Experl People Embed our new New Values. Bring your Whole
Values Sell. Be Smarter Together,
Listen & Understand, Build for
the Future
7% 6%

Reduce Gender
Pay Gap |April 19
snapshol data)

Gender Pay Gap median
reduction of 5 7% as at
S Aprit 2019 and significant

progress on inclusive culfure
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Finat Finat
sutcame autcome
Siratlegic objective Measure Weighting Performance achieved 1% of max]  [% of salary)
SIMON CARTER
Indnaduat objective  Execute Investor Relations 3% |lInvestar Relations programme delvered 3%
Pregramme
Right Places Improved management 5% IManagement information project 4%
wlormation to optimise successiully delivered
naw operational businesses
Customer Drwe Financial Systems h% 1Systermns project progressing 4% 29 AN
y 3¥ U
Orientation Enhancements Project successiully [bel
Caputal Efficiency Detver Capital Plan Overall Capital Plan delivered € 2;9
26% ratlngfor
Rehnance Requiremenis 10% |Refinance Delivered £i 4bn % part
Maintasned yearf'
Expert People Embed our naw Yalues New Values: Bring your Whote Self, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Undersiand.
7% Buitd for the Future 4%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
{April 19 snapshot datal 5 7% as at 5 Aprit 2019 and sigmficant
progress on inclusive cuifure
TIM RCBERTS
[ndwdual objectve  Diversefy Offwces inceme 6% |Offices income dwersification plan 5%
achieved
Right Places Expand Storey 9% [Starey expanding successiully Storey 4%
Clubspace open at 4KS
Custamer Broaden Oilws oifer Qe olfer braadened successiufly
Crieniation
Oeliver Marketing £% |SMART launched at 100 Lverpast St 1%,
Advantage from Smart
Campus/Buildings 24% 36.00%
Capilat Efficiency Deliver Capital Plan 4% [Qutperformance on Office Capital Plan 6%
Expert People Embed our new Values New Vatues Bring your Whole Seli, Be
Srmarier Togelher, Lislen & Undérsiand,
7% Build for the Future 4%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
lapnil 19 snapshot datal 5 7% as at 5 April 2019 and sigmificant
progress an mnclusive cullure
CHARLES MAUDSLEY
Individual objective  Design and execule Build to 4% |[Strategy designed and commenced 2%
Rent strategy
Right Places Deliver Retail insights plan 5% iProgramme mplemented and rolled out 3%
Customer Delwver Leasing offer 5% |Leasing offer delvered 5%
QOrientation
Capital Ptan Deliver Capital Ptan 9%, |Retait Capital ptan delivered
P MR ° ek . 2% 3450%
Proactwely manage CVAs CVAs successlully managed 7%
Expert Peaple Embed our new Yalues New Values Bring your Whole Sell, Be
Smarler Together, Listen & Undersiand,
7% Buid for the Future 4%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
|April 19 snapshot data) 5 7% as at 5 Apnit 2019 and signhicant
progress an aclusive culture
Weighting 30%
Fmal Fural
gUtcTe outcome
Tolat bonus payout 1% of max}  |% of salaryl
Chris Grigg 35 76% 53 64%
Simon Carter 3778% 48 88%
Tim Roberts? 36 76% 55 14%
Charles Maudsley? 36 76% 55 14%

2018 comparative: In May 2018, the Commiitee confirmed that the outperformance of TPR compared to the IPD benchmark was 46 bps

rather than the estimate of 20 bps made for the purposes of the single total hgure of remuneration table in the 2018 Annual Report

Consequently, the actual annual incentive amounts paid increased and are slated in therr revised amaunts i this year's table st page VY.

1 Simon Carter joined Brish Land on 21 May 2018 and as such his maxmum bonus opportunity of 156% of salary has been pro-rated to reftect ime served and s

therefore 129 5% of salary for the year ended 31 March 2019

7 Includes an addiional 1 5% of satary for Tim Roberts and 3% of salary for Charles Maudsley in line with the remuneration terms agreed
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Long term incentives

The information in the long term incentives column in the single total figure of remuneration table (see page 99) relates to vesting of
awards granted under the fotlowing schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivalent payments on those awards

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Oirectors on 22 June 2016, and which will vest on 22 June 2019, were subject to two equally weighted
performance condions over the three-year period to 31 March 2019. The first measured British Land’s TPR relative to the funds i the
December iPD UK Annual Property fndex {the index], while the second measured TAR ralatwve to a comparater group of British Land and
16 or so other property companies.

The TPR elernent is expected to lapse, based on British Land's adjusied TPR of 3% per annum when compared to the fundsin the Index
The TAR element is also expected 1o lapse based on British Land’s TAR aof 8 2%, The actual vesting of the TPR and TAR elements can only
be calculated once results have been published by iPD and all the comparnies within the comparator group respectively. The actual
percentage vesting will be canfirmed by the Cornrutiee 1 due course and detaits prowided in the 2020 Remuneration Report.

lntrease invatua as a
resuit of share price

Estimated value of

Performance Number of perfarmance award on vesting  equivalent and interest grant and vesting
Executive Birector shares or options shares/options awarded £000 €000 £000
Chris Grigg Performance shares 229979 0 g 0
Charles Maudstley Pecformance shares 122,174 g 0 0
Tim Roberts Performance shares 61,088 g 0 Q
Market vaiue options 244 353 U 0 a

2018 comparative: As set out in the 2018 Annual Report, the 2015 LTIP awards tapsed in full on 22 June 2018 as expected

Matching Share Plan

The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted on 29 June 2016 were i} TSR relatve to a comparator group of
8nitish Land and 16 other property companies and lil Briish Land’s gross income growth [GIG] relative to the IPD Quarterly Universe
(the Universe) These performance conditions are equally weighted The MSP Matching awards will vest on 29 June 2019

Karn Ferry has conftrmed that the TSR etement of the award will lapse as British Land s TSR periormance over the period was -5.1%
compared to a median of .5% for the camparator group The GIG element 1s expected to vest at 100% as Britsh Land’s annualised GIiG
over the penod of 3 4% 15 expected to exceed the expected growth of the Universe by more than the upper hurdle As a result, 50% of the
MSP Matching awards granted in June 2016 are expected to vest

Estimated value of Estimated dividend

Number of Matching award on vesting equivalent

Executive Directar Shares awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg 96,718 280 43
Chartes Maudsley 47,206 137 21
Tim Roberts 46,096 133 21

2018 comparative: In June 2018, the Camemttee confirmed that the 2015 MSP Malching awards would vest as to 50% on the vesting
date [being 29 June 2018}. The lang term incentive figures 1n the 2018 comparatwes of the single total figure of remuneration table have
therefore been updated to reflect the actual share price on vesting [670.6768 pencel rather than the average for the 90-day period used
tn the 2018 Annuat Repart of 653.26 pence.

Share scheme interests awarded during the yvear (audited)

Long-Term Incentive Plan
The total value af each Executive Director’s LTIP award for the year ended 31 March 2019 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant.

At grant each Director was able to indicate a preference as to the proportion of the award that they wish to receive as either performance
shares or market value options The share price used to determine the face value of performance shares and the fair value of options, and
thereby the number of performance shares or options awarded, Is the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the day

ol award For the award granted in fune 2018, no Executive Director elected {o receve market value options and the share price for
determining the number of performance shares awarded was 682.20 pence  The performance conditions attached to these awards are set
out in the Remuneration Policy approved by sharehotders in July 20616 and summarised on page 98
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Performance shares
Percentage vesting on

Number of End of achievement of minimum

performance Face value performance perfarmance threshald

Executive Birector Grant date shares granted Coog period Vesting date %
Chris Grigg 26/06/18 313,984 2,142 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Simen Carter 26/06/18 177,733 1,213 310321 26/06/21 20
Charles Maugsley 26/06/18 166,804 1,138 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Tim Roberts 26/06/18 166 804 1,138 31/03/21 26/06/21 20

Directors’ shareholdings and share interests (andited)

Directors’ shareholdings at 31 March 2019
The following table shows the Executive Girectors interests in fully paid ordinary British Land shares, inctuding shares held by connected
persons, MSP Bonus Shares, Annual Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan All mnterests are Genaficial

Holding at 31 March Z019

[or date of géepaniure from Malding at
Director the Beard, i eartier) 31 March 218
Chris Grigg 1,320,436 1,297.818
Simon Carter §34,185* -
Charles Maudsley 262,557 251,194
Tim Roberts 266,583 265,748

* includes 86,196 shares awarded shortly after joining to replace deferred payments forfeiied at hus previous emptoyer

Shareholding guidelines

The shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors have been reviewed by the Comruttee and have been increased for the year
commancing 1 Agprit 2079 15 200% for Fxecutive Diractors other than the Chief Exezulve whose aundeline remaing 275% of salary In
addition, Executive Directors witt normally be required to retain shares equal to the tevel of this guidetine {or if they have not reached the
guideline, the shares that count at that umel for the two years foliowang their depariuce. There is no set imescate for Executive Direclors
to reach the prescribed guideline but they are expected to retain net shares received on the vesting of long term incentve awards until the
target 1s achieved Shares that count towards the holding guideline are unfetiered and beneficially owned by the Executive Directars and
their connected persons, deferred annual incentve shares, MSP Bonus Shares, locked-in SIP shares and all vested awards count towards
the requirement on a net of tax basis. Alt other awards that are still the subject of a performance assessment do not count

The guideline shareholdings tor the year ending 31 March 2019 are shown below

Unfettered

holding as Total holding as
percentage of a percentage
Guideline as Untettered basic salary at Total of basic salary at
percenlage of Gudeline holding al 31 March 2019 shareholding at 31 March 2019
Executive Directar basic salary holding! 31 March 2017 1%} 31 March 2019 (%)
Chris Grigg 225% 3273 1,258,701 865 1,320,436 208
Simon Carter 150% 123514 47779 58 134,185 163

*expected as al

30 June 2019
Charles Maudsley 150% 115,919 229.037 296 262.557 340
Tim Roberts 150% 115919 231,904 300 266,583 345

1 Cateulated on a share price of 589 pence on 29 March 2019
2 See Dweclors shareholdings table above which include MSP Bonus Shares and all shares held in the SIP

Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end
The Executive Direciors have purchased or been granted the foltowing fully paid ordinary Britsh Land shares under the terms of the
partnership, matching and divdend elements of the Share Incentive Plan

Date of purchase
Executive lirector or award Purchase price Partnership shares Matching shares Dvidend shares
Chris Grigg 15/04/19 608.40p 25 50
03/0519 400 50p 147
14/05/19 564 01p 27 54
Simgn Carter 15/04/19 608 4Gp 24 48
03/05/19 600.50p 4
14/05/19 564 01p 27 54

Other than as set gut above. there have been ne further changes since 31 March 2019
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Unvested share awards

Number Subject i End of

outstanding at perfarmance perfarmance
Executive Director Oate of grant 3 March 2019 measures perind Vesting date
Chnis Grigg LTIP performance shares' 22/06/16 229.979 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP periormance shares 28/06/17 340,284 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 313,984 Yes 3/03/21 26/06/21
MSP Maiching Shares! 29/06/16 96,718 Yes 31/03119 29/06/19
Simon Carter LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 177,733 Yes 31/03/23 26/06/21
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares' 22/06/16 122176 Yes 31/03/1% 22/06/19
LTIP pertormance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 166,804 Yes 3103721 26106121
MSP Matching Shares' 29/06/16 47.206 Yes 31/03/1% 29/06/19
Tim Roberts LTIP performance shares! 22/06/16 51,088 Yes 310319 22/06119
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/04120
LYIP performance shares 26106118 166,804 Yes 3103/ 26/08/21
MSP Matching Shares! 2%9/06/16 46,056 Yes 31/03/19 2%/06/19

1 The LTI# ond MSP awards granted in June 2016 are also inciuded withun the 2019 Long term incentives column of the single total kgure of remuneranon table
on page 97. The degree to which performance measures have been or are expected to be achieved, and the resultant proportions of the awards expected (o vest, are
detatled on page 102

Unvested option awards [not available to be exercised)

Number Subjectto End of

outstanding at QOation price performance performance Date becomes
Execurve Diractor Gate of grant 31 March 219 pence measures period exercisable Exercisable untit
Tim Roberts Sharesave optians 2308414 3,135 57410 No na 01/09/19 29/02/28
LTiP options 22/06014 244,353 7305 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19 22/056/26

Vested aption awards [available to be exercised)
Numb:

oulslan:::gei: Option price
Exguine Dirsdler Dalzafgrant 2 Mgh 2278 genss  DasrizadlEentd
Chris Grigg LTIP options 11/06/10 1,073,825 447 11/06/20
LTIP aptions 28/06M 695,652 575 28/06/21
LTIP options 14/09/12 743.694 538 14/09/22

Options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2019

Market price on

Number Option price Date became date of exercise
Executive Director Qate of gramt exercised pence exercisatiie Dale exercrsed pence
Tim Roberts  Sharesave options 19/06/13 2,348 511 08 01/09/18 03/09/18 623 60 20

Payments to past Directors and for loss of office (audited)

As disclosed in the 2018 Direciors’ Remuneration Report, in October 2017 Lucinda Bell mformed the Board of her intention to stand down
from the Board, and following the completian of the search for her replacement, stood down from the Board on 19 January 2018 and {eht
the Company on 4 Aprit 2018 The treatment of her remuneration arrangements upon leaving the Company were disclosed in full on page
86 of the 2018 Annual Report. During the year ending 31 March 2019 Briush Land has theretore made the {ollowing payments in line with
the treatment disclosed

- A paymentin bieu of notice for the period from when she left the company to the end of her noltce period totalling £309.895.

- A payrment of £27,494 in beu of untaken holiday and £100 in respect of accepbing the terms an leaving

- The bonus 1n respect of the year ending 31 March 2018 which totalled £457,702 of which one-third was used to purchase shares which
must be hetd for 3years Foltowing the publication of the final TPR benchmark, the total bonus payout to Lucinda was revised from the
estimate disclosed in the 2018 Report to ¢ 93% of salary.

~ The vesting of the 2016 M5P award which vested at 30% of maximurm and had a value of £151,723,

On 21 January 2019 we announced that Tim Roberts and Charles Maudsley would be standing down Irom the Board of the Brihsh Land
Company PLC [the Company) on 31 March 2019. Charles Maudsley ceased to be a Director of the Company and left the Company on

31 March 2019. Tim Raberts ceased to be a Director of the Company on 31 March 2019 and wilt remain an employee untit 31 Juty 2019

He will continue to be employed on his existing terms until his planned departure date of 31 July 2019 During this period, he will continue
to receive his salary and employment benefits in full He will also be eligible for 3 bonus on a pro-rated basis whilst actively employed

Foltowing ceasing employment each will receive monthly payments in lieu of notice tor the remainder of ther 12 months’ noitce periods
lto 2% Jonuary 2020,
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(i} Tim Roberts

The total amount payable for the period fallowing ceasing employment for the remainder of the notice penod comprises base salary and
car allowance of £224,696, pension contributions/allowance of £43,381 and the value of other benefits of £1,946 These payments rmay be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employment secured during the period untd 21 January 2020

Tim Roberts was also eligible for an annual bonus for the 2018/19 financizl year. Tus bonus has been estimated to be £250,983 and 15
included in the table on page 99 1n line with the terms of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, twe-thirds of any annual bonus will be paid
i cash and one-third will be used to purchase British Land shares which must be held for a period of three years

Tirn Raberts will be treated as a2 "good leaver” under the Company's Long Term [ncentive Plan and Matching Share Plan Consequently,

awards uncluding the valve of any dvidend equivalents] witl centinue to vest on the nermal vesting dates subjeci 1o the extent 1o which

the applicable performance criteria have been met and where relevant any ime prorating reduction that the Remuneration Commuitee
may apply:

1 A maxanum of 61,088 Performance Shares and 244,353 oplicns {with an exercise price of 730.5p per share) may vest under the 20156
LTIRP awards and 44,054 shares under the 2016 MSP awards, The 2014 LTiP awards are expected to lapse as {he expectation 15 that the
mininum performance targets will not be met.

2. A maximum of 180,765 Performance Shares may vest under the 2017 LTIP awards.

3. Amaximum of 166,804 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 LTIP awards.

Tim Roberts will not be eligible to recewe further LTIP awards and, on ceasing o be employed, will cease Lo participate in the Company s
all-employee share plans.

A contribution towards legal fees has been made of £10,0600 plus VAT

(ii) Chartes Maudsley

The total amount payable for the penod following ceasing employement for the remainder of the notice perod comprises base satary and
car altowance of £382,471 nension contributions/allowance of £55,349 and the value of other benefits of £3.310 These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employment secured during the pertad untl 21 January 2020,

Chartes Maudsley was aise eligible for an annual bonus for the 2018/19 financial year This bonus has been est:mated to be £250,983 and

is included in the table on page 99 In Line with the terms of the Directers’ Remuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annuat bonus will be paid
i cash and one-third will be used to purchase British Land shares which must be hetd for a period of three years

Charies Maudsley has been treated as a ‘good leaver’ under the Company s Long-Term Incentive Plan and Matching Share Plan
Consequeniy. awards (ntiuding ihe vaiue of 2ny dividend equivaienisi will contmue [0 vest on the normat vesiing daies subject ta the
extent to which the applicsble performance crilerta have been met These awards have been reduced by the relevant time pro-rating
reduchons that the Remuneration Commutiee has applied of 8% for the 2016 awards, 42% for the 2017 LTIP awards and 75% for the 2018
LTIP awards

1 Amaxamum of 111,994 Performance Shares may vest under the 2016 LT!P awards and 43,272 shares under the 2016 MSP awards
The 2016 LTIP awards are expected to lapse as the expectation 1s that the mmimum performance targets witl nat be met

2 Amaximum of 105,446 Performance Shares may vest under the 2017 LTIP awards.
3. Amaximum of 41 701 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 LTIP awards.

Other disclosures

Service cantracts
All Executive Directors have roiting service contracts with the Company which have notice periods of 12 months on erther side

Normal notice penod Normal natice period
Director Date of service contract to ke given by Company to be given by Director
Chns Grigg 19/12/2008 12 months 12 months
Simon Carter 18/01/2018 12 months 12 months

In accordance with the Code, all continuing Directars stand for election or re-election by the Company s shareholders on an annual basis
The Directors’ service contracts are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Company s registered office and at the
Annual General Meeting The Company may terminate an Executive Direclor’s appointment with immediate effect without notice or
payment in tieu of notice under certain circumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director’s service contract
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up one non-executive directorshup at another FTSE company, subject to British Land Board approvai.

Chris Grigg was appointed a non-executive director of BAE Systems plc on 1 July 2013 Dunng the year to 31 March 2019, Chris recewed
a fee of £92,640 (including £12,640 of overseas travef aflowances and benefits deemed o be taxablel from BAE Systemns ple, which he
retaimed in futl (2018: £85,845]

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent on rermuneraiion of all emptoyees including Executive Directors] retative to the amount spent
on distributions ta shareholders for the years to 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 The remuneration of employees decreased by 5 88%
relative to the prior year As a result of the share buyback, the totai cost of distributions ta sharehoiders decreased by 1% despite a 3%
increase 1 dividends per share Distributions 1o shareholders inciude ordinary and, where offered, scrip divdends No scrip alternative was
offered during the year ended 31 March 2019

Relative importance of spend on pay

Total shareholder return and Chief Executive’s remuneration

The graph betow shows Britesh Land s total shareholder return for the 10 years from 1 Aprd 2009 to 31 March 2019 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate investment Trusts [REIT) Totat Return Index for the same pertod The graph shows how the total return on a £100 investment
in the Company made on 1 April 2009 would have changed over the 10-year period, compared with the total return on a £100 invesiment in
the FTSE REIT Total Return Index. The FTSE REIT Total Return Index has been selected as a switable comparator because itis the indexn
which Bntish LLand’s shares are classified

Total shareholder return
400

300 \ ]
== Rl

200 7@7/

100

01 April 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 Masch 3i March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2005 2016 2017 2018 2019

— The Britsh Land Cornpany PLC — FTSE All-Share REIT's Seclor

The base point required by the regulations governing Remuneration Report disclosures was close to the bottom of the property cycle at
1 Aprit 2009. Since British Land s share price had not fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that time,
a higher base point for subsequent growth was set.

The table below sets out the tatal remuneration af Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, aver the same period as the Total Shareholder Return
graph The guantum of Annual Incentive awards granted each year and long {erm incentive veshing rates are given as a percentage of the
maximum opportunity avaitable.

Chiet Executive 200910 201013 201112 201213 200014 20015 201516 201817 201718 201819
Chief Executive’s single totat figure of

remuneration (€000 2082 2329 5353 4810 5398 4551 3623 1938 2279 1977
Annual Incentive awards against

maximum opportunity (%) 67 83 75 75 90 96 67 33 63 35
Long term incentive awards vesting rate

against maximurm opportunity (%] na na 99 63 98 93 54 15 16 15
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CEQ pay ratio

Whulst the new CEQ pay ratio regulations do net techaically apply to the Company until the 2020 Directors’ Remuneration Report,

we have prepared and voluntarity disclosed the ratio for 2017/18 and 2018/1% in ine with the regulations The ratios are set out 1n the
table below In calcutating this information we have used the gender pay gap data calculated for each employee to provide consistency.
The table below shows that the ratig has fatlen since 2017/18. This fall 15 predorminantly due to the lower level of the CED single figure
father than movements In employee pay The Committee Chairman has prowided an explanation of the relationship betweer reward and
performance on page 88.

CEQ pay ratio 2017/18 2018/19
Method B B
CEQ Single figure 2,279 1,976
Upper guartile 23 1 161
Median 3% 1 271
Lower quartile 50.1 401

The salary and total pay far the individuals identified at the Lower quartle, Median and Upper guartite positions in 2018/17 are set
out below:

2118/19 CEO pay ratic Salary Total pay
Upper quartite £65,0060 £124,266
Median £50.000 £74,225
Lower quartle £48.000 £49,760

Chief Executive’'s remuneratioh compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chef Executive’'s remuneration retative ta the previous
financial year and the average percentage changes in those elements of remuneration for employees.

Value af Chief Executive ¥alue of Chief Executive Change in Chref Executive Avarage change ih remuneration
Remuneration element remuneration 2019 £0€0 cemuneration 2018 €080 remuneration % of Gritish Land emplayees %
Salary 857 840 200 5460
Taxable benefus 21 22 -510 -032
Annual Incentive 460 792 -41 94 -4 53

Mon-Executive Direciors’ remuneration {auditedj
The tabte below shows the lees paid to our Non-Executive Directors for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018

Fees Taxable benefes* Tousl

019 2018 2019 208 2019 2018
Charman and Non-Executive Directors £008 £000 €000 EO00 £000 £000
John Gildersieeve [Chairman) 385 369 &4 43 L4L9 412
Lynn Gladden 71 59 - 1 72 70
Alastair Hughes ffrom 1 January 2018) 73 17 - - 73 17
Wiliam Jacksan 105 100 - - 105 100
Nicholas Macpherson Va2 59 - - 71 &9
Preben Prebensen {from 1 Septemper 2017 71 40 - - rA 40
Tim Score 95 23 - - 95 93
Laura Wade-Gery ral 69 1 1 72 70
Rebecca Worthinglon {from 1 Janyary 2018 73 17 1 - 74 17

1 Taxable benefils tnciude the Charman's chauffeur cost and expenses incurred by other Nan-Executive Dwecters The Company provides the tax gross up on these
benehts and the hgures shown above are Lhe grossed up values
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Sharcholding (audited)

Although there are no shareholding guidetines for Non-Executive Directors, they are each encouraged to hald shares in Briish Land The
Company facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability ta purchase shares quarterly using their post-tax fees Ouring the
year ended 31 March 2019, Lynn Gladden. William Jackson, Tim Score and Laurs Wade-Gery have each received shares in full or part
satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directors’ tees.

The tabie below shaws the Non-Executive Directors’ shareholdings, including shares held by connected persons, as at year end or the date
of retirement from the Board i earlier:

Holding at Hotding at
Direcior A1 March 201% 3t March 2018
John Gildersleeve 5,220 5,220
Lyan Gladden 18,33¢ 13,956
Alastair Hughes 7,274 7.274
Witliam Jackson 135,115 128,323
MNicholas Macpherson 5,600 4,600
Preben Prebensen 20,000 -
Tim Score 43,899 34,134
Laura Wade-Gery 9,585 8.059
Rebecca Worthington 3,000 3.000

In addition, on § April 2019, the following Non-Executive Directors were allotted shares at a price of 599 20688 pence per share in full or
part satisfaction of their fees-

Non-Executive Drrector Shares aliatteg
Wilham Jackson 2,310
Tim Scere 2,286

Other than as set out above, there have been no lurther changes since 31 March 2019

Letters of appointment (audited)

All Nan-Executive Oirectors have a letter of appeintment with the Company. The effective dates of appaintment are shown below
Director Eftectiva date of appoimtment

John Gilderstaeve [Chairman]

Lynn Gladden 22 March 2018
Alastair Hughes 1 Janvary 2018
Willlam Jacksen 11 April 2017

Nicholas Macpherson 19 December 2016
Preben Prebensen 1 Septernber 2017
Tim Score 23 March 2017
Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2018
Rebecca Worthington 1 January 2018

All continuing Non-Executive Directors stand for election or re-election on an annual basis The lelters of appointment are available for
inspection during normal business hours at the Company's registered office and at the AGM

The appomtment of the Chairman or any Non-Execuive Directors may be terminated immediately without notice if they are not reappainted
by shareholders or If they are rernoved from the Board under the Campany’s Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-eleclion. In addition, appointments may be terminated by either the indmidual or the Company giving three months’
written notice of termination or, for the current Chairman, six months’ writlen notice of terrmination

Remuneration Committee membership
There was na change o the Commuttee memberstup during the year to 31 March.

As at 31 March 2019, and throughout the year under review, the Commitiee was comprised wholly of independent Non-Executive Girectors
The members of the Commuttee, together with altendance at Committee meetings, are set oul in the table betow:

OCate of appointment

Diractar Pogition {to the Committee] Aftendance
William Jackson Chairman 14 January 2013 7/7
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 i
Preben Prebensen Member 1 September 2017 izl
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 i
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, Committee meetings were also part atlended by John Gildersieeve [Cormpany Chairman),

Chris Grigg [Chief Executive), Siman Carter [Chuef Financial Officert, Charles Maudsley [Executive Directorl, Bruce James (Head of
Secretariat), Brona McKeown [General Counset and Company Secretaryl, Ann Henshaw [HR Director| and Ketly Barry [Head of Reward}
ather than fer any item relating to their own remuneration A representative from Korn Ferry also routinely attends Commuittee meetings

The Committee Chairman halds regular meetings with the Chairman, Chief Executive and HR Director to discuss alt aspects of
remuneration within 8ribish Land. He also meets the Commuttee’s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each
substantive meeting 1o discuss matters of governance, Remuneration Policy and any concerns they may have.

How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year
The Commuittee’s rote and responsibilittes have remained unchanged during the year and are set cui in full i its terms of reference
which can be found on the Cempany's website britishland.com/commitiees The Commuttee’s key areas of responsibility are,

- setting the Remuneration Palicy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman, reviewing the Remuneration Policy and strategy
for members of the Executive Committee and other members of executive management, whilst having regard 1o pay and employment
candttions across the Group

- determnuning the totalindwidual remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Commuttee member and other members
of management

- monitoring performance against conditions attached to all annual and tong term incentive awards to Executive Direclors, Executive
Commitiee and other members of management and approving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements

- selecting, appotnting and setting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consultants,

In addition ta the Commuttee’s key areas of respensibility, during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Commuttee also constdered the
followtng matters

- reviewing and recommending to the Board the Remuneration Report (o be presented for sharehalder approval

- appraisal of the Chairman’s annual fee, rernuneration of the Executive Directors including achievement of corporate and indidual
pertormance, and pay and annual incentive awards betow Board-levet

- consmidering the extent to which performance measures have been met aad, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual Incentive
and leng term incentive awards

- granting discretionary share awards, reviewing and setung performance measures for Annual incentive awards
- considering the impaci of the share buyback on incentive plans

the Comasit
- consigenng gender pay gap reporting requirements

- departure terms for Chartes Maudsiey

- geparture terms for Tim Roberts

- recewing updates and traiming on corparate governance and refmuneration matlers fram the independent remuneralion consultant.

For the year ahead, the Commuttee’s terms of reference have been updated to reflect changes in the UK Corporate Governance Code
These nclude ensuring alignment of the remuneration pelicy with the Company s purpose and culture, setuing the remuneration for
senior management and considering alignment of pension contnbutions of the warkiarce, Executive Direclors and senior management.

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent remuneration adviser by the Commutiee on 21 March 2017 following a competitive tender
process Korn Ferry 1s a member of the Remuneration Consuliants Group and adheres to that greup’s Cade of Conduct. The Commutiee
assesses the advice given by its advisers 1o satisfy itsell that it 1s ebjective and independent. The adwisers have private discussions with the
Commultee Charrman at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consuitants Group Fees, which
are charged on a ime and materials basis, were £211,298 [excluding VAT). Korn Ferry also prowided general remuneration adwice 1o the
Cornpany during the year.

Voting at the Annval General Meeting
The table helow shows the voling oulcomes of the resolutions put to shareholders regarding the Directors’ Remuneration Report |at the
AGM in Juty 2018! and the Remuneration Policy (at the AGM in July 2014]

Resclution Vetes for % for Votes against % against  Total votes cast Voles withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report (2018 718,283,375 95.46 34,197,587 454 752,480,942 1,600,399
Directors Remuneration Policy (2014 722.144.638 9713 21,494,168 287 748,638,804 7.869,489

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019.

William Jackson
Chawman of the Remuneration Committee
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DIRECTORS  REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Directors present thesr Report on the affairs of the Group,
together with the audited financial statements and the report

of the auditor for the year ended 31 March 2039 The Directors’
Regort 15 also the Management Repert for the year ended

31 March 2019 for the purpose of Disclosure and Transparency
Rule 4.1 8R Information that s retevant to this Repart, and which
15 incarporated by reference and including informatian required

in accordance with the UK Companies Act 2006 and or Listing Rule
9 8 4R, can be located in Lhe following sections.

Setign in Annual

informaiion Report Page

Future developrments of the Strategic Report 41023

business of the Company

Risk factors and principal nsks  Strategic Report 54 10 61

Financiat sastruments - Strategic Report 51053

risk management objectives

and policies

Dividends Stralegic Report 49

Sustamability governance Strategic Report 62

Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 45

Viability and going Strategic Report 45 and 78

concern statements

Governance arrangements Governance 72 to 109

Employment policies and Strategic Repart 30t 31

employee involvement

Capitalised interest Fiancial 133 and 141
statements

Additional unaudiied Other 18610 194

financial information information

P
Utauuingd

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2019 AGM witl be held at 11.00am on 19 July 2019 at
The Montcatm London Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place,
London W1H 7TN

A separate circular, comprising a tetier from the Chairman

of the Board, Notice of Meeting and exptanatory notes on the
resolutions being proposed, has been circulated to shareholders
and is available on cur webstte britishtand com/agm

Articles of Association

The Company’s Artictes of Association {Articles) may only

be amended by special resolution at a general meeting of
shareholders. Subject to applicable law and the Company's
Articles, the Directors may exercise alt powers of the Company.

The Articles are available on the Company's website
britishland com/governance
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Board of Directors
The names and biographical details of the Directors and detaits !
of the Board Cormnmuttees of which they are members are set out
on pages &8 o 71 and incorporated into thiz Report by reference
Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of this
Report are set out on page 72 The Company’s current Articles
require any new Director to stand for election at the next AGM
following their appointment Hawever, in accordance with the Code
and the Company's current practice, sil continuing Directors offer
themselves for election of re-election, as reguired, at the AGM

Detats of the Directors’ inlerests n the shares of the Company
and any awards granted to the Executive Directors under any of
the Company’s all-employee or executive share schemes are given
i the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109 The
service agreements of the Executive Directors and the tetters of
appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are alse summarised
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report ang are available for
tnspection at the Company's registered office

The appaintment and replacement of Directors is gaverned by
the Company’s Arucles, the Code, the Compames Act 2004 and
any related legislation. The Board may appownt any person to
be 2 Directar so long as the total number of Directors does not
exceed the imit prescribed in the Articles. In addition to any
power of remaval conlerred by the Comparies Act 2006, the
Company may by ardinary resetution remaove any Thrector
belore the expiry of their period of office

Directors’ interests in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract existed duning the year in relation to the Company's
business in which any Owrector was materially interested

The Company s procedures for managing conflicts of interest by
the Directors are set out on page 746, Provistons are also contained
in the Company s Articles which allow the Directors to autharise
potential conflicts of interest

Directors’ liability insurance and indemanity

The Company masntains appropriate Directors & Dfficers liability
insurance cover in respect of any potential legal action brought
agatnst its Directors

The Company has also indermmfied each Oirector 1o the extent
permitted by law against any tatility incurred in relation ta acts

or omissions ansing in the ordinary course of therr duties, The
mndemmlty arrangements are qualifying indemnity provisions ynder
the Companies Act 2006 and were in force throughout the year.



Share capital

The Campany has ane class of shares, being ordinary shares
of 25 pence each, all of which are futly paid The rights and
obligations attached to the Company’s shares are set out in the
Articles There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares
excepl in relation to Real Estate Investment Trust restrictions.

The Directors were granted authonty at the 2018 AGM to allot
relevant securiies up to a nominal amaunt of £81,910,507 as
well as an addiional authonty to allot shares 1o the same value
on a rights issue. This autharity will apply untit the conclusion of
the 2019 AGM. At this year's AGM, sharehclders will be asked to
renew the authority to allot relevant securihies

At the 2018 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareholders to make market purchases of ordinary shares
representing up to 10% of s 1ssued capital at that ime, being
98,292,608 ordinary shares This authority will also expire at the
2019 AGM and it 15 proposed that the renewal of the autharity
will be sought

In June 2018, the Board decided that following on from the sale
of b Broadagate, the strength of the inwestment market and the
continuing discount in the Company s share pnice, the best use
of capital would be to extend the share buyback programme.

As a resull, during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company
repurchased 33,672,430 ardinary shares of 25 pence each for an
aggregate consigeraton of £200m. Thvs represents 3.95% o the
1ssued share capital [excluding shares held in Treasury) at that
date All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled.

The Company continued to hold 11,266,245 ordinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 201% and
to the daie ot this Report

Further details relating to share capita, including movements
duning the year, are set out in note 20 to the financial statements
on pages 159 to 161

Rights under an emplovee share scheme

Ermployee Benefit Trusts [EBTs) operate in connection with same
of the Company's employee share plans The trustees of the EBTs
ray exercise all nghts attached to the Company s ordinary shares
n accordance with thew hiduciary dutses other than as specifically
restncied in the documents which govern the retevant employee
share plan

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limited acts as trustee [Trustee} of the Company's
discretionary Employee Share Trust [EST] The EST holds and.
from time {o ime, purchases Bntrsh Land ordinary shares in
the market, for the benefit of employees, including to satisfy
outstanding awards under the Cornpany s various execulve
emptoyee share plans. A dvidend wawver 15 1n place from the
Trustee in respect of alt dwvidends payable by the Company on
shares which it holds in trust

Substantial interests

All notifications made to British Land under the Disclosure

and Transparency Rules {DTR 5} are published on a Regulatory
Infarmation Service and made available on the Investors section
of our website.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had been notified of the
fotlowsng interests in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5
The information provided s correct at the date of notification

INEErESIS it Percentage
ordinary holdng
shares disclosed %

86,740,206 10.00

BlackRock, Inc

Invesco Ltd 48,821,013 5.08
MNorges Bank 48,606,089 501
GIC Private Lirnited 41,121,137 399
APG Asset Management N V. 38,039,738 399

No notiications have been submitted to the Company since year end

Change of control

The Group's unsecured borrowing arrangements mctude
provisions that may enable each of the lenders or bondhalders
to request repayment or have a put at par within a certain period
following a change of control of the Company In the case of the
Sterling bond this anses If the change of control alse resulis in
a rabng downgrade 1o below wresiment grade 'nthe case of
the convertibie bond there may also be an adjustment to the
converson price applicable for a kimited period foltowing a
change of control

There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors
or employees praviding for comgensation for loss of office or
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or amalgamation with the excepnon of provasnons i the Company s
share plans which could result in options and awards vesting or
beceming exercisabte on a change of control All appointment
tetters for Noen-Executive Directors will, as they are renewed,
contain a provision that allows payment of thewr notice period in
certain lmited circumstances, such as corporate transactions,
where the Company has terminated their appointment with
immediate effect

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supphier relationships to
the overall success of our business We manage dealings with
suppliers in a fair, consistent and transparent manner. For moce
information please vistt the Suppliers section of our website at
www britishland co uk/ahout-us/suppliers

Events after the balance sheet date

Oetails of subsequent events, If any, can be found i note 26
on page 144.

Political donations

The Company made no political donations during the year
{2018 i)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Qur gender split

2019 2018 017
Male Female Maie  Femate Male Female
British Land
Group 266 284 359 338 346 313
of which
are Board 10 3 9 3 10 3

af which are
senior managers 71 35 7 35 7 30

Figures expressed as full ume eguivatent

Inclusive culture

British Land employees are commitied to promoting an
inclusive, positive and collaborative cutture. We treat everyone
equally irrespective of age, sex, sexual onentation, race, cotour,
nationabty. ethnic origin, celigion, religrous or other phitosophical
belief, disability, gender denkity, gender reassignment, mantal or
cwl partner status, or pregnancy or maternity.

Community investment

Our financial donations te good causes during the year totalled
£1,424,000 (2018 £1,687,000F Qur Community Investment
Comrnittee approves all expenditure from our Community
lnvestment Fund

in addstion, the Company aiso supports fundraising and payroll
giving for causes that matter to statf. The support provided tor
the year ended 31 March 2019 includes

- 50% uplift of British Land stalt payroll gmng contributions
(capped at £5,000 per person and £50,000 per annum for the
whale orgarisatonl, and

- A staif matched funding pledps. matching monsy raised for
chanty by Brittsh Land staff up to £750 per person per year

Qur cornmumty investrent is guided by our Local Charter, working

with local pariners to make a lasting positive difference:

- connecting with lacat communities

- supporting educational tmitiatives for local people

~ supporting local training and jobs

- supporting local businesses

~ contributing to local peaple’s wellbeing and enjoyment

Through our community investrment and Local Charter activity, we

connect with communities where we aperate, make posiive local

contributions, help people fulfil their potential, help businesses

grow, and promate weltbeing and enjoyment This all supports our
strategy to create Places People Prefer

Fishing for plastic iy the River Thames on a boat made from recycled plastic,
a project run by Hubbub, a behawiour change charily supported by one of our
trustee volunteers

112 8ritish Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Health and safety

We have retained formal recognitton of aur focus on health

and safety through a successful audit of our QHSAS 18001
accreditation We conbinue io improve our approach to heaith

and safety management to ensure that we consistently achieve
best practice across all activitses 1 the bussness [construction,
managed portfolic and head office} to deliver Places People Prefer
to our employees and cur cusiomers

Total RIDDOR
inaidants Injury rale

2019 2018 019 2018
Construction 4 3 0.12 (113 per 108,000
houes worked
Retal 18 3 0.01 0.0t per 100,000
fogtfall
Offices 4 4 1417 1288 per 100,000
workers
Head Office 0 0 ] 0 per 100,000 full

ume equivalents

* Reparting of Inunies, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013

Auditor and disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
confirms that:

- 5o {ar as the Directer is aware, there 15 no relevant audit
information that has not been brought to the attention of
the auditor

- the Director has taken ali steps that he/she should have taken
to make himsell/herself aware of any relevant augit information
and to establish that the Company's auditor was aware of

that nformatien,
PwC has indicated its willingness to remain in office and, on the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, a resctution to reappoint
PwC as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the 2019 AGM

The Directars’ Report was approved by the Board an 14 May 2019
and signed on its behatt by

rona WA

Brona McKeown

Generat Counsel and Company Secretary
The British Land Company PLC
Company Number- 621920



DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance wath applicable law
and regulation

Company law requires the Derectors to prepare hinancial
statements for each financial year. Under that taw the Diwrectors
have prepared the Group tinancial statements 1n accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs! as adopted by
the Eurgpean Unian and the parent Company financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising

FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework™, and applicable tawl.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financal
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and

fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and

of the profit or loss of the Group and Campany for that period.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are

required to

- select suttable accounting policies and then apply
them consistentty

- state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European
Umipn have been fotlowed for the Group hinancial statements
and United Kingdem Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101, have been fotlowed for the parent Company financal
statements, subject to any matenal departures disciosed
and explained in the inancial statements

- make Judgements and accouniing estunates that are reasonable
and prudent

- prepare the financial statemenls on the going concern basis
unless 1 15 inappropriate ta presume that the Group and
Company will continue n business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient te show and exptain the Group and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
atany time the financisl position of the Group and Company

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
Directors” Remuneration Repoet comply with the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the Group financial staterments, Article 4 of
the |AS Regulation.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Group and Campany and hence for taking reasonable steps
far the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directars are responsible for the mainienance aad integrity
af the Company's webstte Legislation 1n the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of inanciat
statements may difter from legistation in other jurisdictions

The Chrectors consider that the Annual Report and Accounts,
taken as a whale, is fair, balanced and understandable and
prowides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Geoup and the Company’'s position and performance,
business model and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the
Board of Directors an pages 68 to 71, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

- the Company financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with United Kingdomn Geperally Accepted Accounting
Practice lUnited Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising
FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework™, and applicable law],
gtve a true and fair view of the assets, kabiliues, frnancial
posiion and profit of the Company

- the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accerdance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give
a teue and fair view of the assets, habilities, hnancial posttion and
loss of the Group

- the Strategic Report and the Directors Repoert include a farr
review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the Group and Company, together with a
description of the principal nsks and uncertainties that ¢t faces

By order of the Board.

(s

Simon Carter

Chuef Financial Officer
14 May 2019
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100 Laverpool
Street

Reinvesting in East London

We have carefully managed the redevetopment af 100 Liverpoat Street
to directly benefit peopte and businesses in the iocal commumity. Rather
than purchasing everything nationally, 58% of construction spend so far
- £59m - has been vested wethun the City and neighbouning boroughs,
ensuring that this project directly benefits local businesses i financial
terms £43m of the overall construction spend has gane ta small and
rmedium sized enterprises, boosting growth
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

endent auditors’ rep
ritish Land Company PLC

Th

Report on the audit of the financial statements
QOpinion
In cur opinion

- The British Land Campany PLC's Group financial statements and
Company financial statements [the “financial statements™} give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Company's
affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of the Group's luss and cash llows
for the year then ended,

- the Groug hinancial staterents have been pragerly pregared in
accordance with Internationat Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs| as adopted by the European Union,

- the Company financial slatements have been properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework™. and applicable law}, and

- the tinancial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirernents of the Compames Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Articte 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, inctuded within the Annuat
Report and Accounts 2019 the "Annual Repart’), which comprise,

- the Consclidated halance sheet a5 al 31 March 2019,

- the Company balance sheet as at 31 March 2019,

- the Consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- lhe Consol:dated statement of comprehensive inceme for the year
ended 31 March 2019,

- the Consolidated statementi of cash flows for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- the Consolidated staterment of changes in equity for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- the Company statement of changes In equity for the year ended
3% March 2019,

- and the notes to the financial statements, which include a
description of the significant accounting policies

Our opinion 1s cansistent with our reparting ta the Audit Cornmuttee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK] (1SAs [UKI™} and applicable law Qur respansibilities
under ISAs [UKI] are further described in the Audilors’ responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
beheve that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which inciudes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as
applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have futhlled our
other ethical responsibilities 1n accordance with these requirements.

To the hest of aur knowledge and betief, we declare that non-audit
services prohitwted by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company

Other than those disclosed i note 5 to the financial statements, we
have provided no non-audit sesvices to the Group or the Company in
the period from 1 April 2018 to 37 March 2019.

116 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

ort to the members of

Our audit approach

Qverview

Materiality

- Overall Group materality £122.5 sullion {2018 £131 8 rrilliond,
based on 1% of totat assets

- Specihic Group materiglity €16 9 mutlion (2018 €19 6 rillion],
which represents 5% of undertyuing pre-tax profits This 15 applied
to the undertying profit and loss cofuma

- Overalt Company mateciality £110 4 million {2018. £119 0 mutlion],
based on 1% of tatal assets.

Audit scoping

- We tatlored the scope of our audi to ensure that we performed
enough work o be abie to gwve an opinion on the financial
sfaternents as a whole. The Group financial statements are
prepared on 3 consolidated basis, and the audit team carries out
an audit over the cansalidated Group balances 1n support of the
Group audit opimon. The following joint ventures are also audited
to Group materiality. Broadgate and Meadowhall

Key audit matters

- Valuation of Investrment and development properties {Group)

- Revenue recognition (Group].
- Accounting for transactions [Groupl
- Taxation {Group)

The scope of our audit

As part of desigring our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement i the financial
statements In particular, we looked at where the directors made
subjective judgements, for example in respect of sigmificant
accounting estimates that invelved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud
Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified
that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to compliance with the Real Eslate tnvestment Trust (REIT]
status section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and the UK

and European regulatory principles, such as those governed by

the Financial Conduct Authority, and we considered the extent to
which nen-compliance might have a matenal effect on the financial
statements of the Group and Company

We also considered those laws and requlations that have a

direct impact en the preparation of the financial statements

such as the Companies Act 2006 and the UK tax legislation

We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements lincluding the
risk of averride of contralsl, and deterrmined that the principal risks
were related to posting inappropniate journal entries to ncrease
revenue or reduce expenditure, and management bias in accounting
estimates and judgmental areas of the financial statements such as
the valuatian of investment properties. Audit pracedures performed
by the Group engagement tearn auditars mciuded:

- Oiscusswons with management and interpal audd, including
consderatwon of known or suspected instances of non-compliznce
with laws and regulations and fraud, and review of the reports
made by management and internal audit;

- Understanding of management's internal controls designed to
prevent and detect irregularities, risk-based monitoring of
customer processes;



- Inquired of management of any instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations, fraud and matters reported on the Group's
whistleblowing helpline;

Reviewing relevant meeting minutes;

1

- Rewview of tax compliance with the involvernent of our tax
specialists i1 the audd,

1]

Gesigning audii procedures to incorperate unpredictabiiiy over
the nature, ming or extent of our testing of expenses;

- Procedures relating to the valuation of investment properties
described i the related key audit matter below, and

- identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journat
entries posted with unusuat account combinations, posted by
unexpected users and posted on unexpected days

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described
above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regutations s from the events and transactions reflected in the
financtal statements, the less likely we woultd become aware of it

Key audit matter

Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud
1s higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error. as
fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion,

Key audit matters

Key audit malters are those matters that, in the auditors’
professional judgement, were of most sigruficance i the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most
sigrificant assessed risks of matertal misstatement lwhether or not
due to fraud] identified by the auditors, including those which had
the greatest effect on. the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement
team, These matters, and any cormments we make on the resulis of
our procedures theceon, were addressed m the context of our audit
of the hinancial statements as a whole, and i forming our opinion
thereon, and we do nat provide a separate opirion on these matters.
This 1s not a complete iist of all fisks dentified by our audit.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties - Group

Refer 15 page 97 {Report af the Audit Carrruttes! sages 12810 120
{Accounting policies] and page 131 to 146 {Motes to the Accounts).

The Group's investment property portfolio 1s split between oflice and
residentiat properties in Central London, retarl and teisure properties
across the UK, devetoprments and the assets at the Canada Water
site in East London The vatuation in the Conselidated Balance Sheet
2 £8 921 mullinn

The vatuation of the Group s nvestment property portfolio 1s
inherently subjective due lo, among other factors, the indwidual
mature of each property, its location and the expected fulure rentals
for that pacticular property Far developments, facters include
projected costs to complete and tiring of practical completion

The valuations were carned out by third party valuers, CB Richard
Elus. Jones Lang LaSatle, Cushman and Wakefield and Kright Frank
{the 'valuers™). The valuers were engaged by the [hrectors, and
performed their work in accordance with the Royal Enstitute of
Chartered Surveyors [ RICS ™ Valuation - Professional Standards
The vaiuers used by the Group have cansiderable experience of the
markets in which the Group operates

In deterrrining a property s valuation the valuers take into account
property-specihic information such as the current tenancy agreements
and rental income They apply assumptions for yields and estimated
market rent, which are influenced by prevailing market yields and
cemparable markel transactions, to arrwe at the final valuation For
developments, the residual appraisal method Is used, by estimating
the {air vatue of the completed project using a capitatisation rmethod
less estimated costs to completion and a nsk premium.

The significance of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled
with the fact that only a small percentage difference in individual
property valuations, when aggregated, could result in a material
musstatement, warrants specific audit focus in this area

There were also certain speaific factors affecting the valuations in
the year, Properties under development, completed developments
that are now valued as standing invesiment properties and standing
investment properties that have been reclassiiied to development
properties, continue to be an area of focus

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirrmed
that the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
slandards ano suitabie for use 1n geterrmining the carrying vaiue (or
the purpase of the financial statements

We assessed the valuers’ qualifications and expertise and read therr
terms of engagement with the Group to deterrmine whether there
were any maiters that might have affected theiwr objectvity or may
have imposed scope lirmitations upon therr work We also considered
fee arrangements tetween the valuers and the Group and other
engagements which might exist between the Group and the valuers
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectvity of the valuers in
their performance of the valuations was compromised

We abiained details of each property held by the Group and set an
expected range for yield and capital value movement, deterrined

by reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market We compared the investiment yields used
by the valuers wath the range of expected yelds and the year on

year capital movernent to our expected range We also considered
the reascnableness of other assumptions that are not 5o readily
comparable with published benchmarks, such as Estimated

Rental Vailue

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, al which
the vatuations and the key assurnptions therein were discussed

Qur work covered the vatuation of each property in the Group, bul
the discussions with managernent and the vatuers focused on the
targes: properties in the portfolio, properties under deveiopment or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year onyear capital
value movement suggested a possible outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector

Where assumphions were outside the expected range or
otherwise appeared unusuat, and / or vatuations showed
unexpected movemenis, we undertaok further investigatons

and, when necessary, held further discussions with the valuers
and obtained evidence to suppert explanations received. The
valuatien commentaries provided by the valuers and supporting
evidence, enabled us 1o consider the property specific factors thai
may have had an impact on value, including recent comparable
transaclions where appropriate
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties ~ Group
continued

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, belore determirung
the final valuation We concluded that the assumptions used in the
valuations were suppartable in light of avallable and comparable
market evidence

We performed testing on the standing data in the Group's information
systermns concerning the vaiuation process. We carned out procedures,
on a sample basis, to satisfy ourselves of the accuracy of the
property infarmation supplied to the valuers by management For
developmenits, we confirmed that the supporting inforrmation for
construction contracts and budgets, which was supplied to the
valuers, was also consistent with the Group's records for example
by inspecting original construction contracts For developments,
capitalised expenditure was tested on a sample basis to nvorces,
and budgeted casts to complete compared with supporting evidence
[for exampie construction contracts)

It was evident from our Interaction with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the valuation reports, that close
attentien had been paid to each property s indwudual characteristics
at a granuiar, tenant by tenant level, as well as constdening the
overall quality, geographic location and desicability of the asset as
awhole No ssues were dentified i our testing

Revenue recognition - Group

Refer to page 82 {Report of the Audit Commutteel, pages 128 to 130
lAccounting policies] and page 132 [Notes to the Accounts)

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental income Rental
income i1s based on lenancy agreements where there i1s a standard

process in place for recording revenue, which is system generated.

There are cerlam transactions within revenue that warrant
additanal audit focus because of an increased inherent nisk of
error due to their non-standard nature

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
increases - these balances require adjustments made to rental
InCcome Lo ensure revenue 1s recorded on a straight line basis aver
the course of the lease

We carried out tests of controls over the cash and accounts
recewvable processes and the retated IT systemns to obtain evidence
that postings to these accounts were reliable. For rental income
balances, we then used data-enabled audit techriques ta idenufy
all standard revenue journals posted using these systems

and processes

The remaining Journals retated to non-standard transactions
These included reclassifications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provistons. For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we have understocd the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals being generated, and
performed substantive testing over a sampie of these rtems There
weren't any exceptions ansing from our testing over non-standard
revenue transactions.

For balances not inctuded withen rental income, such as service
charge income, we performed substantive testing on a sample
basis. No issues were identified in our testing.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accounting for transactions - Group

Refer to page 82 [Report of the Audit Committeel, pages 128 ta 130
[Accounting policres) and pages 131 to 166 [Notesl.

There have been a nurnber of transactions during the year These
warranted additional audit focus due to the magnitude of the
transactions and the potential for complex contractual terms that
Introgduce judgement into how they were accounted for, Key
transactions subject to additionsl audit focus were:

- lInvestment praperty acquisitions of £221m including the
acgussition of Tunbridge Wells, Roya! Victoria Place for £97m

- Investrnent property disposats of £664m, including the disposal of
5 Broadgate {Group share £500m]

- Share buyback of E204m

Far each transaction. we understood the nature of the transactton
and assessed the proposed accounting treatment in retation to the
Group’'s accounting policies and relevant IFRSs.

For all acqussitions and disposals, we obtained and reviewed the key
supporung documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and comgpletion statements, Consideration received or paid was
agreed to bank statements No maierial 1ssues were found as a
result of these procedures.

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracis and audited the
accounting for the buyback in accordance wath 1AS 32 For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acquired and checked the associated costs of the
transactions were correctly recognised within reserves {retained
earnings] No exceptions were dentified in the accounting for the
share buyback programme.

Taxation

Refer to page 82 {Report of the Audit Committeel, pege 130
(Accounting polictes) and page 134 and 148 {Notes to the Accounts}

I he Group 5 status a5 @ REV ungerpins 11s gusiness moaet and
shareholder returns For this reason, it warrants speciat avdit focus
The obhigations of the REIT regune include requirements te comply
with balance of business, dwigend and income cover tests. The
Broadgate joint venture Is also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance ts also of relevance for thus joint venture 1n addition

to the overali Group

Tax provisions are in place to account for the nsk of challenge of
certain of the Group's tax provistans, Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, additional audit focus was placed on tax provisiens

We re-performed the Group’s annual REIT compliance tests, as
well as those tests tor the Broadgate REIT. Based on our work
performed, we agreed with management s assessment that ail
REIT compliance tests had been met te ensure that the Group ang
groadgate ma:niain ther RED status

We evaluated the tax provisions and poleniial exposures as at

31 March 2019, We used our kanowledge of tax carcumstances and
by reading retevant correspendence between the Group and Her
Majesty s Revenye & Customs and the Group’s external tax advisars
are satisfied that the assumpuons and judgements used by the

STUUp 81 € TEa5Tia e
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Reporting on other information

The other infermation comprises akl of the infermation in the
Annual Report other than the financiat statements and our
auditors’ report thereen The directors are responsible for

the other information Our cpinion en the financral statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do
not express an audi opimien or, except to the extant otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon

In connection with our audit of the financiat statements, our
responstbility 15 to read the other informaticn and, In doing so,
consider whether the information is matenally inconsistent with
the financial statements or aur knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears o be materially misstated f we identify an
apparent material mconsistency o matertat missiatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is
reaterial misstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact We
have nothing to report based on these responsibiities.

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and
Additienal Disclosures and Corporate Governance Statement,

2 5150 considered whether the aisclosures requireg by the UK

Compamies Act 2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work
undertaken in the caurse of the audu, the Companies Act 2006
{CAQS], ISAs 1UK) and the Listing Rutes of the Financtal Conduct
Authonty {FCA] require us also to report certain opinons and
maiiers as UESCFEDSQ DEEGW (requu‘ec O'Y l5l—\!> iUF\J Uf'ilESb
otherwise stated]

Strategic Report and Directors’ Repert and Additional Disclosures
in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the infarmation given n the Strategic Report and Directors’
&eport and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2019
15 consistent with the financial statements and has beea prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements [CAGA}

In Light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their enviranment obtained 1n the course of the audit,
we dig not identfy any matenal rmusstatements i the Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report and Additionat Disclosures (CAQA}

Corporate Governance Statement

I our opinion, based an the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
lon page 77 in the Governance Review] about wnternal controls

and nisk management systerns in relation to financial reporting
orocesses and about share capital structures in compliance with
rules 7 2 5 and 7 2.6 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transpareacy
Rules sourcebook of the FCA ["DTR 115 consistent with the financial
statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
tegal requirements [CAD6)

in Light of the knowtedge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their environment ohtained in the course of the
audil, we did not identity any material misstatements in this
nformation [CADé)

in our opirion, tased on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporaie Governance Statement
fun pages 73 to 74 in the Governance Reviewl with respect to the
Company's corporate governance code ang practices and about

Its administrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their commidtees complies with rules 7.2 2, 72 3and 7 2 7 of the
DTR. [CADS8]

We have notrung o report anising fram our responsibility to report it
a carporate governance staternent has not been prepared by the
Campany. I[CADS

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that woutd threaten the selvency or liquidity of
the Group

We have nothing matersal to add or draw attention to regarding

- The directors’ cenfirmation on pages 56 to 57 of the Annual Report
that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group, wncluding those that would threatenits
business modet, future performnance, solvency ar iquidity

- The disclosures in the Annual Report that descrtbe thaose risks and
explain how they are being managed or mitigated

- The directors’ explzanation on page 45 of the Annual Repori as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
periad they have done so and why they consider that period to
be appropriate. and their staternent as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group wilt be able te continue 1n
operauon and meet its babiities as they {ale due over the perwd uf
their assessment, inctuding any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the
directors statement that they have carried out a robust assessment
of the grincipat nisks facing the Group and statement in relation to
the longer-term viability of the Group Our review was substantially
less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making mquiries
and considering the directors’ process supporting their statermnents,
checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Cade (the Code”), and
considering whether the stalements are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and therr
environment obtamed in the course of the audit. [Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibibity ta
report when

- The statement given by the directors, on page 77, that they
consider the Annual Report taken 2s a whole to be fair, balanced
and understandable. and provides the information necessary
for the members to assess the Group's and Company s positton
and performance, business model and straiegy 1s materialiy
nconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company
obtarned n the course of performing cur audit

- The section of the Annual Report on page B0 describing the work
of the Audit Commuttee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee

- The directors’ statement relating to the Company's compliance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a
relevant prowvision of the Cade specified, under the Lisiing Rules,
far review by the auditers

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opiruon, the part of the Directors Remuneration Repart to be
avdied has been properly prepared n accordance with the
Companies Act 2006 [CADS)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Responsibitities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors Responsibilities Statement
set out on page 113, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the hinancial staternents in accordance with the applicable
framework and for beng satisfied that they gwve a true and fair

view The directors are alsc responsible for such internal cantrol

as they determine (& necessary to enable the preparation of inancial
statemnants that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or ercor

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accourting unless the
directors either intend to liguidate the Geoup or the Company of to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors” responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are lo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial staterments as 3 whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issye an auditors’ report that
includes our opinton Reasonable assurance 1s a high leve! of
assurance, but i not 8 guarantee that an sudit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs {UK] will always detect a matenal misstatement
when it exists. Misstaternents can anise from fraud or error and are
cansidered material if, iIndividually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to infiuence the ecanomic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these hinancial statements

A further description of pur resoonsibiliiag for the audit of the financial
slatements rs located on the FRC's website at www fre org uk/
auditorsresponsibilities This description forms part of our

auditors’ report

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and ohly
for the Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Cormpames Act 2006 and for no other purpose, We
do not, in gving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or 1o any other person to whom this reportis
shown or inta whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in whing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required (o report Lo you i,
1N our opincn

- we have not receved all the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

adequale accounting records have not been kept by the Company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been recewved from
branches not visited by us, or

certain disclosures of directers’ remuneration specified by law are
not made, or

the Campany financial statements and the part of the Directors
Rernuneration Report 10 be audied are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions lo report afising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit comrmuitiee, we were
appomted by the members on 18 July 2014 to audi the financial
slatements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is
five years, covering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2019

John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)
far and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutary Auditors
Lendon

14 iay 2019



Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018
Capital Capnal
Vrderlying' and other Total Yaderlymg' ard ather Tolal
Noie €m &m £m fm Em £m
Revenue 3 554 350 904 861 78 639
Costs 3 1141} {258) (399] {138) [64) {200}
2 413 92 505 475 4 439
Joint ventures and funds |see alsa below] 11 84 (79} 7 115 36 151
Administrative expenses |80} - 1801 {8z] - 182
Valuation movement 4 - {620} (&20) - 202 202
(Loss] profit on dispesal of investment properties
and investments - 118) 118} - 18 18
Net financing costs
- financing income - - - 1 - 1
- hnancing charges (67 {46) 11130 (65 1163 (228
(&7} (48] (113) [64] {163 (227
{Loss} profit on ordinary activities before taxation 352 (671} {3191 394 107 501
Taxation 7 - 41] i1 - 6 6
[Loss] profit for the year after taxation {3201 507
Artmbitabie to non-Lonlrallog nlerests 12 [£1) (29} 1 - 14
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 340 f631) 2911 380 113 493
Earnings per share:
- basic 2 (30.0)p 48 7p
- diuted 2 {30.0lp 48 5p
All resuits derive from conunuing operahons.
2019 2018
Capital Capital
Undertying' and other Total Undertying® and alher Tolal
MNole €m Em im £m tm Em
Results of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit 86 - 86 115 - 115
Valuation movement 4 - [63) 163) - 52 52
Capital inancing costs - 21 21 - (13t 3
Profit ltoss] on disposal of investment properiies,
trading properties and investments - 3 3 - 13 a3l
Taxation - 2 2 - - -
11 86 {791 115 36 151

1 See definitson in note 2
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2019 )

2019 2018

Em Em
{Loss] profit for the year after taxation 1320) 507
Other comprehensive income {loss):
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - 9
Vatyation movements on owner-occupied properties 3 (3]
3 [}
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gaing on cash How hedges
-~ Group 1 12
- Jont ventures and funds - 8
1 20
Transierred to the income statement (cash flow hedges)
- interest rate derwatives - group - 120
- Interest rate derwatives - joint venlures' 18 -
Deferred tax on items of other camgprehensive iInccme (k)] [9)
Other comprehensive income for the year 21 141
Total comprehensive [loss) itncome for the year {299} 648
Attributable to non-controlling interests 129) 16
Attributable to shareholders of the Company {2701} 632

1 Represents a reclassification of cumulative losses withun the group revalualion reserve to capital profit and loss, because the hedged item has aflected profit or loss
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Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 March 2019

2019 2038
Nole £m frm
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investrent and devetopment properties 10 8,931 9.507
Qwner-occupied properties 10 73 90
9,004 9597
Other non-current assets
Investments in joint ventures and funds " 2,540 2,822
Other snvestments 12 151 t74
Deferred tax asseis 16 1 4
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 17 154 15
11,870 12,712
Current assets
Trading properties 10 a7 328
Debtors 13 LY 35
Cash and short term deposits 17 242 105
ki) 468
Total assets o 12325 13180
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts 17 (99 £27)
Creditors 14 (289) [324)
Carporation tax 125) f22)
(413} (3731
Non-current liabilities
Debeniures and ioans 17 2,932} {3,101}
Other non-current Lizbilities 15 (92} (62)
tnterest rate and currency dervative hiabilities 17 {130} (138]
{3,154) {3304
Total Liabilities 13,567 {3,874}
Net assets 8,689 9.506
EQUITY
Share capiial 240 248
Share premiumn 1,302 1,300
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 37 3
Retained earnings 6,686 7.458
Equity attributable to sharehelders of the Company 8,478 9,252
Non-controiling interests 211 254
Tatat equity 8,689 9.506
EPRA NAV peg share’ 2 905p 967p

1 eTine: nn/e 2

John Gildersieeve
Chairman

o 26

Chief Financial Officer

The financial staterments on pages 123 to 166 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on 1is behall on 14 May 2019

Company number 21920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018
Nole &m Em
Rental sncome recewed from tenants 449 21
Fees and other income recewved &2 78
Operating expenses patd 1o suppliers and employees 1162} (173)
Sale of trading properties 248 77
Paymenis recesed in respect of future trading property sales it 8
Cash generated from operations 817 436
Interest paid 17%) {73}
In{erest recewed 7 [
Carporation taxation repayments [payments) -1 7
Distributions and other receivables from joint ventures and funds i1 59 78
Net cash inflow from operating activities 613 438
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure {218} {1901
Purchase of investment properties (185) {165])
Sale of iInvestment praperties 3so 135
Disposal of joint venture held-for-sate - 5468
Disposal of Tesco joint venture - &8
Purchase of investments 9) 19
Sale of investments 13 -
Indirect taxes paid in respect of investing actmities (31 !
Investment in and loans to joint ventures and funds (298] 1175]
Loan repayments from joint ventures and funds 247 7
Capital distributions from joint ventures and funds 240 29
MNet cash inflow from investing activities 187 251
Cash flows from financing activities
lssue of ordinary shares 2 2
Unitissues attributable to non-contrelling interests - 2
Purchase of own shares {204} {301}
Owidends paid 19 1298) {304}
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests t14) {15}
Acguisition of units in Hercutes Unil Trust - 14]
Capital payments in respect of interest rate derivatives 19 {18
Recetpts on closeout of interest rate derwative assets - 27
Decrease in bank and other borrowings (576) 1626}
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowings 44b 529
Net cash outflow from financing activities {663) {708}
Net increase ldecreasel in cash and cash equivalents 137 9
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Aprit 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 242 105
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short lerm deposits 17 242 105
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Hedgsng
and Re- Nen-
Share Share  tranglauon vatuation Merger Relaned controthing Total
captiat premium reserve’ reserve reserve earnings Total inerests equity
£m £m £m Em Em Em £m £m £m

Balance at 1 April 2018 248 1,300 1 22 213 7,458 9,252 254 9,506
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - - (2ze1  (291) 129} (320}
Revaleation of owner-occumed property - - - 3 - - 3 - 3
Gamns on cash flow hedges - group - - 1 - - - 1 - 1
Closeaut of cash flow hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 18 - - 18 - 18
Reserves transfer - joint venture cash fiow hedges - - - {171 - 17 - - -
Deferred tax on items ef other comprehensive
ncome - - §))] - - - (1} - (1)
Other comprehensive sncome - - - 4 - 17 21 - 21
Totat comprehensive income for the year - - - 4 - (274}  {270) {291 {299)
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Fair value of share and share ophion awards - - - - - 13} %) - 4]
Purchase of own shares i8] - - - - (196)  (204) - {204)
Diidends payable in year (30 54p per share) - - - - - {298] (298} - {298}
DBnadends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - (14} 114}
Balance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 11 26 213 6,684 8,478 21" 8,689
Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 (112) 15 213 7547 922 255 9476
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaiuation of owner-accupied property - - - {30 - - (3 - (3l
Gains on cash flow hedges - group - - 10 - - - 10 2 12
Gains on cash flow hedges - joint venlures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transferred to the income statement
(cash low hedges}
- Interest rate derwvatves - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - - - 9 9 - ?
Reserves transler - - £21 2 - - - - -
Oeferred tax on items of other comprehensive
Income - - {5) - - - 15} - {5)
Other comprehensive iIncome - - 123 7 - 9 139 2 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 432 14 648
Share issues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Unit tssues attributable to non-controtling interests - - - - - - - 2 z
Purchase of own shares (t2}) - - - - {289} (301) - {301)
Purchase of units from non-cantrolling interests - - - - - - - (4] [4)
Dwdends payabte in year [29 b4p per share) - - - - - [302)  (302) - [362)
Dwidends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - {15} {15)
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 11 22 233 7.458 9.252 254 9,506

1 The balance al the beginning of the current year scludes £15m in retatien to transtation and (€4l in retation to hedging [2017/18. £15m and {£127mi} Opening and closing

balances in relavson 1o hedgng relate ta canlinusng hedges only
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting policies
and accounting judgements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have

been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of pragerties, investments held for trading and derwatives. The
financial staterments have also been prepared in accordance with
Internationat Financial Reporting Standards IFRSs) as adapted by the
European Union and terpretatians issued by the IFRS Interpretations
Comrttee {IFRS IC), and therelore comply wath article & of the EU
IAS regulation, and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, In
the current financial year the Group has adopted a number of mmnor
amendments to standards effective i the year 1ssued by the 1ASB and
endorsed by the EU, nane of which have had a matenal impact on the
Group The accounting policies used are otherwise consisteni with
thase contained in the Group s prewious Annuat Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2018,

New standards affective for the current accounting period do not
have a matenal impact an the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. These are discussed in further detail below

IFRS ¥ - Financial instruments

IFRS ¢ Financial instruments, as issued by the IASB i July 2014,
has been adopted by the Group tor the vear ended 31 March 2019
IFRS 9 supersedes the existing accounting guidance n 1AS 39
Financial snstruments. The standard was apphied using the moddied
retraspective approaach The Group has not restated prior periods
or recognised any adjustients in opening retained earnings

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial habilities

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
under IFRS 9 results in changes in the classification of alt
hinancial assets excluding derwatives These changes will not
have a quanttative impact on the financial statements

- IFRS 9 introduces a forward looking expected credit loss modet,
replacing the JAS 39 incurred toss model The new madel requires
an expected credit loss to be recognised on ail financial assets held
at amortised cost at imtial recognition. The quantitative smpact for the
year ended 31 March 2019 results n the recognition of an expected
credit loss of £2m, with a corresponding reduction in financial assets
held at amortised cost of £2m. The Group has previcusly prowded for
a materially similar balance against trade and other receivables and
therefore the resulting rectassitication of existing provisions does not
have a matertal impact on the nel assets of the Group.

- IFRS 9 introduces changes o the gualifying criteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial ang non-financial
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instruments tn order to atign hedge accounting with
business strategy The changes iniroduced by IFRS 9 do not have
a guantitative impact on the consobidated financial statements of
the Group

fFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has adopted {FRS 15 Revenue [rom contracts wath
customers for the year ended 31 March 2019. The standard was
applied using the modified retrospectve approach

The new standard cambines a number of previous standards, selting
out a five step-modet for the recogrition of revenue and establishing
principles for reporting usefut information to users of hinancial
statements about the nature, timing and uncertainty of revenue and
cash flows arising (rom an entity's contracts with customers, The new
standard does not apply to rental income, which 15 1n the scope of IAS 17,
but does apoly to service charge income, management and
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performance fees and trading property disposals The changes
introduced by IFRS 15 did not have a quanttative impact on the
consoldated financial statements of the Group.

The Group has considered the following amendments to standards
endarsed by the EU effective for the current accounting period,
and determined that these do not have a matenal impact on the
consolidated fingncial staternents of the Group-

- Amendments to |AS 40. Transfers of investment Property

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and

intergretatons have been issued but are not yet effective far the
current accounting pertod None are expected to have a matenal
impact on the consobidated financigl statements of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 3 {Business Combinations] is effective from
the next financial year The amendments have no impact but will be
applied to any future business combinations

IFRS 14 [Leases) is effective trom the next financial year The Group
conducted a3n impact assessment based on the Group s current
actities and have quantified the impact {see belowi The results

of the assessment cenfirm that the new standard leads to krmited
changes to presentation and disclosure.

{FRS 146 - Leases [effective year ending 31 March 2020].

- Forlessees, IFRS 16 will result in almost all operating leases
being brought on balance sheet, as the distinchon between
aparating and finance leases will be removed The accounting
for tessors widl however not significantly change On adoption of
the new standard, these changes will have an immaterial impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, In the
first year of adopuion as at 31 March 2020, based on current
lease informatian, the projected impact will be an tncrease 1n
right of use assets [within the mvestment property balance)
of £37m and a3 corresponding increase in current babilities of
£7m and non-current Liabilities of £38m. There will also be an
immaterial net impact on underlying profit with the reduction
in reatal expense outweighing the increase in finance costs and
depreciation in the first year of adoption.

Going concern
The financiaf staternents are prepared on a going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 78

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates lincluding funds}
The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the Briish Land
Company PLC and all subsidiaries {entities controlled by British Land].
Control is assumed where British Land is exposed, or has the rights,
to vartable returns from its involvement with investees and has the
abutity to affect those returns through its power over those investees.

The resutts of substdianes, joint ventures or associates acquired or
disposed of during the year are included from the effectve date of
acquisition of up lo the effective date of disposal. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates which differ from Group
accounting policies are adjusted on consolidation.

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition
method. Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, Liabilities and contingent liabililies
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon 1s recogmsed as
goodwiil. Any discount received s credited to the inceme staterment
in the period of acquisihion

All intra-Group transactions, balances, incorne and expenses
are ebminated on consolidation Jeint ventures and associates,
includeng funds, are accounted for under the equity method, whereby



the consoiidated batance sheef incorporates the Group's share
{investar’s sharel of the net assets of its joint ventures and
associates The consolidated Income staternent incorporates the
Group's share of joint venture and asscciate profits after tax Their
prafits include revaluation movements on investment properties

Dhstributions and other recewables from joint ventures and
assoaates hncluding funds! are classed as cash fiows from
operating actmties, except where they relate to a cash flow ansing
from a capital transaction, such as a property or tnvestment disposal
In this case they are classed as cash flows from invesiing actvities

Properties

Properties are externally valued on the basts of fair value at the
balance sheel date. investment and owner-cccupied progerties are
recorded at valuauon whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net reabisable value.

Any surplus or deficit arising on revaluing mvestment properties is
recogmsed 1n the capital and other cotumn of the Income statement.

Any surplus anising an revalwng owner-occupied properties above cast
15 recognised i other comprehensive income, and any deficit arising in
revaluat:on belaw cosl for owner-occupied and trading properties s
recognised in the capstal and other column of the Incame statement

The cost of properties i the course of development inciudes
attrtbutable interest and other assotated outgomngs including
atinibutable develapment personnel costs tnterest s calculated

on the development expenditure by reference to specific borrowsngs,
where relevant, and otherwise on the weighted average interest rate
of Briish tand Company PLC borrowings interest s not capitalised
where no development activity 1s taking place A praperty ceases to
be treated as a development praperty on practical completion

Investment property disposals are recogrused on completion
Profits and {osses arising are recognised through the capital and
other column of the Incorne statement. The profit an dispasal 15
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus capital expenditure in the period

Trading properties are imtially recognised at cost less impairment,
and trading property disposals are recognised in line with the
revenue polictes outbned below.

Where investmens properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market value 1f properties hetd for trading are
appropriated to wwestment properties, they are translerred at book
value. In determining whether leases and relaied properties
represent cperating or finance leases, consideration 1s given (¢
whether the tenant or {andlord bears the risks and rewards of
ownership Transfers to or from investment property occur when,
and only when, there 1s ewidence of change in use

Financial assets and liabilities

Debtars and creditors are mnitially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost and discounted as
appropnate Oninitial recognition the Group calcutates the expected
credrt loss for debtors based on lifetime expected credst losses under
the IFRS ¢ simplified approach.

Other investments include investments classified as amortised

cost and investments classified as fair value through prefit or loss.
Loans and recewvables classihied as amortised cost are measured
using the effective interest method, less any impairment Interest

15 recogmised by applying the effective interest rate. investrments
classified as fair value through grofit or loss are initially recorded at
iair value and are subsequently externally vatued on the same basis

at the balance sheet date Any surplus or deficit artsing on revaluing
investments held for trading is recognised in the capital and other
cotumn of the income statement

Where an investment property 1s held under a head lease, the head
lease is initially recognised as an asset, being the sum of the prermium
paid on acquisition plus the present value of rminumum ground rent
payments The correspanding rent Lability to the head leaseholder

1s included in the balance sheet as a finance {ease obligation.

Debt instruments are stated at thair fair vatue on 1ssue Finance
charges including premia payable on settlement or redemption and
direct tssue cosls are spread over the period to redemption, using
the effective interest method Exceptional ftnance charges incurred
due to early redemption fincluding prermial are recognised in the
ingome statement when they octur

Convertible bonds are designated as fair value through profit or loss
and so are ntially recogmised at fair value with all subsequent gans
and losses, inctuding the write-off of issue costs, recognised in the
capital and other column of the income staternent as a component of
net financing costs The interest charge 1n respect of the coupon rate
on the bonds 1s recegnised within the underlying component of net
hinancing costs on an accruals basis

A3 defined by IFRS 2, cash flow and faw value hedges a-emitally
recagnised at fair value at the date the dervative contracts ace
entered inio, and subsequently remeasured at fair value Changes
in the fair value of derwvatives that are designated and quality as
effective cash ltow hedges are recogrised directly through other
camprehensive income as @ mavement in the hedging and
transtation reserve Changes in the fair value of dervatives that
are destgnated and qualify as effective fair value hedges are
recorded in the capital and other column of the income statement,
along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that

ts attributable Lo the hedged risk Any ineffectve portion of all
derivalives 1s recogrused in the capital and other column of the
sncome statement. Changes in the fair value of dervatives that are
not i & designated hedgqing retationship under IFRS 9 are recarded
directly in the capital and other column of the income statement.
These derwatives are carried at fair value on the balance sheet.

Cash equwalenis are bmiled to instruments with 3 matunity of less
than three months

Revenue

Revenue comprises rental income and surcender prenua, service
charge income, management and performance fees and proceeds
from the sale of trading properties

Rental income and surrender premia are recognised 1n accordance
with |AS 17 Leases

Rental income, including fixed rental uplifts, from investment
groperty leased out under an operaling lease 1s recognised

as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term Lease
incentives, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions to
tenaat fit-out, are recognised on the same straight-line basis
being an integral part of the net consideration for the use of the
investment property Any rent adjustments based on open market
estimated rental values are recognised, based on management
estimates, from the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent
reviews, Contingent rents, being those lease payments that are not
fixed at the inceptron of the lease, including for example turnover
rents, are recognised in the period in which they are earned
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Surrender premia for the earty determination of a lease are
recognised as revenue immediately upon receipt, net of diapidatians
and non-recaoverable outgoings relating to the tease concerned

The Group applies the five step-madel as required by IFRS 15
i recegnising its service charge income, management and
perfarmance fees and proceeds from the sale of trading properties

Service charge income (s recognised as revenye in the period to
whuch it relates

Management fees are recognised as revenue in the peniod to
whuch they relate and relate to property management Perfarmance
fees are recogrused at the end of the performance period when the
performance abligations are met, the fee amount can be estimated
reliably and it 15 highly probable that the fee will be recewved.
Performance fees are based on property valuations compared to
external benchmarks at the end of the reporting peried Proceeds
fram the sale of trading properties are recogrised when control

has been transferred to the purchaser. This generally occurs on
completion. Proceeds from the sale of trading properties are
recagrised as revenue in the capital and other column of the income
stalement All other revenue described above is recognised in the
underlying cotumn of the income statement

Taxation

Current tax ts based on taxable profit for the year and 15 calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted ar substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are not taxable [or tax deducubte]

Deferred tax 1s provided on iterns that may become taxable in the
future, ar which may be used to affset against taxable profits i the
future, on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts
ol assets and liabilities for hinancial reporting purposes, and the
armaounts used for taxation purposes on an undiscounted basis

On business combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments 1s incorporated in the consolidated balance sheet

Employee costs

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees
15 determined at the date of grant and 1s expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting pentod, based on the Group s estirnate of
shares or options that will eventually vest In the case of options
granted, fair value 1s measured by a Black-Scholes pricing model.
The fair vatue of shares granted 1s based on the market value at
grant dale

Defined benefit pension scherne assets are measured using fair
vatues Pension scheme Liabilities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return of a high quality
corporate bond of equivalent term lo the scheme liabiities The net
surplus lwhere recoverable by the Groupl or deficit is recognised in
futl in the consolidated balance sheet. Any assel resulting from the
calculation 1s imiled to the present value of available refunds and
reductions 1n future contributions te the plan. The current service cost
and gans and losses on setttement and curtailments are charged to
operating profit. Actuacial gains and losses are recognised in full in
the penod in which they occur and are presented in the consolidated
staterment of comprehensive income

Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annuat contribution.
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Accounting judgements and estimates
In applying the Group s accounhing policies, the Directors are required
to rmake judgements and estimates that affect the financial statements

Significant areas of estimation are.

Valuaton of properties and investments held for trading: The Group
uses external professional vatucrs to determine the relevant amounts
The primary source of evidence for property valuations should be recent,
comparable market transactions on an arms-length basis However,
the valuation of the Group's property portfolio and investments hetd

for trading are inherently subjective, as they are based upon valuer
assumptions which may prove to be inaccurate. Sensitrty tables are
included within note 10

Other less sigrificant areas of estimation include the vatuation of fixed
rate dabt and interest rate derwatives, the deterrmination of share-
based payment expense, the actuarial assumptiens used in calculating
the Group's retirement benefit obligations, and taxalion prowisions.

The key areas of accounting judgement are:

REIT status. Briish Land is a Real Estate Investment Trust [REIT)

and dees not pay tax onts property come ar gains on property sales,
prowided that at teast 90% of the Group's property income is distributed
as a dvidend to sharehalders, which becomes taxable in thew hands.
In addition, the Group has to meet certan conditions such as ensuring
the property rental business represents more than 75% of total profits
and assets Any patental or proposed changes to the REIT legislation
are monitored and discussed wath HMRC It is management's 1ntenlien
that the Graup wall conuinue as a REIT tor the foreseeable tuture

Accounting for int ventures and funds: In accordance with
IFRS 10 'Consolidated financial staterments’, IFRS 11 “joint
arrangements’, and IFRS 12 "'Disclasures of interests in other
entihies an assessment s required to determine the degree of
control or influence the Group exercises and the form of any
control to ensure that the financial statement treatment 1s
appropriale The assessment undertaken by management
includes cansideration of the structure, legat form, contractual
terms and cther facts and circumstances relating to the relevant '
entty This assessment s updated annually and there have been

no changes in the judgement reached in relation to the degree of

control the Group exercises within the current or prioryear Group

shares in joint ventures and funds resulting from thus process are

disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements

Interest it the Group’'s joint ventures 1s commonly driven by the
terms of the parinershup agreements which ensure that controt

15 shared between the partners. All significant joint venture
arrangements of the Group are held in structures in which the

Group has 50% of the vating nghts. Joint ventures are accounted

for under the equity method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet
incorporates the Group’'s share of the net assets of its jont ventures
and associates. The consolidated income statement incorporates the
Group's share of jomnt venture and associate prohits after tax.

Accounting for transactions Property transactions are complex in
nature and can be material to the financial statements Judgements
made in relation to transactions tnclude whether an acquisition s

3 business coinbingtivn ul a1 gsset; whether held for sale criteria
have been met for transactions nat yel completed; accounting for
transaction cosis and contingent consideration, and application

of the concept of linked accounting. Management consider each
transaction separately in order to determine the most appropriate
accounting treatment, and, when considered necessary, seek
independent advice.



2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Greup measures inanciat performance with reference to underlying earnings per share, the European Public Real Estate Association {(EPRA)
earnings per share and IFRS earrings per share The relevant earcungs and weighted average number of shares lincluding dilution adjusiments)
for each perfarmance measure are shown below, and a reconcilialion between these is shown within the supplementary disclosures (Table BJ

EPRA earnings per share s calculaled using EPRA earnings, which is the IFRS loss after taxation attributable to shareholders of the Company
excluding investment and gevetoprment property revaluations, gans/iosses on investing and trading property dispesals, changes in the iair value of
financial instruments and associated close-out costs and their related taxation. in the current year, diuted EPRA earnings per share did not include the
dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond, as the Group's share price was below the current exchange price of 1007.24 pence IFRS diluted earnings
per share would include the dilutrive smgact as 1AS 33 ignares this hurdle to conversion, however due to the current year loss, ihis would be anti-ditutive
and therefore no adjustment 1s made In the prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible band as the
Company's share price hag not exceeded the level required for the convertible condtitions attached to the bond to tngger conversion into shares

Underlying earnings per share is calculated using Undertying Profit adgusted for undectying taxation {see note 7). Underlying Profit s the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure, with additional Company adjustments No Company adjustments were made (n either the current or prior year.

2019 08

Relevant Refevant number Earnings Retevanl  Relevant number Earnings

earnings of shares per share earnings of shares per share
Earnings per share £m million pence Em mitlion pence
Underlying
Undertying basic 340 71 35.0 380 1,613 375
Undertying diluted 340 914 34.9 380 1.016 374
EPRA
EPRA basic 340 71 35.0 386 1,013 375
EPRA diluted 340 74 349 380 1,016 374
IFRS
Basic 1291} MM {30.01 493 1,013 487
Uiluted 12911 971 {3000 473 1.074 48 3

Net asset value

The Group measures financiat position with reference to EPRA net asset value [INAVI per share and EPRA triple net asset vatue INNNAV]
pershare The net assel value and number of shares for each performance measure are shown below A reconciliation between IFRS

net assets and EPRA net assets, and the relevant number of shares for each performance measure, 15 shown within the supplementary
disclogures {Table Bl EPRA net assets s a proportionally consolidated measure thatis based on IFRS net assels excluding the mark-to-
market on derwvatives and related debt adjustments, the mark-ta-market on the convertible bonds, and deferred taxation on property and
derwvative valuations They include the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the ditutive impact of share options

As at 31 March 2019, EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAVY did not include the diluteve impact of the 2015 convertible bond, as the Group's share price
was below the exchange price of 1007 24 pence iFRS net assets also does not inctude ihe convertible impact follawing the trestment of IFRS
earnings per share. inthe prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the difutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the Company’s
share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditions attached to the bond to tngger conversion into shares

2019 2018

Relevant Relevant number  Netassetvalue Relevant  Relevam number  Nei assel value
Net asset value per share ot ass::: o sm':lil::: Mr;:::: e asscerl: o fr:?l::: e :::;:
EPRA
EPRA NAV B,649 956 905 9.560 989 97
EPRA NNNAY 8,141 56 854 9.044 989 914
IFRS
Basic 8,689 949 914 2506 983 267
Diuted 8,689 956 909 9.506 989 261

Total accounting return
The Group also measures financial performance with reference to tatal accounting return This is calculated as the movement 1n EPRA net
assel value per share and dwdend paid (n the year as a percentage of the EPRA net assef vatue per share at the start of the year

019 2018
Decrease m NAY Ghvidend per Tatal Increzse in NAV Drvedend per Tota!
per share share paid accounting per share share pawd acrauniing
pence pence Feturn pence pence rewrn
Total accounting return {62] 30.54 {3.3%) 52 29 .44 8 9%
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3 Revenue and costs

2009 018
Capitat Capital

Underiying and other Tatal Underlying and other Totat

€m £mn £m £m tm Em

Rent recewable (744 - (274 441 - 441
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases () - 16} )] - {6)
Surrender premia 1 - 1 6 - [
Gross rental income 439 - 439 441 - 441
Trading property sales proceeds - 350 250 - 78 78
Service charge income 76 - 76 bé - &6
Management and performance fees [from jownt ventures and funds] 7 - 7 & - [3
Other fees and commissions 32 - 32 48 - 48
Revenue 554 350 904 561 78 639
Trading property cost of sales - (258] {258) ~ 164) {64}
Serwvice charge expenses (76) - 76} (66) - 166)
Property operating expenses {3s} - [35) {29 - (291
Other fees and commissions expenses {30 - (30} {41} - 141)
Costs {141) f258] (399] {1361 {44} (200!
413 92 505 425 14 439

The cash element of net rental income [gross rental income less property operating expenses) recognised durnng the year ended 31 March 2019
from properties which were nat subject to a securily interest was £356m [2017/18- £301m). Praperty operating expenses relating to wwvestrment
properties that did net generate any rental income were £1rm [2017/18; £2m| Contingent rents of £3m [2017/18. E4m] were recognised in the year

4 Valuation movements on property

2018 8
m £m
Consolidated income statement
Revaluation of properties {620} 202
Revaluation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the equity method {63) 52
1683) 254
Censglidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaluation of owner-occupied properties 3 (3l
{6801 251
5 Auditors' remuneration - PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
“m “tm
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audi of the Company s annual accounts 0.2 63
Fees payable 10 the Company s auditors for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.4 0.4
Total audit fees 0.7 07
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 08
Other fees
Other services 0.1 02
Total 0.9 10

{rt addition to the above, PricewatechouseCogpers LLP were remunerated in the prior year for non-audit fees in PREF, an equity accounted propecty

fund [see note 11] The Group's share of fees totalled £nd [2017/18: £0.1m}. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are not the external auditors to PREF
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6 Net financing costs

2019 Pk
m tm
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdralts (21} 21
Derwaives 29 28
Qther ioans (75) i78)
Goligations under head leases (3) (2)
(70} £71)
Development interest capialised 3 6
167} {651
Financing income
Deposits, secunties and biquid investrnenis - 1
- 1
Net financing charges - underlying (671 (64)
Capital and other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on transiatson of foreign currency net assets - {1)
Hedging reserve recycing’ - (106)
Vatuation movaments on farr value derwvatives? 41 179
Valuation movements on fair value debt? (38) 80
Recycling of fair value movement on close-aut of derivatives - (14
Capital inancing costs? (32} 27
Fair value mavement on convertible bends (6) -
Valuation movement on non-hedge accounted derwatives (1) (18}
{46} {183
Financing income
Fair vatue movement on canvertible bonds - _
Net financing charges - capital [46) [163]
Net tinancing costs
Total Hinancing incorne - 1
Total financing charges {113) {228]
Net financing costs (113) 1227

Interest payable on unsecured bank toans and related inierest rate derivatives was E8m (2017/18: E9rnl. interest on development expenditure is

capitabised at the Group s weighted average interest rate of 2 2% (2017/18. 2 0%). The weighted average interest rate on a proportonately

consolidated basis at 31 March 2019 was 2 9% {2017/18 2 8%]

1 Represents a reclassification of cumulative losses wathin the hedging and transtation reserve to capital prahit and loss. in relation to hedging instruments which have been

closed out or are no longer hedge accounted
2 Primanty bond redemphion, lender offer and purchase costs

3 The difierence between valuation movernents on fair value derivatwes and valuation movements on fair value debt represents hedge ineflectiveness for the pertod
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7 Taxation

2019 2018
£m fm
Taxation [expense)} income
Current taxation:
UK carporation taxation- 19% [2017/18 19%l] (10 -
Adjustments in 1 eapect of prior years 13 3
Total current taxation income 3 1
Deferred taxation on revaluations and dervatives 14) 5
Group total taxation 1 )
Attnibutable 10 jeint ventures and funds 2 -
Total taxation income 1 [
Taxation reconciliation
{Loss] profit on ordinary activities belare taxation 1319) 501
Less: prafit attributable to jomt ventures and funds’ is (sn
Group (loss] profit on ordinary activities before taxation {324) 350
Taxation on profit on ordinary actvities at UK corporation taxation rate of 19% (2017/18 19%) 42 {67
Effects of
- REIT exemptincome and gains (731 71
- Taxation losses 1 23]
- Deferred taxation on revaluations and dervatives {41 5
- Adjustments in respect of prior years 13 ]
Groyp total taxation (expensel income N} b

1 Acyrrent laxatien mcome of £2m [2017/18. Enil) and a deferred tlaxation credit of £ral [2017/18. Endf arese on profils attnibutsble to joint ventures and funds  The low tax
charge reflects the Group's REIT status

Taxation expense attributable to Underlying Profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was Enil {2017/18 £nil} Corporation taxation payable at

31 March 2019 was £25m [2017/18. £22m] as shown on the balance sheet During the year to 31 March 2019 various tax provisions in respect of
hislonc taxation malters and current points of uncertainly in the UK have been released and prowisions made The net mmovement, which s
included within the tax credit above, 15 not material .

8 Seaff costs
. . . w9 018
Staff costs [including Directors) &m tm
Wages and salaries 62 70
Social securty cosls 8 9
Pension costs ? 7
Equity-settted share-based payments 131 -
74 86

The average monthly number of employees of the Company during the year was 293 {2017/18- 265). The average monthty number of

Group employees, including those employed directly at the Group's properties and their costs recharged to tenants, was 783 {2017/18. 835]
The average monthly number of employees of the Company within each category of persons employed was as follows. Retail: 31, Offices 20,
Canada Water 14; Developments: 32, Storey: 8; Support Functwns- 188

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are the key managerent personnel. Thewr emolurnents are surnmansed below and
further detarl 1s disclosed in the Remuneration Report en pages 88 to 109

Directors’ emoluments Tem 22::
Short term employee benefits 5.6 55
Service cost 1n relation to defined benefit pension schemes o1 a2
Equity-settled share-based payments 2.0 "

37 6.8
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8 Staff costs continued
Staff costs

The Group's equity-settied share-based payments comgprise the Long- Term incentive Plan [LTIP], the Matching Share Plan [MSP),
the Restricted Share Plan RSP and various savings related share option schemes

The Company expenses an esttmate of how many shares are likely to ves: based on the market price al the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance against the relevant performance targets and service periods, which are discussed in further detail in the
Remuneraron Report

For all schemes except the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan share aptions, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date. The key inputs used to value share options ysing a Black-Schales model granted under the Company's Long-Term lncentive Plan
are shown below.

. R 25 June 28 June
Long-Term Incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2019 2018 2017
Share price and exercise price at grant date 682p &17p
Expected option life 1n years 5 5
Risk free rate 0.8% 08%
Expected volatility 22% 26%
Expected dividend yield 5% 5%
Value per aption 68p 48p

Movements it shares and options are given i note 20.

9 Pensions

The Britsh Land Group of Compamies Pension Scheme ('the scheme'l 1s the principal defined benefit pension scheme in the Group The assets
af the scheme are held n a trusiee-admurnistered fund and kept separate from those of the Company. It 1s nat contracted cut of SERPS (State
Earmings-Related Pension Scheme) and it 15 not planned 1o admit new employees 1o the scheme The Group has three other small detined
benehit pension scheres There are also two Defined Contnbution Pension Schemes. Contributions to these schermes are at a flat rate of
salary and ars paid hy the Company

The total net pension cost charged for the year was E7m §2017/18 £7m, of which £5m [2017/18: £5m) relates te defined contribution ptans
and £2m (2017/18 £2m] relates to the current service cost of the defined benefit schemes

A tull actuarial valuation of the scherne was carried out at 31 March 2015 by consulting actuaries, Aon The next full actuaral valuation 1s
currentty being carried out by First Actuanal and will be completed by 30th June 2019 The valuatrons and employer’s contributions [72.9% per
annum of bastc salaries] in the current year are based on estimates produced by First Actuariat The best estimate of employer contributions
expected 1a be paid during the year to 31 March 2070 1s £2m. The major assumptions used for the actuarial valuation were-

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa
Discount rate 2.4 24 2.4 32 31
Salary inflation 4.8 49 4.9 48 48
Pensions increase 3.3 3 33 32 32
Price inflation 3.4 34 34 33 33

The assumptions are that @ mernber currently aged 60 wili Live on average for a further 27 8 years if they are male and for a further 29.4 years
if they are fernale. For a member who retires in 2039 at age 60, the assumptions are that they wiil live on average for a further 29.2 years after
retirernent if they are maie and for a further 30 8 years after retirement if they are ferale

Compaosition of scheme assets

2019 2018

Em £m

Equities 50 54
Dwersified growth funds 88 85
Other assets 12 13
Total scheme assets 140 152

97 9% of the scheme assets are quoled 1n an active market All unquoted scheme assets sit within equities
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9 Pensions continued

The amourt inctuded in the balance sheet arising from the Group's obligations i respect of its defined benefit scheme 15 as foliows

w19 2618 01 016 2015

€m €m Em Em Em

Present value of defined scheme obligatons {1471 1147 {147 1143} [145}
Fair value of scheme assets 160 152 154 137 139
irrecoverable surplus i13) ] - - -
Liability recognised in the balance sheet - - {13} fef (8]

The sensitmities of the defined beneht abligation in relation to the major actuarial assumptions used to measure schame hiabilities are as follows

Increasefdecreasel in defmed
scharvie obligations

Changein 2019 11113
Assumption assumption o tm
Discount rate +0.5% {151 {14]
Salary inftation +0.5% 2 1
RPlinflation +0 5% 12 12
Assumed bife expectancy +1 year S 4
History of experience gains and losses
19 w018 2007 2014 205
£m Em E£m Em £m
Tetat actuanal gan {loss) recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income! ? - 9 0121 {1 {5}
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 0.1% 6.1% 7% 07% 36%
1 Movernents stated alter adjusting lor wrecoverability of any surplus
2 Cumutative loss recagnised in the stalement of comprehensve income is £40m [2017/18 £40m}
Movements in the present value of defined benelit obligations were as foliows
2019 2018
Em £m
AL T April (147 167}
Current service cost 21 12
interest cost 13) 14l
Actuanat (loss| gamn
Loss) gan from change in financial assumptions {2} 7
Gain on scherne liabilities arising from experience 1 7
Benefils pad ) 12
At 31 March {147} {147)
Movements in the faiwr value of the scheme assets were as follows
2019 018
ten Em
At 1 April 152 154
Interest income on scheme assets 4 3
Contributions by employer 2 7
Actuarial gain 8 -
Benefits paid {6] {12
At 31 March 140 152
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9 Pensions continued
Through its defined benefit plans, the Group is exposed to a number of nsks. the moest significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility

The llabiities are calcutated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bend yields, if assets underperform this yield. this will
create a deficit The scheme holds a significant partion of growth assets [equities and diversified growth funds] which, although expected
to outperform corporate bonds :n the long term, create volatility and risk in the short term. The allocation to growth assets 1s monitored
te ensure it remains appropriate given the scheme s long term objectives.

Changes in bond yields
Adecrease in corporate bond yelds witl increase the value placed on the scheme’s liabilites for accounting purposes, although this will
be partially ofiset by an increase in the value of the scheme's bond holdings

Inflation risk

The majonty of the scheme’s benefit abligations are linked to inftation, and tugher inflation wilt lead to higher babilites [atthough, in most
cases, caps on the ievel of inflatronary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). The majonity of the assets are either
unaffected by or anly toosely correlated with (nflation, meaning that an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit.

Life expectancy
The majority of the scheme’s ohhigations are to prowde benefits for the life of the member, so increases in Life expectancy will result
In an increase in the liabilties.

10 Property
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2019

Invastenent

Investment
Qliices and Canada develupmaer:: Ownar-
Relasl resigential Water Developments properties Trading occupted
Level 3 Levet] Level 3 Level 2 LevelJ properties Level 3 Total
Em £m im £m im Em Em £&m
Carrying value at 1 April 2048 5,195 3,85% 298 355 2,507 328 90 2,925
Additions
- praperty purchases 128 93 - - 221 - - 221
~ development expenditure 2 - 19 151 172 1 - 183
- capitalised interest and stalf costs - - 3 2 L] - - 5
- caprital expenditure on asset
management iitialives 27 15 - - 42 - - 42
157 108 22 153 440 " - 4&51
Depreciaticn - - - - - - 1) i1
Disposals {409} - - {3) 612} {252} - 1644}
Reclass:fications - 19 - - 19 - 119} -
Revaluations included 10 ncome statermnent’ %21 (12} 12} 15 {620} - - {620}
Revatuatiens inctuded in OCH - - - - - - 3 3
Movement 1n tenant incentives and
contracted rent uphft balances (5) 2 - - (3] - - {3)
Carrying value at 31 March 2019 4,317 3,776 318 520 8,931 B7 73 92,091
Head lease liabilities [note 15) {92}
Valuabien surplus on trading properties 29
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 9,028
Non-controtling interests (2671
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 attributable to shareholders 8,761

1 Included within the oHices and residential praperly revaluaticn movement abave :s a L4m increase Lo the valuation of 10 Brock Street following the leasing transaction with

Facebook and Debenhams
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10 Property continued
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

{nvesimenl

invastment
and
Offices and Canada development Owner-
Retail residentiat Water Oevelopments praperties Trading ocgumed
fevetd Lovel § Level s Level I ovel 4 properiies Levol £ Total
£m £m Em Em £m L £m Ern
Carrying valtue at 1 Aprit 2017 5.021 3,614 284 154G 94073 334 94 9,501
Additions
- property purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 230
- development expenditure 5 15 22 44 86 46 - 132
- capitalised interest and stalf costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
managament initiatives 29 - - 1 30 - - a0
2N 16 3 4 364 56 - 472
Depreciation - - - - - - (1) (1}
Oisposals 134) {2 - - {134} {62) - 1198}
Reclassifications {4) £137] - 141 - - - -
Revatuations inctuded in income statement 40 145 {21} 8 202 - - 202
Revaluations included 10 0T} - - - - - - {3 3
Movement in tenant incentives and
contracted rent uplift balances 1 i - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5195 3.659 298 355 9.507 328 90 9.925
Head lease liabiliies (note 15] 621
Valuation surplus on trading propecties 134
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 9,997
Non-controlling interests [315}
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 2.682

Property valuation
The different valuation method levels are defined below.

Level 1: Quoted prices {unadjusted] in active markets for identical assets or liabitities.

Level2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level T that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
[i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices}.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data [unobservable inputs).

These levels are specified 1n accordance with tFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement’ Property valuations are inherentily subjective as they are
made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer which may not prove to be accurate. For these reasons, and consistent with EPRA’s
guidance, we have classified the valuations of cur property portfolio as Level 3 as defined by IFRS 13. The inputs to the vatuatians are defined
as unobservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed in a lable on the following page. There were no transfers between levels in the year,

The Group's total property portfolio was valued by external valuers on the basis of fair value, in accordance with the RICS Vatuation -
Professional Standards 2014, minth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

The information provided to the valuers, and the assurmptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property portiolio
team, the Head of Real Estale and the Chiet Financial Officer The valuers meet with the external auditors and also present directly to the Audit
Commmuttee at the interim and year end review of resuits. Further details of the Audit Committee’s responsibiiies 1n relation to valuations can
be found in the Report of the Audit Commitiee lon pages 80 to 851

Investment properties, excluding praperbes held for development, are vaiued by adopting the ‘investment method’ of valuation

This approach nwolves applying capritatisation yields to curreni and future rental sireams net of income voids arising from vacancies or
rent-free periods and associated running costs These capitabisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property

and leasing transactions in the market using the valuers’ professional judgement and market observation Other factors taken into account
n: the vatuations include the tenure of the property, tenancy detaiis and ground and structural conditions
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10 Property continued

in the case of ongoing developments, the approach applied 1s the residuat method’ of valuation, which 1s the investment method of valuation
as described above, with a deduction for all costs necessary to complete the development, inctuding a notional finance cost, together with a
further allowance for remaiung risk Properties held for development are generally valued by adopting the higher of the residual method of
valuation, allowing for all associated risks, or the investment method of valuation for the existing asset

Copies of the valuation cerificates of Knight Frank LLP, CBRE, jones Lang (aSalle and Cushman & Wakeheld can be found at
priishiand com/reports

A breakdown of valuations spitt between the Group and i#s share of joint ventures and funds s shown below.

2019 018
Jaint FLTLN
veniures venlures
Group and funds Total Group and funds Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Knight Frank LLP 1,434 2,256 3,690 1,674 2,680 4354
CBRE 2,675 221 2,906 4,511 1,403 5914
Jones Lang LaSatle 1,889 1,059 2,988 561 - 561
Cushman & Wakeheld 3,030 19 3,049 3,25} 19 3.270
Total property portfolio valuation 9,028 3,605 12,633 9,997 4,102 14,099
Non-controfling interests (267 (50) (317} [315) 168) (383]
Tatal property portfolie valuation attributable to shareholders 8,761 3,555 12,316 %.682 4034 13,716
Information abaut fair value measurements using unobservable inputs {Level 3] for the year ended 31 March 2019
Faw vatue at ERV per sq it Equivatent yield Costs to complete per sg ft
I March 2019 Yaluatien Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
Investment tm techaigue € [4 € % % * [3 € c
Investment
Retasl 4,278 methadotagy 2 a7 24 4 10 & - 3z &
Investment
QOfhices' 3,769  methodotogy 8 145 58 4 5 4 - 465 53
Investment
Canada Water 302 methodology 15 N 22 2 & 1 - 1 -
Investment
Residential 43  methodology 38 38 a8 4 4 4 - - -
Residual
Developments 520 methadology 47 43 55 4 5 4 - 334 228
Total 8,912
Trading properties
at fair value 116
Group property
portfelio valuation 9,028

¥ Includes owner-occupied

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 139



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

10 Property continued

Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs {Level 3] for the year ended 31 March 2018

Fair value ai ERVpersqft Egqumvatent yeld Costs to complele per sqit
31 March 2018 Valuation Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
Investment £m technigue £ £ E % % £ £ [
Investment
Retal 5,210 methodology 2 84 24 K] 9 5 - 51 2
Investment
Otfices' 3.617 methodoiogy 8 i17 58 4 5 4 - 323 53
Investrment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 38 4 4 4 - 2z {34}
Investment
Residentaat 70 methodology 15 29 22 2 4 4 - 1 1
Residual
Developments 355 methodology 18 1) 61 2 b 5 - 414 541
Total 9535
Trading properties
at faw value 462
Group property
portfolio valuation 9,997

1 includes owner-occumad

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3) on the fair value of the Group's property portfotio for

the year ended 31 March 2019

Impact en vatuations

impact on valuations

Impact on vatuatians

Farr value at

31 March 2019 +5% ERY -5% ERY -25bpsNEY  +25bps NEY -5% costs +5% costs

£m £m £m £m Em £m £m

Retail 5,530 230 1220) 272 [251) - -
Ofhces' 5,444 228 {207} 361 {313) - -
Canada Water 303 4 14} 5 {4) N {30}
Residential 99 1 111 2 12) - -
Developments 940 48 152} b4 (60) 26 {30}
Group property portfolio valuation 12,316 511 {4841 704 (6301 57 {60}

b Includes trading properties at fair value

Information about the impact of changes in uncbservable inputs {Level 3} on the fair value of the Group’s property portiolio for the year ended

31 March 2018

tmpact on valualions

Impact an valuations

mpatt on valuations.

31’:0:;-:?.“;;135 5% ERY 5% ERV 25bpsNEY  +25bps NEY S%costs  +5% costs

Em Em m Emn £€m £m fm

Retad 5.210 210 199} 269 {278) na na
Offices’ 4,079 1867 (161} 244 {219) na na
Canada Water 283 4 {5l 1 il 21 {20)
Residenuat 70 1 il 2 2] - -
Devetopments 355 N i31) 39 £35] 13 (13
Group property portfolio valuation 9.997 413 1397) 555 {539} 34 {33]

1 Inctudes trading groperties at fair value
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10 Property continued

All other factors being equat

- a higher equivatent yield or discount raie would lead to a decrease in the valuation ol an asset

- anincrease in the current or estimated future rentat stream would have the effect of increasing the capitai value

- anincrease in the costs to comptete would 1ead to a decrease in the vatuation of an asset.

However, lheie are interrelationships between the unobservable mputs which are partially determuned by market candibions, which wouid
impact an these changes

Additianal property disclosures - including covenant information

At 31 March 2019, the Group property portiolio valuation of £9.028m [2017/18 £9,997m] comprises freeholds of £4,929m (2017/18 £5,711m;
virluat freeholds of £940m {2017/18 £895m), and lang leasehalds of £3,097m [2017/18 £3,391m), and short teaseholds of £62m [2017/18- Enilt
The fustorical cost of properties was £5,853m (2017/18. £6.294m)

The property valuation does not include any mvestrment properties hetd under operating leases (2017/18 E£nil}
Cumulative interest capitalised against investment, development and trading propecties amounts to £99m [2017/18: £101m)

Properties valueg at £1,019m {2017/18 £1,202m! were subject to a secunity interest and other properties of non-recourse companies amounted
to £1.115m {2017/18: £1,245m}, tatalling £2,134m {2017/18. £2,447m)

tncluded wathin the property valuation 1s £28m [2017/18 £60m| in respect of accrued contracted rental uplifi income The balance arises
through the IFRS treatment of leases containing such arrangements, which requires the recognition of rental income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying value of the praperty against which
revaluyations are measured

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement far the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

Jownt ventures Funds. Toral Equity Loans Tatal

£m Em &m tm Em &m

At 1 April 2018 2.600 222 2,822 2.392 430 2,822

Additions 23 38 (-} 41 20 61

Disposals (2 - (2} - 12} 21

Share of profit on ordinary actvities after taxatton 24 117} 7 7 - 7
Distributions and dwidends

- Capital {260] - (2460} (260] - {260]

- Revenue (73 {13) as} (8al - {84)

Hedging and exchange movements 18 - 18 18 - 18

At 31 March 2019 2.330 230 2,560 2,112 448 2,560
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

The summarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the foliowing page show 100% of the results, assets and Liabilities of

jont ventures and funds Where necessary. these have been restated to the Group's accounting policies
Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

Broadgate MSC Praperty
REIT Inlermediate
Lid Holdings Ltd

BL Sawsbury
Superstares
Ld

Norges Bank

Furo Bluebell LLP investment
Partners (GIC Management 1 Sainsbury plc
City Otfices  Shopping Centres

Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m £m
Revenue® 194 102 32
Costs (60} (24) -

134 78 32
Adminsstrative expenses 1) - -
Net interest payable {71] 32| Ll
Underiying Profu 62 4é 21
Net valuation movement 17 (152 1
Caputal financing costs (371 - (3
{Loss) profit on disposal of invesiment properties and investments 10 - (4]
Prafit [loss) on ordinary actmvities before taxation 152 (108) 15
Taxation 4 - -
Profit [loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 156 {108) 15
Other comprehensive iIncome 36 - -
Total comprehensive income (expense) 192 {106) 15
British Land share of total comprehensive income (expense} 36 {53 8
British Land share of distributions payable 275 4 20
Summarised balance sheets Em ) Em
Investment and trading properties 4024 1,764 488
Current assets {1} 4 4
Cash and deposits 219 31 40
Gross assets 46,242 1,779 532
Current Liabilities 831 37} (22i
Bank and securiised debt 11,4421 (612t 1194]
Lozns from joint veniure partners {479} (385} -
Other non-current liabilities - (20§ -
Gross Labitities 12,004) {1,054} [218)
Net assels 2,238 725 314
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,119 363 157

1 LSS joini ventures include the Eden Walk Shapping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnershup

2. Hercules Uit Trysl joini ventures and sub-funds ncludes 50% of the results of Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust, Fort Kinnaird Limited Partnership and Yalentine

Co-Ownership Trust and £1,25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these joint ventures and sub-funds

3. Included in the column headed "Other joint ventures and funds’ are contaibuttons from the foltowing- BL Goodman Limited Partnership, The Aldgale Place Lirmited
Partnership. Bluebutton Property Management UK Limited, Ctty of L.andon Gifice Unit Trust and Pillar Retaii Europark Fund [PREF] The Group's ownership
share of PREF 15 65%, however as the Group is not able to exercise control over sigraficant decistons of the fund, the Group equily accounts for its interest in PREF

4. Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of £310m2017/18: £385m)
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uss Hercules Unit Trusi Other Total
The SouthGate Lymded Parinership venu.::elzs 2 ;(;:L:ETS;L?? ;mn;:g rl‘l:::f; ;:tla': Braue sl;;::
Unwersities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scheme Group PLC
Shopping Shopping Retail
Cenires Cenires Parks
50% 50% Variwous
im £m Em Em £m Em
18 14 33 - 393 196
14) {s] (8 {1 (102) (51)
14 9 25 11 291 145
- - (1 - 2 4])]
____HI__ - [ o - (118} l5_8_l
13 9 23 {n 173 84
[25i {15 {524 { (121 (63
- - (2 - (42) {21)
- - £7] 3 4 3
12} 16} (381 3 8 ]
- - - - 4 2
21 3] (28) 3 12 7
- - - - 35 18
i12) 6] {38) 3 48 25
(61 13} (191 2 5 -
S 4 13 - kFd -
£m &m £m Em £m £m
252 238 454 - 7.202 3,601
i 1 ) 40 55 27
9 6 13 5 323 162
262 245 475 45 7.580 3,790
(3 14 RN (10} (170} {85}
- - - - {2.250) (1,125}
- 130) - (6) 900) 1450)
(28} - - 8 (20) 120)
(31) 134) (1) (8l [3,340) {1,680
21 211 464 37 4,228 2,110
114 105 232 18 2,116

The borrawings af joint ventures and funds and thew subsidiaries are non-recourse te the Group. All joint ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdem, with the gxception
of Broadgate RE!T Limited and the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unst Trust which are incerporaled in jersey. Of the funds, the Hercules Unit Trust [HUT) joint ventures and
sub-funds are incorperated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg

These financial statements include the resufts and financial position of the Group s interestin the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership, the
BL Goodman Lwnited Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership Accordingly, advantage has been taken of the exemptions provided by Regulation 7 of the
Partnership {Accounts] Regulalions 2008 nol to atiach the partnershup accounts to these hinancial slatemnents

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 143



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
The summansed income statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and Liabitities of
joint ventures and funds. Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group s accounting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Broadgate MSC Property BL Sainsbury
REIT imermediate Superstoreg
L’ Heldings Lid Lid

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP nvestment
Partners 1GICl Management J Sansbury plc
City Offices  Shopping Centres
Property secter Broadgate Meadawhalt Superstgres
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m Em Em
Revenue® 255 102 3%
Costs (64] {23] ~
iNn 79 39
Admunistrative expenses (1] - -
Net interest payable (82} (33) 18]
Underlying Profit 108 46 23
Net valuation moverment 109 21 i3l
Capntal financing costs - - (26
|Loss| profit on disposat of investment propertes and investments {18} - 9
Profit [loss} an ordinary actwvities before taxation 195 &7 3
Taxation - - -
Profit [loss) on ordinary activities after taxation . 195 47 3
Other comprehensive iIncome lexpendiiure) 13 3 -
Total comprehensive income 208 70
British Land share of total comprehensive income (expense) 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 31
Summarised balance sheets £m Em Em
Investrnent and trading properties 4 648 1.895 523
Current assets & & -
Cash and deposiis 21 39 90
Gross assels 4,965 1,940 613
Current Liabrities (107 41 {24
Bank and securttised debt {1,7441 (641] {251}
Loans from jomt venture partners {465} {364} -
Other non-current Liabilities (41} {20} -
Gross liabibies 2,357] [1,068) 1275}
Nek assets 2,608 874 338
British Land share of net asseis less shareholder loans 1,304 437 1469

. Included within the Broadgate REIT revenue 1s a £29m {£15m Briish Land share) payment received in June 2017 from the Royal Bank of Scotland in relation to their
sucrender of a lease at 135 Bishopsgate
USS (omt ventures tnclude the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Uml Trust and the Farehamn Property Partnership

3. Hercules Unit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the resulls of Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust, Gibraliar Limited Parinership and Valentine Co-Ownership

Trust and 41.25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheel shows 50% of the asseis of these jont ventures and sub-funds

4. Included in the column headed "Other joint venlures and funds’ are contnbutions {rom the follawing: BL Goodman Limiled Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited
Parinerstup. Bluebulton Property Management UK Lirruted, City of Londen Oifice Urut Trust and Pillar Retail Europark Fund IPREF] The Group's ownership share of PREF
15 65%, however as the Group is not able to exercise conirol over signihicant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts for ds inerest in PREF

. Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of £385m (2017/18, £637m]

N

o
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uss Hercules Unil Trust Other Total
jaint 10in1 Yentures jent vendures Total Group share

The SouthGate Limited Partaership ventures? and sub-fungds? and {unds* 2018 Foil)

Unaversities

Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scheme Groug PLC
Shopping Shopping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
£m {m £m Em £m £m
18 13 34 & 469 235
(4} (4} {5] i2] {102 151)
14 9 31 4 357 184
[l - - - 2) (1}
0] - 14) - (136} i88)
12 9 27 4 229 115
10 - (28] - 105 52
- - - - {28) (13)
1 - - 2 (&) (31
23 9 1) 6 302 151
23 9 {1 & 302 151
- - - - 16 B
23 9 k)] [ 318 159
n 5 (1) 3 159
] 4 14 - 23
m £m £m £m £m £m
275 250 590 - 8,201 4,100
1 i 4 42 A0 31
9 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 404 50 8,715 4,358
[4) 3] mj {15} {207} (105}
- - {140] - (2,778) {1,388}
- {26] - 16} {861) 1430}
{28) - 4 5 (88) {43}
{32) {31) (155} (18) 13,932} 11,96¢)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,392
127 113 224 16 2,392

& Included in the columa headed Other joint ventures and funds are contributions from the following BL Goodman Lumited Parinership, The Aldgate Place Limeted
Parinership, Bluebution Property Management UK Limiied, Crty of London Office Unik Trust and Pitlar Retail Europark Fund [PREF] The Group's ownership share of PREF
15 65%, however as the Group 1s not able to exercise control over significant decisions of the fund. the Group equily accounts for ts interest in PREF

7 Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of €385m (2016/17 £437m)

The barrowsngs of joint venlures and funds and ther subsidiarigs are non-recourse ta the Group Al joint ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdom, with the excepiion
of Sroadgate REIT Limiled and the Eden Walk Shapping Cenire tinit Trust winch are incorparated in Jersey Of the funds, the Hercules Unit Trust IHUT] joint ventures and
sub-funds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF 1n Ltuxembourg

These financial stalements include the results and Inanciat position of the Group s interest n the Fareham Property Pacinership, the Aldgate Place Limited Parinership, the
BL Goodrman Limited Partnership, the Auchinlea Partnership and the Gibraltar Lemited Partnership Accordingly, advantage has been taken ol Lthe exemptions provided by
Regulation 7 of the Partnership (Accounts) Regulations 2008 not 1o atlach the partnership accounts to these Tinanaial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds (Group share)

2019

ma

(1] £
Rental income receved from tenants 140 199
Operaling expenses paid to suppliers and employees (23t 221
Cash generated from operations 137 177
Interest paid {70} {734
interest recewed 1 1
UK carporation tax pad {2l it
Cash inflow from aperating activities &6 104
Cash inflow from aperating activities deployed as:
Surplus cash retained wathin joint ventures and funds 7 26
Revenue distributions per consabidated stztement of cash flows 59 78
Revenue distributions split between controlling and non-controlling interests
Altributable to non-controlling interests 3 2
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 56 76
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12 Other investments

2019 2018
Fair value Property, Fair value Properiy,
through Amortised ptant and Intangible through Amarused plant and intangible

profit or loss cosi equigment assets Totat prahit or loss cost equiprméent assels Total

£m £m tm £m £m Em tm E€m Em fm

ALY Aprit L3 V4 28 24 10 174 107 27 11 9 154
Additions - 8 4 4 14 - - 15 4 19
Transfers / dispasals - {27 - - t27) - (2} - - {21
Revaluation 2 [4) - - f2) 5 Kl - - 8
Depreciation / amortisation - - (6] (&) {101 - - (2} I3} {5
At 31 March 114 5 22 10 151 112 28 24 10 174

The investment at fair value through profit or loss comprises snterests as a trust benehciary The trust's assets comprise freehold reversions
in a poot of commercial praperties, compnising Sainsbury’s superstares The interest s categorised as Level 3 in the far value hierarchy, 1s
subject to the same inpuls as those disclosed in note 10, and its fair value was determined by the Directors, supported by an exiernal valuation

13 Debtors

2019 018
im Em
Trade and other debtors 48 28
Prepayments and accrued income ? 7
57 39

Trade and other deblors are shown after deducting a prowiston for tenant incentives of £15m (2017/18 £14ml and a proviston for doubtful debts
of £5m {2017/18 £5m) The provision for doubtful debts is calculated as an expected credit toss on trade and other debtors in accordance with
IFRS 9 [see Note 1. The charge to the income statement i relation to the wrie off of tenant incentives was £1m (2017/18 Etm)

The Cirectors con51der that the carrymg amount of trade and other debtors 1s approximate to their far value There 1s no cancentration

¥ el =k - . [ — ~f - =t P PR — .
of cradi risk wilh respedi o irads 35 tne Group has g largs numper of cust rswho are payng thed ront o 3ovance
14 Creditors
2019 208
£m £m
Trade creditors 94 146
Other taxation and social securdy 42 30
Accruals a2 73
Deferred income ra| 75
289 324

Trade creditors are interest-free and have settlement dates within one year The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other
creditors is approximate to their fair value
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

15 Other non-current liabilities

2019 2018
£m tm
Head leases 92 52
92 62
16 Deferred tax
The moverment on deferred tax 1s as shown below
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2019
1 April Debitedto Credited 31 March
w018 ncome 10 equity 2019
£m Em Em £m
interest rate and currency derwvative revaluations 4 3l - 1
Other uming differences 7 (1) - [
11 (4} - 7
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2019
£m £m m fm
Property and mvestment revaiuations {7 - 1 (81
(7 - 1 (13
Net deferred tax assets 4 4l 1 1
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018
14p5i Lredited to Debited 31 March
017 ncome to equity 2018
o _ fm Em fm £m
Interesl rate and currency dervalive revatluations 4 5 (sl 4
Gther timing differences 7 - - 7
1" 5 {5 1
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
Em &m £€m m
Property and investment revatuations 171 - - ¥l
{71 - - 17]
Net deferred tax assets 4 5 {5} 4

The following corporation fax rales have been substantively enacted 19% effective from T April 2017 reducing to 17% efiective from 1 Apnit
2020. The deterred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at the tax rate effective in the period that the tax 1s expected to crystallise.

The Group has recogrised a deferred tax asset calculated at 17% (2017/18: 17%) of £6m (2017/18 £7rml in respect of capital losses from

previous years available for offset against futyre capual profit. Further unrecognised deferred tax assets i respect of capital losses of

£123m {2017/18. £123m) ewist at 31 March 2019

The Group has recogrised deferred tax assets on derwative revatuations to the extent that future matching taxable profits are expected

fo arise

At 31 March 2019, the Group had an unrecognised deferred tax asset catculaled at 17% (2617/18: 17%) of £49m [2017/18 £43ml in respect

of UK revenue tax losses from previous years

Under the REIT regime, devetopment progerties wiich are sold wittun three years of campletion do not benekit from tax exemption

At 31 March 2019, the value of such properties is £148m [2017/18: €176rm) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemptien

was avalable, the tax ans:ing would be E11m (2017/18. £13m).
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17 Net debt

2019 ma
Fooinoie £&m Em
Secured on the assets of the Group
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 348 369
5 0035% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 94 95
5 357% Firsi Mortgage Debeniure Bonds 2072 252 235
Bank loans 1 512 512
Loan nates 2 2
1,228 1,233
Unsecured
5.50% Senior Notes 2027 99 100
3.895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018 2 - 27
4 635% Seruor US Dotlar Notes 2021 2 148 156
4.766% Senicr US Ootlar Notes 2023 2 1056 97
5 (03% Senior US Doftar Notes 2026 2 &9 63
3 81% Senicr Notes 2024 m 118
3 97% Semior Notes 2026 113 12
(% Convertible Bond 2020 343 337
2.375% Sterling Unsecurad Bond 2029 298 2e8
4 16% Senior US Dollar Notes 2025 2 78 -
2 67% Senior Notes 2025 37 -
2.75% Seruor Notes 2026 37 -
Floating Rate Semior Notes 2028 80 -
Bank loans and overdralis 264 595
1,803 1,895
Gross debt 3 3,031 3.128
Interest rate and currency derivative kiabibires 130 138
Interest rate and currency dervative assets (154) (3115}
Cash and short term deposits 45 {242) [105]
Total net debt 2,745 3,046
Net debt attributable to non-controfling interests {104) [109]
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,661 2,937
1 These are noh-recourse borrowings with no recourse lor repayment to other compamies or assets 1n 1he Group
W
Hercutes Ung Trust 512 512
512 512

[

Principal and interest an these borrowings were fully hedged into Sterling al a Hoating rate at the ime of 1ssue
The printipal amount of gross debt at 31 March 2019 was £2,881m [2017/18 £3,007m) Included in this »s the principal amownt of secured borrowings and other borrowings
of non-recourse compantes of £1,158m of which the borrowsngs of the partly-owned subsidiary, Hercules Unit Trust, not beneficiaily owned by the Group are £112m

Included within cash and short term deposits is the cash and short term deposiis of Hercules Und Trusi, of which E¥m s the propertion not beneficially owned by the Group
Cash and deposis not subject to a secunty terest amount to £228m 12017/18 £91m|

w

oo

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 149



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

17 Net debt continued

Maturity analysis of net debt
20%% 2018

£ m

Repayable withen one year and on demand 9?9 27
Between: gne and two years 710 163
two and five years &44 1.1%

five and ten years 808 803

ten and hfteen years 305 305

fitteen and twenty years 465 £36

2,932 3,101

Gross debt 3,031 3128
Interest rate and currency denvatives (24) 23
Cash and short term deposits 1242} (105}
Net debt 2,765 3,045

0% Convertible bond 2015 (maturity 2020]
On 9 June 2015, British Land [Wiate) 2015 Limeted {the 2015 lssuer], 3 wholly-owned subsitiary of the Group, 1ssued £350 madlion zero coupon
guaranteed converuible bands due 2020 {the 2015 bonds} at par. The 2015 Issuer 1s fully guaranteed by the Company i respect of the 2015 bonds.

Subject to thair lerms, the 2015 bonds are conver lble into preference shares of the 2015 issuer which are automiatically transferred to
the Company in exchange for ordinary shares 1n the Company or, at the Company’s election, any combtnation of ordinary shares and cash.
Bondholders rmay exercise their conversion nght at any hme up to but excluding ihe 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020 {ihe malurity datel,
a bondholder may convert at any ime.

The mitial exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordmary share The exchange price 1s adjusted based on certain events [such as the Company paying
dwidends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary sharel As at 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007 24 pence per erdinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Carmpany has the option to redeem the 2015 bends at par if the Company s share price has traded above 130% of
the exchange price for a speaified period, or at any ime once B5% by norminal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted. redeermed. or
purchased and cancelled. The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par an 9 June 2020 {the maturity date} if they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled.

Fair value and book value of net debt

2019 2018
Fair value Book value Ditterence Faw value Hoak value Dalference
£m €m £m €m £€m £m
Debentures and unsecured bonds 2,036 1.910 126 1,783 1,682 10
Convertible bonds 33 343 - 337 337 -
Bank debt and other floating rate debt 784 778 3 1116 1,109 7
Gross debt 3,183 3,03 132 3,236 3,128 108
{nterest rate and currency derivative liabilities 130 130 - 138 138 -
Interest rate and currency derivative assets {154} 154} - [115) 115] -
Cash and short term deposils [242) (2421 - (105) {105 -
Net debt 2,897 2,765 132 3,154 3.046 108
et debt atiributable to non-cantrolling interests {108} {tod) {1} (110} {169t {1
Net debt attributable to sharehoiders of the Company 2,792 2,661 131 3,044 2937 107

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by oblaining quoted market prices from
brokers. The bank debt and other floating rate debt has been valued assuming it could be renegotiated at contracted margins. The dervatves
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected future cash flows, using appropriale market discount rates, by an independent
treasury adviser.

Sheort term debtors and craditors and other invastments have been excluded from the disclosures on the basis that the fair value 15 equivalent
to the book value. The fair value hierarchy (evel of debt held at amortised cost is level 2 [as defined in note 101,
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17 Net debt continued

Group loan to value (LTV]

2019 018
. £m £m
Group loan to value (LTV] 22.2% 22.1%
Principal amount of gross debt 2,881 3.007
Less debt attributable to non-controlling snterests 2 {1191
Less cash and short term deposits {balance shest} {242} (105|
Plus cash attributable te non-controlling interests ? 0
Total net debt for LTV catculation 2,536 2.793
Group property partfolio velustion [nate 10) 9,028 9,997
Investments in joint ventyres and funds {note 11 2,560 2,822
Other investments (note 12) 151 174
Less property and invesiments atinbutable to non-contrelling interests 3n {384}
Total assets for LTV calculation 1,422 12,627
Praoportionally consolidated loan to value (LTV)
“em "o
Proportionally consolidated loan to value {(LTV] 28.1% 28 4%
Principal amount of gross debt 4,007 4,399
Less debi attnibutable to non-controbing interests 112} 113sl
Less cash and short term deposits 1£02) {331}
Plus cash attnbutable to nen-controlling interests 9 10
Total net debt for proportional LTV calculation 3,502 3,943
Group property portfolio valuation (note 10] 9,028 8,997
Share of property of joint ventures and funds [note 10 3,605 4,102
Other nvestments [note 121 151 174
Less other investments attributable Lo joint ventures and funds - (2
Less property attributable to non-controlling interests {317} {3834
Total assets for proportional LTV calculation 12,467 13,888
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17 Net debt continued

British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two financial covenanis applicable to the Group unsecured debt including convertible honds are shown below.

019 018
€m Em
Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 2%%
Principal amount of gross debt 2,881 3.007
Less the relevant proportion of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests 1121 (119
Less cash and deposits (balance sheet} {2621 {1051
Plus the relevant proportian of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests b4 10
Net Borrowings 2,536 2,793
Share capital and reserves {halance sheet] 8,489 2.506
EPRA delerred tax adjusiment (EPRA Table Al 5 ]
Trading property surpluses [EPRA Table Al 29 134
Exceptional refinancing charges {see belowl . 216 233
Fair value adjustments of financial instruments [EPRA Table A} 13 137
Less reserves attributable to nan-contralling interests [balance sheet} 211 {254
Adjusted Capitat and Reserves 8,841 9.761

In calculating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there is an adjustment of £216m
12017/18 £233m) to reflect the cumulative net amortised excephional ttems relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,
2006 and 2007

2009 018

£m £m
Het Unsecurad Dorrewings not {c excesd 70% af Uneacumbersd ASsels 21% 23%
Principal amount of grass debt 2,881 3.007
Less cash and deposits not subject to a securty interest [being £228m less the relevant proportion of cash and (221) {84]
deposits of the parily-awned subsidiary/non-controlling interesls of £7m)
Less principat armount of secured and non-recourse borrowings 1,158] 1,159
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,502 1,764
Group property portfolio valuation (note 10] 9,028 9,997
Investments in jont ventures and funds [note 111 2,580 2,822
QOther mvestments [note 12) 151 174
Less investments in joint ventures (2,540) {2,822
Less encumbered assets [note 10§ {2,134) (2,667
Unencumbered Assets 7.045 1,724
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17 Net debt continued

Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2019

Arrangement
Foreign costs
2018 Cash fiows Transfers® exchange Fair value amortisation 2019
tm £m £m im £m £rn £m
Short term borrowings 27 {25t 99 (2t - - 99
Long term borrowings 3,101 {105} 199) [22} 53 4 2,932
Derwvatives! 23 12) - 24 {69] - (24)
Total biabilities from financing actvities® 3,151 {132) - - (151 4 3,007
Cash and cash equwalents {105} {1371 - - - - (242}
Net debt 3,046 {2691 - - (16} 4 2,765
Reconcitiation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018
Arrangement
Faregn cosls
M7 Cash flows Transfers? exchange Fair value amerlisaten 2018
Em £m £m €m £m £m £m
Shart term borrowings 4é4 {458} 27 - (&l - 27
Long term borrowings 2817 161 (271 (40} (10 - 3100
Cerwvatives? (73) 29 - &0 27 - 23
Total batlittes from financing activities® 3,208 {68 - - i1 - 3.151
Cash and cash equivalents {114 9 - - - - {108)
Net debt 3.094 159} - - 11 - 3.046

. Cash [lows on desvatives include £ 17m of net receipts an derivalive interest
Cash flows on derivatives include £20 of net receipts on dervalive interest
Transfers comprises debt maturing from long term to short term borrowings

[

Lach flowe of £ ¥32m chown shnve renrocents nat rach Hawe an ranital paymenlsin

sepact of mnlarest rate danwativs of £19m decrozze :n hank and sther horrpwinngs of

£576m and drawdowns on bank and slher borrowings of £446m shown in the consclidated statement of cash flows, along wath £17m of net receipls on denvalive interest

w

Cash flows of E68m shown above represents net cash flows on interest rale derwvatve closeouls of £9m, decrease in bank and other borrawings of £624m and

drawdowns on bank and other borrowings of £529m shown 1n the consolidaled stalement of cash fiows, atong with £20m of nel receipls on dervative interest

Fair vatue hierarchy

The table betow provides an analysis of financ@al instruments carned at fair value, by the valuation method The fair value hierarchy levels are

defined In note 19.

2019 ma

Level t Level 2 Llevel 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal

£m £m im £m £m Em Em £m

Interest rate and currency derivative assets - f154) - (154} - [115] - f115]
Other investments - fair value through profit

or toss (14} - {100) (114} (14} - {98 (112]

Assets (14} (154) (100] (258} {14} {1151 198) [227]

Interest rate and currency derwative

Liabilitses - 130 - 130 - 138 - 138

Convertible bonds 343 - - 343 337 - - 337

Liabitities 343 130 - 473 337 138 - a75

Total 329 {24) {100} 205 323 23 {98) 248
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17 Net debt continued
Categories of financial instruments

2019 2018
£€m £m
Financial assets
Fair value throygh income statement
Otharinvestments - fair value threugh sroht or loss 114 o8
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships'? 148 110
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships ] 5
Amortised cost
Trade and other debtors 48 28
Cash and short term deposits 242 105
Other investments - amoruised cost S 42
543 388
Financiat tiabilities
Fair value through income staternent
Convertible bond {343) {337
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships’ {4) (5}
Derivatives not in designated accounting retationships {128} (133
Amaortised cost
Gross debt (2,688] {2,791)
- Head leases payable (92) (62)
Creditors {208) {237}
[3,461) (3,565l
Total (2,898) 3.177)

1 Derwatwve assets and labilines in destgnated hedge accounting relationships sit within the derwative assets and derwative liabiliies balances of the consolidated
batance sheel

2 The fair value of denvative assets in designated hedge accounting relationships represents the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments on hedged items

Gains and losses on hnanaial instrurments, as classed above, are disclosed in note 6 Inet financing costs), note 13 [debtors), the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
investments and head leases payable are appraximate to thetr fair value, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable.

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holders of The British Land Cornpany PLC,
camprsing (ssued capital, reserves and retained earnings Risks relating to capitat structure are addressed within Managing nisk in delivering
our strategy on pages 54 to 57. The Group's abjectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out in the Financial policies and
principles en pages 51 to 53

Interest rate risk management
The Group uses mterest rate swaps and caps 1o hedge exposure to the variability in cash flows on floating rate debt, such as revolving bank
facilitves, caused by movernents in markel rates of interest.

At 31 March 2019, the lair value of these dervatives is a net liability of £12tm Interest rate swaps with & fair value of £4m have been designated
as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9

The ineffectiveness recognised in the Income statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2019 was £l {2017/18. Ent].

The cash flows occur and are charged to profit and loss untit the maturity of the hedged debt. The table below summarises vanable rate debt
hedged at 31 March 2019.
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17 Net debt continued
Variable rate debt hedged

2019 2018

Em Em

Outstanding. at one year 1,155 775
at two years 1,005 400

a fve years 250 256

at ten years 250 250

Fair vatue hedged debt
The Group uses inlerest rate swaps lo hedge exposure on fixed rate financial Liabilities caused by movernents in market rates of interest.

At 31 March 2019, the far value of these dervatives 15 a nat asset of £145m. Interest rate swaps with a fair value of £148m have been
designated as fair value hedges under IFRS 9 (2017/18. asset of £110m}

The cross cutrency swaps of the 2021/2023/2025/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure at an average floating
rate of 142 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as far vaiue hedges of the US Private Placements

interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives

2019 2018

&m £m

Fixed or capped rate 2,222 2107
Variable rate inet of cashl 543 939

2,765 3,046

All the deht 15 effectively Sterling denomanated except for £3m |2017/18: £3m] of Euro debt of which £3m is at a vanable rate [2017/18: £3m)
and £1m of USD debt of which E1mm 15 at a vaniable rate {2018/19 £nil )

At 31 March 2019 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt s 3 4% [2017/18 3 2%). The weighted average period for
which the rate 1s fixed 15 B S years (2017/18 9 1 vears) The Hoatng rate dehi s set for periods of the Company's chonsino at the relevant
LIBOR (or similar] rate

The proportion of net debt [on a preporticnatly consolidated basis| at fixed or capped rates of interest was 87% at 31 March 2019 on a spot
basis The proportion of net debt at fixed or capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, an a proportionally
consolidated basis, was 63% at 31 March 2019 Based on the Group's interest rate profile, at the balance sheet date, 3 98 bps increase in
interest rates would decrease annual preohis by £9m {2017/18: £59m decrease based on a 576 bps increase) Similarly, a 85 bps reduction
would increase profits by £9m (2017/18 £10m increase based on a 72 bps reduction} The change i interest rates used for this seastmvity
analysis 1s based on the largest annual change in three-month Sterling LIBOR over the ast ten years The impact assumes LIBOR does not
tall below 0%

Upward movernents :n medium and lang term interest rales, associated with higher interest rate expeciations, increase the value of the
Group s snierest rate swaps and caps thal provide protection against such moves The converse 1s true for downward mavements in the yield
curve A 173 bps shift represents the targest annual change 1n the seven-year Sterling swap rate over the last tenyears At 31 March 2019

a 173 bps paraliel upward shift 1n swap rates would increase the value of cash flow hedges and dervatives that are not hedge accounted by
£65m[2017/18 E48Bm based on a 204 bps mcrease) A 173 bps downward shift in swap rates wouls reduce the value of these dervatives by
€£62m [2017/18 £81m based on a 204 bps decrease]

The 0% 2015 Convertrible Bond is designated as fair value through profit or less Principal components of the market value of this bond
inciude British Land's share price and its valatility, and market interest rates

The fair value of the 0% 2015 Converuble Bond at 31 March 2019 was 3 £343m liability At 31 March 2019 a 173 bps parallel upward shift
Ininterest rates would reduce the fair value hiabitity by £7m. and a 173 bps doewnward shift 1n interest rates would increase the fair vatue
lrability by £7m
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17 Net debt continued

Foreign currency risk management

The Group's policy 15 to have no material unhedged net assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The currency risk on
overseas investments is hedged via joresgn currency denominated barrowings and derwatives. The Group has adopted net investment
hedging 1n accordance with IFRS ¢ and therefore the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognised directly in equity The ineffective pertien of the gain or loss on the hedgmng instrument 1s recognised
wnmediately 1n the Income statement

The table helow shews the carrying amounts of the Group’'s foreign currency denorminated assets and latnliies Provided contingent tax
on averseas investments s not expected ta occur it will be ignored for hedging purposes Based on the 31 March 2019 position a 26%
appreciatron llargest annual change over the last ten years) in the Euro relatve to Slerling would result in a £nd change (2017/18. Eait)
n reported profits Based on the 31 March 2019 position a 27% appreciation llargest annual change over the last ten yearsi in the USD
relative to Sterting woutd result s a Enil change (2017/18 Enid) in reported profits

Assels Labdities
F{als 2hg 2019 018
£m fm Em £m
Euro denominated k) 3 3 3
USD denominated - - 1 -

Credit risk management

The Group's approach to credit risk management of counterparties i1s ceferred to in the Financial policies and principles en pages 51 to 53 and
the risks addressed within Managing risk ¢ delivering our strateqy on pages 54 to 57 The carrying amount of financral assets recorded in the
financeal statements represents the Sroup's Maximum exposure ta credit nisk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Cash and shert term deposits at 31 March 2019 amounted to £242m (2017/18 £105m} Deposis and interest rate deposits were placed with
financial instituttons with BBB+ or better credit ratings

Al 31 March 2819, the fair value of all interest rate derivative assels was £154m (2017/18. €115m}

At 31 March 2019, prior to taking into account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exposure to a single counterparty arising

fomeo A o emtimnainie moadd A eta o FIO0mn IO TTIO0 0] T N a1 M0 Nt .
UGUIT VeSS (15 Gitw GE1 IWaUYes Was Looiit {(&ui 7 ia + 731 i

Fmers o s oot Ao
Ui Imaricy (rrgdi RE GOPUSIS,

fafmi This represenis UM 200718 O 4% of grass 35585,
The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UX branches of international banks

Provisions are made for trade recevables taking into account tustoric credit losses and the creditworthuness of debtors

Liquidity risk management
The Group's approach to iquidity risk management 1s discussed n the Ftnanciat policies and principles on pages 51 to 53, and the risks
addressed within Maraging nisk in delivering aur strategy on pages 54 to 57.

The foilowing table presents a matunity profile of the contracted undiscounied cash flows of financial babilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be reguired to pay. The table includes both interest and principal flows Where the interest payable 1s not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates implied by yield curves at the reporting date.

For derivative financial instruments that settte 6n a net basis (e g. interest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash flows are shawn and for
derwatives thal reguire gross settlernent [e.g. cross currency swaps| the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented Where payment
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 1s used Trade creditors and amounts owed
to joint ventures, which are repayable within one year, have been excluded from the analysis.

The Group expects to meel its financial liabilittes 1hrough the various available liquidity sources, including a secure rental iIncome profile,
asset sales, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and, in the {onger term, debt refinapcings

The Group leases out all its investment praperties under operabing leases with a weighted average lease {ength of six years. This secure
income profile IS generated from upward only rent reviews, long leases and high occupancy rates The future aggregate minimum rentals
recenable under non-cancellable operaling leases are also shown in the table below Income from joInt ventures and funds 1s not included
below. Additional liquidity witl arise from (etting space i properties under construction as welt as from distributions received from joint
ventures and funds.
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17 Net debt continued

Liquidity risk management continued
2019

Within Fallowing Three to Over five
ane year year twe years years Tatal
€m Em em &m Em
Debt’ 100 703 835 1,505 2,943
Interest an debt 89 84 212 386 ™
Derwative payments 11 i3 287 243 534
Head lease payments 3 3 ? g2 357
Total payments 203 803 1,123 2,516 4,645
Derwative receipts (26} (27) (334) (180) 1567)
Net payment 177 776 78% 2,336 4,078
Operating leases with tenants &13 387 876 1,307 2,983
Liquidity surptus {deficit] 236 (389) 87 (1,029] i1,095)
Cumulative liquidity surplus [deficit) 236 {153} (48} £1,095)
2018
Within Fallowing Three to Over fva
ane year year {ve years years Total
£m im im Em £m
Debt’ 20 144 1173 1,680 3,049
interest an debt g2 94 232 475 893
Derwative payments 34 16 182 259 49
Head lease payments 2 2 7 247 278
Tatal payments 158 278 1.594 2,681 471
Derwvative receipts o {52 {20! (2691  l194) {477
Net payment 106 258 1.38% 2.485 4,234
Operating leases with tenants 424 399 748 1,490 3.281
Liquidity surptus Ideficit) 318 141 1417) (995) {953)
Cumulative liquidity surptus ideficit} 318 459 42 (983]

1 Gross debt of £3,031m {2017/18. £3,12Bm] represents the total of £2,943m {2017/18 £3.049m]. less unamortised 1ssue costs of £12m (2017/18 £13m), plus fair value
adjusiments to debt of £100m (2017/18 £92m)

Any shart termn hquidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals receivable can be met through other liquidity sources available
1o the Group, such as committed undrawn barrowing faciliies The Group currently holds cash and shart term deposits of £242m of which
£228m 15 nol subject o a securily interest (see fooinote 5 lo net debt table an page 149 Further bguidity can e achieved through sales of
property assets or Investments and debt refinancings

The Group's property portfolic 1s valued externally at £9,028rm and the share of joint ventures and funds’ property 1s valued at £3,605m
The commitied undrawn borrowing facilities avadable to the Group are a further source of Uquidity. The maturity profile of commutted undrawn
borrowing faciities is shown belaw.

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

2009 2018

tm Em

Maturity date aver five years 275 60
between four and five years 832 90

between three and four years 84 1.010

Tolat facilities available for more than three years 1,193 1,160
Between iwo and three years 435 85
Between one and two years - 85
Within one year - -
Total 1,628 1,331

The ahove facilites are comprised of British Land undrawn facilities of £1,542m plus undrawn facilities of Hercules Unit Trust totalling E86m
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18 Leasing

Operating leases with tenants
The Group leases out ail of its \avestment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of six years (2017/18:
eight years] The future aggregate minimum rentais recewabie under non-cancetlable operating leases are as follows

2019 w18
£m Em
Less than one year 413 424
Between ane and two years 387 399
Between three and five years 876 948
Between six and ten years 792 906
Between eleven and fifteen years 314 393
Between sixteen and twenly years 111 145
Alter twenty years 20 Lé
Total 2.983 3.281%
Operating lease commitments
The future aggregate mimimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
019 018
£m &m
Less than ane year 8 3
Between one and two years 8 3
Between three and five years 15 8
Between six and {en years 20 7
Between eleven and fifteen years ? -
Total 58 21

The Group s leasehold investment properties are typically under non-renewable leases without stgauficant restrictions Finance lease Liabiliies
are payable as follows; no contingent rents were payable in either period

019 018

Mimmum Mintmum

lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments nterest Principal
€m £m m £m Em Em

British Land Group

Less than one year 3 3 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 3 - 2 2 -
Between two and five years ¢ 9 - 7 7 -
More than five years ag2 290 92 267 205 42
Tatal 397 305 92 278 216 42

Less future finance charges (305) (214)

Present value of lease obligations 92 62

Maore than five years 92 62

Present value of lease obligations 92 62
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19 Dividends

As announced on 15 May 2019, the Board 15 recornmending a final dividend of 7.75 pence per share, totalling E74m 12017/18 7.52 pence per
share, totailing E74ml. subject to the approval of shareholders, this 1= payable on 2 August 2019 to shareholders on the register at the close of

business on 28 June 2019

PID dividends are paid, as required by REIT legislation, after deduction of withholding tax at the basic rate [currently 20%], where appropriate
Certamn classes of shareholders may be able to elect to receive dwvidends gross. Please refer to our website britishland com/dwidends

for details
Pence per 2019 2018
Payment date Dividend share £€m £m
Curremt year dividends
02 08 2019 2019 Final 7.75¢
0305 2619 2019 3rd 1nterim 775
08.02 209 2019 2nd interim 775 74
0911 2018 2019 1st intenm 775 74
31.00
Prior year dividends
03 08.2018 2018 4th interim 752 74
04 052018 2018 3rd interim 752 74
0% 02.2018 2018 2nd intertm 752 75
16112017 2018 15t interim 152 77
30.08
0408 2017 2017 4th interim 7.30 75
05.05 2017 2017 3rd interimn 730 75
Omdends in consolidated statement
of changes in equity 298 302
Dividends seltied in shares - -
DOivdends settled in cash 2%8 302
Timing difference relating to payment
of withholding tax - 2
Dmdends in cash flow statement 298 304
1 Diwvidend sphi half PID, hatl nen-P10
20 Share capital and reserves
2019 2018

Number of ardinary shares inissue at 1 Aprit
Share 1ssues
Repurchased and cancelled

993,857,125 1,041,035,058
404,377 429,206
(33,672,430) (47,607,139

At 31 March

960,589,072 993,857,125

Of the 1ssued 25p ordinary shares, 7,376 shares were held in the ESOP trust [2017/18: 7,376], 11,246,245 shares were held as treasury shares
[2017/18 11,266,245) and 969,315,451 shares were in [ree issue [2017/18. 982,583.504) No treasury shares were acquired by the ESQP trust
during the year Allissued shares are fully paid In the year ended 31 March 2019 the Company repurchased and cancelled 33,672,430 ordinary

shares at a weighted average price of 594 pence

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foreign currency
hedging instruments, as well gs ail foreign exchange differences anising from the translation of the financial staterments of foreign operations
The foreign exchange differences also include the translatian of the tabilities that hedge the Company's nat investrnent in a foreign subsidiary.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluauon reserve celates to owner-occupied properties and investments in joint ventures and funds
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Merger reserve
This comprises the premium on the share placing in March 2013 No share premium is recorded in the Company's financial statements,
through the cperation of the merger relief pravisions of the Companies Act 2006.

At 31 March 2019, aptions aver 6,308,150 ardinary shares were outstanding under employee share aption plans The options had a weghted
average life of 6 4 years. Detads of autstanding share aptions and shares awarded to employees including Executive Directors are set out below
and on the foilowing page-

Exercise dates

AL Apnl Yesied but Exercised! At 31 March Exercise

Date of grant 2018 Granted At axerased Vested Lapsed 2019 pnce lpancet From To
Share options Sharesave Scheme

190613 14,850 - - (14,2631 (5871 - 51100 01918 010319
23.06 14 82512 - - {2.038] {2,664] 77,810 574 Q¢ 019219 010320
220615 27.900 - - - {27384} 514 69700 01.9.18 010319
22.86 15 15,276 - - - (3.872) 11,404 697 00 01920 010321
2006.14 45,926 - - (394} 113,942 31,570 408 60 01919 010320
200616 22,003 - - - [3,254) 18,747 508 00 019.21 01.0322
210617 256819 - - (5,408) 151.056) 200,355 508 00 01920 010327
210617 96,540 - - {4.485) 124,212 67,843 508 00 01922 010323
29 06 18 - 130,903 - {1091 (18540 112,254 $49 00 01921 010322
29.06 18 - 48,238 - - [7,103) 81,135 549 00 01923 01.0324

561,826 199,141 - [26,697) 1152,636] 581,634

Long-Term incentive Plan - options vested, hot exercised

%05 67 16.333 - - {7751 - 2,562 387.66 2806 26GF 7
21.12.09 58,553 - - [1.615] - 54,938 446.00 241212 2219
11.06 10 1,132,269 - - {20,261 - 1,112,008 447 00 110613 110620
14.12.10 55,133 - - {14,557) - 40,574 51000 141213 141220
2806 1 812,819 - - 13.517] - 799,302 57500 280614 2806
19.12 11 70175 - - {16,327 - 53,848 45100 191214 191221
14.09 12 948,557 - - 1158,974) - B09,583 538.00 140915 140922
201212 62,197 - - (14,546] (888) 446,763 563.00 201215 2001222
05.08 13 294,078 - - {96,859 2,809) 194,410 601 00 050816 050823
05.12.13 171.909 - - 10,601 [6.098] 155,210 46000 051216 051223
28.0617 ) - - 26.540 - - 26,540 61717 280620 280627
3,636,023 - 26,540 (355,008] 19,7951 3,297,760

Long-Term Incentive Plan - unvested options

220615 889,122 - - - (889122) - 81317 220638 220625

2206 16 1,221,620 - - ~ {69271 1,214,693 730.50 220619 2206 7%

28.06 17 1,208,942 - - (265401 (52,2811 1,130,121 817 17 280620 280627

26 0618 - 83,942 - ~ - 83,942 681.40 260621 260628
3,319,684 83,942 - (26,5401 (948,330} 2,428,756

Total 7517533 283083 26,540 (408,245 1,110,761] 6,308,150

Weighted average exercise

price of options (pencel 607 388 §17 548 748 582
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Share price
A1t Apnl Execcised/ At31 March &l grant date
Date of grant 018 Granted Vested Lapsed 201y lpencel  Vesting date
Performance Shares Long-Term incentive Plan
220615 1,068,458 - - 1,048,458} - 81317 220618
2206 18 1,137,050 - - 165,495} 1,071,555 73650 2206 1%
280617 1,897,612 - - (1802101 1,714,702 51717  28.06 20
2606 18 - 1,053,340 - - 1,083,350 68140 2606 21
4,163,120 1,053,360 - 11,314,863} 3,841,617
Restricted Share Plan
2606 18 - 636,776 - i8.794) 427,982 681,40 2606 %
- 838,776 - {8,794) 627,982
Matching Share Plan
290615 282,170 - {141,085] [141.085] - 803.00 26 06.18
2906 16 313.176 - - (19,4441 293,732 S04 00 260619
595,346 - [141,085] [160529f 293,732
Total 4,698,466 1,690,136 (141,085} 11,484,186} 4,763,331
Weighted average price of shares {pence) 699 481 803 781 6465

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources ta investment and asset management accarding to the seciors it expects to perform over the mediem term
Its three principal sectors are Offices, Retail and Canada Water The Retait sector includes leisure, as this 1s often incorporated into Reta
schemes The Other/unallocated sector includes residential properties.

The relevant gross rental income, net rental income, operabing result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segrment
result and segment assels used by the management of Lhe business, are set out below Management reviews the performance of the business
principally on a propartionally consolidated basis, which includes the Group s share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line basis and
excludes non-controiling interests in the Group's subsidianes The cheef operating decision maker for the purpose of segment information

15 the Executive Commutiee.

Gross rental income 15 derved from the rentat of buildings. Operating result 1s the net of net rental income, fee income and adrmuristrative
expenses No cuslomer exceeded 10% of the Graup's revenues in either year
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

21 Segment information continued
Segment result

Qfirces Retad Canada Waler Miherfenallocatad Totat
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 018 2019 2018
Em Em £m €m Em Em €m em £m tm

Gross rental income
British Land Group 150 139 260 273 9 8 1A 4 423 424
Share of joint ventures and
funds 70 162 83 87 - - - - 153 189
Total 220 241 343 360 9 8 4 4 576 513
Net rental income
British Land Group 139 13 238 254 k4 7 4 4 390 396
Share of jaint ventures and
funds bb 98 76 g2 - - - - 142 180
Total 205 229 314 336 9 7 4 4 532 576
Dperating result
British Land Group 132 126 235 248 4 4 {42) 142} 329 336
Share of jamnt ventyres and
funds 61 95 VAl 79 - - - 2 132 172
Total 193 22 308 327 4 4 (42) [44] 461 508
Reconciliation to Underlying Profit 2?-: 20{:‘%
Operating result 441 508
Net financing costs 21l (128]
Underlying Profit 340 380
Reconciliation to [loss) profit on erdinary activities before taxation
Underlying Profit 340 38a
Capital and other (671} 107
Underlying Prolit atlributable to nan-controlling mnterests 12 14
(Loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3193 501
Reconciliation to Group revenue
Gross rental income per operating segrment result 576 813
Less share of gross rental income of joint ventures and funds (153} (189
Plus share of gross rental income attributable to nan-controlling interests 16 17
Gross rental income [note 31 439 £41
Trading property sales proceeds 350 78
Service charge income 76 %]
Management and performance fees (fream joint ventures and fundsl 7 ]
Other fees and commissions 32 43
Revenue {Consolidated Income Statement] 904 639

A reconciliation between net financing costs in the consolidated income statement and net financing costs of £121m {2017/18: £128m} i the
segmental disclosures above can be tound within Table A i the supplementary disclosures OF the total revenues above, £nil [2017/18. Endt)

was derived from outside the UK
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21 Segment information continued

Segment assets

Qlfices Relai Canada Water Qtherfunallocated Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 e 2618 2019 2018
im £m Em €m {m Em im £m £m fm

Property assets
Brivsh Land Group 4,296 £371 4,053 4915 303 283 109 13 8,761 2.682
Share gt joint ventyres and
funds 2,012 2.334 1,524 1.681 - - 19 19 3,555 4,034
Total 6,308 6,705 5,877 6,596 303 283 128 132 12,316 13,716
Reconciliation ta net assets
British Land Group 2?:: xg—:
Property assets 12,316 13,716
Gther non-current assets 151 185
Nen-current assets 12,467 13.,90!
Gther net current Liabilittes (297} [348]
Adjusted net debt (3,521) {3973
Other aon-current Liabilities - -
EPRA net assets [diluted) 8,649 9,560
Non-contralling interests 211 254
EPRA adjustments 171 {308}
Net assets 8,689 9.506

22 Capital commitments

The aggregate capital commitments to purchase, construct or develop investment groperty, for repairs, maintenance or enhancements, or for
the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out below

09

208

£&m £m

Brittsh Land and subsidiaries 177 239
Share of joint veniures 111 193
Share of funds 1 -
289 432

23 Related party transactions
Detads of transactions with joint ventures and funds are given in noles 3, 6 and 11 During the year the Group recognised joint venture
management fees of £6m [2017/18 €£6rm) Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109
Details aof transactions with key management personnel are provided in note 8 Details of transactions with The British Land Group of

Companies Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given sn note 9

24 Contingent liabilities

Group, joint ventures and funds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent babilities n respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties anising in the ordinary

course of business [{1s not anticipated that any material biablities wilt arise frorn contingent liabitities
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests
Set out below 15 summarnised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controtling interests that are rmaterial to the Group.
The inforrnation below 15 the amount before Intercompany eliminations, and represents the consolidated results of the Hercules Unut

Trust group.

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March

Hercules Uni Trust

2019 2018

&m £m

[Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation 1122) 53
Attnibutable to non-controlling interests 29} 14
Attributable to the sharehotders of the Company [93) 39

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March

Hercules Unit Trus!

20 2018
£m Em
Tatal assets 1,415 1,548
Total babitities (561} (565)
Net assets 854 983
Non-controlling tnterests (211 (Zj_S_ﬂ
Equity attributahle to shareholders of the Company 643 729

summarised cash flows

Hergules Unut Trust

0%¢ 2018

Net {decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equvalents at 1 April

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

~tm . ,E,m
13} 3
43 40
40 43

The Hercuies Umit Trust is a closed-ended property Unit Trust. The unit price at 31 March 201915 £563 [2037/18: £684). Non-controlling
nterests collectively own 21 9% of units in1ssue The Briish Land Company PLC owns 78 1% of units in issue, each of which confer equal

voting rights, and therelore 1s deemed 1o exercise control over the trust

26 Subsequent events
There have been no sigmificant events since year end.
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries
The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements af the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of
Section 4794 of that Act

Companies House Companes House
Name reg number Name req aumber
17 19 Bediord Street Limited 7398971 BL Whiteley Limited 11253224
18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited 7667839 BL Whiteley Retast Limited 11254281
20 Brock Street Limuted 7401697 BLO [Ebury Gate] Limited 38463857
8-10 Throgmaorton Avenue Limited 3669490 BLD Properties Lumited 0732787
Adshiita Limited 1052683 BLU Securities Limited 3323061
Bayeast Property Co Limted 0435800 Boldswitch Limited 2307094
BF Propco {No 1} Limited 5270158 British Land Agua Partnership [2} Lirmuted 4024921
BF Propco (Mo 3} Limited 5270194 British Land Agua Partnership Limited 6024919
BF Propco {No 4 Limited 5270137 Betish Land City Offices Limited 3946069
BF Propco INo 5] Limited 5270219 British Land tn Town Retail Lirmited 3325064
BL [Maidenhead] Company Limited 76467834 British LLand Leisure Lirmited 5215386
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited 9400407 Brtish Land Offices [Non-City] Limited 2740378
BL Broadgale Fragment 2 Limited 400541 British Land Superstores [Non Securitised]
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited 9400417 Number 2 Lunited 6514283
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited 9400409 Caneda Water Gilrces Limited 10182467
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited 9400413 Carnish Residential Properties Trading Limited 4106134
BL Broadgate Fragment 6 Lirnited 9400414 Coraish Residential Property investments Limited 3523833
BL Cufton Moor Limited 7508019 Dinwelt Limited 5035303
BL CW Developments Lirited 10664198 Exchange House Holdings Limuted 2037407
5L oW Developmenis Flot AT Limizea iG78213G Hempe noidings Limded 5351335
8L CW Developments Plot A2 Limited 10782335 Hermpel Hotels Limited 2728455
BL CW Devetopments Plot 01/2 Company Limiled 1099787% Hereford Gld Market Limrted 10509794
8L W Haldings Plot G1 Company Limiled 10781471 Insistmetal 2 Limited 4181514
BL Cwmbran Limited 7780251 ivoryhill Limited 2307407
BL Eden Walk Limited 10620935 Lonebridge UK Limited 3292034
BL Eurcpean Holdings Limuted 3044033 Mercari Limited 0112671
BL Goodman {LP} Limited 5054902 Minhll lnvestments Limited 0823019
BL HC [DSCLI} Lirited 4290601 Moorage [Property Devetopments) Lirited 1185513
BL HC Heatth And Fitness Holdings Lirmited 4374665 Osnaburgh Street Lirmited 5884735
BL HC lavic Lewsure Limited 24664159 Pardev [Luton} Limited 2849784
BL HC Property Hold:ngs Limites 6894044 PC Canal Limited 299
BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Lirnited 5643248 Piccadilly Residentiatl Limited 10525984
BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited 564326} Pilar {Beckton) Limited 2783374
BL High Street and Shopping Centres Pillar Broadway Limited 3589116
Holding Limited 6002148 Pitlar Estates Limited 3044028
BL Holdings 2010 Lirruted 7353966 Pitlar Fulham No.2 Limited 0266246
BL Lancaster Investments Ltd 10563072 Piliar Gatlicns Reach Limited 4895997
BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited 2015506 Pillar Projects Limited 2444288
BL Piceadilly Residenttal Retail Limited 9117243 Priory Park Merton Limited 4888365
BL Universal Lirmited 0324647 Regent’'s Place Holding Company Limited 10068705
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries continued

Compantes House Companies Kouse
Name reg number Name reg humber
Regents Place Management Company Limited 7136724 TBL {Lisnagelvin] Limited 3853983
Regents Place Residenttal Limited 11241644 ﬁ'BL {Mawdstonel Limited 38544615
Rigphone Limited 5591740 TBL Properties Limited 3863190
Shopping Centres Limited 2230056 Teesside Leisure Park Limited 2672136
St James Retail Park Morthamgpton Lirited 5396394 The Liverpool Exchange Company Lirmited 0490255
Storey Oftices Lirmited 1141707 Topside Street Limited 11293428
Surrey Quays Limited 5294243 United Kingdom Praperty Company Limited 0266486
Sydale [Unlirited) 3864628 Viciutee Limited 4106142
TBL [Brent Park! Limited 3852947 Wates City Point Linnited 2973114
TBL [Ferndown] Lirmited 3854372

The following partnerships are exempt from the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited individua! accounts by virtue of regulation 7
of The Partnerships [Accounts) Regutations 2008. The results of these partnerships are consolidated within these Group accounts

Name Name

BL Shoreditch Lirited Partnership Paddington Block A Limited Partnership
BL Chess No 1 Lirmited Partnership Paddington Btock B Linuted Partnership
BL CW Lower Lirmuted Partnership Paddington Ceatra! | Limited Partnership
BL CW Upper Lirited Partnership Paddington Central It Limited Partnership
BL Lancaster Lirnited Partnership Paddington Kiosk Limited Partnership
Hereford Shopping Centre Limited Partnership Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
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Company balance sheet

As at 31 March 2019

2019 2018
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
tnvestments and (oans to subsidiaries o 27.821 28,148
investments in joint ventures D 397 376
Other investments D 29 34
Interest rate dervative assets E 153 115
Deferred tax assets 7 10
28,407 28,683
Currentassets
Gebtors G 5 &
Cash and short term deposits E 182 32
187 38
Current Liabilities
Shart term borrowings and overdrafis E 9% (27)
Creditors H [128) {88l
Ampunts due to subsidiariag (20.784)  [20,645]
(21,011 (20.760)
Net current liabilities £20,824) (20,722
Total assets less current Liabilities 7,583 7.961
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans E (2,075} f2.250
Interest rate derwvative liabilines E {127} (133)
(2,202) {2.383)
Net assets 5,381 5,578
Equity
Called up share capital | 240 248
Share premium 1,302 1,300
Other reserves 15} (5]
Merger reserve 213 213
Reiatned earnings 3,631 3,822
Total equity 5,381 5,578

The profir af axabien for the year ended 31 March 2019 for the Campany was £307m [year ended 31 March 2018 £192m loss)

John Gitdersleeve Simon Carter
Chairman Cheef Financial Dificer

Approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
Company number 621920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Share Share Other Merger Prali and loss Totat

capital gremum reserves reseive accaunt equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 April 2018 248 1,300 1] 213 3,822 5,578
Share issues - 2 - - - 2
pPurchase of pwn shares {8 - - - t196l (204}
Omdend paid - - - - [298) {298)
Fatr vaiue of share and share aption awards - - - - {4 (4)
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - 307 307
Balance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 (5§ 213 3,631 5,381
Balance at 1 Aprit 2017 260 1,298 [134) 213 4 596 6,233
Share 1Ssues - 2 - - - 2
purchase of own shares {12} - - - (289} {301}
Dividend pawd - - - - 302} (3021
Net actuanal gain on pension schemes - - - - 9 9
Loss for the year atter taxation - - - - 1192) 1192]
Transferred to the income statement Icash flow hedges| - - 129 - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 (53 213 3,822 5,578

The value of distributable reserves within the profit and loss account s £1,.846m [2017/18 £2,074m)
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Notes to the financial statements

{A) Accounting policies

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of derivatives, These financial statements have also been prepared
in accordance with Financial Reparting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework {FRS 101} The amendments ta FRS 101
[2015/16 Cyclel issued in July 2016 and effective immediately have
been applied.

in preparing these financial siatements, the Company apples

the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
fnternational Financiat Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
{'Adopted IFRSs |, but makes amendments where necessary in order
to compty with the Compantes Act 2006 and has set out below where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclesure
exemptions under FRS 101:

(al the requsrements of IAS 1 to provide a balance sheetat the
beginning of the period In the evenit of a prior period adjustment

(b

the requirements of 1AS 1 to provide a statement of cash flows
for the pericd

[c] the requiremnents of JAS 1 ta provide a statement of compliance
with iFRS

the requirements of IAS 1 to disclose information on the
management of capital

id

le} the reguirements of paragraphs 30 and 21 of AS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accaunting Estimates and Errors to disclose

new IFRSs that have been 1ssued but are not yet effective

[f} the reguirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to
disclose related party transactions entered into between two or
more rmembers of a group, provided that any subsidiary which
15 @ party to the transaction s wholly-owned by such a member

the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 Related
Party Oisclosures to disclose key management
persannel compensation

g

{h

I} the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement to disclose information of fair vatue valuation
techmgues and mputs

the reguiremnents of IFRS 7 1o disclose financial instruments

New standards eftective for the current accounting peried do not
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Campany.
These are discussed in further detail below

IFRS ¢ - Financiat instruments

IFRS 9 Financial instruments, as issued by the IASB in Juty 2014,
has been adopted by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019
IFRS ¢ supersedes the exrsling accounting guidance (n 1AS 39
Financial instruments The standard was applied using the modified
retrospective approach The Company has not restated priar periods
of recognised any adjustments in opening retained earmings

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
uader IFRS 9 results in changes in the classification of all hnancial
assets excluding dervatives These changes will not have a
guantiative impact on the financial statements.

- IFRS 2 introduces a forward looking expected credit loss model,
replacing the IAS 39 incurred loss model The new modet requires
an expecied credit toss 1o be recognised on all inancial assets
held at amortised cost at mitial recognition. The quaniitaiive
impact for the year ended 31 March 2019 results in the release

of an expected credit loss of Enit, with a corresponding reduction
in financial assets held at amortised cost of Enil The Company
has previously prowided for 3 matertally ssmilar balance against
trade and other receivables A part of this provision has been
reteased (n the year ended 31 March 2019 to provide for the
expected credit loss recognised in the Company's subsidiaries
upon adoption of IFRS 9. The reclassification of existing provisions
results in a £2m increase in the net assets of the Company

- IFRS 9 introduces changes to the qualifying critenia for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and non-financial
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instrurnents in order to align hedge accounting with
business strategy The changes to hedge accounting under
IFRS ¢ results in gualitative enhancements ta the interest rate
and fereign currency sk managerent disclosures. The changes
intraduced by IFRS ¢ do not have a quaniitauve impact on the
financial statements of the Company.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers
The Company has adopled IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers for the year ended 31 March 2019

- The new siandard combines a number of previgus standards,
sething out a five step modei for the recagrition of revenue and
esiablishing principles for reporting useful infarmation o users
of financial statements about the nature, tumung and unceriainty
of revenue and cash Hows anising from an entity's contracis with
customers The changes introduced by IFRS 15 have no qualitative
or guantitatve changes to the revenue disclosure and will not have
a quantitative impact on the financial staterments of the Company

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis as
explained in the corporate governance section on page 78

Investments and leans

investments and loans in subsidartes and jomnt ventures are stated
at cost less an expected credit {oss on the balance in accordance
with IFRS 9. The expected credit loss on the balance 1s immaleriat

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The key source of estimation uncerlainty relates to the Company s
nvestments in subsidiaries and joint ventures. In estimating the
requirement for timpairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and judgermnents on the value of these investments
using inherently subeclive underlying asset valualions, suppoerted by
independent valuers

(B) Dividends
Details of dvidends pard and proposed are included in note 19 of the
conselidated hnancial statements

{C) Employee information

Employee costs include wages and salaries of £38m (2017/18. £39m],
social security costs of £5m [2017/18 £5m) and pension costs of E4m
[2017/18 £5mi. Details of the Executive Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed in the Remuneratien Report.

Audit fees in relation to the parent Company only were £0.3m
(2017/18. £0 3ml.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the financial statements continued

(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, loans to subsidiaries and other investments

Shares in Loanste lavestrnentsn Cther

subsigiarias subpsidiarigs  {oint vanturas myestments Taral

£m £en £m £m m

On t April 2018 19,703 8,445 376 34 28,558
Additinne - 477 A 5 713
Disposals - 11.003) (8] [4) {1,015)
Oepreciation { amortisation - - - {6 {8}
Provisien far impawrment {n - {2 - 13}
As at 31 March 2019 19,702 8119 397 29 28,247

The hestorical cost of shares in subsidharies 1s £20,025m (2017718 £20,025m) Investments in joint ventures of £397m (2017/18 £376m) includes
£201m (2017/18. £183m} of loans to joint ventures by the Company Results of the joint ventures are set outin note 11 of the consolidated
financial statements The historical cost of other investments 1s £51m 12017/18: £50m)

(E) Net debt

2019 018
£m £m

Secured on the assets of the Company
5.264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 3468 349
5.0055% First Mortgage Amartising Debentures 2035 94 95
5.357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 252 255
714 719

Unsecured

5.50% Senior Nates 2027 % 100
3.895% Senior US Cotlar Notes 2018° - 27
4.635% Sentor US Dollar Notes 2021} 1468 154
4.764% Sepnior US Dollar Notes 20237 108 97
5 003% Sentor US Dollar Notes 2026° 69 63
3 81% Senior Notes 2024 m 110
3 97% Senior Notes 2024 13 112
2.375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 298
4 16% Senior US Oollar Notes 2025' 78 -
2.67% Senior Notes 2025 a7 -
2 75% Senior Notes 2028 37 -
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2028 80 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 264 595
1,450 1,558
Gross debt 2,174 2.277
Interest rate and currency derivative ltabitities 27 133
Interest rate and currency derwative assets [153) (rsi
Cash and short term depasits (182} i32]
Net debt 1,966 2,263

1 Principal and interest on these borrowings were lully hedged into Sterling at a floating rate at the time af issue
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(E) Net debt continued

0% Convertibie bond 2015 [maturity 2020)

On 9 June 2015, Briush Land (Whute] 2015 Lirmuted fthe 2015 issuer), 3 wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued £350 mitlion zero
coupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 [the 2015 bondsl at par The 2015 Issuer s fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of the
2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2315 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to the
Company 1n exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company s etection, any combinatien of ordinary shares and cash
Bondholders may exercise their conversion right at any ime up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020 [the maturity date},
a bondholder may convert at any time.

The mutial exchange price was 1103.32 pance per ordinary share. The exchange price is adjusted based on certain events {such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007.24 pence
per ardinaty share

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the optian to redeem the 2015 bonds ai par if the Company's share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified penad. or at any ttme once 85% by nomunal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelied The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 [the maturity datel If they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled

The intercompany toan between the Issuer and the Company arising from the transfer of the loan proceeds was initially recognised at fair
value, net of capialised 1ssue costs, and 1s accounted for using the amortised cost methed In addition to the tntercompany loan, the Company
has entered nto 2 dervative contract relating to its gquarantee of the obligations of the [ssuer in respect of the bonds and the commitment to
provide shares or a cambination of shares and cash on conversion of the bonds This derwative contract ss included within the balance sheet as
a liability carmied at fair value through orohit and loss

Maturity analysis of net debt

2019 018

£€m £m

Repayabie within one year and on demand 99 27
betwean: OGRS aho (WG yS375 i7 -
two and five years 479 504

five and ten years 808 804

ten and hifteen years 306 305

frifteen and twenty years 465 435

2,075 2,250

Gross debt 2,174 2,277
interest rate derivatives [25) 18
Cash and short term deposits 1182} {32}
Net debt 1,966 2,263

{(F} Pension
The British Land Group of Compantes Pension Scheme and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme are the principal pension schemes of
the Company and details are set out in note ? of the consolidated financial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

(GQ) Debtors

2019 2018
) Em £m
Trade and other debtors 4 -3
Prepayments and accrued income 1 -
L} 3

(H) Creditors
2019 2018
£m tm
Trade creditors 46 12
Corporation tax 25 21
Other taxatton and social security 25 21
Accruals and deferred income 1] 34
126 88

(I) Share capital

Ordinary shares

£€m of 25p each
Issued. called and fully paid
At 1 April 2018 248 993,857,125
Share issues - 404,377
Repurchased and cancelled 8) (33,872,430}
At 31 March 2019

240 960,589,072

tm
Issued, called and fully paid
At April 2017 260 1.041,035058
Share issues - 429,206
Repurchased and cancelied (121 [47.6D7.139!
At 31 March 2018 248 993857125

(I} Contingent liabilities, capital commitments and
related party transactions

The Company has contingent liabiblies in respect of legat claims,
guarantees and warranties arising i the ordinary course of
business It is not anticipated that any matenal liabiliies will arise
fram the contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2019, the Company has Enit of capital commitments
(2017/18: Enil)

Related party transactions are the same for the Company as
for the Group For details refer to note 23 of the consolidated
financial statements

(K) Related undertakings

Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings
The Company’'s subsidiares and other related undertakings at
31 March 2019 are tisted on the next page Companies which have

been disscived since 31 March 2019 are marked with an asterisk (*].

Compames which are in the process of being dissolved are marked
with a double asterisk {**) All Group entities are inciuded in the
consolidated financial resuits.
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Unless otherwise stated, the Company holds 100% of the voting rights
and benehial interests m the shares of the following subsidiaries,
partnerships, associates and joint ventures Unless otherwise stated,
the subsidiaries and related undertakings are registered in the
United Kingdom

The share capial of each of the companies, where applicable,
comprises ordinary shares unless otherwise stated

The Company hotds the majority of its assets in UK companies,
although some are held in overseas companies. In recent years we
have reduced the number of overseas companies in the Group.

Unless noted otherwise as per the following key, the registered address
of each company is York House, 45 Seymour Street, Londen WiH 7LX

8 5t George s Street. Douglas IM1 1AH. Isie of Man
47 Esplanade. St Helier, Jersey JE1 CBD

2
3. Barralt House, Cartwright Way, Forest Business Park, Bardon Hill, Coalwlie,
Leiceslershire LEST 1UF

. 13-14 Esplanade, St Heler, Jersey JE1 IEE
&& Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE4 WG
14 Porte de France, 4360 Esch-sur-Alzeite, Luxembourg

. 300 Meadawhall Way, Shetflield, Seitth Yorkshre, England, 5% 1EA
DE 19801, USA
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Direct holdings

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Indirect holdings

Comgany Name

UK/Gverseas Tax
Resident Siaius

B{ Bluebutton 2014 Limited

BL Dawdson Limited

BL European Fund Management LLP

BL Guaranieeco Limited

8L Intermediate Holding Company Lirmited
BLSSP [Funding) Limited

Biluebutton Property Management UK
Limited {90% interesi)

Botdswitch [No 1) Limited
Botdswitch Limmuted

British Land White) 2015 Limued [lersey)
{Founder Shares)?

British Land City

Brtish Land Ciy 2003 Lirmited

British Land Company Secretarial Limited
British Land Financing Limited

British Land Properties Limited

British Land Reat Estate Limited

British Land Secunties Limited

British Land Secuniisation 1999
Broadgate {Funding] PLC

Broadgate Estates insurance Mediation
Services Limited

Hylfleet Lirmited
Kingsmere Productions Limuted
London and Hentey Holdings Limited

Meadowhall Pensions Scheme Trustee
Lirmited

MSC Property intermediate Hotdings
Lermited (50% interest)

Priory Park Merton Lamited
Reqis Property Hotdings Lirmited
The British Land Corporation Limited

Vialcreate **

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Reswdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

1 & 4 & 7 Triton Limuted
10 Brock Street Limated

10 Portman Square Unit Trust {Jerseyl
Hinush

30 Triton Street Limited

17-19 Bediford Street Lymited
18-20 Craven Hil Gardens Lemiied
20 Brock Street Limuted

20 Triton Street Lumited

338 Euston Road Limited

350 Euston Road Lirmited

39 Victoria Street Limited

B-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited
Adamant Investment Corporatien Limded
Adshilta Limited

Aldgate Place {GP} Linvited {50% interest]®
Apartpower Lirmited

Ashband Limited

B L Unit Trust [Jersey) [Unitsi?

8 L. Holdings Limited

BLCT {12697 Limited [Jersey)?
BLCT 121500 Limited [Jersey)?*
Barnclass Limtted

Barndnll Limited

Bayeast Property Co Limited
Bexle Limited **

BF Propeo [Na | Limited

BF Propco (No 13] Limuted

BF Propco (No 19) Limited

BF Propco [No 3] Limited

BF Propco (No 4] Limited

BF Propco [No 5] Limited

BF Properties |No 4 Limited

BF Properties |No 5] Limited

Birstall Co-Ownership Trust (Member
interest] 41 25% nterest|

BL [Maidenhead] Company Limited
BL [SP) Cannon Street Limited

BL ISP} Investment (1) Limated **
BL {SP} Investment {2} Limited **
BL {SP] Investrnent {3} Lirnited **
BL ISP} Investrment {4) Lirmsted **
BL Bragford Forster Limited

BL Brislington Limited

BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limated
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

LK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
LUK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the financial statements continued

Company Name

UK/Gverseas Tox
Ressdent S1atus

Company Name

UK/Querseas Tax
Resident Status

BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited
8L Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited
8L Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited
BL Broadway !nvestment Limited
BL Chess Lirmited

BL Chess No t Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest

8L City Offices Holding Company Limited
8L Clifton Moor Limited

BL CW Develepments Limited

BL CW Developments Plot A1 Linmited
BL £W Developments Plot A2 Limited

BL CW Developments Piot D1/2 Company
Limited

BL CW Developments Plot B1 Limited

BL CW Developments Plot K1 Company
Limited

Bi CW Holdings Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Limited

BL CW Holdings Plot 01/2 Company
Lirmited

BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Lumited
BL CW Hotdings Plot K1 Company Limited
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership
[Partnershup interest)

BL CW Lower LP Company Limited
BL CW Upper GP Company Limited

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest]

8L CW Upper LP Company Lirnuted
BL Cwmbran Lwruted
BL Debs Limited [Jersey):**

BL Department Stares Holding Company
Lienited

BL Doncaster Wheatley Limited

8L Drummond Praperties Lirnited

BL Ealing Limited

BL Eden Walk J2012 Limited [Jarseyl?
8L Eden Walk Limuted

BL European Holdings Limited

BL Fixed Uplft Fund Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest]

BL Freed Uplift Fund Nominee No.1
Limited [Jersey)?

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Nominee No 2
Limited {Jersey)?

UK Tax Resident
U¥ Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
LK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent
QOverseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
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BL Fixed Uplft General Partner Lirnuted
Bt Fixed Uplift Norminee 1 Limited
BL Fixed Uplift Nominee 2 Limited

BL Goodman [General Partner} Limited
{50% interesi]

BL Goodman Limuted Partnership (50%
interest|

BL Goodman {LP] Limited
8L GP Chess No. 1 Limited
BL HB Investments Limited
BL HC [DSCHI Limuted

BL HC [DSCLY Lirmted

8L HC Dollview Limited

8L HC Hampshire PH LLP {Member
interest)

81, HC Health And Fitness Holdings
Lirruted

BL HC Invic Leisure Limited

BL MC PH CRG LLP [Member interest]
BL HC PH LLP {Member interest]

8L HC PH No 1 LLP {Member interest)
BL HC PH No 2 LLP {Member interest)
8L HC PH No 3 LLP [Member nterest
BL HC Property Holdings Limited

BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited

BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited

BL High Street and Shopping Centres
Holding Company Limited

BL Holdings 2010 Limited
BL Lancaster Investments Limited

BL Lancaster Limuted Partnership
[Partnership interest)

BL Leisure and Industrial Holding
Company Limited

BL Marble Arch House Limited
BL Maylair Otfices Limited

BL Meadowhall Holdings Limited
BL Meadowhall Limited

BL Meadowhall No 4 Lirmuted

8L Newport Limited

BL Gffice [Non-Cityl Holging Company
Lernited

BL Otfice Halding Campany Luruted
BL Osnaburgh St Residential Ltd

BL Paddingtan Holding Company 1
Limmited

BL Paddington Holding Company 2
Limited

BL Paddington Property 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Res«dent

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

{JK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Restdent

UK Tax Resident



Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Siatus

Campany Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Staius

BL Paddington Property 2 Limited
BL Paddington Property 3 Lirmited
BL Paddington Property 4 Limited
BL Mccadilly Residential Limited

8L Piccadilly Residential Management Co
Limited

8L Piccadiily Residential Retail Lirruted
8L Restdential No 1 Limited **

8L Restdentiat Ne.2 Lirruted **

Bl Restdentiat Investrent Limited

BL Residential Management Limuted

Bi. Residual Holding Company Limited
BL Retail Hotding Company Limited

BL Retad investment Holdings Liruted
BL Retail Investrments Limited

BL Retait Warehousing Helding Company

Limited

BL Sainsbury Supersiores Limuted [50%
ivierest]

Bl Shareditch Developrment Lirmited
BL Shoreditch General Partner Limited

Bt Shereditch Lirsted Partnership
{Partnership interest

BL Shoreditch No 1 Limited

BL Shoreditch No 2 Limited

BL Superstores Holding Company Limited
8L Triton Building Residential Limited
BL Tunbridge Wells Limited

BL Urutholder No 1 [J] Limuted {Jersey]®
BL Unitholder No 2 {J] Limited {Jerseyl?
BL Unwiversal Limuted

BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limited
BL West [Wailing House} Limited

BL Whitetey Limited

Bt. Whiteley Retall Limited

BL Woolwich Limited

BL Woolwich Nominee 1 Lirnited

BL Woolwich Nominege 2 Limited
Blackglen Limited

Blackwall )

Blaxmutt (Twenty-rine] Limited

Blaxemtt (Tharty] Lirited

BLD (Al Lrruted

BLO [Ebury Gate] Lirmited

BLO (S} Investments Linmited

BLO (SJ] Lirted

BLD Land Limited

BLO Properties Lirrwied

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resudent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
LK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

BL O Property Holdings Limited

BLU Estates Limited

BLU Property Management Limited
BLU Securities Limited

British Land [Joint Ventures] Limited
British Land Acquisttions Limited
British Land Aqua Partnership {2) Lirruted
British Land Agqua Partnership Limited
Brtish Land City Offices Limited

Bntish Land Construchion Limited
Brtish Land Departmenti Stares Limited
Brittsh Land Developments Limited
British Land Fund Management Limited
Bnitish Land Hercules Limited

British iLand In Town Retail Limited
Britsh Land Industriat Limeted

Briksh Lanag investment Management
Lirmited

British Land Investments NV
{Netherlands}

British Land Offices (Non-Cityl Limited
Brinsh Land Dffices INon-Citvl Np 2
Lirnited

Briish Land Offices Limited

Briush Land Offices Ne.1 Limited
British Land Property Advisers Lirnited

British Land Property Management
Lirrited

British Land Regeneration Limited **

British Land Superstores [Non
Securtised] Number 2 Limited

Broadgate [PHC 8] Limited

Broadgate Adjoining Properties Limited
Broadgate City Limited

Broadgate Court invesiments Limited
Broadgale Estates Limited

Broadgate Estates Peopie Management
Lirted

Broadgate Exchange Square

Broadgate investment Holdings Limited
Broadgate Properties Limited
Broadgate REIT Limited {50% interest}
8Broadgate Square Limited

Broughton Retall Park Limited [Jersey)
{Unuts) [39 97% interest)?

Broughlon Unit Trust (39 07% interest)?
Brunswick Park Limited
BYP Developments Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Res:«dent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resudent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

sl T & iy
LI T 8X Resugin

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
LK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Res:dent
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Restwdent
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK lax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

UK/Overseas Tax UX/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status Cornpany Name Resident Slatus
Canada Water Offices Limited UK Tax Resident Gibraltar General Partner Limited {39 07% UK Tax Resident
Casegood Enterprises UK Tax Resident interest]
Caseplane Lirmited UK Tax Resident Gibraitar Nominees Limited {39.07% UK Tax Resident
interest)
Cavendish Geared §l Limited UK Tax Resident R .
. Giltbrook Retat Park Notuingham Limited UK Tax Resident
Cavendish Geared Limited UK Tax Resident

Caymall Lirmited

Chantway Limited

Cheshine Properties Limited
Chester Limited?

Chrisilu Nominees Limited

City of London Ofitce Unit Trust [Jersey)
{Units) {35 94% intecesti?

Clarges Estate Property Management Co
Lirmited

Comgenic Lirmted

Cornish Residential Properties Trading
Limited

Cornish Residential Property [nvestrments
Lirmuted

Crescent West Properties

Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust [39 07%
interest)

Oerby lnvesiment Holdings Limed
Dinwell Limited

Drake Circus Centre Limited

Drake Circus Leisure Lirmted

Drake Property Holdings Lumited

Drake Property Nomnee [No. 1] Limited
Drake Praperty Neminee [No. 2] Lirnited

Eden Walk Shopping Centre General
Partner Limited [30% mnterest]

Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust®
150% interest} {Jersey) {Unisl

Elementvirtue Limited

Elk tMill Qldham Limited

Estate Management IBrick] Limited
Euston Tower Limited

Exchange House Holdings Limited
Exchange Square Management Limited
Fort Kinnaird GP Limited (39.87% mterest]

Fort Kinnaird Limited Partnershup [39.07%
interest)

Fort Kinnaird Nominee Limitad (3% 07%
interest}

Four Broadgate Limited

FRP Group Lirmited
Garamead Properties Limited
Gardenray Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Hesident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

1S T Do do s
UR i gX MT3IOET

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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Glenway Limited

Hempel Holdings Limited

Hermgpel Hotels Limited

Hercules Property UK Holdings Limited
Hercules Property UK Limited

Hercules Unit Trust (78 14% interest)
{Jerseyl [Urts)?

Hereford Old Market Limited
Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

Heretford Shopping Centre Limited
Partnership

Horndnift Lemited

HUT Investments Licuted [Jersey} [78 14%
nterest)?

industrial Real Estate Lirmited
Insistmetal 2 Limited
lverydell Limited
tigrydett Subsidiary Lavwted

Ivoryhult Limited

Jetbloom Lumited

L&H Developments Limited **
Lancaster Generai Partner Limited
Linestarr Limited

tondon and Henley [UKI Limited
London and Henley Limited

Lonebridge UK Limnited

Longford Street Residential Limited
Ludgate Investment Holdings Lirmited
Ludgate West Limited

Mayfair Praperties

Mayttower Retail Park Basildon Lirmited

Meadowbank Retait Park Edinburgh
Limited

Meadowhall Centre [1999) Limited
Meadowhall Centre Limited

Meadowhall Centre Pension Scheme
Trustees Limited

Meadowhall Estates (UK Limited
Meadowhalt Group (MLP) Limited
Meadowhali Holdings Limited
Meadowhatl (M(_P] Limited

Meadowhall Opportunities Nominee 1
Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Querseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Reswdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident



Lompany Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Ressdent Status

Company Name

UK/Qverseas Tax
Resulent Status

Meadowhall Opportunsties Nominee 2
Lirrated

Meadowhall Shopping Centre Limited

Meadowhall Shopping Centre Property
Holdings Lirited

Meadowhatl SubCo Limted
Meadowhall Traineng Lirmnited

Mercan

Mercan Holdings Limited

Minhill Investments Limited

Moorage [Property Developments) Lirmited
Nugent Shopping Park Limited

One Hundred Ludgate Hill

One Sheldon Square Limited [Jersey)?
Orbital Shopping Park Swindon Lemnited
Osnaburgh Street Limuted

Paddinaton Block A {GP] Ltd

Pagdington Block A LP [Partnership
interest)

Paddington Block 8 |GP) Ltd

Paddington Block B LP [Partnership
interest|

Paddingtor: Central | 1GF) Limited

Paddington Central I LP {FPartnerstup
nterest)

Paddington Cenatral | Nomunee Lirruted

Paddington Central | Unit Trust {Jerseyl
{Unitsi?

Paddington Central it {GP] Limited

Paddington Central il LP [Partnershup
interest]

Paddington Central il Unit Trust {Jerseyl
[Umts)?

Paddingtan Central i Unit Trust Uerseyl
[Units)?

Paddington Central i (Trustee 1] Limited?
Paddington Central W {Trustee 2] Limited?
Paddington Kiosk IGP} Ltd

Paddington Kiosk LP [Partnership
interest|

PaddingtonCentra( Management Company
Limuted {87 5% nterest!

Pardev (Lutoni Limited
Parwick Holdings Limited
Parwick investmenis Limited
PC Canal Limted

PC Lease Nominee Lid

PC Partnership Nomenee Ltd
Piccadilly Residential Lirmuted
Pillar [Beckton} Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
tJK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
(Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdentk

Overseas Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
QOverseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
U¥ Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Cricklewood] Limited
Pillar {Dartford] Limited
Pillar {Fulham] Lirmited

Pillar Auchinlea Lornted
#illar Broadway Lirmited
Pillar City Lirmuted

Pdlar Dartferd No 1 Lemited
Pillar Denton Limited

Pillar Developments Lumited
Pillar Estates Limited

Pillar Estates No 2 Limited
Pillar Europe Management Limited
Pillar Farnborough Limited
Pillar Fort Lsrmuted

Piltar Fulham No 2 timited
Pillar Gatlions Reach Limiied
Pillar Glasgow 1 Lirniied
Pillar Glasgow 2 Leruted
Pillar Glasgow 3 Limited
Pillar Hercules No.2 Limited
Pittar Kinnaird Limited

Pitlar Nugent Limeted

Pitlar Projects Limited

Pitlar Property Group Limited
Pillarman Lirmited [50% interest]
PiltarStore Limited
PillarStore No 3 Limited
Plymouth Retaill Limited
Power Court GP Limited

Power Court Luton Limated Partnership
[Partnership interest}

Power Court Norminee Lirmited
Power Court Nominees No 2 Limited

PREF Managerment Company SA
{Luxembourg*

Project Sunrise Investments Limited
Project Sunrise Limited

Project Sunrise Properties Limited
Prudential Property 'nvestments Lirmited
Rebaobine Limited

Regent's Place Holding 1 Limited
Regent's Place Holding 2 Limited

Regent s Place Holding Company Limited

Regents Place Management Company
Limuted

Regents Place Residential Limited
Rigphone Limited
Rohawk Properuies Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residen!
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Reswdert

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Restdent

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Residenl Status

Salmax Praperties

Seymour Street Homes Limited
Shopping Centres Limited
Shareditch Support Limited

Six Broadgate Lirmited

Southgate General Partner Limited [50%
interestl

Southgate Property Uit Trust {Jersey}
(Units) (50% wnteresi]?

Speke Unit Trust [67.34% interesti [Jerseyl
UnitsP

Sprint 1118 Lirmated
St James Parade (43] Liruted **

St James Retall Park Northampton
Lirmeted

St Stephens Shopping Centre Lirmited
Stockton Retait Park Lirmited
Storey Gffices Luvuteo
Storey Spaces Limited
Surrey Quays Limited

Sydale

T (Parinerstupl Limited
Taitress Lirmted

TBL {Brent Park] Limited **
TBL [Bromley) Limited

TBL tBursledonl Limited
TBL (Buryl Limited

TBL {Ferndown] Lirmited **
T8L {Lisnagetwini Limited
TBL [Mawdstone} Limited
TBL {Milton Keynes) Limited
TBL {Peterboroughl Limited
TBL Holdings Limited

TBL Properties Limited
Teessde Lessure Park Lirmted
Ten Fleet Place

The Aldgate Place Lirmited Partnership
[Partnerstup interest} [50% interest}

The Dartford Partnership {Member
interest] [50% interest]

The Gibrattar Limtted Partnership
Partnership interest} [39.07% nterest|

The Hercules Praperty Limited
Partnership [Partnership interest)
139 07% interest)

The {_eadenhall Development Company
Limtted (50% interest]

The Liverpoot Exchange Company Limuited
The Mary Street Estate Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax fResident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Ovarseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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The Meadowhall Education Centre
{Limited by guarantee] {30% interest)’

The Retail and Warehouse Company
Lirmsted

The TBL Property Parlnersiup
[Partnership interest)

The Whiteley Co-Ownership [Member
interest] (50% interest]

Tollgate Centre Colchester Lirnited
Topside Street Limited

TPP Investments Limited

Tweed Premier 4 Limited

Union Preperty Carporation Limited
{nion Property Holdings [London] Limited

tnited Kingdom Property Company
Limited

Valentine Co-ownership Trust
[Member interest] {39 07% interest)

Valentine Unit Trust [Jersey] (Units)
[39 07% interest)?

Vicinitee Limited

Vintners' Place Limited

Wardrobe Court Limited

Wardrobe Holdings Limited

Wardrobe Place Lirmited

Wates City of London Properties Limited
Wates City Property Management Limited

Westbourne Terrace Partnership
{Partnership interest]

Whiteley Shopping Centre Uni Trust
{Jersey) (Umtsi?

WHK Holdings Lirnited
York House W1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resudent

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident




Supplementary disclosures

Unaudited unless otherwise stated

Table A: Summary income statement and balance sheet (Unaudited)

Summary income statement based on proporticnal consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2019

The following pro forma information 1s unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statementis or the notes thereto
It presents the results of the Group, with its share of the results of joint ventures and funds inctuded on a line-by-line basis and exciuding

nan-controthng interests

Yearended 31 March 2019

Year ended 31 March 2018

Jaint tess Less
ventures non-contrailing Propartionaily Jontventures  nomscontroling  Proportionally
Group and funds. interesis consotidated Group and funds interes!s  consohdated
m £€m £m £€m fm £€m Em £m
Gross rentat incoame 439 155 {18} 576 441 193 (21} £13
Properly operating expenses (35) [10) 1 44} (29) (9) i 137)
Net rental income 404 145 17} 532 412 184 {z0) 576
Adrministrative expenses {80) 1 - 81l (821 1l - 1831
Net fees and other income 9 - 1 10 13 - 2 15
Ungeared income return 333 144 (16} 481 343 183 118} 508
Net inancing costs (67 {58] 4 {121) {64] {a8) 4 128
Underlying Profit 246 84 {12) 340 279 115 f14] 330
Undertying taxation - - - - - - - -
Underlying Profit after taxation 266 8é {12} 348 279 15 1141 380
Valuation movermnent [483) 254
Other capital and taxaton {net)* 52 {141)
Result attributable to
sharenoiders of ihe company 12715 493
I Includes other comprehensive income, mavement in dituteon of share oplrons and the mevement in items excluded for EPRA NAV
Summary balance sheet based on proporticnal consolidation as at 31 March 2019
The following pro forma mformation is unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto
It presents the composition af the EPRA net assets of the Group. with its share of the net assets of the joint venture and fund assets and
habibities included on a tne-hy-kne basis, and excluding non-controlling interests, and assuming full drldution.
Mark-ta-
Share of Less markel on Valualion EPRA Net
(=l non- decwatives and surplus on EPRA Net assets
ventures  contioiling Share Deferred retatad debr Head trading assets 31 March
Group and funds wlergsis oplieng tax adjusiments leases propecnes 31 March 201% 2018
Ern £m Em €m () £m £m fm Em £m
Relall properties 4,378 1,583 1317) - - - {67) - 5577 £,596
Ofhice properties 4,299 2,012 - - - - {19] 16 6,308 4,705
Canada Water properties 318 - - - - - {15] - 303 283
Other properties 96 19 - - - - ~ 13 128 132
Total properties 2.091 3,614 {3171 - - - {101} 29 12,316 13,714
Investrments in joint ventures
and funds 2,560 (2,560) - - - - - - - -
Other invesiments 151 - - - - - - - 151 172
Other net lbabilttiesl assels 1348) (82) 3 24 5 - 101 - {2971 {359
Net debt 12,765) 1972) 1023 - - 113 - - 13,521) {3,973}
Net assets 8,689 - 211 24 5 113 - 29 8,649 9,560
EPRA NAV per share [note 2 905p 967p
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Supplementary disclosures continued
Unaudited

EPRA Net assets movement

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Pence per Pence per
&m share £m share
Opening EPRA NAV 9,560 967 9.498 %15
income return 340 35 380 37
Capital return {749} 77 285 29
Dwidend paid {298) 30} 1302} 129}
Purchase of own shares {204) 10 {301} 15
Closing EPRA NAV 8,649 905 9.560 967
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performance measures summary table
2019 2018
Pence per Pence per
£ share £m share
EPRA £arnings - basic 340 35.0 380 3758
- diluted 340 34.9 380 374
EPRA Net initial Yield 45% 4 3%
EPRA topped-up’ Met tnitial Yield £.7% L.6%
EPRA Vacancy Rate 4.1% 32%
2019 2018
Net asset Net asset
Net assets vatue per Nei agsets value per
£m share fpence] £m  share (pence|
EPRA NAV 8,647 565 7,565 ¥57
EPRA NNNAY 8,161 854 2044 914
Calculation and reconciliation of EPRA/IFRS earnings and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
{Audited) “om "im
ILoss] prafit attributable to the shareholders of the Company {291 493
Exclude
Group - current taxation {3 n
Group - deferred taxation 4 15}
Jointventures and funds - taxation {2 -
Group - vatuation movement 620 {2021
Group - loss [profi} on disposal of investment properties and investiments 18 0ai
Group - profit en disposal of trading properties (92 14}
Joint ventures and funds - net valuation mavement lincluding result on disposats) 40 1491
Joint ventures and funds - captal financing costs 21 13
Changes 1n tair value of inancial instruments and associated close-out cosls 46 163
Non-controlling interests in respect of the ahove {411 -
Underlying Profit 340 380
Group - underiying current taxation - -
EPRA earnings - basic and diluted 340 380
{Loss] profit atiributabte to the shareholders of the Company {291} 493
Dilutive effect of 2015 convertible bond - -
IFRS earnings — diluted (291] 493
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Table B continued

w19 2048
Number Mumber
million milien
Weighted average number of shares 982 1,024
Adjustment for treasury shares (11 (1
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares [basic) 971 1,013
Dilutive eftect of share options 1 1
Diutwve effect of ESOP shares 2 2
Dilutive effect of 2015 convertible bond - -
IFRS / EPRA Weighted average number of shares [diluted) 974 1,014
Net assets per share |Audited)
2019 18
Ponce Pence
£m per share £m per share
Balance sheet net assets 8,689 9506
Deferred tax ansing on revaluation movements 5 )
Mark-to-market on denvatives and related deat adjustments 113 137
Ditutson effect of share vptions 24 32
SUTpIUS GN Ta0Ing prcperiaés 2% 134
Less ncn-conirolung interests (211} [254)
EPRA NAV B,649 905 9.560 967
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements {11} i31)
Mark-lo-market on derrvatives and related debt adjustments (113} [137]
Wark-iG-marked on debi ) 5841 {545
EPRA NNNAV 8,181 854 9,044 914

EPRA NNNAV is the EPRA NAV adjusted to reflect the fair value of the debt and derwatives and to include the deferred taxation on revatuations

and derwvatwes

2019 2008

Number Nuraber

mRlion rutbon

Number of shares at year end 7460 994
Adjustment for treasury shares {11) 11t
IFRS/EPRA number of shares |basic) 949 983
Dilutive effect of share options 2 1
Dilutive effect of ESCP shares 5 5
Dilutive effect of 2015 convertible bond - -
IFRS / EPRA number of shares (diluted) 956 989
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Supplementary disclosures continued
Unaudited

EPRA Net Initial Yield and topped-up’ Net Initial Yield {Unaudited)

201% 2018
£m £m
Investment property - wholly-owned 8,761 9.682
Investment praperty - share of joint ventures and funds 3,555 4,034
Less developments, residential and tand (1,098) {1315
Completed property portfolio 11,218 12,401
Allowance for esumated purchasers’ costs 751 799
Gross up completed property portfolio vaiuation (A) 11,969 13,200
Annualised cash passing rental inceme 548 584
Properly oulgoings [14) f1il
Annualised net rents [8) 534 573
Rent exptration of rent-free periods and fixed uplifts' 32 28
‘Topped-up” net annuatised rent {C] 566 401
EPRA Net Initial Yield {B/A) 4.5% 4.3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield {C/A) 4.7% 4 6%
Including hixed/mimmum uplifts receved 1a lieu of rental growth 8 "
Total topped-up’ net rents (D} 574 612
Overall 'topped-up’ Net Initiat Yield (D/A) ) 4.8% 4.6%
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent 546 401
ERV vacant space 22 21
Reversions 30 32
Total ERV (E) 618 654
Net Reversionary Yield (E/A) 5.2% 5 0%

1 The weighted average period over which reni-free penods expire 1s | year [2017/18 1 year]

EPRA Net Initial Yield [NIY] basis of calculation

EPRA NIY 15 calculated as the annualised net rent lon a cash flow basis), dvided by the gross value of the completed property portfolio

The vatualion of our completed property porifolio 1s deterrmined by our external vatuers as at 31 March 2019, plus an allowance for estimated
purchaser’s casts Estimaled purchaser’s costs are determined by the relevant stamp duty liability, plus an estimate by our valuers of agent
and legal fees an notional acquisition The net rent deduction atlowed for property outgoings ts based on cur valuers’ assumptlions on future
recurring non-recoverable revenue expenditure

In calculating the EPRA topped-up’ NIY, the annualised net rent 1s increased by the total contracled rent from expiry of rent-free periods and
future contracted rental uplifts where defined as not in bieu of growth. Overall tapped-up’ NIY 1s calculated by adding any other contracted
future upldt Yo the ‘topped-up’ net annualised rent.

The net reversionary yield 15 calculated by dividing the total estimated rental value [ERV] for the completed property portiolio, as determined by
our external valuers, by the gross completed property portfolio valuation

The EPRA vacancy rate 15 calculated as the ERV of the unrented, lettable space as a proportion of the total rental value of the completed
progerty portfolio

EPRA Vacancy Rate
2m9 2008
£m £m
Annualised potental rental vatue of vacant premises 26 21
Annualised potential rental vatue far the completed praperty portiolio 629 bb4
EPRA Vacancy Rate 4% 32%

The above 1s stated for the UK portfolio only. A discussion of significant factors affecting vacancy rates 1s included within the Strategic Report
fpages 32 to 33
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Table B continued
EPRA Cost Ratios (Unaudited]

2019 2008
tm fm
Property operating expenses 34 28
Adrministrative expenses 80 8z
Share of joint ventures and funds experses 11 1
Less Performance and management fees [from joint ventures and funds] (8} {8l
Net other fees and commissions 2 7
Groaund rent costs and aperating expenses de facto included n rents 4] 2
EPRA Costs (including direct vacancy costs) (Al 106 103
Girect vacancy costs (13) 02
EPRA Costs [excluding direct vacancy costs) [B) 93 N
Gross Rental income less ground rent costs and operating expenses de facto included in renis 414 427
Share of joant ventures snd funds (GR! less ground rent costs! 183 189
Total Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs (C) 587 611
EPRA Cost Ratio lincluding direct vacancy costs) {A/C) 18.7% 16.9%
EPRA Cost Ratio [excluding direct vacancy costs} (B/C) 18.4% 14 9%
QOverhead and operating expenses capitalised hncluding share of joint ventures and funds) & 5

In the current year, emaloyee costs in retation to staff e on develepment projects have been capitalised nta the base cost of relevant
development assets

OGS
019 7018
Em £m
Rent recevable 587 604
Spreading of tenant :ncentives and guaranteed rent increases (13) {121
Surrender premia 2 21
Gross rental income 574 613

The current and prior yaar infermalion 1s presented on a proportionally consaidated basis, excluding non-coniroliing mierests

Table D: Property related capital expenditure

249 2018

Jomnt Join

ventures venlures
Group and funds. Total Group and funds Totat
£m fm &m €m £m Em
Acguisitions 221 15 236 250 - 250
Development 183 91 274 132 52 184
Like-for-like partfolio a5 19 54 23 27 50
Other 12 8 20 17 5 22
Total property related capex 451 133 584 427 84 506

The above is presented on a proportionally consolidated basss, excluding non-controtling interests and business combinations. The "Gther’
calegory contains amounts owing to tenant incentives of £7m [2017/18. £5m, letting fees of E5m 12017/18 £5ml. capitalised staff costs of £ém
{2017/18- £5m] and capitabised interest of £3m (2017/18 £7m}
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mnformation

Other information funaudited)
Sustainability performance measures
Ten year record

Shareholder information

184 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

186
195
198
199



1 Finsbury
Avenue

Broadening horizens

Qver 3,300 peaple have benehtted from our Broadgate
construchion team's community activities over the last
two years, including tocal schoolchitdren, pobseekers and
people affected by homelessness. Eight students from
the University of East Londan have gained six months’
paid work experience at 1 Finsbury Avenue, supported

by our construction partners, archutecis and enqineers
Over 60 apprentices and icainees have zlso developed
their skills through our Broadoate construction activity
over the tast two years, inctluding 20 at 1 Finsbury Avenue
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UNAUDITED

{Data inctudes Group's share of Joint Yentures and Funds)

Sales
Price Price Annual

[1a0%} (8L Sharel  Passing Rent
Since 1 April 2098 Sector tm £m Em*
Completed
5 Broadgate Qthices 1.000 500 18
Partfatio of Spirit Pubs Retail 123 123 1
Cheltenham Gallagher Retaill Park Retail 3 28 1
Clapham Junction Debenhams Retaill 48 48 2
Rtchmond Homebase' Retant 4 45 1
Leeds Westside Retal Park Retail 39 3y 2
Glasgow B&Q Retail 28 28 2
Bath Homebase Retait 27 27 1
Bracknell Dawid tloyd Retail 25 25 2
Altrincham Sainsburys Retait 24 12 1
Bath Weston Lock Retail Park Retail 18 18 1
Scuthampton Dawvid Lloyd Retail 18 15 1
Harrow Homabase Retadl 14 14 1
Hamilton David Lioyd Retail 10 10 1
Brentwood Virgin Active Retasl 12 12 1
Northallerton Samnsburys Retad 7 3 -
Lancaster Castle View Retail 3 5 -
Clarges. Maylair? Residential 335 a35 -
Aldgate Phase } Residentiat H - -
Exchanged
Portfolio of Sainsbury’s stores? Retad 429 194 12
Clarges* Residental 24 24 -
Total - - 2302 1505 58
1 Exchanged during the year ended 31 March 2018, completed in the period
2 E£253m of which exchanged prior 1o FY1¥ and completed in the perrod
3 Exchanged post year end in Apnt 2019
4 £18m of which exchanged post year end
5 BL share of annuatised rent topped up for rent frees
Purchases

Price Ptice Annual

[t00%) {BL Share] Passing Rent
Since 1 April 2018 Sectar €m £m £m'
Completed
Royal Victoria Place, Tunbridge Wells Retasl 92 92 3
184 - 192 Drummeond Street Offices 38 38 i
158 - 164 Bishopsgate Offsces 36 36 2
& - 8 Eldon Street Oftices 27 14 1
Hercules Unit Trust units Retail 18 18 1
37 Sun Street Offices g 9 -
Exchanged
Orsman Read, Haggerston Offices 32 32
Total 252 239

1. BL share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees
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Portfolio Valuation

Group JVs & Funds Total Change %'
At 31 March 2019 £m £m tm H1 H2 FY
West End 4,066 - 4,066 03 03 07
Cuty 230 2012 2,242 1.4 07 1.9
Offices 4,296 2,012 5,308 0.7 0.5 1.1
Regional 997 1,767 2,764 {4.0) 69 Ho 6l
Local 1,613 350 1,973 1%:]] {88] [ta 9
Multi-let 2,610 2,127 4,737 (5.2} 7.8} {12.5)
Department Stores and Leisure 323 - 323 3.1} {3.8] (65
Superstores 88 244 332 07 2.9] {3 4]
Solus and Other 185 - 185 i02) [4 6} (37
Retail 3,206 2,37 5,577 4.5) {7.8) £11.1)
Residential? 109 19 128 (3.11 11.5) 14.4)
Canada Water 303 - 303 0.3 [1.0) 10.8)
Total 7,914 4,402 12,318 {1.9] 13.2) 14.8)
Standing Investments 7.334 3,975 11,309 {2.5) 3.9) (6.0}
Developments 580 627 1,007 7.2 4.8 10.8

1 Valuation movement during the period [alter taking account of capital expenditure] of properties held at the balance sheet date. in¢luding developments [classified by
end usel, purchases and sales
2. Siandalone residential

Portfolioc Yield & ERV Mavements’

MNEY EAV Movernent % NEY Yield Mavemenst bps?
At 21 March 201% % WY ¥ Y H1 W2 FY
West End 43 a2 1.1 1.4 - 2 3
Cay 47 01 12 1.3 1 - -
Offices 4.4 0.2 1.1 1.4 1 1 2
Regtonal 53 [0 8l (14] iz 2 9 27 36
HERER 59 25 24 12 20 27 L8
Multi-let 5.4 (1.6} {2.5] (4.0) 14 27 &1
Department Stores and Lersure 56 (2.8 (19 &M 33 (18} 34
Superstores 53 0.2t (0 5] (0.7 (1 i6l (8F
Solus ang Other 5.6 0.1} 211 {22 [13) (24 31
Retait 5.6 {1.5) (2.31 (3.8} 14 35 a7
Canada Water* 3.9 0.4 0.1 0.4 (4) - -
Total 5.0 0.8) [0.8) (1.6} 7 19 19

1 Excluding developments under construction, assets held for development and residential assets
2 Ascaleulated by 1PD

3 including notienal purchaser s costs

& Reflecis standing investment only
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Retail Portfolio Valuation - Previous Classification Basis

Valuation' Change %! ERY Mavement %’ NEY Yield Movement bps*
At 31 March 2019 €m HI Hz FY H1 H2 Y H1 [Z) FY
Shopping Parks 2,593 {55] {8.5) 132 24 (2.6} t4 &) 13 35 47
Shopping Centres 2,115 (37 {6.3] {9 8t 0 (201 21 13 20 34
Superstores 332 f0.7) {2.9] {3 & 02 {0.5) 07! i1} (& 8
Department Stores 70 24 9) 20.31 [40 1) [18 4} 8.8l {25 &} 119 {40) 147
High Street 169 [v.11 17.8) (88) 02) (3.7 39 {2) 7 5
Leisure 298 240 - 19 00 0g 00 2 1 13
Retail 5,577 {4.5) i7.0) {11.1) (1.5 (2.3) (3.8 14 36 37

1. Group's share of properties in joinl veniures and funds including HUT al ownership share

2 Valuation movemnent during the yeae (alter taking account of capital expenditurel of properties held at the balance sheel date, including developments [classifed by

end usel, purchases and sales
3 Ascalculated by IPD
4 Including notional purchaser s costs

Gross Rental iIncome’

12 months to 31 Mareh 2019

Annualised as at 11 March 2019

Accounting Basis €m Group  JVs & Funds Totat Group  JVs &Funds Totat
West End 141 - 141 140 - 140
City 9 70 79 7 48 75
Offices 150 70 220 147 48 215
Regional 57 90 147 57 86 143
Locatl 98 24 122 20 23 113
Multi-tet 155 114 26% 147 e 256
Department Stores and Leisure 38 - 38 24 - 24
Superstlores 5 16 21 5 15 20
Solus and Other 14 - 14 12 - 12
Retail 212 130 342 188 124 312
Residential? 5 - 5 4 - 4
Canada Water - e T e - 9 8 - 8
Total 374 200 576 347 192 539

1. Gross rental income wilt differ from annualised rents due to accounting adjustments for fixed & minimum condracted rentat uplifis and lease incenlives

2 Standalone residenbal
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Partfolio Net Yields'?

EPRAtopped Overalltopped Net

EPRA net  upnetinitial upnelinmal Netequvatent reversionary
At 31 March 2019 initial yield % yield %’ yeld %* yield % yield %
West End 3.6 4.0 40 43 48
City 40 44 44 47 53
Offices 3.8 4.1 4.2 4.4 5.0
Regional Lifestyie 48 5.0 51 53 54
Local Lifestyla 54 56 57 59 58
Mutti-tet 51 5.2 53 5.6 5.4
Department Stores & Leisure 6.1 &1 72 56 59
Superstores 564 56 54 53 52
Solus & Other 60 62 62 56 4b
Retail 5.2 5.3 5.5 5.6 5.5
Canada Water 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.9 4.0
Total 4.5 4.7 4.8 5.0 5.2
Cn a proportionally consolidated basis includag the Group's share of joint ventures and funds
1 Including noticnal purchaser’'s cosls
2 Excluding comenetied developments, assets hetd lor development and resudential assets
3 Including renl contracted (rom expiry of rent-Iree perods and fixed upbfts not in lieu of rental growth
4 Including fixed/rmimum uplits fexcluded fram EPRA defirstiont
Totai Property Return {as calculated by IPD}
12 months ta 31 March 2019 QHices Retail Total
% Britigh Land 1o Britssh Land LLgal Britich Land PR
Capstat Return 14 20 [114) 7 3) {59 o1
~ ERV Growth 14 12 {38 33 {1 ¢} 02
- Yield Movement® 2 bps [10 bps] 37 bps 26 bps 19 bps {1 bgs)
Incomne Return 34 38 53 50 43 44
Total Property Return 4.9 5.8 (6.6) {2.6] (0.9} 4.6

On a praportionslly consolidated bas:s including the Group s share of ot ventures and funds

1 Net equivalent yield maovement

British Land | Annualt Report and Accounts 2019 189



UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Occupiers Representing over 0.5% of Total Contracted Rent

AL 31 March 2019 % of lojal rent % of total rent
Tesco' 4.8 Oeutsche Bank 08
Satnsbury's? 3.7 Homebase 08
Cebenhams? 34 Stenholf 08
Government 3.0 Henderson 13:
Next 26 TGl Fridays 67
Kinghsher 23 Reed Smith 0.7
Facehaok? 26 l.ewss Trust {River Island] a7
Oentsu Aeqrs 20 H&M 07
Alliance Boots* 1.9 DFS Furniture Group a7
Visa 17 NEX Grp Pic 06
M&S 17 Restaurant Group a6
Dixons Carphane 15 Mayer Brown 04
Arcadia 15 Primark g6
Herbert Smith Freetuils 14 Hutchisen Whampoa Ltd 06
Gazprom 1.1 Dawid Lloyd 06
TIXTK Maxxl 11 Credit Agricole 06
JO Spoerts Fashion 1.1 Lendiease 0%
Vodafone 1 Pets at Home 06
SporisDirect 1.0 BridgeStreet 06
Microsoft 1.0 Mimecast Ltd 06
New Loak 10 Araraco 0%
virgmn 09 Wilko Retail 05
Asda 0.9

Includes £3 4m at Surrey Quays Shopping Centre

i

2. Reduces o 1.8% fotlowing post year end sate af 12 stores

3 Oebenhamns reduces lo T 8% and Facebook increases to 3 4% lollowing post year end Ielllng ol 10 Brock Sireel to Facebook

4 Pg;—v-‘ zanfs ¢ " ST =4 i of epace Tk Rz socaunt the o pre =1 21 230 D00 a5 f 851 Tater 5_. rsrE, Han

contracted re ld rise 1o 5 5% As partoft ew lellmg, nisu Aegis have an ophon to return their exsting space at 10 Tnlon Stree{ n 2021 if this opllon ls
exercised, there 15 an adjustment to the renlt iree period In respect of the leting at 1 Triton Square ta compensate Briush Land

Major Holdings

BL Share Sqgft  Rent[100%) Occupancy  Lease leagth
At 31 March 2019 % 080 £m pa* rate %M yrst
Broadgate 50 4133 138 967 55
Regent's Place 100 1,740 77 987 56
Paddington Central 100 958 45 972 54
Meadowhall. Sheffield 50 1,500 88 98.9 59
Glasgow Fort 78 510 22 $7.0 40
Ealing Broadway 180 540 15 08 4.6
Drake’s Circus, Plymouth 100 1.082 19 94.3 69
Teesside, Stockton 100 569 16 943 47
Samsburys Superstores® 51 1,457 31 100.0 83
Portman Square 100 134 18 1000 6.5

Annualised EPRA contracted rent including 100% of Joint Ventures & Funds
inctudes accommeodation under offer or subject to assel management
Weighted average to first break

Exctudes commutted and near term developments

. Comprises standalone stores. Followmg post year end sale of 12 Sainsbury’s superslores, BL share percenlage increases 10 55%, sq It reduces to 325,000, rent
reduces to E8m and lease length increases to 9 9 years

U D s —
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Lease Length & Occupancy

Average lease length yrs Oceupancy rate %
EPRA
At 31 March 201% Yo expiry To break Geeupancy  Occupancy™®
West End 68 57 72 983
City 66 57 932 9566
Offices 6.7 5.7 95.8 9.7
Regronat 72 60 957 970
Locat 6.9 56 24.7 953
Multi-tet 7.0 5.8 5.3 96.2
Department Stores and Lessure 153 15.3 1000 1900
Superstores 122 122 1000 1000
Solus and Gther 111 10.5 1064 1000
Retail 8.0 7.0 95.9 96.7
Canada Water 5.4 5.5 98.5 98.7
Total 7.4 &.4 95.9 97.2

Space allocated to Storey is shown as occupied where there is 2 Storey tenant m place otherwise it 1s shown as vacant Total accupancy would nise from 97 2% to
27 5% 1f Storey space were assumed to be lully let
Includes accommodat:on under offer or subject to asset management

Where occupiers have entered administration or CVA bui are still bable for rates, these are treated as occupted Reflecting units currently occupied bul expected to
becomne vacant, thea the eccupancy rate for Retas would reducs from 94 7% to 94 1%, and toial occupancy would reduce from 7.2% {0 96 9%

[ANN]

Portfolio Weighting

2018 2019 2019
At 31 March % % £m
West End 31c 330 4,064
City 179 18.2 2,262
Offices 48.9 51,2 6,308
Regional Lifestyle 22.1 224 2,764
Local Lifestyle 67 161 1,973
Multi-let ie.8 385 4,737
Department Stores & Leisure 43 246 323
Superstores 26 27 332
Solus & Other 23 15 185
Retail 48.0 5.3 5,577
Residential® 1.0 1.0 128
Canada Water 2.1 2.5 303
Total 100.0 100.0 12,316
Londen Weighting 59% £1% 8,127

i Standalone resigential
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annuatised Rent & Estimated Rental Vatue (ERV]

Annualised rent [valuation basisl &m' ERY £m Average rent £osf
At 31 Margh 2019 Group J¥s & Funds Tatal Total Contracted? ERY
West End? 13% - 139 184 5846 67.2
City? 7 &7 74 m 487 57.6
Offices? 146 67 213 285 54.8 63.5
Regional Lifeslyle 58 g0 148 166 31.0 336
Local Lifestyle 96 24 120 130 234 245
Mutti-let 154 114 268 294 270 28.9
Department Stores & Leisure 27 - 21 17 15.9 12.%9
Superstores S 19 20 18 222 20.6
Solus & Other 12 - 12 9 20.2 i5%
Retait 192 129 I 40 25.3 261
Residential* 3 - 3 4 44.8 37.9
Canada Water® 8 - 8 10 17.9 21.8
Total 351 196 547 639 313 34.7

1 Gross rents plus, where rent reviews are outstanding, any increases to ERV las deternined by the Group’s external vatuersl, less any ground rents payable under

head leases, excludes contracted renl subject 1o rent free and future uplift

Annvalised rent, plus rent subject to rent Iree
£psf metnes shown for office space anty
Standalone residential

Reflects standing investment only

oW

Rent Subject to Open Market Rent Review

For periog 1o 31 March 2620 2021 027 n23 2024 282022 2020-24
At 31 Mareh 2019 £m £m £m £m £m &m Em
West End 4 15 10 g i3 29 51
City 13 4 3 - - 26 26
QOffices 17 19 19 9 13 55 77
Regtonal 9 19 13 11 9 41 61
toesl i 12 ; 17 s 22 50
Multi-let 20 n 18 28 14 &9 1M1
Department Stores and Leisure - - - - 7 - 7
Supersiores - 2 3 13 18
Solus and Other - - - - - - -
Retail 28 36 18 30 24 82 136
Residential - - 1 - - 1 1
Canada Water® - - - - - - -
Total 45 55 38 39 37 138 214

0On a proportonally consolidated basis including the Group's share of joind ventures and lunds

1 Reflects standing mvestrment onty
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Rent Subject to Lease Break or Expiry'

For period to 31 March 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020-22 2G20-24
At 31 March 2019 2020 tm £m im £m £m Em
Wes! End 4 19 22 24 15 45 86
Cuy 15 10 2 3 13 27 43
Offices 19 29 24 29 28 72 129
Regional Lifestyle 17 10 12 19 20 39 78
Local Lifestyle 15 U 13 12 20 38 70
Multi-tet 32 20 25 31 L0 77 148
Oepartment Stores & Leisure - - - - - - -
Superstares - - - 2 - - 2
Solus & Gther 1 - - - - 1 1
Retail 33 20 25 a3 40 78 151
Residential - 3 - - ~ 3 3
Canada Water 1 1 1 1 2 2 5
Total 53 53 49 &3 70 158 288
% of contracted rent $.1% 9.1% 8.3% 10.9% 12.0% 26.5% 49.6%

0n a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group s share of joint ventures and lunds

Recently Completed and Committed Develapments

Let & Undar

BL Share 100% sq PC Calendar Current Yalue Costtocome ERY OHter

At 31 March 201¢ Sector % ‘o0 Year £m £m' £m? £m
i Finsbury Avenue Office 30 287 Q12019 183 11 82 47
Total Completed inthe Year 287 53 11 8.2 4.7
100 Liverpoal Street Ofhce 50 52t Q12020 240 82 191 104
135 Bishopsgate Oftice 50 335 Q32019 156 34 97 8.7
1 Triton Square? Office 160 366 (4 2020 289 122 231 218
Plymouth (Lersuret Retail 160 108 Q42019 29 14 3.1 21
Total Committed D 1,330 T 252 55,0 432

Retait Capitat Expenditure® 33

From 1 April 2019 Cost to come excludes nolional interest as interest 1s capialised individually on each development at aur capitalisation rate
Estimated headlne rental value nel of rent payable under head leases (excluding tenant incentives)

3 ERVlet & under offer of £21 Bm represents space taken by Dentsu Aegis As part of this letting, Dentsu Aegis have an oplion ta return thesr existing space at
10 Tnton Street 1 2621 1f this option 1s execcised, there 1s an adjustment to the rent free perrod in respect of the letting at 1 Tnlon Square to compensate Briish Land

4 Capex commutled and underway within our investment poriictio relating to leasing and assal management

o
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Near Term Development Pipeline

BL Share 100% sq &t Expected CurrentValue CosttaCome ERY under‘(.)el‘::r'
At 31 March 2019 Sector % ‘000 Start On Srte Em £Em! £mt £m Ptanning Status
Norton Folgate Otfice 100 335 Q32019 62 206 206 - Consented
1-7 Broadgate Otfice 30 531 Q22020 94 198 188 - Consented
Total near term 864 156 404 39.4 -
Retall Capex® 78
1 From 1 Apnl 2019 Cest 1o come excluges notional interest as nterest 15 capitabised indmvidually on each development at our capilatisation rate
¢ Estimaled headline rental vaiue nel of rent payable under head teases lexciuding tenant incenlves)
3. Farecast capital commitments within our investment portfolio over the next 12 months relating o leasing and asset enhancement
Medium Term Development Pipeline

BL Share 100% Sq #

At 31 March 2019 Sactor Y% 880 Planning Status
2-3 Finshury Avenue Qffice 50 563 Consenteg
Gateway Building Leisure 100 105 Caonsented
5 Kingdam Street’ Ofhice 180 429 Consented
Meadowhali [Leisure] Retail 50 333 Consented
Ealing - 10-40 The Broadway Retail 160 292  Pre-submission
Aldgate Place Phase 2 Residentizt 50 145 Consented
Eden Walk Retad & Reswdental Mixed Use 50 533 Consented
Piyrnouth, George Street Retail 100 43 Submutted
Total Medium Term excl, Canada Water 2,443
Canada Water - Phase 1234 Mixed Use 10 1,917  Submitted

Planning consent for previous 240,600 sq it scheme
Canada Water sde covers 5m sq ¢ tolal based on aet area {qrass area of 7m sq #}
. Phase | consisls of Phase 1a, 1b, 1c. Detaled planmng submutted for Phase ta [576,000 sq 1), outne planning submatted for total Phase |
On drawdown of the Master Development Agreement. ownership reduces Lo 80% with LBS owning 20% LBS ownership will adjust over ime depending on level of
investment by Southwark

AR N
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SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Sustainability performance measures

We report on all assets where we have day-1o-day ogerational or management influence [our managed portfolio) and all developments
over £300,000 with planming permission, on-site or comgpleted in the year. The exception rs EPC and Hood risk data, where we report on alt
assets under management. As at 31 March 2019, our managed portfolio comprised 73% of our assets under management. Please see the
scope column for indicator-specific reporiing coverage.

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007 Selected data for 2019 has been independently assurad by PwC in accordance
with ISAE 3000 [Revised) and 1SAE 3410

2020 sustainability strategy performance
We report transparenlly on performance so our stakeholders can fully understand our impacts Below 1s an overview of our performance
during the reporting period. For detaded information. see aur Sustanability Accounts and website britishland. com/sustamability

Perlarmance

; 2012 scope
indicatars’ 619 F01E  lassels or umis]
Continued inctusion 1in three out of four sustainability indices DJS! Europe, Lfa 4f4 -
DSt World, FTSE4Good and GRESB?

Majar developments an track to implement Sustainability Brief 100% 100% 16/16
Performance 2019 scope
2019 2018 {assets or unns)
Wellbeing {Customer Orientation) 2020 targets
Deliver a WELL certified commercial office to sheil and core, and set carporate Deliver Ontrack On track -
policy for fulure developments
Develop and pdot retail wellbeing specidication Deliver Inprogress In progress -
Sense of wallheing for wisitors at cur places Increase ~  84% B4% -
Define and trial a mé?ﬁo;j;logy for }neasurmg productivity in offices B Detiver Completed Completed -
Research and publish on how developaent design impacts public health outcomes Deliver Completed On track -
Prlot Interventions to improve local air quality 3 Inprogress Target -
established
tnjury Incidence Rate {RIDDORI Ofhices 14.17 12.88 46148
Setad .81 oo 58/58
Injury Frequency Rate [RIODOR} Developments 0.12 0.13 31/34
Performance 2019 scope
2019 118 {assets or wnits]
Community {Right Places! 2020 targets
Implement our Local Charter at key assets and majer developrments 100% 92% Charter
updaled
Bnush Land employee skdls-based volunteering 20% 17% 16% -
British Land employee volunteering 0% B81% 79% -
Community programme beneliciaries 36,358 39,798 -
Performance 7019 scoge
2019 018 {assers or units)
Futureproofing [Capial Efficiencyl 2020 targets
Bevelopments on track ta achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Excelient 100% 92% 92% 15/15
or Very Good for retait
Carben [Scape 1 and 2] intensity reduclion versus 2009 lindex scored) 55% 4% 54% 70/70
Landlord energy intensity reduction versus 2009 [index scored} 55% &4% 40% 70/70
Electricity purchased from renewable sources 100% 96% 7% 107/108
Average reductlion in embodied carbon emisstons versus concept design on 15% 10% nr 2/2
major developments
Waste diverted from landhll managed properties and developments 100% 99.6% 99% 108/116
Portiolio with green bullding ratings {% by floor area) - 18% 18% 179/179
Energy Performance Certificates rated F or G (% by floor areal - 5% 5% 266372866
Porifolio at high risk of ficod (% by value - 3% 3% 178/179
High flood risk assets with Hood management plans {% by valuel - 100% 100% 12/12

! Sustanabilly Action Plans have been superseded by Local Charter actvilies, see Community Our | arat Mharler cavers comrmunity, wellbeing, skills and opportunity
Futurepraofing inilialives are covered through Assel Plans, which include provisions for idenlifying chimate-related risks and apportumlies, such as Hood risk
assessments and audits to identily energy saving opportumties

2 In this financial year we were bisted 1n DJ5I 2018 World and Europe, awarded a green siar in GRESB 2018 and ranked in the top 96" percentile of FT5E4Good 2018
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SUSTAINABILITY PERFCRMANCE MEASURES CONTINUED

Performance

2015 scope
2p39 2018 [assels or vnis)
Skills and opportunity [Expert People] 2026 1argets
People supparted into employment [cumulative) 1.700 1,232 839 -
Strategic supptiers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% 53% Code 34/64
Launched
Pricritised supplier workforce who are apprentices 3% 2.4% 1.2% 178/220
Pilot a Lving Woge Zone at a London campus Delwer Inprogress .- -
Workfarce paid at least Living Wage Group employees 100% 100% 100% -
Foundation rate Supplier workforce at 66%* 70% 103/103
managed properties
Oevelopments supply chain spend within 25 mias 66% % 5/6
I Employment figures from 2014-2018 have been restated for acturacy
2. From FY19, these hgures exclude the employees of any subsidiary organisations
EPRA best practice recomimendations on sustainability reporting
We have receved Gold Awards for sustamabrdity reparting from the European Public Reat Estate Asseciation [EPRA),
seven years running. For our full EPRA sustainatulity reporting, methodology and the 2019 PwC assurance statement,
please see our Sustainability Accounts 2019 briishiand com/data.
Periormance 2019 scope
2017 2018 2007 (assets or unns]
Environmental
Total electricity ¢consumphion IMWh) 155,608 162,833 172127 107/108
Total district heating and cooling consumpiton {MWhH] 0 a ¢ o/a
Tatal fuel consumption {Mwh| 49,878 37.500 39.319 60/61
Burlding energy intensity (kWh) Offices lper mi 138.40 14571 158.70 30/30
Retail - enclosed (per m?) 149.02 156 48 161.89 7
Retail - open arr iper car 161.06 16813 150.01 33733
parking spacel
Total direct (Scope 1] greenhouse gas emissians jtonnes CO,el 8,956 6,967 7.609 115/116
Total indirect {Scope 2| greenhouse  Locauon based 20,188 27,301 34149 115/116
gas emissions (tonnes COel Market based 1,457 1,875 5,630 115/116
Greenhouse gas mtensily from Qffices lper m?l 0.044 0055 0049 30/30
buitding energy consumption ltonnes  Retail - enclosed {per m?| 0.043 0.056 0.067 /7
COpl Retait - open air {per car parking spacej 0.049 0.062 0.064 33/33
Total water consumption [m?) 553,282 616,221 563541 L4/T3
Bulding water intensity {m3 Otfices Iper FTE} 14.09 1556 14.59 28/40
Retait - enclased {per 10,600 wisitors) nr nr 9.47 -
Retail - open air {per 10,000 visitors) nr nr 2.86 -
Tatal non-hazardous waste by Re-used and recycled 10,818 11,207 12,166 77182
disposat route {toanes and %) [57%) {56%) (57%}
Incinerated 8,182 (43%) B 887 [44%] 9.236 (43%) 17/82
lLandhiled 2{0%) 4 (0%]) 35 (0% 71/82
Total hazardous waste by Re-used and recycled 5 {44%) nr nr 77/82
disposal route (tonnes and % incinerated 7 {56%1 nr nr 77/62
Landhlled 0 {6%] nr n 77/82
Sustainably certihed assets - AtoB 22% 23% 25%  26463/28&4
Energy Performance Certificates CtoE 73% 72% 1%  2663/2864
(% by floor areal FtoG 5% 5% & 2663/2864
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Performance

2019 scope
201¢ 2018 617 fassels or umisi
Social’
Employee diversity - gender Male 48% 51% 53% -
Female 52% 49% £7% -
Employee gender pay ratio Executwve Directors - - nr -
Imedian remuneration, femate  Senior management 87% 89% nr -
to male) Middle and non-management T4% £9% ] -
Employee traiming - average hours ] 13.4 142 132 -
Employee annual performance review 100% 160% nr -
Employee new hires rate 17% 20% 26% -
Employee turngver - departures rate 19% 15% 15% -
Employee health and safety Absentee rate 1% 1% 1% -
Injury trequency rate 0 ] ne -
Lost day rate .68 0 nr -
Wark-related fatalities 0 0 0 -
Asset health and safety Praporuion subject to health and safety 100% 100% 100% 16/116
review %]
Incidents of non-compliance G 0 ne F18/114
Progress implementing our Implement our Lacal Charter at 92% Charter Target
Local Charter at key assets key assets and major developments updated established
and major developments {% progress)
Proport.en of pertfcto [floor area, 83% - - LG

where Local Charier or other
community activity implermented

1 2017 and 2018 employee data restated Lo reftect the integration of Broadgate Estates mnte Briish Land

For nformation on our inclusive culture see pages 30 and 112 and briishland.com/inclusive-culture and to read more about our gender
pay gap on page 6 and at briushland com/gender-pay-gap

Governance
Annua! Report and Accounts
2019 018
Compusition of the highest governance body Board's Executive and Non-Executive Board's Executive and Non-Executive
Bireciors pages 68-71 Direciors pages 58-61.
Tenures of Non-Executive Directors  Average tenure of Non-Executive
page 108. sreciors page 75.
Board members with environmentat
or sociat competencies page 68-71,
Nomuenating and selecling the highest Appointment process for new Appomtrment process for new
governance hody directors pages 86-87 Directors pages 74-75
Process for managing conflicts of interest Board procedure for managing Board procedure for managmng

conflicts of interest page 74. contlicis of interest page 64.
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TEN YEAR RECORD

The table below summarises the last ten years' results, cash flows and balance sheets

piok

2018

2017

2046

2015

2014

ik

202

2011

010

£m £m Em Em £m £m £m £m £m Em
Income’
Gross rental income 576 613 643 654 618 597 587 572 541 561
Net rental income 532 574 610 620 585 562 541 S46 518 545
Net fees and ather ncome 18 15 17 17 17 15 15 17 18 15
Interest expense [net) (121} {128} 1151 {180} (2011 {202} 1206) {218) i212) {246
ASmirsstrative expense a1) 183} i86) 194] 198} 178} {76} 176} Jesl) 165}
Underlying Profit 340 380 390 363 313 297 274 269 2596 249
Exceptional costs
[not included in Underlying Prafit)® - - - - - - - ~ - -
Dwidends declared 298 302 2% 287 277 266 234 231 iyl 22%
Summarised balance sheets
Total properties at vatuateon’? 12,316 13716 13,940 14,648 134877 120840 10499 10,337 9572 8,539
Net debt {35211 (39731 14223 4765 (&98] (48908 {42660 [4.690) 14173] (4081}
Other assets and liabilities 1148) 1183} {219) 191 276 1123) 266} 1266) (2981 {51)
EPRA NAV/Fully diluted adjusted
net assets 8,649 9,560 9,498 10,074 9035  7.027 5,967 5.381 5.101 4,407
Cash flow movement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 87 35t 379 341 318 243 197 M 182 U8
Other cash flows from operations 14) 2 (16l (47} 133 {24) 17) 15} 28 (112
Net cash inflow from operating activites 613 353 353 294 285 219 190 204 214 136
Cashinflow loutflowl trom capiat
expendiure, nvesiments,
acquisttions and disposals 187 346 470 230 (1114 {6601 (202} {547] [2401 1391
Equity dwidends paid (298) 1304} {295]  [235) {228} 59l (2031 (232) %39 {1541
Cash {outflow} infiow from
management
of liquid resources and financing (385) 1404] 1538} {283] 20 607 213 630 157 (485)
Increase {decrease} in cash® 137 9 ~ [} (34 7 121 77 12 1542)
Capital returns
|Reductien) growth in net assets? (95%) 07% (57% 115%% 28.46% 178% 109% 55% 157% 301%
Total return (3.3%l] 8 9% 2.7% 142% 245%  200% 4.5% 95% 177% 335%
Total return - pre-exceptional [3.3%) 89% 27% 142% 245% 200% 45% 99% 177% 33%5%
Per share infarmationy’
EPRA net asset vaiue per share 905p 987p F15p 919p 829 688p 594p 595p 567p 504p
Memorandum
Oividends dectared in the year 31.6p 36.1p 28 2p 28 dp 277p  270p  26dp 26.ip R24.4p 26 Up
Dwidends paid in the year 30.5p 29 6p 28 8p 28.0p 27 3p 26 Tp 26.3p 26 0p 26 Op 27 3p
Diluted earnings
Underlying EPRA earnings per share 34.9p 37.4p 378p 341p 30.6p 29.40 30.3p 297 28 5p 28.4p
IFRS earnings [less] per share [30.0p}  485p Wip 1197p 1673p t102p  315p S38p 952p 132¢p

ingluding share of joint ventures and funds
Represents movement in diluted EPRA NAV

o B N —

. Inciuding surplus aver book value of trading and development properiies
Including restatement 1n 2016 and exceplionat finance costsin 2009 £119 milion

. 2008 restated for {FRS The UK GAAP accounts shows gross rental income of £620 mitfion and Undertying Profit of €175 mithan

. Represenls movement :n cash and cash equwvalents under IFRS and movements in cash under UK GAAP
Adjusted [or the rightsissue af 341 mithon shares in March 2009
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATIGN

Financial calendar
2019/20

27 June 2019

2 August 2019

3 October 2019

8 November 2019
13 November 2019

Final dividend ex-dividend date
Finat divedend payment date

First guarter ex-didend date

First quarter dividend payment date
Half year results

Second quarter ex-dvidend date January 2020
Secand guarter divdend paymeni date February 2020
Third quarter ex-dasdend date March 2020
Third quarter dividend payment date May 2020
Fuit year results May 2020
Final dividend ex-dividend date June 2020
Final dividend payment dale Auqust 2020

if otered, the Board will announce the availabibity of a Scrip
dividend alternative via the Regulatery News Service no {ater than
four business days before each ex-dwdend date Senp dividend
alternatives will not be enhanced. The split between PID and
non-PiD income for each devidend witl be announced at the

same time.,

Analysis of shareholders — 31 March 2019

Nurnber Balance as at
201920 of holdings Y 1 March 2019" %
1-1,000 5,264 54 74 2,262,808 024
+,001-5,000 2.835 2948 5,256,773 D85
5.001-20.000 &4t 6.72 6,348,132 056
20,001-50,000 251 2.61 8,202,600 085
50,001 -Highest 621 646 937518758 9740
Hat 617 16088 944582572 1G0Gh
Holder type
Indwiduats 5.834 60 68 10,734,011 00 112
Nominee and
institutional
Investors 3,781 3932 949.835,06100 98 88
Total 7617 10000 960,589.072.00 10000

1 Excluding 11.244,245 shares held in treasury

Registrars
British L and has appointed Equiniy Limuted [Equimiti] to admimster
its shareholder register Equiniti can be contacted at-

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing, West Sussex BN9? 6DA

Tel 0371384 2143 {UK calters}
Tel +44 (01121 4157047 (Overseas caliers)

Lings are open from 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Friday excluding
pubtic holidays in England and Wales

Website: shareview.co.uk
By registering with Shareview, shareholders can-

- view your Britssh Land shareholding onling
- update your details
- elect to recewe shareholder mailings electronically

Equiniti s also the Registrar for the BLD Property Holdings
Limited Stock

Share deating facilities

By registering with Shareview, Equiniti also prowides existing and
prospective UK shareholders with a share dealing facility for
buying and selling Briish Land shares online or by phone

Far more nfermation, contact Equimti at shareview.co uk/dealing
ar call 0845 603 7037 (Manday to Friday excluding public holidays
from 8.30am to 4.30pm]. Existing British Land sharehotders will
need the reference number given on yous share certificate to
register Similar share dealing facilities are provided by other
brokers, banks and financiat services.

Website and shareholder cammunications

The British Land corporate website cantains a wealth of materiat
for shareholders, including the current share price, press releases
and information an dwvidends. The website can be accessed at
britishland.com

Briteish Land encourages s shareholders to recewve shareholder
communications etectronically Thus enables shareholders to
receive iInformation quickly and securely as well as in a more
environmentally friendly and cost-effective manner Further
information can be obtained frem Shareview or the

Shareholder Helpline.

ShareGift

Shareholders with a small numnber of shares, the value of which
rmakes it uneconomic to seti them, rnay wish to consider donaling
therr shares to chanty ShareGift1s a registered charity (No.
1052486} which collects and sells unwanted shares and uses the
praceeds to support a wide range of UK chanties A ShareGift
donation form ¢an be obtamed from Equiniti.

Further information about ShareGift can be ebtained rom thewr
website shareqift org

Honorary President

in recogmition of his work bullding British Land into the industry
teading company it 1s koday, Sir John Ritblat was appointed as
Honorary President on his retirement from the Board in
December 2006.

Registered office

The British Land Company PLC

York House

45 Seymour Street, London W1H 7LX

Telephone- +44 (012G 7486 4466
Registered number 621920

Website britishland.com

Dividends

As a REIT, 8ritish Land pays Property Income Distribution [P1D]
and non-Property tncome Distribution [non-PIDY dwidends, More
information on REITs and PIDs can be found 1n the investors
section of our website at bntishiand com/dvtdends

Briish Land dwidends can be paid directly into your bank or
building seoety accourt mstead of being despatched to you by
cheque More information about the benefits of having dwvidends
paid directly into your bank or building society account, and the
mandate form to set this up. can be found In the Investors section
of our wehsite at britishland com/investors/dwidends/dividends-
direct-ta-your-bank
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION CONTINUED

Scrip Cividend Scheme

Brittish Land may offer shareholders the opportunity ta

participate in the Scrip Omadend Scheme by offering a Senp
Alternative to a particular dvidend from time tn ime The Scrip
thvidend Scheme allows pariicipating sharehotders to receive
additional shares instead of a cash dividend. For mare infermation
please visit the lavestors sechon of our website at brinshiand.com/
dividends/scrip-dividends-scheme

Unsolicited mail

Briush Land is required by law to make ds share register avalable
on request to other organisations This may resuls in the receipt of
unsolicited mail To bt thus, shareholders may register with the
Mailing Preference Service. Far more information, or to register,
visit mpsoniine.org uk

Sharehotders are also advised to be vigtlant of share fraud which
ncludes telephane calls offering tree investment advice or ofters to
buy and sell shares at discounted or highly inflated prices. if it sounds
too good to be true, it oftenss Further mformaton can be found on the
Financiat Canduct Authortty s website fca arg uk/scams or by calling

Tax

The Group elected for REIT status on t January 2007, paying

a £308m conversion charge to HMRC in the same year Asa
conseguence of the Group's REIT status, tax 15 not levied within
the corporare group on the guailfying property rental business
but rs instead deducted from distributians of such income as
Property Income Distribulions to shareholders Any income
which does not fall within the REIT regime 1s subject to tax
withun the Group i the usual way. This inctudes profits on
property trading activity, property related fee income and
interest incame. We canitnue to comfariably pass all REIT
tests ensuring that our REIT status 1s mantamned.

We work proactively and openly to maintain a constructive
relationship with HMRC. We discuss mattersin real-time with
HMRC and disclose all relevant facts and circumstances,
particularly where there may be tax unceriainty or the law is
unclear HMRC assigns risk ratings to all large companies
We have a low gppetite {or tax risk and HMRC considers us to
be ‘Low Risk’ [a status we have held since 2007 when the
rating was first introduced by HMRC)

the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768.
Further information can be found i our Tax Strategy

- Our Approach to Tax' at briushland com/governance

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Repart contains certain Torward-looking statements. Such statements reflect current views, expectations and beliefs on, among other things,
our markets, aciviies, projections, objectives, perfarmance, inancial condiwon and prospects, as well as assumptons abaut future evenis Such forward-
locking’ statements can somehimes. but nat always, be idenlified by their reference te a date or pointin the fulure or the use of forwargd-looking terminology.
including terms such as beleves'. considers’, ‘estimates’, ‘anticipates’, ‘expecis’. forecasts’. nlends’. ‘continues , due’, ‘plans , seeks’, ‘projects’, ‘goal .
‘outlook’, schedule . target . aim’, ‘'may’, tikely to . ‘will , would’, ‘could . should” or similar expressions or in each case their negative or other variations
or comparable terminology By their nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent known and unknown risks, assumplions and uncertanties because
they relate lo luture events and depend on circumsiances which may or may not accur and may ba beyond our ability to control or predict Forward-looking
statements should be regarded with caution 35 aclual outcomes or results, or plans or objectives, may differ matenally from those expressed o unphed by
such stalements Recipients should not place rebiance on, and are cautioned about relying on, any forward-looking statements

important factors that could cause actual results bncluding the payment of dividends), performance or achievements of Briish Land 1o differ materially from
any oytcomes or resulis expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements include, ameng other things (aj general business and political, social and
aconomic conditions globatly, [b] the consequences of the referendurn on Britain leaving ihe EU, {c] ndustry and market trends including dernand in the
property invesiment markel and property price volatiy). 18] competitien, le} the behaviour of other market participants, ] changes i government and
olher regulabion including in relation to the environment, health and safely and taxation {in particular, v respect of British Land s status as a Real Eslate
Investment Trust), Ig} inflaton and consumer confidence, [hf labour relations and work stoppages, I natural disasters and adverse wealher conditions,

{j] terrorism and acts of war, |k) British Land's overall business sirategy, risk appetite and investmenl choices in #s porticlic management, li] i=gal or olher
proceedings aganst or affecting British Land, (m} reliable and secure 1T nfrastructure, In] changes i occupier demand and tenant default, o) changes

in fmancial and equity markets including interest and exchange rate lluctuations, {pl changes in accounting praclices and the interpretation of accounting
standards and (g} the avadability and cost of Hinance, The Company s principal nisks are described in greater detai in the section of this Annual Report
headed Managing risk in delivering our straiegy anc principal risks Forwarg-tgoking statements in this Anuat Repoart, or the Briush Land websie or
made subsequenlly, which are altributable to British Land or persons acling onits behall should therefore be construed in light of all such factars

Informatron comtained in this Annual Report relating Lo British Land or its share price or the yield on its shares are nol guaraniees ol, and should not

be relied upon as an dicalor of, future performance, and nothing i this Anauat Reporl should be construed as a profit forecast or grofit estimate, or
be laken as unplying that the earmngs of British Land for the curreat year or future years will necessarily match or exceed the usloncal or published
earnings of Bribish Land. Any forward-looking statements made by or an behalf of Britssh Land spaak only as of the date they are made. Such forward-
looking statements are expressly qualifiad wn their entirety by the factors referred to above and no representalion, assurance, guaraniee or warranty 1s
gwen in relation to them {whether by Brutish Land or ary of its associates, directors, officers, employees or advisersk, including as to their completeness,
accuracy or the basis on which they were prepared

Other than 1n accerdance with our legal and regultatory obligations [including under the UK Financial Conduct Authenity's Listing Rules, thsclasure
Guidance and Transparency Rules. and the EU Market Abuse Regulation|, British Land does nol intend or underiake any obligation (o update or rewse
publicly lorward -looking statements Lo reflact any changes in Bntish Land's expeciations with regard thereto or any changes in information, events,
conditions or circumsiances on which any such statement s tased This document shall nol. under any circumstances, create any implication that there
has been no change i (he business or affairs of Briush Land since the date of this dacumeat or that the mfarmation contained herein is carrect as at any
time subsequeni to this date

Nolhing in this docurment shall constitute, in any jurisdiction, an offer or solicitation to sell or purchase any securiies or other inancial instruments, nor
shall it consulule a recommendation or advice n respect of any securities or other hnancial nstruments or any cther matter.

200 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 201%



:: © Designed and produced by Black Sun Plc
FSC

wewwag xp

Printed in the UK by Pureprint who are a CarbonNeutral® company
and are registered o the Environmental Management Systern 150 14001
and are Forest Stewardship Council® |[FSC] chain-of-custody certified.

Mix
mpinimesswen | This report 1s printecd on %-Per which s made from FSC® certified and other
FSC* €022913 | cqntrolled materal

If you have fimshed with this document and no langer wish 10 retain it,
please pass il on to other interested readers or dispose of it in your recycled
paper waste Thank you



Head office and registered office

York House

45 Seymour Street
Landon

W1H 7LX

Telephone +44 (0120 7486 4456
britishland.com

info@britishland.com

[ABritishLandPLC

@BritishLandPLC

British Land PLC

fdBritishLandPLC



